
 
 
 

 
Democratic Services Your ref:  

Riverside, Temple Street, Keynsham, Bristol BS31 1LA Our ref:  

Telephone: (01225) 477000 main switchboard Date:  

Direct Lines - Tel: 01225 394452  Fax: 01225 394439 E-mail: Democratic_Services@bathnes.gov.uk 

Web-site - http://www.bathnes.gov.uk   

 
 
To: All Members of the Economic and Community Development Policy 

Development and Scrutiny Panel 
 
Councillor Robin Moss 
Councillor Ben Stevens 
Councillor Patrick Anketell-Jones 
Councillor Brian Simmons 
Councillor Michael Evans 
Councillor Lisa Brett 
Councillor Manda Rigby 
 

 
Chief Executive and other appropriate officers  
Press and Public  

 
 
Dear Member 
 
Economic and Community Development Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel: 
Thursday, 24th May, 2012  
 
You are invited to attend a meeting of the Economic and Community Development Policy 
Development and Scrutiny Panel, to be held on Thursday, 24th May, 2012 at 1.00 pm in the 
Council Chamber  - Guildhall, Bath. 
 
The agenda is set out overleaf. 
 
Yours sincerely 
 
 
 
 
Jack Latkovic 
for Chief Executive 
 
 
 

If you need to access this agenda or any of the supporting reports in an alternative 
accessible format please contact Democratic Services or the relevant report author 
whose details are listed at the end of each report. 

 

This Agenda and all accompanying reports are printed on recycled paper 



NOTES: 
 

1. Inspection of Papers: Any person wishing to inspect minutes, reports, or a list of the 
background papers relating to any item on this Agenda should contact Jack Latkovic who 
is available by telephoning Bath 01225 394452 or by calling at the Riverside Offices 
Keynsham (during normal office hours). 
 

2. Public Speaking at Meetings: The Council has a scheme to encourage the public to 
make their views known at meetings. They may make a statement relevant to what the 
meeting has power to do.  They may also present a petition or a deputation on behalf of a 
group.  Advance notice is required not less than two full working days before the meeting 
(this means that for meetings held on Wednesdays notice must be received in Democratic 
Services by 4.30pm the previous Friday)  
 

The public may also ask a question to which a written answer will be given. Questions 
must be submitted in writing to Democratic Services at least two full working days in 
advance of the meeting (this means that for meetings held on Wednesdays, notice must 
be received in Democratic Services by 4.30pm the previous Friday). If an answer cannot 
be prepared in time for the meeting it will be sent out within five days afterwards. Further 
details of the scheme can be obtained by contacting Jack Latkovic as above. 
 

3. Details of Decisions taken at this meeting can be found in the minutes which will be 
published as soon as possible after the meeting, and also circulated with the agenda for 
the next meeting.  In the meantime details can be obtained by contacting Jack Latkovic as 
above. 
 

Appendices to reports are available for inspection as follows:- 
 

Public Access points - Riverside - Keynsham, Guildhall - Bath, Hollies - Midsomer 
Norton, and Bath Central, Keynsham and Midsomer Norton public libraries.   
 
For Councillors and Officers papers may be inspected via Political Group Research 
Assistants and Group Rooms/Members' Rooms. 
 

4. Attendance Register: Members should sign the Register which will be circulated at the 
meeting. 
 

5. THE APPENDED SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS ARE IDENTIFIED BY AGENDA ITEM 
NUMBER. 
 

6. Emergency Evacuation Procedure 
 

When the continuous alarm sounds, you must evacuate the building by one of the 
designated exits and proceed to the named assembly point.  The designated exits are 
sign-posted. 
 

Arrangements are in place for the safe evacuation of disabled people. 
 

 



 

 

Economic and Community Development Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel - 
Thursday, 24th May, 2012 

 
at 1.00 pm in the Council Chamber  - Guildhall, Bath 

 
A G E N D A 

 
 

1. WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS  

 

2. EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE  

 The Chair will draw attention to the emergency evacuation procedure as set out 
under Note 6. 

 

 

3. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS  

 

4. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST UNDER THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972  

 Members who have an interest to declare are asked to: 
 

 a)    State the Item Number in which they have the interest 
 b)    The nature of the interest 
 c)    Whether the interest is personal, or personal and prejudicial 

 
Any Member who is unsure about the above should seek advice from the Monitoring 
Officer prior to the meeting in order to expedite matters at the meeting itself.   
 

 

5. TO ANNOUNCE ANY URGENT BUSINESS AGREED BY THE CHAIRMAN  

 

6. ITEMS FROM THE PUBLIC OR COUNCILLORS - TO RECEIVE DEPUTATIONS, 
STATEMENTS, PETITIONS OR QUESTIONS RELATING TO THE BUSINESS OF 
THIS MEETING  

 At the time of publication no notifications had been received. 

 

 

7. MINUTES OF THE MEETING ON 22ND MARCH 2012 (Pages 9 - 16) 

 To confirm the minutes of the above meeting as a correct record. 
 

 



8. CABINET MEMBER UPDATE (15 MINUTES)  

 The Panel will have an opportunity to ask questions to the Cabinet Member for 
Sustainable Development (Councillor Cherry Beath) and to receive an update on any 
current issues. 
 

 

9. RIVER CORRIDOR GROUP REPORT (30 MINUTES) (Pages 17 - 168) 

 The River Corridor Group (RCG) has produced a report, the Bath River Avon 
Economy, which includes a number of recommendations. Following the Informal 
Cabinet meeting on 6th January the item was referred to the Economic and 
Community Development PDS Panel. The Panel is asked to undertake its review in its 
Policy Development role and to advise Cabinet on future decisions (if any) with regard 
to the Panel’s recommendations.   
The Cabinet will then consider how to move any specific recommendations forward 
and the (financial) implications of doing so. 
 
 

 

10. COMMUNITY SAFETY PLAN: POLICE PERFORMANCE UPDATE AND BUSINESS 
IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT (BID) - NIGHT TIME ECONOMY (30 MINUTES) (Pages 
169 - 170) 

 In 2011 Bath’s Business Improvement District (BID) was launched by Future Bath Plus 
to strengthen the management of the city centre.  The scheme works in partnership 
with the Council and Police to deliver a high quality Bath night time economy that is 
safe and enjoyable for all.  
This report invites the Panel to hear about how the BID consolidates work already 
underway with the Taxi and Street Marshals, Police, CCTV and radio links.   
The Police will also provide a 2011/2012 performance update to highlight the progress 
made over the last twelve months in particular;  improved victim satisfaction, reduction 
in crime and results on the work with prolific offenders. 
The Panel will be invited to an open question and answer session at the end of the 
presentation. 

 

11. BATH & NORTH EAST SOMERSET'S TOURISM PERFORMANCE (25 MINUTES) 
(Pages 171 - 174) 

 Concerns have been raised across the tourism industry regarding the impact of the 
2012 London Olympics and the consequent distribution from London of visitors. 
 
The Panel is asked to note the direction of travel and make any recommendations for 
future actions. 

 

12. FUTURE BUSINESS SUPPORT (20 MINUTES) (Pages 175 - 178) 



 In November 2011, the regional Business Link programmes, operated by the Regional 
Development Agencies closed.  Business Link was a free business advice and support 
service, available on line and through local advisors, to all businesses. In Bath and 
North East Somerset this was delivered by Business West through a contract worth 
approximately £6 million a year across the West of England.  The offer included free 
one day start up awareness courses, 3 day start up workshops and 121 advice 
sessions as well as links into other programmes, such as support for High Growth 
potential companies.  The regional Business Link service has been replaced by a 
national Business Link website. There is no Government funding currently available for 
free local business start-up support in Bath and North East Somerset.   
 
This report, and presentation, invites the panel to hear on options for how support may 
be provided to people wanting to start in business in Bath and North East Somerset in 
the future. 

 

13. UPDATE ON THE SCRUTINY INQUIRY DAY: THE BENEFIT OF JOINT WORKING 
TO RETAIN GRADUATES IN BANES (10 MINUTES) (Pages 179 - 218) 

 At its meeting on the 18th November 2011 the Policy Development & Scrutiny Panel 
agreed to undertake a Scrutiny Inquiry Day into the benefits of joint working to retain 
graduates in Bath & North East Somerset. The aim of this investigation was to identify 
what local businesses and organisations are doing now to retain graduates and what 
plans they have for the future. This would then help the Council identify how we can 
best work together to support these efforts, through a greater understanding of what 
more still needs to be done and through discussions with key stakeholders about how 
this is achievable, thus ensuring that Bath & North East Somerset is attractive to 
graduates and graduate employers. 
 
The Economic & Community Development Policy and Scrutiny Panel held the single 
inquiry day on the 18th April 2012. It was a successful event which bought together a 
wide selection of key stakeholders. The inquiry day focused on identifying the current 
picture and discussing practical and achievable ways that the economy of Bath & 
North East Somerset can be improved through the retention of graduates.  
 
The findings and outcomes are detailed within the attached briefing report along with 
the jointly agreed recommendations/ action plans which were developed on the day. 
 
The Economic and Community Policy Development & Scrutiny Panel is asked to: 

• Consider and make any further comments to the Scrutiny Day Inquiry findings  

• Consider the joint recommendations table, and make any further comments before 
they are submitted to the relevant Cabinet Members and Partners. 

 

14. WORKPLAN (Pages 219 - 226) 

 This report presents the latest workplan for the Panel. 
 

The Committee Administrator for this meeting is Jack Latkovic who can be contacted on  
01225 394452. 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 

Economic and Community Development Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel- Thursday, 22nd March, 
2012 

 

BATH AND NORTH EAST SOMERSET 
 
ECONOMIC AND COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND 
SCRUTINY PANEL 
 
Thursday, 22nd March, 2012 

 
Present:- Councillors Robin Moss (Chair), Ben Stevens (Vice-Chair), Patrick Anketell-
Jones, Brian Simmons, Michael Evans, Lisa Brett and Manda Rigby 
 
 

 
57 
  

WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS  
 
The Chairman welcomed everyone to the meeting. 
 
 

58 
  

EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE  
 
The Chairman drew attention to the emergency evacuation procedure. 

 
 

59 
  

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS  
 
There were none. 
 

60 
  

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST UNDER THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972  
 
There were none. 
 

61 
  

TO ANNOUNCE ANY URGENT BUSINESS AGREED BY THE CHAIRMAN  
 
There was none. 
 

62 
  

ITEMS FROM THE PUBLIC OR COUNCILLORS - TO RECEIVE DEPUTATIONS, 
STATEMENTS, PETITIONS OR QUESTIONS RELATING TO THE BUSINESS OF 
THIS MEETING  
 
The Chairman informed the meeting that he had late request from the Bath Network 
for People with Learning Disabilities to speak about Hate Crime. 
 
The Chairman said that he will exercise his powers as the Chair under Part 4 (A) (g) 
of the Constitution Procedural Rules and add new item to the agenda called Hate 
Crime against People with Learning Disabilities.  The Panel will have the opportunity 
to hear the statement from the Bath Network for People with Learning Disabilities 
(Network), ask factual questions to the Network, debate this matter and make their 
recommendations (if any). 
 
The Panel unanimously AGREED with this proposal. 
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 7



 

 

2 

Economic and Community Development Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel- Thursday, 22nd March, 
2012 

 

The Chairman informed the Panel that this item will be on the agenda once the 
Network representatives are present. 
 
 

63 
  

MINUTES OF THE MEETING ON 19TH JANUARY 2012  
 
The Panel confirmed the minutes of the previous meeting as a true record and they 
were duly signed by the Chairman subject to the following amendment: 
 

• Page 11, paragraph 9 should read: ‘Alex Raikes (Support Against Racist 
Incidents) said that 3rd/voluntary sector funding process is quite stringent 
process on who gets the funding’. 

 
 

64 
  

PROPOSED MERGER OF THE LOCAL JUSTICE AREAS AND BENCHES (30 
MINUTES)  
 
The Chairman invited Andy Thomas (Group Manager for Partnership Delivery) to 
introduce this item. 
 
The Panel made the following points: 
 
The Panel asked who will be responsible for signing off the response from the 
Council and by when the response has to be sent back. 
 
David Trethewey (Divisional Director for Policy and Partnership) responded that the 
response will be drafted in consultation with this Panel and Cabinet (or the relevant 
Cabinet Member/s).  The Council might also engage Group Leader if they wish to 
send strong message back.  The deadline for sending the response back is the 13th 
April. 
 
Members of the Panel debated this issue and felt that the consultation is not 
meaningful without the appropriate Equality Impact Assessment.  The Panel also felt 
that they were given inadequate information and that they were denied the 
opportunity to scrutinise, question and cross-examine Avon and Somerset Justice 
Issues Group representatives (who proposed the merger) as none of them could 
attend this meeting.  Some Members of the Panel said that in principle they would be 
not against the merger but there were no evidence that local safeguarding measures 
are in place. 
 
It was RESOLVED to send the following message: 
 
The Panel is unhappy that they have been given inadequate information, and no 
opportunity to neither scrutinise, question nor cross-examine Avon and Somerset 
Justice Issues Group representatives on the proposed merger.  The Panel is also 
unaware that any local safeguarding measures are in place. 
 
For those reasons, and because the Equality Impact Assessment has not been 
completed, the Panel is unable to make their recommendation on this proposal. 
 

Page 8



 

 

3 

Economic and Community Development Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel- Thursday, 22nd March, 
2012 

 

65 
  

COMMUNITY SAFETY:  STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT AND DEVELOPING 
APPROACH (25 MINUTES)  
 
The Chairman invited Andy Thomas and Jon Poole (Research and Intelligence 
Manager) to introduce this report and give a presentation to the Panel. 
 
Andy Thomas and Jon Poole highlighted the following points in their presentation: 
 

• Community Safety: Key Changes 

• The current crime picture (crime data to the End of January 2012) 

• Evidence of Local Need 

• New approaches 
 
A full copy of the presentation from Andy Thomas and Jon Poole is available on the 
minute book in Democratic Services. 
 
The Panel made the following points: 
 
The Panel asked about the link between the hate crime and night time economy. 
 
Andy Thomas replied that sometimes workers in the late-night food sector have been 
at risk of victimisation.  The Council had worked with the Police on additional 
patrolling earlier in the evening to reduce crime and anti-social behaviour in the 
night-time economy and this had had positive impacts on hate crime. 
  
Andy Thomas also informed the Panel that the Council will continue to contribute at 
current levels to an integrated Night Marshalling scheme, working with the Business 
Improvement District. 
 
It was RESOLVED to note the report and presentation and for the officers to 
circulate briefing material on ‘IMPACT’ (integrated team across agencies tackling 
prolific offenders).  
 

66 
  

HATE CRIME AGAINST PEOPLE WITH LEARNING DISABILITIES  
 
The Chairman invited Bath Network for People with Learning Disabilities (Network) 
representatives to address the Panel with their statement. 
 
Paul Rogerson and Nigel Lung read out the statement in which they highlighted the 
work of the Network.  There are three Networks in BANES meeting once a month 
and their purpose is to improve the lives of people with learning disabilities.  One of 
the main problems that people with learning disabilities encounter are that they are 
victims of Hate Crime.  Almost all members of the Network have been bullied, having 
things stolen from them, being called names and had their homes damaged.  The 
Network members decided to do something about this and launched their first 
community safety zone in 2010 in Radstock.  A community safety zone is a group of 
shops or business premises which have agreed to offer safe place for someone with 
a learning disability to go into when they are experiencing and/or feel afraid of hate 
crime. The Network set their goals to set safety zones in Bath and Keynsham.  
Keynsham successfully launched the scheme at the end of 2011.  The Network 

Page 9



 

 

4 

Economic and Community Development Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel- Thursday, 22nd March, 
2012 

 

needs at least ten safety zones across the city centre in Bath to launch the scheme.  
The Network visited lots of business premises in Bath but only two business 
premises signed up and put the yellow sticker (as a mark of the Community Safety 
Zone) on their window. 
 
The Network asked the Panel for a help on getting more business premises engaged 
in the scheme. 
 
Sue Dicks (Community Manager for Partnership Delivery) offered to introduce the 
Network to the other Community Safety partners. 
 
Pippa Farrell (from ‘Your Say’ Advocacy Service) explained the Community Safety 
10 Point Plan to the Panel. 
 
The Community Safety 10 Point Plan, the Network representatives’ statement, 
Community Safety Zone yellow sticker and Community Safety Card is available on 
the minute book in Democratic Services. 
 
The Panel made the following points: 
 
Councillor Lisa Brett, who suggested to the panel that this matter be considered as 
the additional item on the agenda, said when the Network approached the Council 
with the request, they got knock backed.  Councillor Brett asked the Panel to send 
the message to the Cabinet, or appropriate Cabinet Member/s, that every Council 
building should display the yellow sticker. 
 
The Panel debated this matter and agreed with the proposal from Councillor Brett.  
The Panel also recommend that the issue about Hate Crime towards people with 
Learning Disabilities should be included in the report on Community Safety: 
Business Improvement District and Night Time Economy for the next meeting. 
 
Councillor Rob Appleyard (Westfield Ward Member) welcomed the scheme and 
added that the Council should lead by example by displaying the sticker on its 
premises. 
 
It was RESOLVED to: 
 

1. Thank the Network representatives and Pippa Farrell for addressing the 
Panel on the Community Safety Zone scheme; 

2. Send the message to the Cabinet, and/or relevant Cabinet Member/s, that 
every Council building should display the yellow sticker; and 

3. Request from the officers to include an update on ‘Hate Crime against 
People with Learning Disabilities’ in the next Community Safety report for 
May meeting. 

 
 
 

67 
  

LOCALISM ACT UPDATE (30 MINUTES)  
 

Page 10



 

 

5 

Economic and Community Development Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel- Thursday, 22nd March, 
2012 

 

The Chairman invited Andy Thomas to introduce the report and give the presentation 
to the Panel. 
 
Andy Thomas highlighted the following points in his presentation: 
 

• Update  
o Received Royal Assent on 15th Nov 2011 
o Awaiting detailed guidance 
o 2 Member sessions held in Jan 2012 and number of sessions with 

Parishes and Town Councils 

• Key issues for the ECD Panel 
o Economic Enterprise and Business Development 
o Big Society/3rd Sector funding and development 
o Improve the quality of life and narrowing the gap between communities 

• ‘Toolkit’ for local communities and elected Members 
 
A full copy of the presentation from Andy Thomas is available on the minute book 
in Democratic Services. 
 
The Panel made the following points: 
 
The Chairman suggested that the Panel should receive regular updates from 
officers.  The Panel agreed with that suggestion. 
 
The Chairman also asked that the Localism Act guidance be shared with all 
Members of the Council, including Town and Parish Councillors.  The Chairman 
also suggested for officers to research what the other Local Authorities are doing 
in this area. 
 
Members of the Panel asked about the Council’s powers, as per Localism Act, to 
alter business rates levy and what would be the role of the Panel on that matter. 
 
Andy Thomas replied that the Council will have the power to adjust business 
rates according to the provisions in the Localism Act.  The Panel might have 
specific reports on that subject brought to them within their economic 
development remit. 
 
The Panel asked if neighbouring forums are set only for neighbouring planning. 
 
Andy Thomas replied that criteria for neighbouring forums will be set out in the 
guidance.  The guidance will provide information about involvement of elected 
Members in those forums.  Initially, the Government had envisaged that 
neighbouring forums would have a role only relating to neighbouring planning.  
However, neighbourhood forums are referred to in another part of the Localism 
Act. When the officers have more details this it will be reported to the Panel. 
 
The Panel asked what will happen with the Council Tax if community group take 
over running of existing local facility or service from the Council (under 
Community Right to Challenge tool). 
 

Page 11



 

 

6 

Economic and Community Development Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel- Thursday, 22nd March, 
2012 

 

Andy Thomas replied that Council Tax funding arrangements remain the same.  
The Community Right to Challenge does nothing more than trigger a 
procurement process with budget-setting remaining with the Council. 
 
Members of the Panel suggested that the Cabinet should consider updating the 
Economic Development Strategy according to the powers that the Localism Act 
gives to Local Authorities, in particular to lower business rates when considering 
investment in regeneration areas (e.g. London Road). 
 
Members of the Panel also commented that officers should provide updated 
training for Members (Parish, Town and Council) once the final guidance on 
Localism Act is issued. 
 
It was RESOLVED to: 
 

1. Note the report and presentation; 
2. Request from the officers to provide regular updates on the provision of 

Localism Act, especially on issues that are within Panel’s remit; 
3. Ask the Cabinet to consider updating the Economic Development Strategy 

according to the powers that the Localism Act gives to Local Authorities, in 
particular to lower business rates when considering investment in 
regeneration areas (e.g. London Road); and 

4. Request from the officers to provide updated training for Members (Parish, 
Town and Council) once the final guidance on Localism Act is issued. 
 

       
 
 

68 
  

OLYMPIC AND PARALYMPIC GAMES IMPACT AND LEGACY IN BANES - 
PRESENTATION (25 MINUTES)  
 
The Chairman invited David Lawrence (Divisional Director for Tourism, Leisure and 
Culture) and Lynda Deane (Sport and Active Lifestyle Operations Manager) to give 
their presentation. 
 
David Lawrence and Lynda Deane highlighted the following points in their 
presentation: 
 

• The Olympic Legacy 

• Creating a profile for BANES 

• Themes 

• A celebration of British Heritage Culture 

• Sport and Activity Programmes 

• We will inspire people and create opportunities 

• Healthy Work Places 

• Work Places Wellbeing Charter 

• Business Support to ‘Complete’ 

• Innovate 

• Tourism Legacy 

Page 12



 

 

7 

Economic and Community Development Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel- Thursday, 22nd March, 
2012 

 

• Quest Community Challenge 

• Film and Record Community Activities across BANES 

• Torch Relay – Bath Tuesday 22nd May 2012 

• Brand Protection (Do’s and Don’ts) 
 
A full copy of the presentation is available on the minute book in Democratic 
Services. 
 
The Panel made the following points: 
 
Members of the Panel commented that presentation did not highlight potential impact 
on tourism in Bath and North East Somerset during the Games. 
 
David Lawrence responded that the Council received £200k from the Government in 
order to support the tourism this season. The season in Bath started 2 weeks earlier.  
The Council believes that tourism in bath might be at risk but it might as well happen 
that tourism over-performs during the Games. 
 
All Members of the Panel welcomed the initiatives from the Council to celebrate the 
Games, create a profile for BANES during the Games, continue to inspire people 
with sport and activity programmes and create opportunities for people in the area.  
Some Members of the Panel asked how we will handle too much success (i.e. more 
than usual tourists) this season. 
 
David Lawrence responded that the season started 2 weeks early and expected to 
finish later than usual.  The Council will have to keep the same level of the quality for 
tourism in the area, no matter what the numbers are.  The Council will also explore 
use of modern technology (smartphones, tablets, etc.) by visitors to record and 
promote attractions and events in the city (i.e. via social networking, online video 
media, etc).  David Lawrence said that he will produce a report for one of the future 
meetings which will show how sustainable the Council is in this area.   
 
Members of the Panel asked that on one of the meetings in near future David 
Lawrence include comparison of booking figures and statistics.  The report should 
include figures for period of August 2011 until August 2012.  
 
David Lawrence took this on board by saying that those figures, which include 
bookings until August 2012, will be available from the Tourist Information Centre and 
they will be available for the Panel at one of the future meetings. 
 
It was RESOLVED to note the presentation and for officers to take on board 
requests from the Panel for future meetings. 
 
 
 

69 
  

WORKPLAN  
 
It was RESOLVED to note the workplan with the following additions: 
 

• Update on Regenerations Projects (all) – September 2012 

Page 13



 

 

8 

Economic and Community Development Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel- Thursday, 22nd March, 
2012 

 

• Cabinet Member update (Councillor Cherry Beath) – May or July 2012 

• ‘Clawback’ from Voluntary/3rd Sector – date to be confirmed 

• Regular update/s on Localism Act – date to be confirmed 
 
 
 
 

The meeting ended at 3.40 pm  
 

Chair(person)  

 
Date Confirmed and Signed  

 
Prepared by Democratic Services 

 

Page 14



Printed on recycled paper 1

 

Bath & North East Somerset Council 
 

MEETING: 
Economic and Community Development (ECD) Policy Development 
Scrutiny Panel (PDS) 

MEETING 
DATE: 

Thursday 24
th
 May 2012 

TITLE: River Corridor Group 

WARD: ALL 

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM  

 

List of attachments to this report: 

Appendix 1 – Bath Avon River Economy Report 

Appendix 2 – List of selected recommendations from the River Group Report  

Appendix 3 – Outline of possible future structure of River Group  

Appendix 4 – Terms of reference (2010) 

 
 
 

1 THE ISSUE 

1.1 The River Corridor Group (RCG) has produced a report, the Bath River Avon 
Economy (2011, see Appendix 1), which includes a number of recommendations. 
Following the Informal Cabinet meeting on 6th January the item was referred to 
the Economic and Community Development PDS Panel. The Panel is asked to 
undertake its review in its Policy Development role and to advise Cabinet on 
future decisions (if any) with regard to the Panel’s recommendations.   
The Cabinet will then consider how to move any specific recommendations 
forward and the (financial) implications of doing so.   

 

2 RECOMMENDATION 

 The panel is recommended to:  

2.1 Review and discuss the RCG report as a referral from Cabinet.  
An extract of recommendations from the report, showing the range of issues 
addressed, is provided in Appendix 2. The Appendix also provides page 
references to the pages on which the full set of recommendations can be 
reviewed.   

2.2 Hear from speakers (invited or registered to address the Panel) including the Chair 
of the RCG, Mr Edward Nash. 

Agenda Item 9

Page 15



Printed on recycled paper 2

2.3 Consider what role the Council could take, along with other agencies and 
organisations, to address the issues raised in the RCG Report.  
Special consideration needs to be given to whether the report recommendations 
align with the Corporate Agenda and the roles of the different council departments 
affected by the report (Development and Regeneration, Property Services, 
Environmental Services, Planning and Transport Development, Tourism, Leisure 
and Culture).   

2.4 The panel to consider proposals from the River Corridor Group as to its future 
structure (refer to Appendix 3 for initial outlines of ideas).  

2.5. The panel to provide outcome of discussion as feedback to Cabinet. 

 

3 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

3.1 The Panel is being asked to advise Cabinet whether any specific 
recommendations fit within the objectives of the Council and should be taken 
forward. A recommendation from the Panel to act upon recommendations made, 
does not cause a financial commitment for the Council to include the objectives 
within a Service Delivery Plan. Any decision to include recommendations will be 
taken by Cabinet and will follow the appropriate democratic procedure. 

3.2 If a recommendation is not currently included within the Service Delivery Plans of 
the relevant service areas, inclusion could incur additional costs for the Council. 
Cabinet will have to take the financial impacts of potential recommendations into 
consideration when advised by the Panel.  Any potential new financial 
commitments will have to be met from savings elsewhere. 

 
4 THE REPORT 

4.1 BACKGROUND 

The River Corridor Group was set-up by former Cabinet Member Terry Gazzard 
and the Strategic Director for Development and Major Projects, John Betty in late 
2010 (See Appendix 4 - Terms of Reference (2010)), following a Better Bath 
Forum debate in July 2010. The purpose of the group is to: 

‘advise the Council over a period of years on changing the present situation of the 
Bath Avon river corridor within the Council’s area from making no or even a 
negative contribution to the economy, to one with a wide ranging, positive, 
sustainable and regenerative contribution.’ 

(River Corridor Group – Heads of Terms, 2010) 
 

 This group is a voluntary advisory group and members comprise: 

Edward Nash (Chair) – For experience in urban regeneration and design 
management 
Michael Davis – For experience in restoring the Avon & Kennet Canal  
Jeremy Douch – For experience in transport planning 
James Hurley – Representing Low Carbon South West and for experience in 
resource recycling  

Page 16



Printed on recycled paper 3

John Webb – Representing Inland Waterways Association and the Kennet and 
Avon Canal Trust and experienced in Waterways Management  
Councillor Bryan Chalker – For experience in Bath’s heritage and representing 
the Conservative Political Group 
Councillor Dine Romero – Representing the Liberal Democrats Group 
Councillor David Laming – Originally for experience in using the river for boating 
and now as River Champion member 
Nikki Wood – For experience in environmental and ecological projects 
 
The RCG has now been operating for over 12 months and has produced the report 
Bath Avon River Economy (2011) that evaluates the river economy, identifies 
potential improvements and outlines recommendations. The River Corridor Group is 
seeking a commitment by the Council and other statutory organisations including 
the Environment Agency, British Waterways and Bath Tourism Plus to realise the 
challenges and opportunities that the river presents and to explore in more detail 
what the River Corridor can do to change the economic, social, cultural and 
environmental aspects of our district.  
 

4.2 The Bath Avon River Economy (2011) provides evidence to the Council, other 
agencies, local organisations, other stakeholders and the residents of Bath that 
the River Avon has an environmental long term problem in many areas of the 
district and is not utilised as an economic resource. 

4.3 The report highlights that a solution to these issues will not be found by the 
Council and River Corridor Group alone.  
The improvement of the River environment is a complex issue and will be a long 
term process. The various agencies, organisations and stakeholders associated 
with the river and the multiple RIPARIAN owners create a complex scenario 
moving forward.  

4.4 A pragmatic approach is needed to integrate organisations and individuals 
together to create an agenda to revitalise the River.    

 

5 RISK MANAGEMENT 

5.1 If any decision on how to progress the River Agenda is made, a risk assessment, 
in compliance with the Council's decision making risk management guidance, will 
have to be completed. 

6 EQUALITIES 

6.1 An Equalities Impact Assessment has not been carried out as this is a report 
received from an external organisation. 

7 CONSULTATION 

7.1 Cabinet members; Council Officers; PDS Panel Chairs. 

8 ISSUES TO CONSIDER IN REACHING THE DECISION 

8.1 Sustainability; Property; Corporate; Health & Safety; Human Resources; 

Page 17



Printed on recycled paper 4

 

 

9 ADVICE SOUGHT 

 The Council's Monitoring Officer (Divisional Director – Legal and Democratic 
Services) and Section 151 Officer (Divisional Director - Finance) have had 
the opportunity to input to this report and have cleared it for publication. 

 

Contact person  Melanie Birwe, Phone: 477 593 

Background 
papers 

none 

Please contact the report author if you need to access this report in an 
alternative format 

 
 

Page 18



BATH AVON RIVER ECONOMY

FIRST REPORT OF 

BATH & NORTH EAST SOMERSET COUNCIL 

ADVISORY GROUP

SUMMER 2011

River Corridor Group

BATH AVON

Page 19



Group Members

The Bath Avon River Corridor Economy Advisory Group held its Inaugural Meeting in the Guildhall in Bath 
on 29th October 2010.  Group members were nominated by Councillor Terry Gazzard or John Betty, Director 
of Development and Major Projects and North East Somerset Council, for their particular skills and relevant 
experience.

Those present were:

Michael Davis   For experience in restoring the Kennet and Avon Canal

Edward Nash   For experience in urban regeneration and design management

Jeremy Douch    For experience in transport planning

David Laming   For experience in using the river for boating

James Hurley   Representing Low Carbon South West and for experience in resource efficiency

Steve Tomlin   For experience in reclamation of materials

John Webb   Representing Inland Waterways Association and the Kennet and Avon Canal Trust 
    and experienced in Waterways management

Nikki Wood    For experience in water ecology

Councillor Bryan Chalker For experience in Bath’s heritage and representing the Conservative Political Group

Councillor Ian Gilchrist For experience in sustainability issues and representing the Liberal Democrats 
    Political Group
Melanie Birwe/

Tom Blackman  For Bath and North East Somerset Council – liaison with Major Projects Office

Steve Tomlin stood down in early 2011.

Page 20



CONTENTS

1. Introduction 

2. Executive Summary  

3. The Problem and Its History

a) The Geographic History

b) The Challenges and Opportunities Now

c) The Regeneration Model

4. A Natural River

5. What Rivers can do for Towns, Cities and their 

Hinterlands

6. Current Issues driving change 

s฀4HE฀.EED฀FOR฀A฀.EW฀%CONOMY฀2EGENERATION

s฀&LOOD฀-ANAGEMENT

s฀,OW฀#ARBON฀,IVING

s฀"IODIVERSITY

 

7. The Regulatory Regime

s฀4HE฀%UROPEAN฀7ATER฀$IRECTIVE฀

8. Aspects of the River Initiative 

s฀#HANGING฀0ERCEPTIONS฀AND฀#REATING฀6ALUES฀FOR฀THE฀

   River

s฀2ECOVERING฀AND฀#REATING฀#HARACTER฀AND฀)DENTITY

s฀!LONG฀THE฀2IVER฀

 - Seen from the Air

             - Seen from the Bank

s฀.EW฀5SES฀FOR฀THE฀2IVER

 
฀6ALIDATING฀THE฀2IVER฀
฀)TS฀ROLE฀IN฀#ONNECTABILITY

 - Transportation Issues

 - Building the River Corridor Transportation 

               Modes 

             - Making the River Relevant

9. The Role of the River in Flood Resilience

10. Renewable Energy and Spatial Sustainability

11. Creating Growth Points for Change 

12. Drivers of Economic Development 

s฀4HE฀6ISITOR฀/FFER฀

s฀5NIVERSITY฀3ECTOR

s฀4HE฀3PORTS฀%CONOMY

s฀#REATIVE฀AND฀#ONSULTANCY

s฀(EALTHY฀5RBAN฀,IVING

s฀3ERVICING฀THE฀3ETTLEMENTS

s฀4HE฀7ASTE฀2ECOVERY฀%CONOMY

s฀4HE฀2URAL฀%CONOMY

s฀+EYNSHAM

13. What a New River Focussed Economy can do 

for us.

14. A Programme for Delivery

s฀!฀
฀%NGAGEMENT

s฀"฀
฀0ERCEPTION฀#HANGING฀
฀4HE฀%ASY฀7INS฀

s฀#฀
฀4HE฀2EGENERATION฀-ODEL

s฀$฀
฀฀3ETTING฀3TRATEGIC฀'OALS฀THROUGH฀0OLICY

s฀%฀
฀4HE฀7ATERING฀-ANAGEMENT฀3ECTION

15. Conclusion 

APPENDICES

(i) Identity for Keynsham

(i) Summary of Consultations

(ii) The River Map

(iii) Illustration Credits 
 

Page 21



4

The River Avon extends for a distance of 30 km as it 
meanders through our borders the 570 km sq. that 
comprises the administrative area of the Bath and 
North East Somerset Council.  From the point it enters 
the District at Dundas to the east of Bath and leaves 
AT฀(ANHAM฀TO฀THE฀WEST฀OF฀+EYNSHAM�฀THE฀!VON฀6ALLEY฀
and its tributary water courses of The Bybrook, The 
Frome, The Mells, the Somer, The Chew, The Boyd, 
The Newton, The Sistor define the District through 
catchment areas and watersheds. 

Although the World Heritage City of Bath lies draped on 
the hill slopes above one of the Avon’s many meanders, 
those who value and are concerned about the City 
have become increasingly aware how very far short the 
City’s relationship with the river falls from what it could 
and should be.  There is a point around Pulteney Weir 
within the view from North Parade Bridge where the 
results of several centuries of developmental history 
have produced a magnificent vista where townscape, 
architecture, landscape public open space and the 
river all come together.  Otherwise in only just a handful 
of places where the river passes through the City do 
occasional coincidences of historic built environment, 
geography and landscape suggest anything of the 
same quality.  For the most part, the river is perceived 
as an engineered drain, something the city’s life 
does not connect to or value, irrelevant to people’s 
perceptions of the World Heritage City, when it should 
be one of the glories.  

This problem is not confined within Bath’s urban 
boundaries.  Those who do know the river, how it 
MEANDERS฀ACROSS฀THE฀BROAD฀!VON฀6ALLEY฀BETWEEN฀
Newbridge and Keynsham, know how different that 
experience is from the impression of continuous ribbon 
development that the main road link through Saltford 
and Keynsham suggests.  Keynsham has problems of 
its own, in needing new economic, social and cultural 
identity, but bizarrely not before now has it embraced 
the potential of the relationship its proximity to the River 

Avon could bring around its magnificent weir and other 
evidence of its history as a navigation. 

Stimulated by such concerns from many quarters, and 
as other key steps in the future Economic, Social and 
Cultural life of the District have progressed, Southgate, 
7ESTERN฀2IVERSIDE�฀IN฀THE฀6ISION฀3TATEMENTS฀AND฀#ORE฀
Strategy, the Council have resolved that it is important 
to bring a particular focus now on making the Avon 
River Corridor, both urban and rural, the subject of 
particular regeneration study  so that the potential of 
the river’s future role and its potential as a generator of 
positive change and  is fully recognised and written into 
all future policy and regeneration delivery plans.  

Terms of Reference 

From an initiative by former Councillor Terry Gazzard, 
the Council’s Directorate of Development and Major 
Projects Economic Development Team has convened 
a Group of individuals with particular relevant 
professional and practical experience, which includes 
representation by the main political parties. The Group 
are independent of the Council and are charged with 
advising Members and key Council Officers and 
departments on all aspects of a river led regeneration 
economy and engaging with all relevant consultees and 
interests to do so.  

This document, issued in in the summer of 2011 is 
the Group’s first report and seeks to set in place a 
framework of understanding for how significant the river 
led regeneration envisaged in the Core Strategy can be, 
the challenges, the opportunities and the mechanisms 
needed to achieve the best long-term solution in the 
most pragmatic ways. 

We request the director of the Economic Development 
Team to present and commend the Report to the 
council Cabinet as a necessary conceptual framework 
from which a chain of engagement and executive action 
can be planned. 

1. INTRODUCTION 

SM Page 22



5

OP JD

OP

OP JW

JW OP

EN

EN

EN

EN

EN

Page 23



62. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
EN

Page 24



7

Within the boundaries of Bath and North East Somerset 
Council’s District the River Avon runs for a distance of 
30 km.  It enters at the dramatic gateway of Dundas 
Aqueduct, passing through the ravishing scenery of the 
,IMPLEY฀3TOKE฀6ALLEY�฀฀5PSTREAM฀OF฀0ULTENEY฀"RIDGE฀IT฀
finds Bath discreetly, the grandeur of Cleveland Bridge 
largely unknown.  Passing through the great arches of 
Pulteney Bridge and onto Pulteney Weir it seems, for a 
moment as if the river and the historic identity of Bath 
are at one, as if this river might be the defining feature 
of the World Heritage Site.  But then it disappears south 
of North Parade Bridge, and although passing through 
a further 5 km of the developed City it is seen as an 
engineered canal lacking economic, environmental, 
social or cultural value, something we are ashamed of 
and do not want to see, celebrate, and certainly to use.   

West of Bath, the river meanders for many miles 
THROUGH฀THE฀BROAD฀!VON฀6ALLEY฀OFFERING฀STRETCHES฀OF฀
superb quality and wildlife interest, before coming to 
life with boating activity in Saltford.  So beautiful is this 
stretch of river that it is hard to believe when travelling 
by road from Bath to Keynsham that the journey is 
between the same places.  

The town of Keynsham, despite being built largely 
around employment offered in the former chocolate 
factory which sits on the river’s banks, barely connects 
with the Avon despite the magnificent weir, great views 
and a wealth of past industrial and social history to 
draw on.  

Reflecting increased public concern that strategies 
to recover the river, particularly in Bath are lacking, 
former Councillor Tony Gazzard charged the Council’s 
Economic Development Team to convene a group 
of expert individuals with experience in watercourse 
regeneration, ecology, development and many other 
specialities, to advise the Council on how the River 
Avon as it passes through the District could become 
the focus of wide ranging economic regeneration.  The 
Group was convened in the Autumn of 2010 and this 
document represents their first report.  

The Report seeks to set out a conceptual basis from 
which a River Corridor Economy Regeneration Model 
can be structured and is now being circulated for wide 
consultation.

History 
Rivers pass through many physical states as they 
become modified by human activity and development.  
The Bath Avon became a navigation in the early18th 
century, allowing Bath to become an inland port, 
producing a history of industrial activity all along its 
banks, much of it now neglected and misunderstood.  
As, for many years, the river has been viewed as a 
drainage feature engineered to accommodate water 
in peak rainfall, we currently do not ascribe any other 
values to it.   It is under-appreciated as an aspect of 
environment, as a generator of economic life, as part of 
our cultural identity or our social engagement.   Ways 
need to be found of bringing all these values back to 
the river so that they become generators for change 
and investment. 

Lessons from Elsewhere

So used have we become to Bath’s and Keynsham’s 
river being irrelevant to our lives and perceptions that 
it is easy to under appreciate just how different things 
could be.  A wealth of examples of river- based towns 
AND฀CITIES฀THROUGHOUT฀THE฀5+฀AND฀%UROPE฀SHOW฀JUST฀HOW฀
diverse riverscape environments are in contributing to 
the unique character of such places.  River corridor 
regenerations have taken place over the last 30 or 
40 years; notably in Bristol Harbour and London 
Southbank that reveal just how radically economic, 
environmental, social and cultural activity has changed 
by capitalising on the assets rivers and their frontages 
offer as a back-drop to human activity of many kinds.   
But equally, with Bath and Keynsham both needing 
to redefine their economic futures and their cultural 
identities in coming years, we have to decide what 
kind of river we want and what sort of priority needs 
to be given to the many ways in which different river 
environments could contribute to future economic and 
cultural identity directions.  

&OR฀INSTANCE�฀AS฀"ATH�S฀5NIVERSITIES฀GROW฀IN฀STATUS฀
and aspire to be closer to Oxford and Cambridge in 
stature, it is worth recalling that the quality of their 
rivers is an important element of their identity, places 
where boating activity, both competitive and for 
pleasure are an essential ingredient.  There is presently 
an expectation that in Bath, Brownfield Land is ripe 
for redevelopment for the usual mix of offices and 
homes, but before this happens it is really important 
to scope the potential in character and environmental 
regeneration and utilisation we could have and how 
the river corridor can contribute to those sectors 
of the economy of our river towns that are likely to 
emerge and prosper in the years to come and could be 
supported by the identity our river will bring them.  

2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Page 25



8

Current Issues Driving Change

Regeneration on an urban landscape scale comes 
about because needs are allied to opportunities in a 
structured and well-focused way.  Over time a series 
of measures all pulling in the same direction achieve 
transformational change.  Currently these drivers are; 

1) The need for new economy regeneration.  Both Bath 
and Keynsham have seen decline in their traditional 
sources of employment and have to build new 
economies.  

2) Flood Resilience.   An engineered Flood Management 
solution to past flooding has exacerbated Bath’s 
problem of utilising its river well now, but that challenge 
of flooding remains and will worsen with climate 
change.  New solutions are needed. 

3) Low Carbon Living.  Our urban models and lifestyles 
have been based on high levels of carbon fuel; the new 
economies have to be fashioned around greater fuel 
efficiency and lessons we can learn from how people 
lived before carbon fuel deposits were extracted.   

4) Bio-diversity.  Many of our riverside habitats 
have been degraded by development and flood 
management.  The new environment we need to create 
along the river has to take enhancing bio-diversity as 
one of its primary goals.  

5) Transportation,  All urban settlements are having to 
address the needs for new models of transportation 
as part of diminishing carbon emissions, reduce 
congestion and improve quality of life fit for the 
developmental change that will occur.  

6) The Regulatory Regime.  In a complex urban society, 
many imperatives are already in place seeking to 
address these drivers of change.  They set a pace for 
consideration and investment which can be used to 
drive the wider regeneration this report is about.  

Changing perceptions and creating values

For regeneration strategies that take many years to 
fulfil,  at the start, changing the perceptions of those 
who use them, do not use them or are responsible 
for them is fundamental.  The river corridor is the 
way it is because we have come to no longer value it 
economically, environmentally, socially, culturally.  To 
regenerate it, those values have to be placed on it 
once more.  We have to want the enhanced bio-diverse 
natural environment it could be, to want the river to be 
subject to economic activity which is compatible with 
that goal, to want to make it the focus of social activity 
and to embrace it as an aspect of our cultural life.  The 
strategies for each of these strands of value creation 
can be designed and applied. 
 

But there are a host of simple measures, perception 
changing events, minor changes, minor development 
projects re-connecting with the river that can be 
undertaken now and at very low cost to create the 
confidence amongst stakeholders that the larger goal is 
achievable and make things happen.  

Really important are the challenges of recovering and 
creating character and identity.

The District’s river has many layers of history, some 
predating its 18th century navigation, in the siting 
of mills and the formation of weirs.  The navigation 
spurred the development of the rivers’ industrial 
revolution economy and many illustrations of this still lie 
along its banks, under-appreciated and misunderstood. 

Each is a potential point of understanding and value, 
a focus of new economic and social activity, a new 
movement of economic life on the river.  There are 
so many aspects of past character to be celebrated, 
such as the confluence of the Kennet and Avon Canal 
and the Avon, the rich history of Stothert and Pitt, 
recovering a meaningful relationship with the river 
for Twerton and Keynsham  and, importantly, the 
opportunity to ensure people travelling between Bath 
and Keynsham can appreciate experiences of the river 
corridor very different from those revealed by the ribbon 
development along the A4.  

The river has many characters, degrees of use and 
accessibility which are illustrated in the report through 
a combination of aerial photography and annotated 
photographs.  

The Transportation Imperative

Patterns of movement and transportation throughout 
the district will be fundamental to the future role the 
River Corridor has.  Their future will be driven by 
National Transportation Policy and local objectives, 
many of which are already established in the Joint 
Local Transport Plan, The Report analyses the present 
weaknesses and conflicts in transportation and sets 
these against economic, social and environmental 
objectives.   It lists major proposals for land use 
change already emerging and the major transportation 
proposals already well advanced across the region.  
Against this background, the report then describes the 
role that river borne transportation, principally in Bath, 
could play within a comprehensive future transportation 
strategy, looking at different sectors of the urban 
corridor in turn.   

New Uses for the River

The importance of river borne activity and movement, 
is then set within wider regenerative aims and 
opportunities for public transportation, riverside walking 
and cycling, as a means of getting to work as a source 
of pleasure and tourism.   There is also a consideration 
of the role that river transport could play in servicing 
major city events and in carrying bulk goods.  Page 26



9

Flooding Resilience

The report highlights the significance of flood 
management in creating the considered riverside of 
Bath downstream of North Parade Bridge, and that 
addressing flood risk will remain a very significant issue 
for the whole of the River Corridor and settlements.  
It explores some of the methodologies available for 
addressing flood risk which would allow the river to 
present a very different appearance, more accessible 
to people with leisure uses. It highlights how some 
of these methods are potential generators of new 
economic activity in themselves through enhanced 
status and character, provision of marinas and 
moorings, etc.

Spatial Sustainability and Renewable Energy

The river passing through the District represents one 
of a very few geographic endowments with potential 
for renewable energy we have.  As such, realising its 
potential as a source of power through turbines at its 
weirs and thermal mass extraction, have to be taken 
seriously.  The report summarises work already done 
to identify these potentials.   Many other aspects 
of ‘Spatial Sustainability’ are identified determining 
how optimum land use patterns should be placed 
at particular points along the river, to maximise the 
movement to low carbon lifestyles.  

Creating Growth  Points for Change

As the River Corridor currently underperforms in 
economic, environmental, social and cultural terms, in 
the rural areas, in Bath and in Keynsham, a strategy for 
building new values is needed.   This requires growth 
points for change to be identified, located where the 
prospects for building new economies is the brightest.   
These are likely to be areas where perception change 
can most be transformational, where connectability and 
commercial opportunity are strongest.  

Drivers of Economic Development

As Bath and Keynsham are both urgently in need of 
new economic activity, it is extremely important that the 
regenerative need and opportunity of the River Corridor 
is used to stimulate and advance new economic life 
where it can assist in regeneration.  

Several strands of future economic activity, some 
already in place, others newly emergent, are identified, 
and the role the River Corridor could play in their 
emergence and development is explained.  These 
include;

1. Cultural and social identity 

Expanding the existing offer to visitors 

It is in this dimension that the positive experience 
of Bristol’s Harbour and London’s South Bank are 
very instructive.   A re-valued river can create new 
attractions, new cultural icons, new hotels, new events.

2. University-led economic renewal.  
4HE฀5NIVERSITY฀OF฀"ATH฀HAS฀REACHED฀4OP฀��฀5+฀
university status remarkably quickly.   Through the 
Innovation Centre it already has a presence on the 
river that it is keen to expand.  To give that expansion 
identity and the added energy that comes with 
regeneration, planning for an enlarged riverside 
presence is essential.

3. The Sports Economy

Bath has already established itself as a world player 
IN฀SPORT�฀THROUGH฀RUGBY฀AND฀ITS฀5NIVERSITY฀TRAINING฀
offer.   Its rowing clubs would like to have a city 
centre presence, whose daily activity can transform 
perceptions of the river, from which the beginnings of 
new economic activity, cafés, bars, etc., can flow.

4. Creativity and Consultancy

Bath and Keynsham both need new enterprise and 
much of this is likely to come from new employment 
in creativity and consultancy, design and in media.  
Industries and businesses need characterful locations 
and clustering and the regeneration of the River 
Corridor can be a great stimulus to creating the identity 
of critical mass that such businesses really need.

5. Servicing Settlements

Many of the former villages now embraced within the 
City of Bath, and Keynsham itself once had physical 
and practical relationships with the river, notably 
Twerton and Keynsham through its 18th and 19th 
century industries.   All of these settlements deserve to 
have their river identity reconnected, strengthening the 
local economics and community identities.

6. Healthy Urban Living

As a world illustration of building in harmony with 
topography and landscape - and a long standing centre 
of healing, Bath has an established platform from 
which to develop a broader economy around healthy 
living and impact accountable lifestyles addressing it’s 
student population, it’s family, tourists and it’s older 
residents and visitors. A river corridor regeneration can 
embrace and illustrate all of these. 

7. A River Based Waste Management Model

The management and processing of waste is achieving 
considerable significance as it increasingly offers the 
primary source for the material resources a complex 
global society   demands.  As an industry, resource 
recycling is becoming increasingly sophisticated 
requiring high level knowledge and processing inputs.   
The River Corridor connects Bath, Keynsham and 
Bristol and can become a conduit for this new industry 
for which Keynsham already has a remarkable set of 
coincidences.

Page 27



10
OP

Page 28



11

It contains two significant waste processing businesses 
now, has land close to the river already earmarked for a 
new Council rendering depot and is the final collection 
point for much of Bath’s sewage treatment.  In an LEP 
region with leading aerospace and micro-electronic 
industries using innovative materials and composites, 
building strength in this area has to be sensible now.  

8. The Rural Economy 

Despite its attractiveness much of the agricultural 
land within the Avon floodplain is underperforming in 
agricultural terms.  The challenge of creating a more 
absorbent landscape to hold back flood peaks from 
the river channel opens up many new opportunities 
for alternative agricultural models, such as wetland 
biomass, freshwater fish and wildfowl farming and a 
host of new business opportunities associated with 
boat building and waterway use.   Each of these will 
allow the populations of the District’s settlements to 
move towards more ‘impact accountable’ lifestyles that 
can be embraced as a positive opportunity.

9. The Future Economy of Keynsham

From the work of the River Group, Keynsham’s present 
lack of identification with its riverside landscapes 
emerges as a particular wasted opportunity.  Nothing 
could be more significant in giving the town the 
new economic, social and cultural identity it needs.   
Opening up the town to its riverside can be used to 
raise its profile and status and build new character 
which is necessary following the long term demise of its 
major employer at Somerdale.  Several sites upstream 
from Somerdale have increased opportunities for river 
based leisure, new employment and Low Carbon 
economy. 

9. The Programme for Delivery

The Programme for Delivery
The programme for a new river-based economy 
the report presents is readily deliverable.   It can be 
delivered incrementally through a series of small 
steps, and inputs by many, many stakeholders.  The 
Regeneration Model the Group outline mimics the 
incremental patterns of change that have created our 
historic towns and cities through alerting opportunities 
that many players, landowners, authorities, individuals 
can take towards a common interest and their own.   
The Historic economy that creates they plans we now 
value were multi-stranded – always more than the sum 
of their parts.

For a sound Regeneration Model the project needs a 
number of key stages;

A. Engagement;  

A strategy of consultation and building a common 
purpose with all the initial stakeholders, the public, 
landowners, statutory consultee’s, local authority 
departments, political forces and many more.

B. Conception Changing 

The report lists some thirty modest actions that can be 
taken to encourage stakeholders and others to start 
seeing the river in different ways, the prelude to more 
significant investment.  These are immediate, cheap 
and necessary.

C. The Regeneration Model

It is essential to present more fully the broad pattern 
of actions and stages the River Corridor Regeneration 
needs to go through as an overall model, so that 
essential steps, whether of engagement, perceptive, 
physical or necessary policy are not missed out 
inadvertently.  A Regeneration Model is very different 
FROM฀A฀,AND฀5SE฀-ODEL�

D. Policy Support for Regeneration of the River Corridor 

Economy

The report lists twenty areas where we will need 
specific policy support for the regeneration 
development.  Much of this could be bound together 
within a single Regeneration Strategy Document.

E. Water Management

Those who know and use the Avon, understand how 
far from ideal is the level of management the river 
presently experiences and the lack of purpose its 
various management agencies achieve.   If we are 
demanding more utilisation and value from the river, it 
will be essential to establish an overall management 
body or common strategy to deliver it.  Consultation, 
the management of fallen trees, stabilisation of banks, 
these are only a few of many management issues that 
need to be tackled. 

Conclusion

In our first Report, the River Corridor Economy Group 
have set out to explain our river’s history – and show 
how much more integral to the life of the District and 
its two river based towns it could be.  But to make 
this happen and happen well, real choices have to be 
made about the relative values to be aspired to and 
the forging of the Regeneration Model to be applied 
over 20 to 30 years.  We urge all those reading it to 
give serious consideration to its ambitions and play 
their part in asking the Directorate of Development and 
Major Projects commit the Report to the Council as the 
necessary conceptual model for re-embracing the River 
within the District.  

)NTERIM฀6ERSION�฀฀MID฀*ULY฀�����฀฀

Edward Nash
Chair, Bath Avon River Corridor Advisory Group 

Page 29



123. THE PROBLEM AND IT’S HISTORY
Page 30



13

this time the City was remarkably compact and much 
of the development from Norfolk Crescent westwards 
is a product only of the later 19th Century and the 
early decades of the 20th Century, (for which the 
river no longer had any economic purpose).  Before 
this development came periodic flooding of the River 
Corridor had little penalty, but now its impacts became 
a cause of real concern and led to the major flood 
management engineering and canalisation that now 
characterises so much of perceptions of the river from 
North Parade Bridge to Twerton.  

At Keynsham too, the 18th Century navigation and 
evidence of historic river based industries are crucial 
in rebuilding the town’s social and cultural identity 
and offer clues to how new economic purpose can be 
established once more.  

a) The Geographic History

To understand what the District’s relationship with the 
river can be in the future, it is important to comprehend 
the many phases of life the Corridor and the river linked 
settlements have passed through.  The Bath Avon has 
a significant catchment and, generally, a wide flood 
plain, untypically constricted where it passes through 
Bath before the operation of a navigation involving 
weirs and locks in the 18th Century and the draining of 
the flood plain for agricultural purposes.  Once, much 
of that flood plain would have been marsh without the 
clearly defined river channel we are used to today.  
From that point on, scouring of the river bed by boats, 
dredging deposits and the natural siltation of the banks 
in periodic floods have all compounded to further 
emphasise and constrain the river between its banks, 
whether natural or manmade.  So, we no longer think of 
it as a river system with a variety of wetland characters 
and bio-diversities, but as a drainage channel canalised 
by metal sheet piling or high walls in the urban areas or 
steep earth banks elsewhere.  

Of course, the navigation of the river was done to 
support agriculture and the burgeoning industrialisation 
economy.   The navigation between Bristol and Bath 
was completed in 1727, the Kennet and Avon Canal 
in 1810.   In the late 18th and 19th centuries the 
river was an extremely active place, justifying Bath’s 
city centre having both its North and South Quays.  
Despite its inland location, Bath rapidly developed a 
strong industrial economy through these decades to 
a degree that it is now difficult to appreciate.  Before 

Historic Map - 1880

Broad Quay, Bath 1920

3. THE PROBLEM AND ITS HISTORY

Page 31



14

b) The Challenges and Opportunities Now

As the River Corridor and its settlements have 
experienced new drivers of economic change and 
purpose in the past, they are doing so now.  There 
is a pressing need for economic regeneration and 
renewal across the District, crystallised in Bath by 
the long decline of industry, the reduction of public 
sector employment, in Keynsham by the closure of the 
Cadbury’s factory.  Both settlements have to build new 
economic identities for themselves around their assets 
in a competitive world where they have to fit within the 
aspirations of a new Local Enterprise Partnership, but 
the perceived constraints posed by World Heritage 
Status, an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty and a 
Green Belt.  All those factors determine the kinds of 
economic activity they need to aspire to.   

But new economic life has to be forged within the new 
challenges of seeking to create sustainable models 
of human activity to low carbon economy models.  
Climate change is suggesting new solutions for flood 
management and the management of water as a 
resource.  These pressures mean that the economy 
needs to work to new transportation models and 
patterns of life less dependent on personalised 
transport and carbon based fuels. 

And there is an urgent need to seek patterns of living 
and land management that support biodiversity as 
part of a more resilient, sustainable relationship with 
the natural environment.  All these challenges have to 
be worked into a future picture of the role of the Avon 
Corridor and the economic life to be built around it.   

Historic Photo of Somerdale Factory

OP Page 32



15

 c)  The Regeneration Model

Within the understanding that now exists of how 
economic regeneration and renewal can work, it is 
a truism that the Regeneration Goals can become 
Regeneration Drivers.  So this report is structured with 
this in mind, following these strands of understanding:

i) The need to understand the past character and 

roles of the river, and how our relationship with it has 
come to be the way it is.  

ii) Understanding the drivers for change.

iii) Understanding that positive change can come 
only by ascribing new values, Environmental, 
Social, Cultural and Economic to something that we 
have historically not valued.   So steps needs to be 
taken to understand present perceptions of value, how, 
through a series of achievable steps those perceptions 
can be changed, new values sets created and the river 
given new purpose and meaning in our lives, from 
which further positive improvement, Economic, Social, 
#ULTURAL�฀%NVIRONMENTAL฀6ALUE฀CAN฀BE฀BUILT฀AND฀EVOLVED�฀฀฀

iv) The importance of Spatial Sustainability; 
ensuring that the competition for new land uses 
along the River Corridor whether rural/agricultural or 
urban/developmental, could be intense and needs 
mechanisms to identify those uses for which a riverside 
location is most conducive to sustainability.  Part of this 
is recognising that the river offers a rare opportunity 
within the B&NES District, for the creation of renewable 
energy through a variety of modes, and that it can be 
a creator of quality and value that needs to be judged 
well beyond the land values of individual sites.

v) Recognising that a more sustainable pattern of 
life will have different transportation imperatives, 

affecting transportation infrastructure and services, 
connectability, water based activities and where new 
models of working and living apply.

vi) Understanding the kinds of economic activity 
that the District’s future prosperity needs to be 
built around, and ensuring that in the competition 
for relatively limited developmental opportunities, the 
needs of the economic growth sectors are properly 
understood, located and supported, to best achieve the 
overall regeneration objectives.
vii) Demonstrating how the River Corridor economy 

can be delivered, and new jobs created in a series 
of well integrated and sequential stages, that place 
no more expectations on public subsidy than can be 
supported, maximise the opportunities for private 
sector initiative and community engagement, but 
deliver the very best result.  

viii) Managing the Waterway for it’s uses and values
Active waterways are systems that need to be 
managed and maintained.  Where a river is being 
expected to service several different value sets, 
environmental, economic, social and cultural, effective 
management means several different things, but agreed 
common goals and workable structures across the 
several agencies involved.  

OP

JW EN

EN

Page 33



164. A NATURAL RIVER 
EN

Page 34



17

‘’From a human perspective wild rivers are hazards; 
water flowing to the sea is wasteful; shallows are 
obstructions to navigation. These traditional views are 
slowly being replaced by recognition of the ecological 
and landscape values of natural rivers. The dilemma 
is to reconcile our immediate practical needs with 
long-term sustainability in terms of an ecologically 
sound and aesthetically acceptable environment – 
something that can only be achieved by strategic 
planning and sensitive management involving thorough 
ecological understanding’’. This was written in 1992 
by Dr Phil Boon, Head of Aquatic Science for the 
Nature Conservancy Council of Great Britain, following 
an international conference on the issue of river 
management. 

The tension referred to in the first paragraph made 
above means that not all rivers can be treated in 
the same way. Most rivers have suffered some form 
of human impact; yet all seem to have an innate 
capacity to recover, at least partially, after stress and 
disturbance. 

This human impact over many centuries leads to 
difficulty in concluding exactly what we mean to 
understand as a natural river.  What point in time do 
we take? Most have been, to some degree, regulated 
or engineered for agricultural and industrial purposes 
over a long time span with specific periods, such as 
THE฀INDUSTRIAL฀6ICTORIAN฀ERA�฀WHERE฀HUMAN฀IMPACT฀WAS฀
intensified especially on river systems such as the River 
Avon through productive cities and towns.

The key thing about a river environment, in terms of 
its habitat, is that it is dynamic. It is constantly moving 
– fast or slow, regulated or not – across terrain which 
usually changes much more slowly and seasonally.  
Rivers are great transporters and the water is a habitat 
in itself and through its variation in movement it 
constantly creates diversity.

Some idea of a natural English lowland river would 
include a generally sinuous, mainly water-filled system, 
with a water flow-through time of minutes to weeks 
(unlike lakes or wetlands which generally retain water 
for much longer periods).  

The key elements of the river freshwater habitat are:

s฀PHYSICAL�฀BEDS฀AND฀BANKS฀OF฀CHANNEL�฀PATTERNS฀OF฀
erosion and deposition, flow conditions, velocity and 
wetted perimeter; 

s฀CHEMICAL�฀OXYGENATION�฀NUTRITIONAL฀STATUS�฀POLLUTANT฀
variability, concentration and loading; and 

s฀BIOLOGICAL�฀CARRYING฀CAPACITY�฀RESERVES฀AND฀
recruitment, competition and predation, introductions, 
managed species, and fishing. 

Whole river systems (from their source to their mouth 
with the sea) are physically diverse with a combination 
of faster flowing upland feeder streams, open water 
areas such as slow water turnover lakes, wetland areas 
with marginal vegetation and reed-beds, meandering 
slow flowing stretches with oxbow lakes where natural 
flooding is unconstrained, wide floodplains where river 
material is continually deposited and eroded over years 
of variable climatic conditions, banksides with earth 
cliffs undercut on outer meander bends and where 
material is deposited as sand/silt banks on the inner 
bend. The physical diversity of the river extends further 
into the river landscape where adjacent land would 
more naturally consist of wooded areas, with scrub, 
perennials and ground cover. All this provides a range 
of micro-habitats and even includes on the River Avon 
some deep valley gorges. 

The freshwater system is not only physically linear 
in movement but also cyclical in contributing to the 
great water wheel of life – transportation, evaporation, 
precipitation, dilution, hydration.

Physical diversity and dynamism leads to supporting 
a range of life and biodiversity.  Freshwater aquatic 
biodiversity includes iconic species such as the 
water vole and otter, obscure and useful indicators 
of the quality of water such as various fish species, 
pondweeds, vegetation and algae, or strange aquatic 
insects and their larvae. 

 

4. A NATURAL RIVER

JW JWPage 35



18

Access to water is a necessity to life, not only to life 
within the river but also to supporting those of us who 
live on its fringes – humans, wildlife, and habitats. And 
of course it has always been the silent partner in our 
industries and dominant in shaping our landscapes.

The stretch of the River Avon we are concerned with is 
a freshwater habitat, in various altered and degraded 
stages. The River Avon has been abstracted from, 
fished in, boated on, discharged into, its waters have 
been diverted, its reaches have been dammed, and 
its natural floodplains developed.  To some extent 
and in consequence of human historic actions we, as 
custodians and users of the river habitat, have become 
disconnected from this essential resource.

The opportunity to achieve a sustainable river 
ecosystem is threatened by many factors. Sustainability 
requires predictability and climate change is making 
predictability particularly difficult for river systems.  An 
emerging approach and attitude to how we understand 
and interact with habitats is developing through 
Ecosystems Services. Human health and wellbeing 
depends upon the services provided by ecosystems 
and their components: water, soil, nutrients and 
organisms. Equally, the health of these components 
depends upon human activities including river 
management. 
4HE฀5NITED฀.ATIONS฀-ILLENNIUM฀%COSYSTEM฀!SSESSMENT฀
provided the most comprehensive assessment of the 
state of the global environment to date; it classified 
ecosystem services as follows:

• Supporting services:  The services that are necessary 
for the production of all other ecosystem services 
including soil formation, photosynthesis, primary 
production, nutrient cycling and water cycling. 

• Provisioning services:  The products obtained 
from ecosystems, including food, fibre, fuel, 
genetic resources, biochemicals, natural medicines, 
pharmaceuticals, ornamental resources and fresh 
water;

• Regulating services:  The benefits obtained from the 
regulation of ecosystem processes, including air quality 
regulation, climate regulation, water regulation, erosion 
regulation, water purification, disease regulation, pest 
regulation, pollination, natural hazard regulation;

• Cultural services:  The non-material benefits people 
obtain from ecosystems through spiritual enrichment, 
cognitive development, reflection, recreation and 
aesthetic experiences – thereby taking account of 
landscape values

The River Avon contributes to each one of these 
essential categories.
If we recognise that more importance/value should be 
placed on the river, it is helpful to recall the many roles 
river-linked environments can bring, as these are the 
tools we have to work with.   

In the rural areas, beyond settlements, rivers lie at 
the centre of the fertility a River Corridor flood plain 
brings, generally offering maximum soil depth and 
quality, water infiltration and the ready moisture and 
drainage that agriculture needs.   As both a ‘margin’ 
and invariably a shaded landscape corridor the banks, 
and the water itself offers the maximum potential for 
biodiversity, in which varying water depths, degrees of 
shade and the soft soil of riverbanks, are all important 
factors.   

OP OPPage 36



19
5. WHAT RIVERS CAN DO FOR THEIR TOWNS, CITIES & HINTERLANDS

EN

Page 37



20

But rivers are also barriers to movement, their 
meanders constraining where people can go and, 
thereby creating moods and atmospheres, places of 
quiet and calm, that are valuable in themselves.   

They can be dangerous in flood, but they can also be 
used as highly fuel efficient transportation routes.
Within the way we define the character and identity 
of our towns and cities, the relationship with a river is 
often fundamental. If the river is wide it significantly 
defines the form, function and status of a capital city, 
such as London.  
 
Since geography often dictates that the transport 
systems of roads and railways have to run alongside 
rivers, the riverscape often determines the character of 
an approach to a city, such as for instance in Bristol, 
the dramatic entry to the city through the Avon Gorge.   

Often it is the coincidence of bridges, and significant 
buildings such as the cathedrals of Worcester or 
Durham, that become the icons of the city’s identity.   

But this can happen just as much through the quality 
of public open space that can be created through 
the very nature of a riverside walkway, whether in the 
form of green landscape or, on the London South 
Bank, through the bringing together of a great diversity 
of activities, to create a cultural and social critical 
functional mass of their own.   

Elsewhere, rivers of a very modest size, completely set 
the mood and identity of towns, a sense of calmness, 
a sense of generosity and architectural quality such as 
the minor rivers that meander through the Colleges of 
Oxford and Cambridge.   

Sometimes, in a busy historic city centre, the river 
margins are fully dominated by transportation and it 
is the sense of movement that takes visitors across 
a sequence of bridges that symbolise the energy of 
the city, notably in Paris and in Newcastle.   For those 
who know well a particular town or city that lies on 
a river, it is the variety of character different parts of 
the river system hold that is memorable, not least 
because rivers meander and so come and go away 
from the main transportation corridor desire lines.   At 
one point a sense of busyness and the status and size 
of embankment bridges and buildings send strong 
messages of urban status, elsewhere sometimes only a 
stone’s throw away all can be quiet and calm.  

Rivers in the urban environment often serve as a 
particular form of public open space, creating a rare 
sense of distance and long vistas in the urban grain.   
But often where commercial pressures have driven 
development patterns, rivers or water frontages can be 
remarkably inaccessible bringing a character of its own, 
SUCH฀AS฀THE฀PEDESTRIAN฀ONLY฀BRIDGES฀OF฀6ENICE�฀PLACES฀
where both nature and access to the waterfront are 
denied.  

Punting on the River Cam, Cambridge

Paris 1878

Avon Gorge, Bristol

Venice 1729

5. WHAT RIVERS CAN DO FOR TOWNS, CITIES AND THEIR HINTERLANDS

Page 38



21

In the best riverscapes, it is often the sense of water 
borne activity, the movements of boats of all shapes 
and sizes, and of people, that river based and 
supporting activities and pleasure trips bring, that 
makes us value them as an asset. 

The Regeneration Delivery Plan for the River 

Corridor will, in time, need to consider what 

balance of new characters for the river needs 

to be created, what can best enforce and enrich 

the character of the city’s present Conservation 

Area and best respect its role as the only World 

Heritage City in the UK.    In this report some of 

the considerations explored can suggest how 

these critical planning policy decisions should be 

made to ensure that in decades to come Bath’s 

riverscape will be valued as a wholly integrated 

element of the city, that had the ambition and 

confidence to revalue its river in the early 21st 

Century and by doing so make it worthy of the 

18th Century endeavour which produced a World 

Heritage City.  

Waste & Materials Transportation – Olympic Park

The network of post-industrial waterways around Bow 
Back Rivers that were left derelict and underused 
since the Second World War, have been given a new 
lease of life to provide materials in and waste out of 
the 2012 Olympic Park. They will continue to function 
beyond the Olympic and Paralympic Games through 
the post regeneration of the site and the legacy period. 
This ambitious venture had been written into the 
Sustainability Strategy of the Olympic Park by Hyder 
Consulting from the outset of the project, ensuring the 
legacy of the Games provided sustainable, economic 
development for the area for many generations to 
come.

The re-establishment of the waterways was made 
possible by the imagination and drive of the Olympic 
Park Project Team, British Waterways, Natural England, 
Defra and other interested parties and through the 
key development of the new Three Mills Lock. This 
restoration of the Bow Back Rivers has allowed 
navigation for barges and other watercraft entering the 
Olympic Park area for the first time in 50 years. ‘’The 
lock is part of a wider strategy to maximise the use of 
the rivers in the area for wildlife, navigation and people, 
creating a thriving waterway legacy.’’ British Waterways, 
2011
    
The Olympic Park restoration of the waterways is a 
fine example of how Keynsham too could benefit from 
a legacy project to carry waste and materials from the 
homes and businesses within and beyond B&NES, as 
well as attracting increased leisure boat activity; tourist 
trails, ferry boats, water taxis, floating restaurants, 
houseboats and visiting craft. As with the Olympic 
park example, this would naturally incorporate wildlife 
habitats to enhance and protect species and provide 
access to the riverside and on the river via new paths 
AND฀SIGNAGE�฀PLUS฀LINKS฀TO฀THE฀EXISTING฀!VON฀6ALLEY฀
Wildlife Park and other facilities.

Kingston Mills, Bradford on Avon The Olympic Park waterways restoration

EN

Page 39



226. CURRENT ISSUES DRIVING CHANGE
EN

Page 40



23

History shows that the waves of change affecting the natural and the built environment follow coincidences of 
circumstances which can be more or less significant in different locations.  The creation of 18th Century Bath 
needed a Queen with a health problem, political instability in Europe, an impresario, a particularly imaginative 
architect/builder and an entrepreneur who saw the potential of Bath stone as transportable construction 
material.  

Now because the transformation needed to make Bath’s riverscape worthy of the World Heritage City is so 
great, it is important that the mechanisms to bring about that change are properly understood and facilitated 
and the ‘current drivers of change’ are fully utilised to pass a new economy wave through the corridor.  There 
are several strands making up what we call the Drivers of Change.  

6. CURRENT ISSUES DRIVING CHANGE

Page 41



24

The Need for a New Economy Regeneration 

In common with all towns and cities, Bath and 
Keynsham have each in their own ways been through 
several cycles of economic activity.  In Bath from a 
Roman Garrison to Medieval market town to 18th 
Century spa, to centre of industry.  And as industry 
declined the new increasingly important future 
powerhouse of the city’s economy, its universities were 
ESTABLISHED฀WITH฀THE฀5NIVERSITY฀OF฀"ATH฀RISING฀RAPIDLY฀UP฀
THE฀CHART฀OF฀5+�S฀BEST฀5NIVERSITIES�฀฀฀
But now, the need for new strands of economic 
life is particularly pressing; to consider building on 
ITS฀SUCCESS฀"ATH�S฀5NIVERSITIES฀NEED฀TO฀SHOW฀HOW฀
research and knowledge is being applied to generate 
EMPLOYMENT฀BEYOND฀THE฀5NIVERSITY฀CAMPUS฀IN฀NEW฀HIGH฀
tech industry, new education and training offers, new 
connections with global industry.  After being mainstays 
of the City’s economic life for several decades, 
substantial employment with the Ministry of Defence 
or in the Local Authority and Health Public Sectors is 
DIMINISHING�฀฀(ISTORIC฀5NIVERSITY฀4OWNS฀LIKE฀#AMBRIDGE฀
show what can be achieved.

Keynsham’s single most significant historic employer 
has gone.  So the District needs to be clear where, 
building on its past strengths and skills the geo-spatial 
opportunities for the District’s new areas of economic 
activity and growth are going to be.  

Flood Management 

Although Bath has escaped major flooding since the 
flood management scheme of the 1960’s was put into 
place, the rising rainfall expectations of the climate 
change era are demanding higher levels of resilience, 
flood protection and escape to safety Managing the 
higher flood water flows induced by climate change 
is becoming an important consideration potentially 
sterilising land at the heart of River Corridor towns and 
cities unless alternative flood storage arrangements 
can be made where they will work.  This need will have 
a significant impact on both the speed, nature and 
form of riverside development – the need for bridges, 
the need to create riverside flood storage where this is 
judged essential, and the appearance and character of 
the urban corridor throughout its length.

Low Carbon Living 

An economy based on fuels and products derived from 
below ground deposits of carbon is not sustainable as 
it has contributed so significantly to global warming, 
and such fuels will run out.  During the carbon fuel era, 
we have become used to the freedom and flexibility of 
travel that carbon fuel transportation brings and our 
towns and cities and, the food economy that service 
their populations have become extremely spatially 
inefficient.  This means that people, their consumption 
goods and their food travels far further than is sensible 
or sustainable.  Commuting long distances to work has 
been accepted without question.  

At every turn now capital decisions in land, buildings 
and infrastructure need to be made against the high 
expectation that their carbon footprint will diminish and 
energy used needs be self-renewing.  

One of the biggest challenges facing industrialised 
consumer societies is how to have lifestyles that can 
be “impact accountable” in environmental terms.  
When it seems all of our lifestyle decisions involved 
food, products, travel etc are dictated by the power 
of advertising in a capitalist society, how on earth can 
the true global cost of such choices be captured and 
managed by individuals, settlements or regions.  
Current thinking hear talks about building, closed 
systems or ‘impact loops’ to relate consumption 
of, say, energy to available supply in geographic 
terms, energy, food, water, readily lend themselves 
to such approaches.  Much can be learnt from how, 

ENJW

Page 42



25

for instance, the Swiss came to establish high levels 
of self-containment in their economics because the 
geographic constraints to travel and trade were so 
extreme before tunnels and flight changed the model.  
Increasingly, even less topographically challenged 
places, the idea of the natural catchment of a river is 
being seen as a more credible boundary for impact 
accountability and governance - in areas of the world 
seriously challenged by shortage of water, it may 
well become the only valid measure of environmental 
sustainability – where all economic and consumption 
decisions revolve around maintaining the water cycle.  

Biodiversity

Both within the built environment and the countryside 
the range of habitats available for wildlife have 
been diminished.  Much of the river through Bath 
is contained within tall sheet metal piling and lacks 
the varieties of water margin, so typical of a natural 
RIVERSCAPE�฀฀6ERY฀LITTLE฀OF฀THE฀BANKS฀EVEN฀CONTAIN฀TREES฀
or sheltering vegetation and access for wildlife is 
impossible.

In the rural areas too an exclusively agricultural led use 
of the flood plain has diminished biodiversity, replacing 
minor open water courses with closed culverts, draining 
natural wetland areas, reducing rivers edge vegetation 
and scrub, although much has improved since the end 
of the Industrial Era. 

As a river catchment draining system is so important 
as an eco-system, new economy models can be based 
around the potential of a river to create opportunities 
for enhancing and enriching biodiversity.  Within the 
built up areas, stepped banks, new lowered wetland 
and flood compensation areas can restore habitat 
removed centuries ago, new riverside parkland and 
shaded walks create new wildlife corridors carefully 
planned to link with existing refuges and routes as well 
as contributing the flood relief.  Beyond the build-up 
area, creating a value out of a more absorbent flood 
plain landscape might mean removing fast draining 
culverts, restoring wetland and perhaps opening up 
new economic opportunities in wetland bio-mass, 
marinas and fresh water fish farming.  

OP

Page 43



267. THE REGULATORY REGIME
OP

Page 44



27

The European Water Directive

The European Water Framework Directive came into 
FORCE฀IN฀$ECEMBER฀����฀AND฀BECAME฀PART฀OF฀5+฀LAW฀
in December 2003. It gives us an opportunity to plan 
and deliver a better water environment, focussing on 
ecology and sustainable water use.

The Directive helps to protect and enhance the quality 
of:

s฀SURFACE฀FRESHWATER฀�INCLUDING฀LAKES�฀STREAMS฀AND฀R
   rivers)
s฀GROUNDWATERS
s฀GROUNDWATER฀DEPENDANT฀ECOSYSTEMS
s฀ESTUARIES
s฀COASTAL฀WATERS฀OUT฀TO฀ONE฀MILE฀FROM฀LOW
WATER�

The Environment Agency in England and Wales is the 
lead authority to deliver the Water Framework Directive 
objectives.

The Water Framework Directive looks at the ecological 
health of surface water bodies (defined as a slight 
variation from undisturbed natural conditions), as 
well as achieving traditional chemical standards. In 
particular it helps to deal with diffuse pollution which of 
often associated with agriculture. 

Wildlife conservation sites identified under the Habitats 
Directive and Birds Directive (with water-related 
features) are also included and are designated as 
‘protected areas’ under the Water Framework Directive.

The sustainable development concept – social, 
economic and environmental progress - is at the heart 
of this legislation. This is reinforced by the requirement 
for Sustainability Appraisal of development plans, 
incorporating Strategic Environmental Assessment 
(SEA), and the application of the SEA Directive to the 
Water Framework Directive. The Water Framework 
Directive looks ahead to 2027 and so the effects of 
climate change will also be taken into account in 
planning.

7. THE REGULATORY REGIME

River Basin Management Plans

The WFD creates new River Basin Management Plans. 
There are eleven River Basin Districts in England and 
Wales and the River Avon falls within the Severn River 
Basin Management District, which is further divided 
into 10 catchments. The River Avon is part of the 
Bristol Avon and North Somerset Streams Catchment. 
By 2015 there will be improvement of the quality of 
our waters. The core aims of the WFD and RBMP are 
to prevent the deterioration of aquatic ecosystems, 
protect, enhance and restore polluted waters, comply 
with water standards, reduce pollution from hazardous 
substances, and protect groundwaters.

Some key actions for this catchment have been 
identified as: 

s฀IMPROVEMENTS฀TO฀SEWAGE฀TREATMENT฀WORKS฀AND฀
addressing urban intermittent discharges to reduce 
inputs of ammonia, phosphate and other pollutants;

s฀@/PERATION฀3TREAMCLEAN�฀A฀PARTNERSHIP฀PROJECT฀
with Wessex Water to identify and correct sewerage 
misconnections at domestic properties;

s฀PROVISION฀OF฀ADVICE฀TO฀FARMERS฀INCLUDING฀THROUGH฀
the England Catchment Sensitive Farming Delivery 
Initiative;

s฀INVESTIGATIONS฀TO฀ASSESS฀THE฀IMPACTS฀OF฀ABSTRACTION฀
on the environment under the Restoring Sustainable 
Abstraction programme;

s฀MITIGATING฀THE฀SPREAD฀AND฀IMPACT฀OF฀NON
NATIVE฀
invasive crayfish through the South West White Clawed 
Crayfish Conservation Project;

s฀IMPROVING฀HABITAT฀AND฀ENCOURAGING฀COMMUNITY฀ACTION฀
to tackle non-native invasive weeds through the Avon 
Frome Partnership and Bristol Invasive Weeds Forum.

The EA creates and manages these plans. Water in 
rivers, estuaries, coasts and aquifers will improve under 
measures set out in River Basin Management Plans.
River Basin Management Plans are plans for protecting 
and improving the water environment and have been 
developed in consultation with organisations and 
individuals. They contain the main issues for the water 
environment and the actions we all need to take to deal 
with them. 

The River Basin Management Plans have been 
approved by the Secretary of State for the Department 
for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs and the Welsh 
Minister.

Page 45



28

Spatial Planning and the Water Framework 

Directive

Spatial planning can help to deliver River Basin 
Management Plan objectives by:

s฀CHECKING฀THAT฀PROPOSED฀DEVELOPMENT฀DOES฀NOT฀CAUSE฀
deterioration of water bodies;

s฀ENSURING฀THAT฀THE฀SCOPE฀OF฀3USTAINABILITY฀!PPRAISAL�
Strategic Environmental Assessment for spatial plans 
includes impacts on water bodies;

s฀RESPECTING฀THE฀LIMITS฀OF฀THE฀WATER฀ENVIRONMENT฀WHEN฀
generating development options;

s฀ADOPTING฀SPATIAL฀PLAN฀POLICIES฀THAT฀WILL฀HELP฀TO฀ACHIEVE฀
‘good status’ in water bodies.

Best practice for plan making includes using water 
cycle strategies to check the capacity of water bodies 
and infrastructure including public water supply and 
waste water treatment. In addition spatial plans can 
promote strategies to improve the water environment, 
for example to improve river corridors.

The Water Framework Directive requires the 
consideration of water ecology and physical 
modifications to water bodies including, for example, 
water resources, chemical water quality and flood risk. 

OP

OP

EN

EN

EN EN

JW

Page 46



298. ASPECTS OF THE RIVER INITIATIVE 
G

Page 47



30

 - In established areas of the river such values, 
environmental, cultural, social and economic have 
already been ascribed.  For instance, around Pulteney 
Weir the coincidence of historic buildings and the 
level of activity are evidence of social/cultural value 
and there is economic value in the significance of 
the central part of the World Heritage City and in the 
presence of the Rugby Club.

 - Elsewhere, such as upstream of Pulteney Bridge, 
high significance is given to the environmental value of 
the river and the social value that comes from it offering 
one of very few places where Bath residents can take a 
boat and get close to the water and its natural life.   

 - Downstream in the heart of the industrial zone, there 
are areas where environmental, social, cultural and 
economic values are all negative and yet, close by in 
areas like Norfolk Crescent and Green Park there are 
already elements of high cultural value, with some 
social value, underutilised public open space which, 
being wholly unconnected with the river are not yet part 
of its value set.  The point is that where there are social 
regenerative needs and opportunities, there is a need 
to identify how to create the most appropriate hierarchy 
of values for each part of the river, or that combination 
of value goals for each part that best contributes to the 
quality of the whole.   

Changing Perceptions and Creating Values for 

the River

Once studied it is easy to understand how Bath’s 
19th and 20th Century developments turn their back 
on the river.   So thorough has this been that now the 
city’s infrastructure of transportation, its linkages for 
footpaths and cycle ways and its venues of social and 
cultural identity, including its parks and open spaces 
and its zones and centres of commercial and economic 
life have all been determined without reference to the 
river.   These cannot be changed overnight.

Re-valuing the river is a regeneration project that will 
take many years.  This has to begin with understanding 
how perceptions of the river’s value can be changed, 
incrementally, progressively.   

The river is the way it is because for much of its 
lengths we have ascribed only low values to it in recent 
decades.   

It is judged valuable for carrying rain water through the 
city and avoiding flooding.  But if it is to become more 
significant within the District once more, new layers of 
meaning and value have to be ascribed to it.   

These can be:

Environmental - Recognising the river as an important 
habitat and route for wildlife, a source of energy.

Cultural - Recognising that the river contains elements 
of history that each contribute to our cultural identity 
and as it is enhanced and brought to life again in all 
sorts of ways, it can come to be an important part of 
the cultural life and identity of the District as has so 
evidently happened in other towns and cities.

Social 
฀5NDERSTANDING฀HOW฀NEW฀RIVER฀ACTIVITIES�฀
constant boating movement, rowing, new public 
transport, pleasure boats, new riverside social venues, 
parks, pubs and restaurants would all contribute to the 
social identity and character of the city as a whole.

Economic 
฀5NDERSTANDING฀THAT฀AS�฀BY฀DElNITION฀A฀
corridor and so central to the identity of a  District, 
seeing it as the starting point for the renewal of 
economic life in these areas is fundamentally sensible 
as a regeneration goal.   

 8. ASPECTS OF THE RIVER INITIATIVE

Pulteney Bridge and Weir, Bath

Bath Boating Club

EN

Page 48



31

 - For instance, at the City of Bath’s western 
approaches, perceptions of the World Heritage Site  
for those arriving along the Lower Bristol Road are 
currently significantly diminished by the number of 
semi-redundant or derelict sites as industrial uses have 
faded away.    Many of these sites are shallow in depth, 
but they completely obscure views of the river and the 
historic city on the northern hill slopes and so delay a 
perception of its value.   

But removing development from these sites could 
contribute to the flood storage that many central 
development sites need, or yield considerably 
enhanced wildlife habitats that transform perceptions of 
the city for visitors and residents.  

Being clear about the value goals to set to different 

parts of the river will be fundamental.  

Although much of the western corridor within the city 
is blighted or underutilised, the developable land is 
limited and so there will be competition for uses.  If 
all such sites are seen only as development sites for 
conventional, commercial or residential development, 
it is unlikely goals for enhancing the social, economic, 
cultural or environmental value of the whole river will be 
achieved.   

On the other hand, focusing on environmental 
enhancement opportunities makes more sense if 
the habitat of the River Corridor is linked up with 
established public open space and wildlife routes 
beyond the corridor.

So within this report we will say a lot about the ways 
in which social, cultural, environmental and economic 
value can be ascribed to elements of the river, to 
achieve the best long-term result.   We also say a lot 
about how perceptions need to be changed because 
much of the investment in positive change that 
needs to come, can only happen when it is evident to 
investors, both in public and private sector, that higher 
values can be ascribed to areas that are currently of 
low value.   

In our conclusions we list many steps that can be 
initiated to change perceptions of the river and to 
stimulate water born activity, to make the river more 
important as a route, to open up its heritage and to 
reconnect it back into the life and perceptions of the 
area.  

We try to show how a series of relatively modest, 
simple measures on the ground supported by the 
development of appropriate planning and other 
policies, linking up in an initiative between various 
agencies and the putting in place of strategic goals can 
all stimulate the regeneration of the River Corridor for 
the District that is so strongly desired.   

Views entering Bath along the Lower Bristol Road

OP

OP

OP

Page 49



32

Recovering and Creating Character and Identity

Part of the process of changing perceptions and 
creating values for the river involves highlighting those 
things that already create the character and identity 
which, over time, we have come to devalue, or no 
longer recognise.   Once discovered, the power of such 
things to stimulate new character and economic life can 
be fostered.  Illustrations of this might include:

s฀!LONG฀THE฀RIVER฀THERE฀ARE฀SEVERAL฀PLACES฀WHERE฀
weirs remain in evidence of past mills, none currently 
generate hydropower. Re-establishing hydropower will 
contribute to a low carbon way of life that brings new 
purpose and ‘value’ to our perceptions of the river once 
more.  

s฀!T฀4HIMBLE฀-ILL฀IN฀7IDCOMBE฀IS฀AN฀OPPORTUNITY฀TO฀
celebrate one of the great inter-changes between the 
Thames and the Bath Avon so bringing the Thimble 
mill back into use as a social venue for promoting 
community life and identity is essential.  

s฀7EST฀OF฀"ATH�S฀#ITY฀#ENTRE฀IT฀IS฀EASY฀TO฀ASSUME฀THAT฀
the industrial wastelands have nothing of essential 
value to offer, but there is a proud history of Stothert 
and Pitt to be celebrated, urban design links to be 
OPENED฀UP฀BETWEEN฀THE฀RIVER฀AND฀NEARBY฀2OYAL฀6ICTORIA฀
Park to be forged.   The most significant river feature of 
the Western approach, Weston Island is a bus depot. 
 
s฀!T฀4WERTON฀THERE฀IS฀THE฀OPPORTUNITY฀TO฀RECOGNISE฀
that the community’s life once revolved much around 
the economic power the river brought and set out, 
to ensure that the physical links between the river 
and Twerton are all fully exploited in the design form 
that a riverside regeneration of the Twerton frontages 
ultimately takes.

s฀!T฀+EYNSHAM�฀THERE฀ARE฀SO฀MANY฀POINTS฀WHERE฀THE฀
underlying economic history of the town once had a 
river dimension that has now been almost entirely lost 
in the way the town perceives itself.  At Broad Quay the 
massive factories of the Polysulphin Company business 
remain, as proud elements of Keynsham’s Quaker 
traditions awaiting the new economic activity that the 
town requires and which could be built around the 
character these buildings bring.

s฀&URTHER฀UPSTREAM฀SITES฀LIKE฀THE฀!VON฀6ALLEY฀7ILDLIFE฀
Park have very successfully shown how the character 
OF฀THE฀!VON฀6ALLEY฀IS฀SO฀DIFFERENT฀FROM฀THAT฀EVIDENT฀TO฀
travellers along the A4. Such sites could be crucial in 
showing how new agricultural management could in 
time contribute to new models of economic life for a 
River Corridor.    

River Avon & Weston Lock 1900

Thimble Mill, Widcombe

Avon Valley Wildlife Park

Old Polysulphin Factory Building, Keynsham

EN

JH

Page 50



33

Along the River – Seen from the Air 

From Dundas to Hanham/ Dundas to Bathford
From where it enters the District south of Dundas the River Avon is closely constrained by the narrow and steep 
SIDED฀VALLEY฀SOUTH฀AND฀NORTH฀OF฀#LAVERTON฀6ILLAGE�฀฀(ERE฀THE฀mOOD฀PLAIN฀IS฀NARROW฀AND฀THE฀RIVER฀CHARTS฀SLOW฀CURVES฀
rather than marked meanders, followed closely by the Kennet and Avon Canal and the Railway.

It is the confluence of the Kennet and Avon Canal and the former Somerset Coal Canal that marks the river’s entry 
point into the District and although not connected in its navigations before Bath, the historic Claverton Pumping 
Station on this section was operationally connected to water courses two centuries ago.  But here, despite the 
drama of the wooded valley the river itself is low key, narrow, with no bridges between Dundas and the river 
crossing at Bathampton and discontinuous footpaths.

At Dundas the Midford Brook joins the river.

G

Page 51



34

Between Bathford and Bath
Between the settlements of Bathford, Bathampton and Batheaston the river takes a 90 degree turn towards Bath.  
It receives the flow from the ByBrook which began as a tributary in the north of Wiltshire and commands a much 
broader valley to the east.  Between this point and Bath the river is impounded at Bathampton Mill and meanders 
only slightly across a notable floodplain.  It is largely hidden from view by the continuous frontages of development 
on the Bath approaches along the Warminster Road and the London Road and so glides discreetly into the City, 
registering first at the high point of Clevedon Bridge, one of the most important of the City’s river crossings, worthy 
of more celebration.

The City Centre - From Clevedon Bridge to Western Riverside
Bath City Centre is largely contained within a single meander of the river, crossed by 14 bridges, road, rail and 
pedestrian, between Clevedon Bridge and Windsor Bridge.  In Cleveland Bridge and Pulteney Bridge natural banks 
and riverside trees give way to the wholly urban.  Pedestrian access is intermittent; until south of Pulteney Bridge 
where access is available continuously on the east/south bank before crossing to the north bank at Southgate 
(Churchill Bridge).  Within the City the river has many moods but is celebrated with a major open space and 
promenades running on both banks below Pulteney Weir.

G

G

Page 52



35

Western Riverside to Newbridge
Between Windsor Bridge and Newbridge the river scribes a single slow bend and is impounded at its southernmost 
point by Twerton Weir.  This was Bath’s late 19th and 20th Century industrial zone, now up for comprehensive 
redevelopment.  On this section only 4 bridges cross the river, one a former rail bridge, two for pedestrians only, the 
FOURTH฀CARRIES฀THE฀5PPER฀"RISTOL฀2OAD�฀฀"UT฀ALONG฀MUCH฀OF฀THIS฀SECTION�฀RIVER฀AND฀EMBANKED฀RAILWAY฀TO฀THE฀SOUTH฀ARE฀
closely aligned, isolating Twerton village centre from its historical contact with the river.  West of the Western Island 
– created by the canal cut, trees return to both banks.

Newbridge to Saltford
 West of Newbridge the river passes into a wide floodplain free of development but traversed by the main railway 
line and the former rail link to the north, now the Bristol/Bath cycleway.  For around half of this route the embanked 
main line borders the river so closely to the south to render it invisible from the A4. 

G

G

Page 53



36

Saltford to Keynsham
Leaving Saltford the river takes a large meander to the north-east where the floodplain widens considerably.  As the 
RIVER฀MEANDERS฀LESS฀DRAMATICALLY฀TOWARDS฀+EYNSHAM฀IT฀IS฀mANKED฀BY฀THE฀EXTENSIVE฀LAND฀OF฀!VON฀6ALLEY฀#OUNTRY฀0ARK฀
and Broadmead.  But for those travelling along the A4 the river and its wide valley are completely out of view.  At 
Keynsham the river is strengthened by the River Chew. 

Keynsham to Hanham
Here the wide floodplain continues and the river meanders lazily across it, after the impounding of Keynsham Lock.  
As it leaves the District close to Hanham Lock the railway once more flanks the river through the narrow Hanham 
gorge.  The East Bristol Ring road makes the western gateway to the valley.

G

G

Page 54



37

Along the River – Seen from the Bank

Dundas Aqueduct – the Kennet and Avon Canal crosses the River Avon.  The magnificent upstream gateway to the District of 
Bath and North East Somerset.

Another of the District’s remarkable waterways – the 
Somerset Canal joins the Kennet and Avon at Dundas.  

Cycle hire, electric motorboats, kayaks and canoes café, 
books, chandling, momentos, events, education.  The 
diversity of social, cultural, economic and environmental value 
to be stimulated by waterway regeneration is remarkable.  

The Somerset Coal Canal Marina Station at the foot of 
Brassknocker Hill shows very well how new economic life, 
pleasure, employment, new models for living all follow 
waterway regeneration. 

$UNDAS฀MARKS฀THE฀START฀OF฀THE฀MAGNIlCENT฀!VON฀6ALLEY฀IN฀
which Claverton and Warleigh lie. 

EN

EN

EN

EN

EN

EN

Page 55



38

In the shadow of the Aqueduct, the boat house for 
Monkton Combe School.

At Bathford, the Avon bends sharply west to pass through 
Bathampton Meadow on the approach to Bath. 

River and Canal connect again at Claverton Pumping Station 
where the canals flow can be supplemented from the river.  

In the bend of the river between Bathford and Bathampton, 
fields and orchards once contained the market gardens the 
city’s population depended on for food.   For years these 
areas have appeared as marginal land, neither part of the 
developed city, nor rural agriculture.  

Even in terms of planning policy and World Heritage Site 
Setting and Management, we have yet to declare what these 
zones are actually for.   But projects like this, a Transition 
Town’s initiative are showing their way, reconnecting the 
loops of economic and environmental life that are essential 
to creating the “impact accountable” lifestyles coping with 
climate change well need.  

In areas wholly determined by nature the river has many moods and a rich flora.  Some of these qualities could be restored to 
the urban structures with the right kinds of restoration and management. 

EN

EN

EN

EN

EN

EN

Page 56



39

At Bathampton, the St. Catherine’s valley joins the Avon 
6ALLEY�

EN

EN EN

One of the few places east of Bath, the Avon has a public 
face – Bathampton Toll Bridge above the weir.

The river enters the World Heritage City of Bath discreetly, 
between Bathampton Weir and Cleveland Bridge, wholly 
hidden to public view behind lines of development and 
flanked by private gardens.  At Bathwick, the Bath Boating 
Station has offered residents and visitors a rare opportunity 
to get on the water and experience its moods, its flora and 
fauna. 

5NKNOWN฀TO฀MANY฀RESIDENTS฀AND฀MOST฀VISITORS�฀IS฀THE฀GRANDEUR฀
of the the Cleveland Bridge, designed by H E Goodridge.  If 
this could be made more readily visible, its significance as 
the eastern gateway to the city centre would signal that new 
values are being attributed to the river in the 21st Century.  An 
upstream ‘park and glide’ carrying commuters/visitors past its 
towers would see it celebrated in the changed perceptions of 
the City.  

EN

Page 57



40

The only point within Bath where the river is truly celebrated, consciously the centre of attention due to the visual power of 
Pulteney Bridge and its weir.  The drama of major buildings, a place where the backdrop of the World Heritage City is revealed, 
climbing onto the northern hill slopes.  This is one of the few points where there is daily evidence of boating, social and cultural 
identity and activity, the ability to promenade, a feeling of accessibility created by stepped banks and accessibility on both 
sides.

There is much scope for improvement either to the west or the east through the pattern of uses placed towards the river and its 
assets.

The area south of North Parade Bridge illustrates how rapidly the mood of a river can change; there is a well-used riverside 
walkway, stone embankments, natural banks and trees, distant views and dramatic buildings, but approaching a major bend the 
walkway here is a desire line to housing remarkably close to the City centre.  

EN

EN

EN EN

Page 58



From beneath the Great Western Railway Bridge east of Bath Spa Station the sheet metal piling begins that has led so much to 
present perceptions of the river as a wholly engineered waterway.  There are still trees and interesting characterful views but the 
status of this area is downgraded and needs enhanced activities or an upgrading of status to recover.

The section south of Bath Spa Station to Churchill Bridge has many trees.  The river embankments are relatively low but the 
unguarded river’s edge is threatening for the few who use this route.

One of the current missed opportunities; the Kennet and Avon Canal was designed to link the rivers of the Avon and the Thames 
together but where the canal and river meet at Thimble Mill is wholly without celebration.  The rapid succession of hotel chains 
that have owned Thimble Mill have chosen not to recognise the power of this confluence or its water pound as part of its 
commercial identity.  With its generous external open space and great views this could be so much better and it needs an owner 
able to see its potential.

The river from Rossiter Road.  Although the road is busy, landscape borders, trees and an elevated viewpoint bring enhanced 
status to the riverscape within the city.

Churchill Bridge, once Southgate; the southern gateway into Bath, flanked from the 18th Century by the evidence of the city’s 
status as an inland port with North Quay and South Quay servicing warehouses, several of which remain.  But currently this area 
is only telling a story about traffic, and the low clearance of the Churchill Bridge constrains boating activity.

EN EN

EN

EN EN

Page 59



42

The Great Western Railway celebrates the drama of arriving in the city by rail. Close to Southgate these arches are waiting for a 
new pattern of use that the regenerated Southgate Shopping Centre can justify commercially.

Opposite the City’s recently completed new Bus Station, no thought at all has been given to the urban landscape that people 
see.  How disappointing that in the heart of the city the importance of riverside enhancement was not recognised and grasped.  
This is meant to be a transport interchange where rail, bus and boats all come together.

As one of the Economic Drivers of the District’s economy the 
5NIVERSITY฀OF฀"ATH฀DOES฀HAVE฀A฀PRESENCE฀ON฀THE฀RIVER�฀BUT฀DOES฀
this feel like an Innovation Centre, does it inspire?

The section of river due west of Churchill Bridge is one of 
the most familiar and successful parts of the river for Bath 
residents and visitors through its place in the city’s traffic 
system.  But there is conspicuously nowhere in sight to savour 
the river, to sit and watch, talk and play, have a drink or a meal.

Along the north bank path away from the river’s edge a sense 
of generosity is brought to the riverscape with large trees and 
picnic tables.  

The Avon Street Car Park, the Council owned site identified 
for development in the near future.  Being so prominent, and 
of a significant size, the future form of such a site could be 
transformational in our perceptions of the river and its status/
value within the city.  What sort of relationship with the water 
should such a development have and what sort of uses?  How 
necessary is it to retain this section of Green Park Road at all?  

EN EN

EN EN

EN EN

Page 60



43

Green Park, a mature but grossly underused public open space, the scale and drama of the river could be revealed, already 
dramatised by trees and historic warehouses and a wooded backdrop to the east.  The river currently lacks activity, but in such 
a view its drama and scale are unmistakable.

At Green Park the status problem of the Avon in the city is starkly revealed.  On the left the narrow rambling riverside path, on 
the right a generous public open space viewed against the backdrop of one of the 18th Century terraces, but the two wholly 
separated by a hedge.

Public access to the river north of Midland Road Bridge; in terms of status and connectability this is typical of the low value 
given to linking up the city with riverside routes.

EN

EN

EN EN

EN

Page 61



44

Again, at Norfolk Crescent the generous Council owned public open space that could be part of defining the river’s character 
and identity is under-celebrated by visual and physical barriers.  This route alongside Norfolk Crescent Gardens should be a 
western gateway to the city centre.

For several decades the uncertainty over the future of the Western Riverside site has blighted this section of the river.  It will 
become much more actively used and dramatised by the scale of new buildings proposed, but, as yet, the values to be attached 
to this section of the river remain unclear.  Is it only to be river fronting development or has it bigger roles to play in the way the 
city works and sees itself?

Two recent riverside developments west of Windsor Bridge Road, one close to the river walkway has a riverside focus with 
surveillance, high level balconies, but no low level activity, unlike the housing development beyond.  

The recent student housing on Lower Bristol Road with minimal ground level presence perpetuates the longstanding problem of 
the riverside sites turning their back on the river.

EN EN

EN

EN

EN

EN

Page 62



45

The Herman Miller Factory at Locksbrook.  An illustration of 
how simply a generosity of space, scale and shelter of trees 
can create a place of significance before the adjoining factory.

The Dolphin Public House at Locksbrook, the first place 
downstream of Pulteney Weir in which any social and 
recreational celebration of the river are visible in the form of a 
pub beer garden.

Twerton Weir, with the sheet piling the Western Island to the 
left.  This area, once dramatised by the massive brick buildings 
of Twerton Mill now lacks a meaningful urban identity.

4HE฀7ASTE฀4RANSFER฀3TATION฀SOUTH฀OF฀6ICTORIA฀0ARK�฀฀4HIS฀SITE฀
sterilises what could be one of the most socially, culturally and 
lNANCIALLY฀VALUABLE฀OF฀THE฀RIVERSIDE฀SITES฀CLOSE฀TO฀6ICTORIA฀0ARK฀
and the Royal Crescent.

The present Sainsbury’s store marked an imaginative reuse 
of the former Green Park Station when it was built around 30 
years ago.  Now the probable relocation of the Sainsbury’s 
store on the Homebase site creates the opportunity to review 
the role of this site and the historic Station building afresh 
within the context of their important role as the link with the 
Western Riverside development and the revitalisation of the 
western end of the city centre.

EN

EN

EN

EN

EN Page 63



46

The urban village of Twerton once had an active economic relationship with the Avon around their weir.  Despite the physical 
barrier of the GWR ramparted tracks a riverside site’s Masterplan would ensure the linkages that do exist are given the 
significance they deserve.

Even now from the churchyard, Twerton feels connected with 
THE฀!VON฀6ALLEY฀n฀IT฀DESERVES฀TO฀BE฀SO฀AGAIN�฀

These photographs help understand how significant re-profiled and landscaped southern banks to the river could be – with trees 
and cycleways – creating a western gateway worthy of a World Heritage Site once more.  

All along the Western Approach to Bath created by the Lower 
Bristol Road, the river is an asset denied to view by slivers of 
already developed or enclosed land.   A geographic feature 
of the significance of Weston Island should be seen and 
celebrated. 

EN

EN

EN

EN

EN

EN

Page 64



47

Between Newbridge and Keynsham the river meanders 
across the broad valley, taking the waterside far away from 
the busy A4.   The Somerdale Factory, once the generator 
of 5,500 jobs, was the driving force behind the 20th century 
expansion of Keynsham.  The Town now needs a new sense 
of its own identity, new creators of employment.  Planning 
for Keynsham to build both of these by reclaiming its river 
dimensions is important. 

Creating close contact with water, with its movement, they 
play of light, the changing seasons, are all part of the values 
regenerated river experiences can bring.

Even where, along the western approaches, road and river 
coincide the river remains invisible to view and overshaded...

...it could be like this

EN

EN

EN

EN EN

Page 65



48

Approaching Keynsham from the East, well established 
moorings frame the approach to the huge buildings of the 
19th century Polysulphin works.

Keynsham has a magnificent broad weir, but who would know 
it, passing through the town or bypassing it on the A4?

The Massive Somerdale factory dominates the valley viewed 
from afar, but close to, despite its scale, had no relationship 
with the river.  In taking the site forward to new uses, 
extracting maximum value for the town in its power to transfer 
perceptions of the river will be fundamental and any schemes 
coming forward need to be judged accordingly.  

Keynsham already has several riverside dimensions to it, but 
these feel remote from and unconnected with the town.  

The valley is at its broadest around Somerdale, creating landscapes and waterside character of great quality. 

EN EN

EN EN

EN EN

Page 66



49

West of the broad ham on which Somerdale lies, the river has many moods as it meanders towards the narrowing of the 
Hanham Gorge. 

The Bristol Ring Road marks the downstream gateway of the Avon as it exits the Bath and North East Somerset Council District.  

EN EN

ENEN

EN

Page 67



50

New Uses for the River

At present the levels of activity on the District’s river can be summarised as follows:

Upstream of Bathampton Mill
Boating activity is limited to Monkton Park School, angling and incomplete lengths of riverside footpath and 
swimming at Warleigh Weir.

Between Bathampton Weir and Pulteney Bridge
Daily pleasure boat trips and small boats for hire from Bath Boating Station; riparian ownerships influence any other 
activity.

G

G

Page 68



51

Between Pulteney Weir and Twerton Weir

Despite being a navigation, below the canal intersection there are no proper serviced moorings, (some at Avon 
Street and the Dolphin Pub) no small boating facilities or angling, there is limited pleasure boating as the sheer 
engineered banks, lack of wildlife interest and habitats or visible links to heritage all mitigate against this.  There is 
traffic in canal boats between Bath and Bristol, but no landings, boat facilities or evidence of boating related activity 
through Bath.

Twerton Weir to Hanham
The wide floodplain and the river’s rural meanders through extremely attractive undeveloped countryside make this 
an exceptional length of river for pleasure boats and narrowboat cruising.  There are extensive inline and offline 
moorings including residential moorings at Saltford and Keynsham that are well used.  The natural banks support 
good angling.  There are attractive riverside social, drinking and eating venues at Newbridge, Saltford, Keynsham 
and Hanham and good well connected footpath networks aided by proximity to the elevated Bristol/Bath cycleway.
Sporting use of the river occurs at Newbridge where the Minerva Rowing Club has their boat stores and access to 
3km of river, and at Saltford where the Saltford Club is based.

EN

OP

Page 69



52

ENPage 70



53

Validating the River - Its Role in Connectability

We do not value what we do not notice or do not use – 

there are many ways of noticing or using a river:

s Travelling on it as a visitor, a commuter or worker

s฀4RAVELLING฀BESIDE฀IT�฀ON฀FOOT�฀BICYCLE�฀PUBLIC฀TRANSPORT฀
   or motor vehicle

s฀#ROSSING฀IT�฀AS฀A฀CITY฀RESIDENT�฀COMMUTER�฀TOURIST�฀
   business or education visitor

s฀7ORKING฀BESIDE฀IT

s฀2ELAXING฀AND฀SOCIALISING฀BESIDE฀IT฀OR฀ON฀IT

s฀%ATING฀AND฀DRINKING฀AT฀RIVERSIDE฀VENUES

s฀5NDERTAKING฀SPORTS฀ACTIVITY฀ON฀IT�฀SUCH฀AS฀ROWING

s฀,OOKING฀AT฀IT

s฀'ETTING฀CLOSER฀TO฀NATURE฀BESIDE฀IT

s฀$ERIVING฀ENERGY฀FROM฀IT

s฀5NDERSTANDING฀IT฀AS฀PART฀OF฀THE฀SOCIAL�CULTURAL฀IDENTITY฀฀฀฀
  of the settlements and parishes it passes through

s฀3EEING฀IT฀AS฀A฀FOREGROUND฀TO฀URBAN฀OR฀RURAL฀VIEWS฀AND฀
   a feature in long vistas

As the river is both a continuous linear feature and a 
barrier to crossing, it presents itself as a strong element 
in transportation infrastructure in which riverside routes 
link limited crossing points.  

If we are to engage with it more, make it more 
purposeful in people’s lives, then its connectable 
opportunities need to be brought to life once more 
and stitched back into the daily life of the rural areas, 
of Keynsham and Bath.  Currently many such links 
that had status when the river was active have been 
downgraded to become overgrown and are poorly 
used, all indicative of low values now attached to it.
 
Some illustrations of how little we currently connect 
with the river:

s฀"ETWEEN฀.ORTH฀0ARADE฀"RIDGE฀AND฀THE฀"RITISH฀
Waterways Marina at Newbridge there are only mooring 
facilities at Avon Street and the Dolphin public house in 
Locksbrook Road.  None have any servicing facilities.. 

s฀-OST฀"ATH฀RESIDENTS฀WOULD฀CONSIDER฀THE฀"ATH฀
riverside routes unsafe to walk after dark for fear of the 
risk of mugging and of falling in, backed by an alarming 
number of recent fatalities.  The narrow pathways 
create perceived hazards of pedestrian/cycle conflict 
without evident prioritisation protocols.

s฀4HERE฀ARE฀AT฀TIMES฀MUCH฀GRAFlTI฀AND฀RUBBISH�

s฀"ETWEEN฀.ORTH฀0ARADE฀"RIDGE฀AND฀THE฀7ESTERN฀
Island there are hardly any places to sit and enjoy the 
riverscape, nowhere to enjoy a riverside social venue, 
pub, cafe or restaurant.

s฀4HERE฀ARE฀STRETCHES฀OF฀THE฀RIVER฀THAT฀ARE฀A฀KILOMETRE�฀
without any trees or vegetation and so no wildlife.

 At many of the bridge crossings, cyclists and walkers 
have to traverse steep steps to access the river.  
Ramps suitable for the disabled are few.  

s฀4HERE฀ARE฀NO฀RIVER฀BASED฀BUSINESSES฀APART฀FROM฀
very limited pleasure boat opportunities that operate 
from Bath city centre and Saltford/Keynsham and for 
the servicing of narrowboat/cruiser hire at points well 
outside the city of Bath.

s฀4HE฀IMPRESSION฀$ISTRICT฀RESIDENTS฀AND฀VISITORS฀RECEIVE฀
of the river along the main thoroughfare of the Lower 
Bristol Road is conditioned by the lack of access and 
the ribbon development along the A4.  A different 
impression is gained from the Newbridge to Bitton 
road, but even here, despite the proximity of the river, 
awareness of the actual water course is very poor.

s฀4HERE฀ARE฀MANY฀PLACES฀ALONG฀THE฀RIVER฀WHERE฀
RECOGNISED฀ASSETS฀SUCH฀AS฀6ICTORIA฀0ARK�฀'REEN฀0ARK�฀
Norfolk Crescent lawn and Keynsham Weir are very 
close to the river but are not connected by meaningful 
patterns of use, so denying the river association with 
known features of the settlement’s identities.
 
The Projects in the Changing Perceptions and Creating 
6ALUES฀#HAPTER฀OF฀THIS฀REPORT฀SHOW฀HOW฀A฀START฀CAN฀BE฀
made.  But the route to overcome these shortcomings 
needs to be expressed  in the formulation of policy 
coming forward to secure regeneration objectives.  
To do that the Drivers for Change likely to affect and 
determine transportation policy in the coming years 
need to be understood.   (Group member, Jeremy 
Douch has prepared a report for the Group which is 
included in full on the following page:

Page 71



54

SM

Page 72



55

Transportation Issues

In this section of the Report, the Group members with 

particular experience of transportation issues describe 

how transportation issues are a significant driver of 
regeneration change in themselves. 

The section explains the significance of movement 
modes within and across the District and how they are 

linked to the level of economic activity.  The National 

Policy Framework for transport is described and Local 

Objectives including policy objectives are set out that 

have transportation implications. 

A section on Issues identify necessary areas and topics 

of study, social and environmental aspects. 

CONTEXT & POLICY

Context

There are significant pressures for movement in the 
study area – both internal journeys; those with either 
an origin or destination within B&NES; and those that 
use the corridor as a through route.  There are around 
180,000 people who live in the B&NES administrative 
area, of which approximately a half live in Bath.  People 
move into and out of the City, within the City, and in the 
wider B&NES area on a daily basis - these movements 
comprise a plethora of journey purposes; for example, 
journeys to and from work (there are 20,000 car 
commuting journeys into the City each day), places of 
education, and for retail and leisure purposes. 

The demand for travel is closely associated with the 
economy (more people travel as GDP grows) and 
therefore there is a balance to the vitality and growth of 
B&NES; with environmental considerations in reducing 
emissions, noise levels and promoting more sustainable 
modes of travel; and the social aspirations of improving 
accessibility and connectivity, providing travel choice 
and improving safety.

Significant developments coming forward and 
existing major transort proposals are identified with 
their likely implications.

All of these areas of study create the backdrop from 

which to examine the opportunities for of a River 

Based element to the areas transportation systems. 

The section following – New Uses for the 

River draws these strands together to illustrate 

how transportation issues fit within the overall 
Regeneration Model.

Some people currently use either the river Avon or 
its banks as a corridor for movement, although the 
purpose of this study is to identify opportunities to 
make better use of the river asset (for passenger 
movements, leisure pursuits, freight traffic, and 
connectivity with other modes and transport hubs).  It 
is important to recognise that although the study remit 
concentrates on the River Avon corridor through the 
length of B&NES (Dundas Aqueduct in the east to 
Keynsham in the west), travel movements vary from 
journeys within this corridor to those that also link with 
external origins or destinations (or both).

This study concentrates on the River Avon corridor 
and not the Kennet and Avon canal.  However, it is 
important to recognise opportunities where these two 
assets meet, that connectivity between the river and 
canal should be promoted, and also that the canal 
restoration gives an example of a successful water 
based project. 

River Avon Corridor in BANES

JD JD

Page 73



56

Transport Policy - National

Both national and local policy drives the requirement to 
promote sustainable travel practices.   Planning Policy 
Guidance Note 13 (PPG13) covering transport, sets out 
objectives to integrate planning and transport at the 
national, regional, strategic and local level, in order to:
 
Promote more sustainable transport choices for both 
people and for moving freight.

Promote accessibility to jobs, shopping, leisure facilities 
and services by public transport, walking and cycling.
Reduce the need to travel, especially by car.
 
A key planning objective is to ensure that jobs, 
shopping, leisure facilities and services are accessible 
by public transport, walking, and cycling.  This is 
important for all, but especially for those who do 
not have regular use of a car, and to promote social 
inclusion.

The likely availability and use of public transport is 
a very important ingredient in determining policies 
designed to reduce the need for travel by car - the aim 
should be to establish a high quality, safe, secure and 
reliable network of routes, with good interchanges, 
which matches the pattern of travel demand in order to 
maximise the potential usage of public transport.

Walking is the most important mode of travel at the 
local level and offers the greatest potential to replace 
short car trips, particularly under two kilometres.  
Cycling also has potential to substitute for short car 
trips, particularly those under five kilometres (and to 
form part of a longer journey by public transport).

Transport Policy - Local

Although the B&NES Draft Core Strategy fails to 

specifically highlight the role that the river and its banks 

can play in meeting strategic objectives, policies clearly 

shape an opportunity for this asset.  The Key Strategic 

Issues of the Strategy (section 1.12) emphasise 

“reducing car use in B&NES” and “ensuring that the 

natural environment is maintained and enhanced to 

maximise opportunities for mitigation”.  Clearly both 

these policies give weight to serious consideration of 

making better use of the river corridor.  The Strategic 

Objectives in the Strategy also give direction that the 

river should play a role in shaping the transport strategy 

of B&NES – these objectives, which have a transport 

and movement theme (section 1.15) include:

Objective 1: Pursue a low carbon and sustainable 
future in a changing climate – ensuring the location and 
layout of new development enables and encourages 
people to make the fullest possible use of public 
transport, walking and cycling.

Objective 2: Protect and enhance the District’s 
natural, built and cultural assets and provide green 
infrastructure – helping to conserve and enhance the 
quality and character of our built and natural heritage.

Objective 3: Encourage economic development, 
diversification and prosperity – enabling tourism to 
continue to make an important contribution to the 
economy of Bath and promoting the tourism potential 
for other parts of the District. 
Objective 4: Invest in our city, town and local centres 
– providing better pedestrian and cycle routes into 
and within the city, town and local centres; enabling 
appropriate tourism opportunities in the city and town 
centres.

Objective 6: Plan for development that promotes 
health and well being – enabling more opportunities for 
people to lead healthier lifestyles and have a greater 
sense of well-being through facilitating active modes of 
travel.

Objective 7: Deliver well connected places accessible 
by sustainable means of transport – in conjunction with 
the Joint Local Transport Plan, the Local Development 
Framework will deliver this by: locating and designing 
new development in a way that reduces the need 
and desire to travel by car and encourages the use of 
public transport, walking and cycling; ensuring that 

River Avon Corridor Attractions

Page 74



57

development is supported by high quality transport 
infrastructure which helps to increase the attractiveness 
of public transport, walking and cycling; promoting 
improved access to services especially for rural areas 
and more remote areas.

This chapter looks at the opportunities for promoting 
river transport and comprises the following 
components:

s฀)SSUES฀AND฀OBJECTIVES฀SURROUNDING฀TRANSPORT฀IN฀THE฀
river corridor;

s฀$RIVERS฀OF฀CHANGE฀n฀THE฀PRESSURES฀FOR฀MOVEMENT฀INTO฀
the future;

s฀2IVER฀TRANSPORT฀OPPORTUNITIES

ISSUES AND OBJECTIVES

One of the main challenges for the corridor (particularly 
within Bath) is the high level of motorised journeys 
being undertaken.  The local road network is often 
congested which brings about significant economic 
and environmental costs. One challenge is to 
encourage those travelling short distances to use more 
sustainable modes – particularly walking and cycling 
(and potentially making use of the river).  Additionally, 
the reliability, frequency and penetration of public 
transport needs improving (the Bath Package will help 
deliver significant enhancements, if approved) – some 
of these current constraints relate to un-segregated 
facilities and buses being subject to similar traffic 
congestion as private motorised road users.  There 
is also the problem of the lack of “through routes” to 
Bath – for example, traffic (including a high proportion 
of lorries) route via the City to travel on north – south or 
east – west journeys.

Acknowledging the wider B&NES topography is hilly 
and not always conducive to walking and cycling 
modes, the river corridor (on river and its banks) is 
flat.  One of the opportunities therefore is to improve 
connectivity to the river corridor and to provide links 
both on-water, and along its banks.

General Travel Issues

Some of the overlying travel issues in the river corridor 
include:

s฀4RANSPORT฀LINKS฀ALONG฀THE฀RIVER฀CORRIDOR฀ARE฀CENTRED฀ON฀
west - east movements (primary roads, rail links, and 
the river) with lower capacity for north – south travel.

s฀,ACK฀OF฀CONNECTIVITY฀AND฀ACCESSIBILITY฀TO฀THE฀RIVER�

s฀4HERE฀IS฀A฀HIGH฀LEVEL฀OF฀SHORT฀DISTANCE฀TRIPS฀BEING฀
carried out in Bath and many of these journeys are by 
motorised modes (source: journey to work data, 2001 
census).

s฀4RANSPORT฀NETWORK฀NEEDS฀TO฀CATER฀FOR฀A฀NUMBER฀OF฀
land uses and trip types – commuting, educational and 
shopping trips as well as a significant element of tourist 
and leisure travel in Bath. 

s฀(IGH฀VOLUMES฀OF฀THROUGH฀TRAFlC฀ALONG฀THE฀STUDY฀
corridor external to the study area / outside the City 
and B&NES boundaries.

s฀4RAFlC฀hRAT฀RUNNINGv฀ALONG฀RURAL฀AND฀RESIDENTIAL฀ROADS฀n฀
impacting on the local environment and safety.

s฀3IGNIlCANT฀CONGESTION฀ON฀ROAD฀LINKS฀ADJACENT฀TO฀THE฀
river corridor, and in particular at the following pinch-
points:

 - Junction of London Road with the A46 at 

Bathampton;

 - Along the London Road – one of the most polluted 
฀฀฀฀SECTIONS฀OF฀ROAD฀IN฀THE฀5+�

 - At Cleveland Bridge;

 - Along the A36 via Sydney Gardens;

 - The Churchill Bridge gyratory;

฀
฀6ICTORIA฀"RIDGE฀CONNECTING฀NORTH฀WITH฀SOUTH฀OF฀THE฀
    river;

 - Lower Bristol Road / Brougham Hayes junction;

 - Twerton Fork;

 - The A4 linking to Keynsham (and beyond to 

Bristol);

฀
฀!LONG฀THE฀5PPER฀"RISTOL฀2OAD฀AND฀.EWBRIDGE฀

Road 
   corridor; and

 - The A36 going southwards at Sydney Gardens 

towards   
    Dundas Aqueduct / Warminster.

Page 75



58

s฀-ODES฀COMPETING฀FOR฀THE฀SAME฀SPACE฀WHICH฀IS฀
often to the detriment of walking, cycling and public 
transport.

s฀#ONSTRAINTS฀FOR฀WALKING฀AND฀CYCLING฀n฀CHALLENGING฀
on-road routes with negotiation of junctions, parked 
cars and sometimes high vehicle speeds.  Lack of 
segregated facilities.  Need a perceived safer and less 
polluting environment to encourage theses modes 
(LTP3 targets a 76% increase in cycling within the West 
of England covering B&NES, Bristol, North Somerset 
and South Gloucestershire for an eight year period to 
2016).

s฀#ONSTRAINTS฀FOR฀PUBLIC฀TRANSPORT฀n฀POOR฀SEGREGATION฀
of buses (makes journey time unreliable); lack of 
integration between modes (for example lack of joint 
ticketing, space for cycles on trains, car parking at key 
nodes and waiting facilities / real time information).  Any 
river corridor transport should learn from these lessons 
and will benefit from segregation. 

Study Objectives

There are a number of economic, social and 

environmental objectives that are priorities for the area 
with respect to transport.  These objectives have been 
set out in line with Council policies.  Naturally decisions 
need to be made on a commercial level, in terms of 
value for money and priority.

Economic Objectives

Economic objectives are to facilitate the optimisation of 
the area’s potential to enable B&NES to meet strategic 
housing and economic growth demands (aligned with 
the Core Strategy) without harming the values of the 
World Heritage site.  Some of the overall economic 
aims of the regeneration plans include the retention 
and promotion of employment in B&NES, to reduce 
out-migration of those who grow up and study in the 
area before leaving to find jobs, and to attract new 
investment in Bath.  There is also the aim of continuing 
to, and improving on, meeting the needs of the 
substantial tourism trade in Bath and its surroundings, 
which generates significant benefit to the local 
economy – currently one in ten of the City’s jobs are 
tourism related and the sector generates an estimated 
£348 million to Bath’s economy (Bath Tourism Plus, 
2011). The directly transport related economic 
objectives include:

s฀0ROMOTE฀BUOYANCY฀OF฀THE฀LOCAL฀AND฀AREA฀WIDE฀
economy (transport infrastructure is aligned to 
accessibility and regeneration).

s฀#ONNECTIVITY฀BETWEEN฀LAND฀USES฀IN฀THE฀CORRIDOR฀AND฀
area-wide.

s฀!DDRESSING฀CONGESTION�

s฀)MPROVE฀ACCESSIBILITY฀FOR฀NORTH฀�฀SOUTH฀MOVEMENTS฀
(river and rail line often seen as a barrier and could be 
used as opportunities).

Social Objectives

Social objectives are aligned at protecting Bath’s 
history and character as a World Heritage site, and 
enhancing the fabric of the wider B&NES beauty, and 
providing travel choice.  Transport plays a key role and 
social objectives relating to transport comprise: 

s฀0ROVISION฀OF฀TRAVEL฀CHOICE฀BY฀A฀NUMBER฀OF฀MODES�

s฀-AKE฀TRAVEL฀IN฀THE฀CORRIDOR฀SAFER�

s฀#REATION฀OF฀VIBRANT฀MIXED฀USE฀ATTRACTIVE฀FUNCTIONAL฀

developments (transport linkages are key in creating 

this vibrancy).

s฀)MPROVE฀CONNECTIVITY฀AND฀INTEGRATION฀OF฀MODES�

s฀%NHANCE฀ACCESSIBILITY฀TO฀CORRIDOR�

s฀-AKE฀BETTER฀USE฀OF฀THE฀RAIL฀CORRIDOR฀AND฀IMPROVE฀

facilities.

s฀-AKING฀USE฀OF฀THE฀RIVER฀FACILITY฀AND฀ITS฀BANKS�

s฀)MPROVING฀WALKING฀AND฀CYCLING฀FACILITIES฀FOR฀LEISURE฀
activities.

Environmental Objectives

Policies and priorities have also indicated a number of 
environmental objectives aimed at improving the local 
environment.  Relating to transport, these include: 

s฀0ROMOTE฀SUSTAINABLE฀TRANSPORT฀AND฀ENCOURAGE฀MODAL฀
shift within B&NES.

s฀Reduce the number of journeys by motorised vehicles 
(in particular the large amount of short distance trips 
being carried out in the City by car).

s฀2EDUCE฀('6฀THROUGH฀TRAFlC฀FROM฀THE฀#ITY�

s฀2EDUCTION฀IN฀#��฀AND฀./8฀EMISSIONS�

s฀0OTENTIAL฀TO฀MAKE฀BETTER฀USE฀OF฀THE฀RIVER฀AS฀A฀

transport corridor (both on-river and along its banks) 
– although this needs to be balanced with the river 
environment conservation with the river being seen as 
an environmental asset that the area can relate to.

s฀2EDUCE฀OPERATIONAL฀IMPACT�฀
 
River transport proposals have been set out which are 
focussed on aligning issues with area-wide objectives.  
The next section looks at changes in travel demand 
over the Core Strategy (2026) horizonPage 76



59

DRIVERS OF CHANGE

  
It is important to understand background traffic growth, 
planned land use and infrastructure enhancements 
and likely changes to transport provision and demand 
going forward through the study’s timeframes.  The 
Core Strategy timescales are for 2026 and analysis 
has looked at planning changes through this period, 
although with an eye on “quick wins” which will have 
a shorter term benefit to the river corridor.  Naturally 
proposals and commitments are largely dependent on 
the economic climate, and policies may be changed or 
refined in the future in response to market conditions, 
changes to priorities and emerging technological 
advances.

Future developments will put increased pressure on 
the transport infrastructure in the corridor although 
some of the planned transport proposals will help to 
mitigate impact from background and generated traffic 
(and other movement) growth and will be geared at 
providing an integrated system allowing greater choice 
of travel options.   This section is broken down with 
respect to land use commitments and infrastructure 
commitments.

Background Traffic

Regardless of any changes to land uses and transport 
enhancements going forward, there will be an element 
of background traffic growth.  This increased demand 
will occur from movement using a variety of modes 
and will have a close relationship with growth in Gross 
Domestic Product (GDP).  In the short term, projections 
for GDP are low; however, in the longer term it is 
anticipated that a recovery in the economic climate will 
drive growth.  As the economy grows, car ownership 
levels increase and the demand for travel goes up.  
Associated with this, peoples’ value of time also 
increases for some market sectors (particularly relevant 
to business trips) and the knock on attraction of using 
the fastest / most reliable mode for travel.  However, for 
other users including tourist and leisure travel, journey 
time will normally be less of a factor.   

Land Use Proposals

There are a number of major land use proposals in 
the study area and some of these may allow for the 
release of funds (via Section 106 agreements) to drive 
regeneration and improvements to the river corridor.

Southgate

The ongoing Southgate development will be completed 
this year (2011).  The development is largely retail 
incorporating a number of high street brand names, 
but also constitutes an element of flats and a large 
underground car park.  Completion of this development 
will provide further movement pressures along the river 
corridor.  

Bath Western Riverside

The Bath Western Riverside proposals (currently under 
construction) are for a major regeneration development 
in the heart of Bath, coming forward in the Core 
Strategy timelines.  The circa 18 hectare site has 
riverside frontage and has outline planning consent.  
The brown-field site is bounded by the River Avon 
to the north, Windsor Bridge Road to the west, the 
Lower Bristol Road to the south, and the Homebase 
retail store to the east.  Plans are to provide around 
2,200 new homes (of which 25% will be classified 
as affordable), an element of student housing, a new 
primary school, convenience shops and the creation of 
two new parks. 

The development will provide walking and pedestrian 
infrastructure both along the river bank (south of river) 
and through a new segregated bridge across the river.  
In addition there will be a road bridge linking into the 
site (making use of Midland Road) providing links north 
of the river into the site.

Former Herman Miller site 

The former Herman Miller site is located on the northern 
side of Lower Bristol Road, adjacent to Weston Lock 
Retail Park and the pedestrian bridge over the river.  A 
planning application is currently under consideration, 
for converting part of the building into a new Lidl 
neighbourhood store, and incorporating 91 parking 
spaces. 

Bath Rugby Club

There are current proposals on the table surrounding 
the future of the Bath Rugby ground.  A favoured 
position is upgrading the facilities on the current 
Recreation Ground site in order to improve spectator 
facilities and increase stadium capacity in line with both 
demand to watch the games, and Rugby Premiership 
rules.  This upgrade could potentially realise funds to 
assist the regeneration of the river in the vicinity of the 
Club and also bring complementary facilities on site 
which will benefit the wider river corridor.  Transport to 
and from the ground is naturally a key consideration, 
BEING฀A฀MAJOR฀GENERATOR฀OF฀DEMAND฀�FOR฀CIRCA฀��฀�ST฀86฀
games per season plus special events), and use could 
potentially be made of the adjacent river.     

Keynsham

The future use of the Somerdale site in Keynsham is 
a major consideration in the west of our river corridor 
study area.  In addition there has been a transformation 
of the B&NES Council facilities over recent years 
and due to plans going forward their operations may 
change significantly with regard to the Keynsham site.

Page 77



60

Speculative Major Developments

Other potential considerations going forward with 
regard to the long time horizon for the study include 
urban extension proposals within Bath.  Although these 
are speculative in nature, it is worth bearing in mind 
plans for around 6,000 new homes in Bath within the 
Core Strategy period.  This may include potential land 
at Newton St Loe to the west of our corridor, which 
would have a significant impact on the Lower Bristol 
Road; land to the south of Bath at Odd Down; and 
further afield potential urban extensions to the east of 
Bristol.  Housing land opportunities could also become 
available with the de-canting of Ministry of Defence 
operations within Bath, at the Ensleigh, Foxhill and 
Warminster Road sites.

Wider Area Developments

Other major land use changes to the west of the 
B&NES area will also have impact on travel demand 
in the corridor – particularly along the A4.  These 
“trip generators” will include employment and 
retail development in and around Bristol (recent 
developments have included Bristol Broadmead and 
the Temple Gate area of the City, and other projects 
are being planned).  In addition, expansion plans for 
Bristol Airport (which now have planning consent) and 
the Bristol Science Park - a joint venture between the 
5NIVERSITY฀OF฀"RISTOL�฀5NIVERSITY฀OF฀THE฀7EST฀OF฀%NGLAND฀
AND฀"ATH฀5NIVERSITY฀�CURRENTLY฀BEING฀BUILT	฀WILL฀ALSO฀DRIVE฀
a significant travel impact.

B&NES Major Transport Proposals

Bath Transportation Package

The Bath Transportation Package (not yet approved 
and subject to the Government’s spending review) is 
for a £34 million scheme designed to tackle congestion 
in Bath and the surrounding area by improving public 
transport and enhancing public access for the benefit 
of residents, commuters and visitors.  The Package 
includes the following enhancements:

s฀%XPANDING฀"ATH�S฀THREE฀EXISTING฀0ARK฀AND฀2IDE฀SITES฀
located at Newbridge, Odd Down and Lansdown - this 
will increase current capacity from circa 2,000 to 2,900 
spaces.  Longer term there may be an opportunity to 
link the routes from the Park and Rides at a central hub 
improving connectivity for all directions. 

s฀#REATION฀OF฀A฀MORE฀PEDESTRIAN฀AND฀CYCLE฀FRIENDLY฀
City through changes to access arrangements on a 
number of city centre streets and the widening and 
enhancement of footways.

s฀)MPROVING฀A฀NUMBER฀OF฀THE฀#ITY�S฀BUS฀ROUTES฀TO฀
Showcase standards, including raised kerbs for better 
access, off bus ticketing and real time information 
(RTI) – this will improve reliability and journey times and 
increase attractiveness of public transport. 

s฀)NTRODUCTION฀OF฀ACTIVE฀TRAFlC฀MANAGEMENT฀IN฀THE฀#ITY฀
with RTI to direct drivers to locations where parking 
spaces are available.

Measures of the package are designed to reduce the 
number of cars entering the City and therefore improve 
congestion, air quality and pollution, and lessen impact 
on Bath’s heritage.

Note: the original £59 million package which has been 
downgraded also comprised a Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) 

route including a 1.4km section of “off-street” dedicated 

bus route to remove Newbridge Park and Ride buses 

from any congestion for a significant length of their 
journey and therefore allowing for fast and reliable 

journey times.  The original package also included 

opening a new Park and Ride site to the east of the 

City (locally known as “East of Bath” site – increases 

overall Park and Ride space in the City to circa 4,500; 

and bus lanes on the congested A36 and A4 routes.  

The overall goal of the £59 million measures was to 
reduce the number of cars entering the City by circa 

1.5 million per year, reduce vehicle kilometres in the 

City by 5 million kilometres per year, increase public 

transport patronage by 2.2 million journeys per annum 

and reduce the amount of emissions in the City creating 

a more pleasant and healthy environment.  This 

background may be important for longer term transport 

improvements.

Other Public Transport Changes

There will be a number of changes to public transport 
services and infrastructure into the future.  Bus 
service provision will largely be addressed on a 
commercial basis with the operator amending routes 
and frequencies in line with demand.  Small scale 
infrastructure enhancements, including bus shelters, 
stops and information will be carried out on a 
piecemeal basis.  RTI is being rolled out on a city-wide 
basis.

)N฀TERMS฀OF฀RAIL�฀THE฀'REAT฀7ESTERN฀2OUTE฀5TILISATION฀
Study (prepared by Network Rail) has set out a 
number of improvements and priorities for their long 
term strategy.  Relevant to our study corridor are the 
following:

s฀)NDUSTRY฀CONSENSUS฀THAT฀THERE฀IS฀A฀COMPELLING฀CASE฀FOR฀
the railway to grow further which will be compounded 
by the introduction of electrification and a new fleet of 
rolling stock.

s฀"RISTOL฀IS฀FORECAST฀TO฀EXPERIENCE฀THE฀BIGGEST฀GROWTH฀
of 41% in peak rail demand among key urban centres 
(growth of around 3.2% per annum).

s฀4HE฀'REAT฀7ESTERN฀CORRIDOR฀WILL฀SEE฀MORE฀TRAINS�฀BETTER฀
connectivity and shorter journey times.

s฀&IVE฀ADDITIONAL฀DAILY฀SERVICES฀FOR฀THE฀#ARDIFF฀TO฀
Portsmouth Harbour services (which call at Bath Spa).  
Revised stopping pattern of one morning and one 
evening peak Cardiff to Portsmouth Harbour service to 
reduce journey times.Page 78



61

s฀!N฀ADDITIONAL฀VEHICLE฀FOR฀'LOUCESTER฀TO฀7ESTBURY฀
services which will benefit passengers from Oldfield 
Park and Bath Spa.

s฀!DDITIONAL฀HOURLY฀SERVICE฀BETWEEN฀"ATH฀3PA฀AND฀
Bristol Temple Meads (subject to performance 
modelling).
In light of the travel pressures along the corridor 
and the anticipated future growth in rail usage and 
supporting infrastructure, there may be an opportunity 
to re-open the station at Twerton.  This would provide 

increased connectivity to the west of the corridor and 

increase capacity for movement.

Two Tunnels Project

Construction is underway on the Two Tunnel walking 
and cycling route. This route will use an old railway line 
to create an almost level and direct route between the 
city centre of Bath and the Midford valley, 2.5 miles 
south of the City.  Two existing tunnels will be reopened 
and made suitable for cyclists and walkers, including 
lighting and new surfacing. The project will provide a 
4-mile link from East Twerton (giving direct access to 
our study area), through the Linear Park, Lyncombe 
6ALE฀AND฀ON฀TO฀-IDFORD�฀฀4HE฀LINK฀WILL฀BE฀LESS฀STEEP฀AND฀
more attractive to cyclists than some of the current 
routes through the residential areas in the south of 
Bath. 

The planned link to the route from Lower Bristol Road is 
via Inverness Road, which runs into Burnham Road.  It 
is understood there are proposals to widen the footway 
into a shared footway-cycleway along the Lower Bristol 
Road, to Jews Lane. The existing pedestrian crossing 
will be upgraded to a Toucan crossing, which will then 
provide a link to the Fielding Road bridge, which in turn 
links directly to the Bristol-Bath Railway Path. 

Travel Planning

As part of the travel planning / smarter choices agenda 
there will be greater emphasis on meeting mode switch 
and sustainable transport targets in the future.  This will 
be particularly relevant with new developments in terms 
of parking availability, provision of cycle and motorbike 
parking (and complementary facilities with respect to 
employment sites) and the nomination of Travel Plan 
Co-ordinators.  Targets for sustainable travel will be set 
between landowners at the Council.

Behavioural Change

There is continuous behavioural change in travel.  In 
order to generate modal shift to more sustainable 
modes there needs to be (for public transport modes) 
improved customer perception in factors such as 
improved reliability, quality of service and overall value 
for money.  The market will also be driven by key issues 
including access and egress to sustainable modes 
(including integration of facilities and for example cycle 
parking and car parking at rail heads or at bus hubs).

In addition there may well continue to be significant 
changes to working patterns and life styles, as in 
keeping with recent years.  More flexibility will develop 
in working practices with more people working from 
home and travelling outside peak times. 

Encouragement of the healthy lifestyles agenda and the 
provision of facilities such as cycle and clothes storage 
and showers at places of employment and other land 
uses will also be of paramount importance in driving 
demand for walking and cycling.  Naturally this will be 
accompanied by the provision of safe infrastructure in 

pleasant environments for these modes to benefit from, 
in order to gain significant mode switch and increases in 
the take up of these journey types. 

Other Key Considerations

Current economic climate and pressures on public 
spending are forcing a tidal change in policy and 
financial commitments.  Infrastructure projects are 
being reviewed and the provision of publicly assisted 
transport (for example subsidised bus services) are 
under pressure from cuts.

Potential long term aspiration of a new highway link to 
the east of Bath linking the A46 with the A36 for north 
- south traffic.  This will relieve the City from through 
traffic which currently has to route via the city-centre 
and over Cleveland Bridge.  

Technological advances are making vehicles more 
efficient and less polluting.  As advances continue there 
may need to be planning for changes – for example 
provision of hubs for electric cars and buses and 
provision of other fuel or charging types.  There may 
also be an increase in the take up of electric bikes.

As technology advances and infrastructure improves, 
travel should also become safer.  As well as influencing 
motorised modes this should create growth in cycling 
and pedestrian travel.

Potentially employers’ parking charges may be 
introducing as a tax for business parking.  This may 
further encourage mode switch.

As the study window is long term, thought may also 
be given to the introduction of road charging in the 
City and the mode shift this may provide to more 
sustainable modes.  Naturally there are a number of 
political, economic and technological hurdles this 
would have to encounter before becoming a reality.

The growing concern regarding oil shortage and the 
increase in its cost will have an impact on motorised 
modes which will encourage more people to travel 
and live sustainably (and fundamentally for this study, 
opportunities to make use of the river).

Opportunities exist in providing passenger and goods 
movements by river.  Although detailed business 
cases will need to be developed, there could be time 
and cost savings to users and associated social and 

Page 79



62

environmental benefits to the corridor.
A further significant area of interest to the use of the 
river, is the movement of waste which is becoming 
more of an economic, environmental and social issue.  
Within the study area there are important waste hubs 
at Midland Road in Bath and at Keynsham.  There may 
be opportunities to look at an alternative site within 
Bath (replacing the Midland Road facility) which may be 
convenient for access by river transport

RIVER TRANSPORT

By aligning the study issues and objectives, 
embracing the need to enhance sustainable transport 
opportunities as emphasised in the Core Strategy, 
and by looking at the pressures for movement going 
forwards, it is clear that the river offers a more or less 
untapped opportunity for addressing many of the 
transport needs of the B&NES area.

The Core Strategy clearly focuses on reduced reliance 
of car travel, the enhancement of public transport (of 
which river transport should be considered); promotion 
of walking and cycling facilities (the river banks must 
play a key role in this due to flat contours, and an 
attractive, conducive and safe environment for  these 
modes); the promotion of tourism (the river can be 

Images of current Bath commercial boat services

a major attractor for visitors); economic growth (the 
regeneration of the river corridor will attract new 
business opportunities); and the encouragement of 
healthier lifestyles and recreation (the river provides a 
plethora of opportunities to promote leisure pursuits).
Some of the key merits of looking at the river and its 
banks in promoting transport is this corridor include: 

฀s฀2IVER฀OFFERS฀A฀SEGREGATED฀ASSET฀FOR฀THE฀MOVEMENT฀OF฀
people and materials.

s฀2IVER฀TRANSPORT฀WILL฀HELP฀REGENERATE฀THE฀RIVER฀AS฀AN฀
integrated land use within B&NES. River activity will 
then attract complementary land uses (including bars 
and cafes) driving economic stimulus.

s฀0ROMOTION฀OF฀THE฀RIVER฀AS฀A฀hFACINGv฀AMENITY฀RATHER฀
than a potential gem (activity along the river corridor to 
have frontage onto the river, rather than turn its back on 
the asset).

s฀"RING฀ENVIRONMENTAL�฀ECOLOGICAL฀AND฀WILDLIFE฀BENElTS฀
to the corridor.

s฀2EDUCE฀CONGESTION฀WITHIN฀"�.%3฀BY฀OFFERING฀AN฀
alternative to road based travel – plans will need to be 
integrated with other modes.

s฀0ROMOTION฀OF฀BOAT฀USAGE฀IS฀A฀KEY฀FACET฀TO฀BRINGING฀A฀
river to life.

s฀/PEN฀UP฀WALKING฀AND฀CYCLING฀ACTIVITY฀ALONG฀THE฀RIVER฀
banks – remove barriers to use for these modes by 
developing seamless linkages, and segregation.

s฀0ROVIDE฀ACCESS฀AND฀CONNECTIVITY฀WITH฀THE฀RIVER฀
(including movements over the river).

s฀0ROMOTION฀OF฀TOURISM�

s฀%NCOURAGE฀AND฀STIMULATE฀WATER฀BASED฀ACTIVITIES฀AND฀
recreation / healthier lifestyles. 

s฀2ECREATING฀"�.%3฀HERITAGE฀IN฀UTILISING฀THE฀RIVER฀AND฀
a working component within the area’s day to day 
business.

s฀/PPORTUNITY฀FOR฀RIVER฀HOUSEKEEPING฀n฀CLEAN฀UP฀THE฀
river and its banks and improve safety and facilities 
throughout the corridor.

s฀4HE฀LARGE฀NUMBER฀OF฀SHORT฀DISTANCE฀TRIPS฀BY฀MOTORISED฀
vehicles (including many journeys to adjacent wards), 
the drive of the healthier lifestyles agenda, and 
opportunities to open up links along the river banks 
should provide further opportunities for pedestrians, 
cyclists, on-river transport and recreational pursuits.

A package of interventions (including both “quick wins” 
and longer term strategy) along the river corridor from 
Dundas Aqueduct to Keynsham has been assembled 
through understanding key issues and objectives, 

JD

Page 80



63

and balancing the opportunities and constraints of 
the river and its surroundings.  The concept of river 
transportation of people and goods is not a new one 
to B&NES as historically the river has utilised these 
movements.  The inventions laid out vary from short 
term quick wins to longer term strategy and comprise 
both low and high cost investment.
In neighbouring Bristol passenger river transport 
currently operates a service through the heart of the 
City and also incorporates a high quality network of 
pedestrian and cycle links through many areas of the 
harbour edge.  

This section breaks down the corridor into component 
parts (moving from east to west) in order to present a 
package of measures that could be further investigated 
in order to provide river transport.  Naturally, detailed 
engineering, environmental assessment and potentially 
transport modelling work (utilising the Council’s 
multimodal transport model) will need to take place 
in order to put weight and cost benefit analysis to the 
business case.  This is a starting point for more detailed 
work downstream.

We are proposing a series of “pods” along the river 
corridor which would act as key nodes of opportunity.  
These pods will offer focus points for the corridor 
and provide the spark to kick start both localised and 
corridor wide investment.

Dundas Aqueduct to Bathampton

At this scoping stage, it is suggested that through this 
section of the route, energies should be directed at 
promoting access to the river for recreational pursuits 
and potentially opening up / cleaning the river banks 
to enhance facilities for walkers and cyclists.  Due to 
the relative remoteness of this part of the corridor (in 
terms of demand for travel and land uses), and river 
constraints including the weir at Bathampton Mill, on-
river transport has not been considered at this stage.

Mainly leisure based activities occur on this section of 
the river with notable “hot spots” at Dundas Aqueduct, 
Warleigh Weir – Claverton, and Bathampton.  Typical 
pursuits include boating, picnicing, walking, cycling, 
swimming (at Warleigh) and fishing. 

River activity in central Bristol including river ferry service Dundas Aqueduct

JD

JD

Page 81



64

Bathampton to Lambridge

Having discussed land ownership issues and perceived 
low opportunity to make a real difference, the Group 
decided that this section was another area of low 
opportunity.  Improving access to the river and 
encouraging water based leisure pursuits may have the 
biggest merits in meeting the study objectives. 

POD 1 - Lambridge

The team suggests that the opportunity for “park 
and glide” should be explored at this Lambridge 
pod (location to be established within the Lambridge 
area). Proposals would be for a key public transport 
interchange promoting a river boat service from 
Lambridge into Bath city centre (and potentially 
further as part of a longer term strategy requiring 
engineering consideration at Pulteney Weir).  The pod 
would incorporate car and bicycle parking along with 
a facilitated bus stop. It is suggested that a 30 minute 
frequency passenger river boat service operating 
through the week, could be developed providing stops 
at Morrisons and Waitrose stores (in order to trigger 
potential investment from these key landowners) and 
then onto a termination point at cattle-market. 
An exact location of this facility would need to be 

Bathampton Weir and landing jetty Bristol passenger ferry service infrastructure (including 
stepped banks to view the river)

JD

JD JD

JDJDJD

explored in further detail – but considerable befits 
would include removal of traffic along the London 
2OAD฀�ONE฀OF฀THE฀5+�S฀MOST฀POLLUTED฀ROUTES	�฀OFFERING฀
commuter, leisure and tourist based transport. 

An example of an operational local passenger river 
service (in Bristol) is highlighted.  The service operates 
through the central area of the city providing a regular 
service from Temple Quay and onto the Pump Houses 
towards the Clifton Suspension Bridge.  The ferries 
have a capacity of around 50 seats.  Although it is 
acknowledged that Bristol has a larger population than 
Bath, the scale of the service could be tailored to the 
area of interest.  In addition, Bath’s catchment includes 
those who live, work or study in the city, retailers, and a 
significant element of tourism demand.

There are some ad-hoc services operating in Bath 
already - the “Penny Lane” and “Silver Salmon” have 
capacities of circa 150 and tends to run at a speed 
of between 4-6 mph.  These services offer static 
restaurant / bar facilities and leisure trips along the river 
corridor.

Page 82



65

The scheme would reduce some London Road 
congestion (and pollution) bringing economic, 
environmental and social (safety) benefits.  Peoples’ 
decision making in terms of mode is closely associated 
to journey time, although different market segments (for 
example commuter, employers business, tourists) have 
significantly varying values of time.  River transport may 
be time / cost effective especially with escalating town 
centre car parking charges / work place parking taxes 
coming into force.  In addition, although the potential 
river speed may seem low, average speeds through 
much of the day along London Road are also very low 
(and the user needs to factor in parking charges / time 
to find availability of parking, and onward travel to 
ultimate destination).  The river boat would take users 
into the heart of the city and would have a dedicated 
timetable that passengers could plan around.  It is 
anticipated that the service would offer opportunities 

Journey Distance Trasnsit Time Dwell Time Total Time

Lambridge to 
Podium

2.0kms 15 mins 4 mins 19 mins

for the commuting and off-peak leisure markets.  
Potentially the Council’s public transport model could 
assess demand for services and help determine the 
business case.

The distance along the river from Lambridge to 
the Podium is 2.0 kilometres.  The journey time is 
summarised in the following Table - assuming a 
maximum speed of 8 kph (5 mph).  Dwell time consists 
of 2 minutes for acceleration / deceleration and 
mooring; and 2 minutes stop (dwell) time.
Over time it may be possible to increase the river 
speeds to make journey times faster and more 
attractive (for many users), although this would need to 
be balanced against the impacts of river bank erosion, 
wildlife, noise, and other factors.

The business case should compare against alternatives 
– for example in relation to car travel the total journey 
time (including parking time and duration to ultimate 
destination), fuel and operating costs, parking charge.  
Regarding public transport, fare, interchange and 
waiting time are considerations.  The assessment 
would also look at values of time by market segment 
to establish the overall journey cost and convenience 
factors.  To develop the business case further, the total 
journey by competing modes and by market segment 
would need to be calculated into a cost (carried out 
by converting travel times into costs applying industry 
based values of time and by adding on fuel, parking, 
operating and fare cost components) – to provide a 
comparison of alternative travel choice.

Overall assessment of individual transport proposals at 
a high level could also be set out in terms of Appraisal 
Summary Tables.  These Tables are used industry wide 
to compare options and potential economic, social 
and environmental benefits (and other considerations).  
Scoring is often done through a scale of significant 
dis-benefit through to significant benefit, either by 
numbering (such as -3 to +3) or by colour.  An example 
template is shown on the following page: 
This process could then be advanced into a detailed 
benefit - cost ratio / full detailed business case if an 
option is taken forward for further consideration.  

In the Bristol example, the river boat fare (subsidised) 
is in the region of £2 to £3 for a return adult journey 
dependent on distance travelled.

Page 83



66

Theme Criteria Score

Economic Transport economic efficiency

Economic activity and location 
impacts

Funding and affordability

6ALUE฀FOR฀MONEY

Social Transport safety

Personal security

Permeability

Physical health

Social inclusion

Conditions for vulnerable users

Environmental Noise

Air quality and greenhouse gases

Landscape and townscape

Biodiversity

Heritage

Water

Other criteria Alignment with Core Strategy

Alignment with Local Transport Plan

Technical feasibility

Lambridge to Pulteney Weir

There may be the potential to build river boat platoons adjacent to Morrisons and Waitrose supermarkets.  
Improvements to walkways along both sides of the river where possible (including Podium walkway) to promote 
walking and cycling activity – the opportunity for floating walkways may also need to be considered.  Promote 
access to the river for recreational pursuits.

Pontoons and stepped banks can create both a river boat station but also a recreational asset for people to sit and 
enjoy the river. 

Approaching Pulteney Bridge including fragmented tow path

JD

Page 84



67

Pulteney Weir

Investigate opportunity for a “Flash Lock” with hydraulically operating slide gates to replace the radial gate (requires 
further engineering and hydraulic consideration) in order to remove the Pulteney Bridge pinch-point  - this would 
release the constraint for river transport going beyond the weir.  It would also allow for a river boat service from 
Lambridge to Weston Lock / Keynsham (and beyond) giving benefits to potential business and tourist markets. 

Pulteney weir and radial gate

River transport including jetty and segregated tow path with low level river access adjacent to the Recreation Ground

Recreation Ground

River service station provided adjacent to rugby ground – will provide further stop in central area and also transport 
passengers from the west of the City to the stadium on Bath Rugby match days - information regarding home post 
codes of the circa 7,000 season ticket holders plus other supporters’ addresses on the Club’s database would 
assist in assessing the business case.  With the negotiation of Pulteney Weir, services could also be provided 
from the eastern side of the City. Promotion of improvements along river path on east side of river by Bath Rugby 
ground.  Potentially rugby ground improvements could release some section 106 funding.

JD

JD JD

Page 85



68

River meets Canal

Opportunity to make a river feature at the point where the canal leads onto the river. Potential tourist attraction and 
promotion of B&NES heritage.

River meets canal and land-mark opportunities (Bathampton water-wheel shown)

POD 2 - Southgate Arches

This location could be seen as a central point and landmark to the whole corridor.  We envisage a river boat station 
close to this point which will integrate with the rail and bus stations and allow for a short walk into the city centre.  
This investment could drive the demand for cafes, art facilities and other land uses within the railway arches and 
along the river frontage.  We see the riverside walkway across Churchill Bridge into Southgate incorporating a land-
mark feature.  This would realise the pod as a central stimulus for the corridor achieving transport, amenity and 
aesthetical benefits.  An example of where this has been successfully achieved in region, includes the Exeter Quay 
– arches on the historic waterfront are now occupied by independent retailers including galleries and cafes.  Land-
marks of this pod could include a significant water feature such as a water-wheel, and a potential industrial heritage 
feature.  This would be in keeping with the setting and offer an historical land-mark.  The ambience could also be 
further enhanced by “amphitheatre” style river bank steps like those fashioned at Temple Quay in Bristol, which will 
attract those wanting to sit and enjoy the river asset.

Southgate arches and Churchill bridge 

JD

JD

Page 86



69

Southgate to Locksbrook

Provision of a highly attractive and segregated walking and cycle promenade from Southgate Arches through to 
Weston Island and the Dolphin public house in Locksbrook the investigation of floating walkways may need to be 
explored where there are land constraints.  Overall need for housekeeping along the river path removing litter and 
CLUTTER�฀AND฀MAINTAINING฀VEGETATION�฀BRIDGES฀�PARTICULARLY฀7INDSOR฀"RIDGE�฀-IDLAND฀2OAD฀"RIDGE฀AND฀6ICTORIA฀"RIDGE	�฀฀
Improvements to connection / access onto the river will also be required to encourage recreational pursuits as 
well as transport connections - there are a number of “quick wins” that could come out of this work, with one real 
example being the corridor linking Green Park station with the Western Riverside development.

Regeneration opportunities and current lack of river connectivity

Locksbrook: tow path and segregated walking / cycling bridge; view westwards

Potential for river boat pontoon at Sainsbury’s (either at current location or possible future premises on the adjacent 
Homebase site) which may release some financial contribution.  Another option for one or more river boat stations 
would be at the Western Riverside site, which again could release Section 106 funding to improve the river amenity 
– offering an alternative sustainable transport mode for a large urban mix-use development.

When assessing the river transport opportunities, low lying bridges including Churchill Bridge need to be taken into 
consideration in the technical feasibility.

JD

JD

Page 87



70

POD 3 – Weston Island

A mixed use development on Weston Island potentially accommodating residential dwellings and leisure activities, 
and incorporating a water station / hub for integration with other modes  - this could drive regeneration along the 
western section of the river and be an “anchor area” for this side of Bath and open up the river to the Twerton and 
Locksbrook areas.  We envisage making a tourist / heritage feature of the Weston Locks and developing additional 
eating / drinking facilities in addition to the Dolphin pub (which is situated on the north bank of the Lock cut).

Weston Lock; and the Dolphin public house

This pod would include a passenger river service which could alleviate some of the travel pressure on the Lower 
Bristol Road and also benefit tourist and leisure pursuits.  Due to the neighbouring lock we see this point as the 
commencement of the river boat from the west of the corridor into the City (longer term through to Lambridge).  
The pod would allow for a bus interchange, cycle parking and some car parking.

We appreciate that there will be many hurdles to making this happen including land ownership and constraints.  
However we feel that with vision and drive such aspirations should be considered, especially given the high value 
potential of the site.

The distance from Weston Island to the City centre at Southgate (along the river) is around 2.9 kms (1.8 miles) with 
a journey time on boat of around 30 minutes (assuming a speed of five mph and allowing for two stops at Western 
Riverside and Sainsbury’s).  Although the journey time may not compete with cycling, it may compete against car 
at peak times (including time to park car and reach ultimate city centre destination).  The river option may also 
compete with other modes outside of peak times when the overall journey costs are considered.

JD

Page 88



71

Weston Island to Keynsham

There are opportunities to further open up the river corridor along this section of the river, for example, walking and 
cycling to link in with National Cycle Route 4 and by creating a more formal tow path between Weston Island and 
Keynsham.  Opportunities to promote / enhance recreational use along the river and provide access / launching 
facilities for canoes and other leisure pursuits.  There are already rowing stations along this section of the river at 
Newbridge (Minnerva rowing club) and Saltford with on-river activity regularly taking place.

Poor connectivity west of Bath; Saltford rowing club 

Saltford Marina; weir at Kelston Lock

In addition, a number of canal boats and sail boats are housed at the Saltford Marina, and near to Kelston Lock and 
Saltford Lock.  It is suggested that promoting a canoe and trail boat launching slipway along the western end of 
this stretch of the river (preferably within Bath) should be encouraged.

JD

JD JD

Page 89



72

More use of tourist leisure boats may be worthy of consideration, between Weston Island and Keynsham although 
the market would most probably need to be targeted at tourists, chartered services and the transportation of goods 
and materials.  It may prove difficult to build an economic case for more regular passenger river transport on this 
stretch of the river - not only is there a limited catchment for demand, but also a number of river constraints due to 
weirs.

River attractions / river boat constraints at Kelston Lock and Saltford Lock

Potential vessel for freight transportation; and chartered passenger boat

POD 4 – Avon Valley, Keynsham

Our team acknowledge Keynsham as a significant location for opportunity and the regeneration of the town and its 
master planning can be centred around river activity.  Opportunities for redevelopment of the Somerdale site and 
surrounding land are explored in other chapters of this report.

The River Corridor Group’s proposals build on B&NES four-point plan for Keynsham which incorporates the 
creation of employment, improved waste management, regeneration of heritage buildings, river transport and 
connectivity with existing transport modes and hubs.

We suggest that there is strong potential for waste movement to Keynsham by river from Bath (and Bristol) – it is 
calculated that a 70 foot vessel could transport 100 tons of compacted waste, removing the need for nine 11 ton 
lorries from the road network, bringing considerable economic (de-congestion) and environmental benefits.  

Our team see Keynsham as a major pod of opportunity and regeneration should be focussed in the river corridor.

JD

Page 90



73

Building the River Corridor Transportation Modes 

The River as an Element of Public Transportation: 
If we are looking towards a world in which effective and 
efficient public transportation is seen to be important 
then the status, quality and character of that experience 
are important too and need to be given high priority, 
seen to be an attractive experience in itself.  Currently 
much of the District’s riverscape is kept from view from 
public transport corridors, notably in the eastern and 
western approaches to Bath and along the corridor 
between Bath and Keynsham.

But where it is revealed, such as at North Parade 
Bridge, Rossiter Road and the Churchill Bridge 
approaches, value or potential value is created and 
where there is much scope for public realm and urban 
enhancement this needs to be recognised.

There are many other places where the River Corridor 
passes so closely to public transportation routes that 
the new visual and physical connections need to be 
made, some of which could have very significant 
perceptive and conceptual consequences.  Bath’s 
western approach along the Lower Bristol Road from 
the end of the Newton St Loe dual carriageway is dark, 
secretive and now approaching dereliction, but here the 
first glimpse of Western Island, (perhaps one day re-
wooded) can once more testify to being sufficient to be 
the remarkable landscape setting this World Heritage 
City deserves, acting as a foreground to stunning new 
architecture along the northern riverbanks.  Elsewhere, 
opposite the Western Riverside where the river passes 
REMARKABLY฀CLOSE฀TO฀THE฀5PPER฀"RISTOL฀2OAD฀AND฀
WITHIN฀A฀STONE�S฀THROW฀OF฀2OYAL฀6ICTORIA฀0ARK�฀SIMILAR฀
transformational connections can be made.

The Riverside Walkway/Cycleway:
If we want the river to be valued once more, improving 
its utility and attractiveness as a spine for low carbon 
transportation then a new way of perceiving the River 
Corridor is fundamental.  
Within Bath the issues are:

- Improving the quality, generosity and safety of a 
riverside spine route.

This does not mean such a route needs to border the 
river continuously as an embankment.  Many of the 
other goals of the corridor, creating places to enjoy the 
river, improving wildlife habitats etc, dictate otherwise.  
But there needs to be a route that creates cycle and 
pedestrian priority throughout the length that is clearly 
identified with the river in which conflicts of speed and 
purpose between pedestrian, cyclists and other traffic 
modes can be well managed.

- To work well its convenience, safety and connectivity 
with the existing road, pavement and public 
transportation networks need to be improved and 
well considered along with signage. This needs to be 
subject to a detailed study so that it can, in years to 
come, guide the development of riverside sites and 
identify where publically funded interventions will be 
needed.

JD EN

Page 91



74

The Role of the River in Getting to Work:
The existing riverside pathway is already a vital element 
in the commuting patterns of many residents in the city 
or out to the Newbridge Park and Ride.  As the city’s 
regeneration plans at Western Riverside and along 
the corridor and those across the District as a whole 
take effect, ease and convenience of commuters, 
however they travel, will become increasingly important 
together with whatever role the river might play as a 
transportation medium.

Because the River Avon is circuitous around Bath and 
there are weirs at Bathampton, Pulteney Bridge and 
Twerton its role as a public transportation medium 
has been questionable.  Its narrow width limits speed.  
Churchill Bridge has limited headroom clearance and in 
peak rainfall conditions, options of use become more 
limited.  But, it is clear that as imperatives change and 
the development of the Park and Ride strategy occurs 
the financial and sustainability arguments for a river 
based public transportation system increase.  

Where such a system would be key to the perception 
change that regeneration requires it may, as with 
Bristol’s yellow ferryboats, be transformational in itself.  
And if, the BRT proposal does not proceed on funding 
grounds, as a relatively low cost alternative a western 
city centre link would merit very serious consideration, 
not least because with some public support on landing 
stages it could be a wholly private sector initiative.  

Practically, such a service would make sense passing 
between the Western Lock Island and say, Norfolk 
Crescent, which would offer the most direct way into 
the city centre, with an extension to the Churchill 
Bridge area.  It is also where the river is straightest and 
best navigated at speed.  Over the length in question 
(2.9 km) a travel distance at say, 4 knots per hour, 
would make reasonable sense if stops are limited. The 
disadvantage is that it remains 850 metres short of the 
Newbridge Park and Ride, but with a good continuous 
hopper bus with single ticketing it should be no more 
inconvenient than a single platform change on the 
,ONDON฀5NDERGROUND�฀฀

Similar opportunities exist upstream of Pulteney Bridge 
where a start point at Bathampton Weir would create a 
Park and Ride run of 2 km. The congestion on London 
Road means there are limited opportunities to maximise 
a BRT here because of road width. Such a system 
would benefit regular workers and would merit close 
examination.  Here the potential for conflicts between 
other river users and interests is real, but in the interest 
of taking Bath where it needs to be in the longer term 
those interests need to be set against the benefits that 
would accrue to London Road no longer being the 
sole channel for eastern entry into the city, especially 
if BRT does not proceed.  Stops at the Morrison’s and 
Waitrose stores would have benefits of their own in 
reducing traffic impact in the city and as escalating 
town centre car parking charges and work place car 
parking taxes come into play, the financial imperatives 
of such schemes changes in a positive direction.

Water Taxis

In places where river-based public transport is 
well established and integrated, private water taxis 
invariably follow providing a faster, personal and direct 
customer focused service.  Where such places have an 
added tourist offer the two often coincide.  The Bath 
Avon project has a long way to go before this point is 
reached but with a multi-layered transportation system 
geared around the river as a spine, imperatives will 
change.

As the River Corridor becomes the focus of 
regeneration in development terms with new 
developments, new employers etc, it will be really 
important that the aspirational goal of future 
transportation systems are clearly identified in forward 
planning strategy, site development and travel plans 
prepared that work towards these goals. Without a 
clear strategy and set of objectives in place the ability 
to use planning obligations to secure general and site 
specific infrastructure will not be possible.

Public Transportation needs a density of uses, daytime 
and evening activity to work.  Many successful historic 
towns show that density is not a new issue, if anything 
low suburban densities have been the problem. 

Pleasure and Tourism Transportation on the River

Page 92



75

In parts of the Avon throughout the District the 
attractiveness of the river as a focus for leisure and 
transportation has been recognised both now and in 
the past, particularly around Saltford/Keynsham where 
with its wide meanders, generous valley and unspoilt 
banks the River Corridor is naturally attractive.  Even 
so, the experience of travelling by road from Bath to 
Keynsham means that many potential users for these 
services are probably unaware of how magnificent 
these stretches of river are.  There is both a marketing 
and a business development job to be done to highlight 
the leisure opportunities and associated venues are 
needed to open up their opportunities opportunities 
and integrate them into the tourist offer of Bath and the 
region.

Tourist boats between Pulteney Weir and Bathampton 
Weir have been a feature of the tourist offer in Bath for 
decades.  The river here is very attractive but is able to 
convey only a very small part of the Bath story.  
Downstream at Pulteney Weir providers have 
maintained a tourist boat service intermittently over 
many years despite the highly engineered canalisation 
of river and the disadvantage its high banks bring to 
those using it.  

With its long vistas, a wooded backdrop and 
opportunities to view the city’s heights and major 
historic buildings, the potential for such services to 
become a key part of the city’s offer in years to come 
is immense.  So much of the city’s stories could be 
told from the river once a regeneration strategy gets 
underway.  In fact, the benefit to the market and 
attractiveness of these services through some of the 
‘easy wins’ this report proposes would be immediate 
and considerable in opening up aspects of the city’s 
heritage to the river that are currently hidden, and in 
opening up restaurants, café, social venues along the 
river that would add purpose to those trips.  Such 
enhancements could be worked directly into increased 
visitor spend and length of stay and increased 
marketability, a new contemporary cultural offer that 
plays to Bath’s global visitor market as other historic 
cities, like Barcelona, have done so well.

The navigation between Bristol and the Kennet and 
Avon Canal is now very well established as a holiday 
offer and against this background it is remarkable that 
the journey through Bath from Thimble Mill to Weston 
Lock offers the cruise or long boat tourist so little, not 
even temporary moorings, no boater’s facilities, water 
points, waste collection, nor any riverside venues for 
refreshment or from which to access the city.  Whatever 
the flood management and engineering reasons for 
this (there are few) it is almost inconceivable that a city 
with Bath’s tourism turnover and identity has not yet 
addressed the challenge of creating better gateways 
into the city for water based visitors.  The scope to do 
this is immense with marinas (which can contribute 
to flood storage volumes) and the opportunity for 
much boating based economic activity, boat building, 
servicing, catering etc.

Servicing the Big Events

As a cultural centre Bath’s visitor economy thrives on 
significant events that bring large numbers of people 
to the city, offering both primary and secondary spend.  
Chief amongst these is the Bath Rugby and much of 
the debate about the ultimate home of an enlarged 
stadium has centred on the value of the city centre of 
that spend.  How larger numbers of spectators will get 
to the city is a big part of that debate as such travellers 
are not as ‘time precious’ as daily commuters are. The 
river can have a big role to play in how such events 
are serviced and visitors can use the Park and Ride or 
temporary field parking sites and access the ground via 
large capacity boats like the Penny Lane and the Pride 
of Bath (capacity 150) which can service refreshment 
and entertainment offer.  Similar opportunities exist in 
relation to the Christmas markets as part of balancing 
the transportation challenges in bringing a large number 
of coaches into the city.  There are and should be more 
unique ways that Bath does these things.  It is the 
uniqueness of the distinctive transportation models of 
6ENICE฀AND฀!MSTERDAM฀THAT฀MAKE฀THEM฀SO฀ATTRACTIVE฀TO฀
tourists who want to be taken away from the common 
place. 

Page 93



76

The Carriage of Bulk Goods

When the Avon through Bath and Bristol was turned 
into a navigation with locks and weirs, this was  a 
wholly commercial investment that serviced the 
manufacturing economy of Bath well into the 20th 
Century, allowing it to be, in effect, an inland port.  It 
was the entrepreneurial activity of Ralph Allen, very 
much associated with the Avon navigation that enabled 
the river to be used to transport the stone from the 
Combe Down Mines to coastal ports throughout 
the country.  The cheapness and convenience of 
carbon fuels has changed all that, but imperatives are 
changing again and as pressure mounts to make motor 
transportation more fuel efficient the efficiency of water 
based transportation too will inevitably come under 
close examination.  Currently wholly new bulk waterway 
transportation infrastructure is being commissioned in 
France and Germany in response to these imperatives.
In Britain the case for significant investment in general 
purpose bulk water based transportation is not yet 
being made strongly enough to enlarge existing 
infrastructure and equip river systems for wider use and 
bigger vessels, but there are situations where particular 
economic services and regeneration imperatives can 
point the way towards river transportation making 
sense. 

Bath’s remarkable building stone could again be the 
opportunity it once was, for which carriage on the river 
to a container ship in Bristol could be considered.

In the next section of this report we focus particularly 
on the role the river has played in linking Bath with 
Bristol and the role a waste recycling and treatment 
economy can play, seeing this as a fundamental 
building block of the future economy and an ingredient 
in how new economic identity, purpose and value can 
be given to Keynsham.

Conflicts of Use

In this report we highlight various ways in which activity 
can again come to the river, in public transportation, 
leisure activity, sporting activity and bulk transportation.  
The River Avon is modest in size and its capacity 
to carry all these transport modes is limited.  But it 
has been the narrowing of the natural river to service 
temporary industrial needs that has limited capacity 
and exacerbated flood risk. We need to assess all 
the layers of new value, a new, (in places), wider river 
and its related activities can bring. But it would be 
ridiculous if the potential for conflict of uses is seen as 
so great that, in practice, nothing happens at all!  More 
important is to see these potentials as tools with a role 
to play within an overall incremental and accumulative 
regeneration framework.  

The first objective is to have meaningful visible activities 
that change perceptions; for this, opportunities for 
boating and rowing are desirable and are ‘easy wins’.  
As the boating economy has already become so well 
established on the Kennet and Avon Canal and within 
Bristol Harbour, and the lower Avon the present ‘blind 
spot’ of Bath, must be addressed immediately.

Establishing new commuting models for Bath will be 
crucial to the city’s economic renewal plans and as 
imperatives change, may, in time become of higher 
importance.

Similarly, if the commercial imperatives around climate 
change and low carbon living do bring forward new 
streams of economic life, those have to find their place 
against the relevant value of other uses at the time.  
5RBAN฀ECONOMIES฀ARE฀DYNAMIC�฀NEED฀TO฀ADAPT฀TO฀
emerging imperatives to change, the important thing 
now is to recognise that the river is an entity, an asset, 
a potential powerhouse once again.
 

Bristol’s late 19th Century centre Page 94



77

Crucial to rebuilding this water-based identity is 
integrating the water environment into the ways of 
getting around the place on a daily basis.  This is seen 
AT฀ITS฀GREATEST฀EXTREME฀IN฀6ENICE฀WHERE฀AN฀EXTRAORDINARY฀
degree of spatial compactness and an absence of 
roads have created a transportation network wholly 
based on water based public transport serving both the 
city and the outer islands, but, at the opposite end of 
the scale a highly pedestrian permeable city in which 
the pedestrians/vehicle conflicts of the road and the 
pavement have been taken away.  Where the physical 
infrastructure of bridges across the Grand Canal does 
not provide continuously operating passenger ferries 
work continuously to meet the need.

It is this integration of transport modes that is 
fundamental to a city working well.  Bath is unusually 
compact but at present its primary public transportation 
routes radiate strongly from the centre and are often 
congested and conflicted where they are concentrated 
along the River Corridor.

If the river and its riverside paths can become more 
central to transportation infrastructure many areas of 
the city could achieve a new model of accessibility as 
the routes for which the River Corridor is the spine.  
Transportation studies commissioned by the Council 
have identified a major transportation need of Bath 
residents is for short trips, too short to justify the 
complications of using the car and having to park.  
Throughout the 20th Century the rise in carbon based 
fuel transportation has brought high expectations of 
motor vehicle permeability and freedom of movement 
everywhere.  But it has also introduced the high levels 
of spatial inefficiency that have separated out functions, 
and so diminished the ‘temperature’ at which economic 
life can occur, and once did in our major historic cities. 

There are currently many pressures acting now in 
the opposite direction, favouring compactness, 
permeability, public transportation which, in economic 
terms play into Bath’s hands, not least because of 
the problems that day to day congestion brings to an 
economy.  

Those urban environments that can handle public 
transportation and the problems of commuting well 
become attractive to employers and workers.  Currently 
Bath experiences high levels of in-migration by workers 
in relatively low value jobs, particularly in tourism, 
who cannot afford to live in the city, but also high 
levels of out-migration of people who choose to live 
in the city and can afford to, but to have the salary 
levels necessary to do so, require work in other more 
significant centres of employment.  

Making the River Relevant 

So, fundamental to bringing the river back into 
importance is making it a place of meaningful activity 
once more by yielding values:

s฀3OCIAL฀n฀GIVING฀IT฀A฀PLACE฀IN฀DAILY฀LIVES฀THROUGH฀THE฀
convenience it offers in daily travel both along it or 
across it.

s฀#ULTURAL฀n฀MAKING฀IT฀SOMEWHERE฀THAT฀HAS฀HISTORY�฀
identity, character and creative life.

s฀%NVIRONMENTAL฀n฀BUILDING฀NEW฀WILDLIFE฀HABITATS฀AND฀
landscaping new layers of quality and interest, creating 
low carbon energy.

s฀฀%CONOMIC฀n฀MAKING฀THE฀RIVER฀MEET฀NEEDS�฀SUPPORT฀
new businesses and create new jobs.

All of these mean bringing life, activity back to the river. 

Forty years ago Bristol’s dockland centre lay dead 
and inactive, awaiting new validity and purpose.  Now 
it has become the focus of a multitude of purposes, 
heritage, leisure, entertainment, socialising, cultural 
activities, living and working.  Much of that character 
and identity have been brought by the way icons of the 
past such as SS Great Britain and the Matthew have 
been locked into its regeneration model, but also by the 
way its yellow ferry boats daily criss-cross the harbour, 
making it meaningful and relevant to people’s lives, in 
getting to work or just joining up its areas of attraction 
and interest.  With a permanent population of riverboat 
dwellers and much waterside activity it has become a 
ready and familiar venue for all sorts of seasonal events 
where, despite no longer being the international port 
it once was, the city can still claim that its relationship 
with the river and the sea are both part of its past and 
its present identity.  

Bristol’s centre now

Page 95



78

It is currently a major plank of the Council’s Economic 
Development Strategy to both achieve more housing 
within the city on Brownfield land, and raise the value 
and quantity of higher value employment.  This lies 
behind the long planned present transportation model 
for directing commuters and visitors car penetration 
of the city principally to a ring of Park and Ride sites 
serviced by improved and rapid public transportation 
infrastructure, including the BRT, supported by other 
initiatives such as improving bus services. The Two 
Tunnels project will provide a new cyclist connection 
with the Midford valley.  Beyond this transportation 
model now it is clear a new vision for the economic, 
social and cultural life of the city is slowly emerging in 
which these qualities of business to business activity, 
education, the exchange of ideas and much higher 
qualities of cultural life can be stimulated within a 
compact, dense city centre, somewhere that knows it 
is different from other places, distinctive in everything 
it does, a place to which arrival becomes a sense of 
occasion in itself.

For this vision to be achieved, using the river 
regeneration opportunity to make modes of arrival 
to Bath remarkable and distinctive is fundamental; 
arriving in Bath for the first time by train is still a 
really remarkable experience as is the journey down 
Lansdown Hill or along London Road.  

How much greater the status of a World Heritage 
City would be if similar qualities were recreated in the 
,OWER฀"RISTOL฀2OAD�5PPER฀"RISTOL฀2OAD฀APPROACHES�฀
for anyone cycling along the river banks or of course, 
travelling on the river itself?

Although London Road has retained integrity in urban 
design and landscape terms – despite its traffic, the 
river valley landscapes from the bypass to Cleveland 
Bridge await a new role as the parkland setting worthy 
of a World Heritage site, celebrating our river.

Page 96



799. THE ROLE OF THE RIVER IN FLOOD RESILIANCE
OP

Page 97



80

Many of the problems of the District’s river that 
have prevented Bath, in particular, having a positive 
relationship with it now, came about through historic 
problems of river related flooding and, in more recent 
times the technical solutions employed to address that. 

Through Bath the engineered banks and deepening of 
the main channel have worked from a flood engineering 
point of view.   One of the consequences of climate 
change is that for future decades a new set of flood 
risks have to be addressed to handle forecast higher 
and extreme peak rainfall and, further downstream, the 
consequences of higher sea levels affecting river flows.  

Against those expectations, currently many of the 
potential redevelopment sites along the river are 
challenged by perceptions of future flood risk, the need 
to raise the floor levels of new constructions higher than 
previously required, the need to create areas in which 
the floodwaters displaced by this can be redirected (to 
avoid making problems worse downstream) and the 
need to ensure that suitably safe means of escape can 
be provided from the sites whose access roads would 
become flooded under these new circumstances.

Although resolving all these matters is an engineering 
matter beyond the scope of this Group, the way it is 
resolved will have a significant bearing on the kind of 
riverscape residents and visitors to Bath will see in 
future decades, some of which could be very different 
from now.   It is useful within this report to describe 
some of the technical solutions available so that their 
strengths and weaknesses can be weighed in relation 
to other aspects of the River Corridor regeneration 
economy ambitions.

In any discussion of options available for river flood 
management it is helpful to appreciate how rivers, 
particularly those passing through urban areas, have 
changed over centuries of human intervention.   

A natural river flowing through a broad floodplain before 
the interventions of agricultural, development or river 
commerce would be sluggish and marshy with waters 
spread over a wide silt bearing area, in places lacking 
a clear main channel.   Gradually human intervention 
whether for fishing or agricultural cargoes would 
have created a main channel whose status became 
consolidated through gradual drainage of marshland 
for agriculture.  This generally took place from the early 
medieval period, but grew particularly significantly in 
the 18th century.  It is likely within such a main channel 
that river conditions will vary greatly from one stretch 
to another and weirs for water mills and fish weirs were 
common throughout the medieval period.    

Even before the formation of a River Navigation Act 
of Parliament in the early 18th century several factors 
were operating to transform the river further from its 
marshy origins to the steeply banked water conduit we 
have today.    Agricultural land levels tend to build up 

9. THE ROLE OF THE RIVER IN FLOOD RESILIANCE 

over the years through the deposit of natural river silt in 
flood conditions and often the dumping and spreading 
of dredgings, creating the common appearance 
along many rivers that the river banks are higher than 
the surrounding land. The eddies introduced by the 
movement of boats scours and loosens the river bed 
silt, further deepening the channel. When the Avon 
navigation was engineered in the 18th century, it sought 
to balance the need to create the necessary conditions 
for commercial boat traffic by larger vessels and long 
established water mills.    

The effect of all these elements has been to create the 
situation we have nowadays, in which both in the town 
and in the country, water levels are generally several 
metres below the top of the riverbanks, so creating 
the flood conveyance capacity which now only rarely 
spills out beyond those banks to flood surrounding 
agricultural land or developed areas.

The engineering works of the 1960’s in Bath were 
specified to create as efficient a movement of 
floodwater through the city as possible, with smooth 
sides and deepening the river creating a channel able 
to carry the greater volumes and speeds of water that 
such depth brings.  Some of the weirs were also made 
more hydraulically efficient with the regulated bypass 
channels introduced to vary the storage capacity of the 
river in different conditions.

Bath & North East Somerset Council have been liaising 
with the Environment Agency and engaging consultants 
for many years to plan for how future enhanced flood 
threats along the river can be addressed.  In the 
proposal going forward for detailed design in 2011, a 
scheme is being advanced to divert flood waters on to 
water meadows in the valley upstream of Bath, much 
earlier in the peak flood cycle and so reduce the need 
for enhanced flood storage capacity within the City and 
beyond. The primary aim of this exercise is to create 
enough up river storage volume that the Lower Bristol 
Road can be protected from the floods; ensuring sites 
along it which would now be inaccessible in a peak 
flood can always be accessed to facilitate escape of 
building occupants.   

But, as things stand, those sites along the River 
Corridor which would flood in whole or in part in the 
threshold extreme flood condition, cannot be built 
on individually, until it can be demonstrated that they 
will be able to offer the same flood storage volume 
that they can at their present site levels, whilst 
raising new construction floor levels above flood risk. 
Generally speaking this means that areas of such sites 
forecast for flood will have their level raised where 
the buildings and access roads are placed but the 
storage volumes lost will be recreated by lowering land 
creating new flood storage elsewhere, generally close 
to the riverbank.  This is the approach adopted in the 
approved Western Riverside scheme where areas of 
present high sheet metal piling will be lowered or a new 

Page 98



81

indentation created and landscaped at lower levels 
which, in extreme flood circumstances will flood and 
appear as extensions of the river itself.

Many of the River Corridor redevelopment sites 
are narrow and cannot afford to lose development 
area.   It is likely that some of ‘trading off’ in flood 
storage volumes across sites will be needed with 
those considered the most strategic and central 
having highest priority of development from others 
more peripheral to the City possibly being favoured 
for alternative use serving some of the other positive 
objectives for the rivers future character highlighted in 
this report.

The town of Keynsham is largely free of these 
considerations, being elevated well above its two 
rivers and not having exploited its river frontages 
substantially.    But flood risk is a major consideration 
on the Somerdale site, with other sites historically 
important to Somerdale such as the large 19th century 
industrial structures of Broadmead having floor levels 
marginally below the design flood standard.   Any 
future use of these sites is likely to involve similar 
considerations of how flood storage volumes and 
needs should best be balanced.   

So, against this background there are a number of ways 
in which new flood storage volume can be created 
available to the Hydrological Engineers who will advise 
the Council on the way forward, each of which could 
play its role in determining the character and use of the 
River Corridor throughout the District and the economic 
contributions it can yield.   

If those are led only by engineering considerations, 
as they were, in the 1960’s scheme the overall quality 
of the result will still not give Bath the character it 
deserves, worthy of its World Heritage Site status.   
It is in design matters such as this, through the 
integration of the different considerations of  landscape, 
amenity, transportation, social and cultural identity, 
environmental sustainability, etc., that those results can 
be achieved overall.   

The design tools available in addressing these 
challenges could include:

1. Water absorption in the upstream catchment
Currently the speed with which extreme rainfall flows 
pass through the city is determined by the configuration 
of the river channel and the speed with which water 
landing on fields and developed areas makes its way 
into the river. In new developments consideration is 
now given to intercepting and delaying the addition 
of such floodwaters, through what are known as 
3USTAINABLE฀5RBAN฀$RAINAGE฀3CHEMES�฀฀฀"UT฀MOST฀OF฀
the farmland is itself subject to land drainage in which 
slow moving ditches and tributaries of the river have 
been converted into culverts and field drains over 
centuries of use.   Professor Chris Banes, a member 
OF฀THE฀#OUNCIL�S฀5RBAN฀2EGENERATION฀!DVISORY฀0ANEL฀
has highlighted the role that a turning back from such 

drainage could play in mitigating the enhanced flood 
risks to the City and improving the utilisation of the 
City Centre land along the corridor.  At a time when the 
economic relationship between the settlements and 
their agricultural hinterlands is becoming tangibly more 
important, we believe this approach deserves further 
study and we believe there are many ways in which 
new models of rural land use and farming practice 
could open up new streams of economic life for farmers 
and landowners with the more resilient and much 
agriculture can meet new needs.  This might include:

s฀0RODUCTION฀OF฀WETLAND฀BIO
฀MASS฀TO฀OFFER฀A฀CARBON฀
neutral fuel such as willow.

s฀4HE฀ENHANCED฀BIO
DIVERSITY฀IN฀WILDLIFE฀THAT฀SUCH฀

wetland habitats would bring.

s฀.EW฀OPTIONS฀FOR฀FRESHWATER฀lSH฀AND฀WILDFOWL฀FARMING�

s฀4HE฀NEW฀PLEASURE฀BOATING�฀AND฀LIVING฀OPPORTUNITIES฀

that new marinas and wetland areas would bring. 

All these would be profitable contributors to a river 
based economy even before the net benefits of 
enhanced City Centre land use are factored in.  

For Keynsham upstream and downstream of 
Somerdale, enhanced water based activity in the form 
of bio-diversity rich wetlands and marinas could be 
transformational in the wider perceptions of the town 
and the interests of those who might choose to live/visit 
there and so become a very important contributor to a 
new river focused identity.  

2. Sheet Piling
For many considering the challenges of the Avon within 
Bath, the severity and height of the black metal sheet 
piling is a major stumbling block to perception change, 
one made even worse by the lack of water margin 
vegetation that is associated with it.    Such sheet 
piling was an efficient way of dealing with the pressing 
needs of the 1960’s flood scheme and replacing it with 
anything of a better appearance on an active river is 
always expensive and technically challenging.  The 
River Corridor Regeneration Strategy that will emerge 
in the aftermath of the adoption of the Core Strategy 
will need to develop a clear and unambiguous view 
about what standard of appearance, construction 
methodology and materials need to be used along 
the river and where such hierarchies of use need to 
become minimum expectations of future developments 
and be applied consistently from one site to another.   
What follows is a commentary on a number of the 
technical solutions and design options that can be 
used;

Page 99



82

Replacement of the sheet piling with a stone 

facing

The appearance of the sheet piling and stone retaining 
walls can be directly compared either side of the point 
where the Kennet and Avon Canal adjoins the Avon. 
It is noticeable how the disadvantages of the sheet 
piling are noticeably diminished where the height is 
reduced by the provision of a lower riverside walkway 
or landscaped areas and trees take attention from it.  It 
is apparent from studying the river’s various sections 
where the riverside path comes away, even by only a 
few metres from the river’s edge and there is grass, 
trees, possibly a change of level (such as between 
Rossitor Road and the river south of the railway 
stations),  the sheet piling no longer appears to be the 
dominant element.  

Since it is desirable for there to be much greater 
provision for tree planting, grass and informal 
vegetation to create a diversity of habitats along the 
river as an enhanced wildlife corridor, introducing such 
landscape margins and setting a path back would 
appear to be a sensible option where replacement 
in stone cannot be justified.  But it is also evident 
that stone embankments create a particular kind of 
appearance and, where the whole of the sheet piling 
to be replaced by stone, in time, many of the river’s 
problems would still remain, especially for boaters.   A 
design strategy is needed that identifies where high 
quality materials are appropriate to create a hierarchy 
of riverside experiences that relate to the hierarchies 
and status of use of the urban centres.  This would 
determine minimum standards of railings, balustrades, 
piers, lighting, Public Realm furniture etc. appropriate in 
such areas.  

In Paris a lowered river wall creates a platform for trees 
and flood capacity – with the much higher wall set 
back by several metres of cobbled surface. This allows 
people to be near the river and away from the noise of 
busy roads and in the shade of urban trees.

It is apparent now that in those few areas along the 
river where grass and trees do intervene between the 
water’s edge and path how they offer opportunities for 
walkers to experience the river in valuable ways, for 
picnics and informal play. 

The lowered banks in Paris

Lowering the Banks

A major disadvantage at present is how the steepness 
of the river’s sides in many situations takes viewers out 
of contact with the river as a moving medium and away 
from the wildlife that it might support. 
It determines whether boats are moored at all.  

Creating lowered or stepped river banks is one way of 
overcoming this and is likely to occur on many future 
development sites as a way of enhancing storage 
volume to offset higher ground levels where building 
occurs.  Stepped banks are a notable feature of the 
river’s most successful exposure in the City, south of 
Pulteney Bridge and opposite Parade Gardens, one of 
the only areas where boating moorings occur on any 
scale and which creates a strong sense of promenade 
and identity.  It is costly and space consuming to 
lower banks, but it is clear that the quality and utility 
of the riverside environment that is created merits the 
effort.  The emerging design strategy for the River 
Corridor needs to be able to identify where there will be 
genuine public benefits in introducing such banks as 
points of activity in themselves, such as along riverside 
refreshment venues or moorings; each of which can 
become a centre of identity, activity and economic life 
in itself.  

Bath Rugby Ground

Sheet piling

JW

Page 100



83

Marinas and Moorings 

The need to create new flood storage volumes along 
the river in both the developed and rural areas will 
favour the construction of new off-river marinas, or in 
some cases, areas where river banks could be dug 
away completely to create wider areas able to moor 
boats from pontoons.  Boating activity like this offers 
many layers of economic value and economic activity 
creating many streams of new jobs such as:

s฀4HE฀CONSTRUCTION฀WORK฀ITSELF�

s฀4HE฀CREATION฀OF฀MITIGATING฀mOOD฀STORAGE฀TO฀WHICH฀
a value can be attached where it enhances the 
development of sites elsewhere.

s฀"OAT฀BUILDING฀AND฀BOAT฀SERVICING฀ACTIVITIES�

s฀4HE฀CONTRIBUTION฀TO฀TOURISM�฀AND฀TRADE฀THAT฀SUCH฀
boaters bring, as both owners and visiting hirers.

s฀4HE฀WAY฀BOATS฀ADD฀TO฀THE฀IDENTITY฀AND฀CHARACTER฀OF฀
places, supporting and stimulating parallel development 
in retail, commercial and catering.  

s฀/PTIONS฀FOR฀@ENTRY฀LEVEL�฀HOUSING฀ON฀LOCALLY฀BUILT฀
longboats. 

s฀6ARIETY฀OF฀ACTIVITY฀AT฀THE฀RIVER�S฀EDGE�฀WHICH฀ATTRACT฀
even more users.

It is essential to the character of historic towns that 
have a river aspect that their rivers have many moods 
and characters, developed over centuries, as they have 
been where a river has passed through many phases of 
need, use and management.  

Looking back in Bath, it has been a history of flooding 
and an engineering led approach to its mitigation that 
has created the problem the Council is now keen to 
solve and the regeneration opportunity that presents 
itself as the challenge ahead.  

Building Against the River

Presently, two of the most characterful areas of the river 
now are:

s฀7HERE฀0ULTENEY฀"RIDGE฀IS฀mANKED฀BY฀THE฀COLONNADES฀
of Grand Parade, bringing drama and scale. 

Keynsham Marina

s฀4HE฀SURVIVING฀INDUSTRIAL฀ERA฀WAREHOUSES฀SOUTH฀WEST฀
of Churchill Bridge which abuts the river dramatically, 
evidence of a once direct operational relationship with 
it.  

In historic towns and cities it is the variety of riverside 
moods, the variety of functional relationships and uses, 
the contrasts of urban and landscape led design that 
create the richness and identity that can give Bath the 
relationship with the river its World Heritage status 
demands.  

So there will be a role too for new buildings coming 
straight to the water’s edge; possibly built over arcades 
to maintain the management access that can be 
needed in emergencies.  Sometimes such solutions 
will work alongside new river storage created as 
marinas within the depth of new development sites.  
In the town centre regeneration at Bradford on Avon 
(a site previously 90% inundated in a 100 year flood) 
the new riverscape includes many elements, stone 
embankments, waterside terraces, arcades below 
tall riverside buildings, a low level walkway flanked 
by trees, a tower thrust out into the watercourse and 
then, where the River Corridor is narrow and deserves 
celebration, low marshy grassland banks that with peak 
rainfall will flood and dramatically expand the river’s 
breadth while creating the mitigating flood storage the 
development requires.  

What is now needed is a Strategic Regeneration Plan 
that can identify where, for pragmatic operational, 
heritage, connectability, environmental and design 
reasons, different solutions are most appropriate, 
absorbing and managing many specialist views 
of hydrologists, urban managers, ecologists, 
transportation engineers etc which need to be put 
together with the policy imperative of economic and 
planning policy.

Historically, many rivers have the character they have 
because, prior to carbon fuels, they serviced power 
generation or low energy means of transportation.  The 
evidence of that era still influences the riverscape we 
have of weirs and locks and the surviving evidence, 
often now only in placenames, of the river’s history as 
an inland waterway serving an inland port.  

OP

Page 101



84

Kingston Mills, Bradford on Avon

Pulteney Bridge, Bath

EN

Page 102



8510. SPATIAL SUSTAINABILITY & RENEWABLE ENERGY
Page 103



86

As transportation imperatives change through 
the demise and expense of carbon fuels and the 
recognition of the harm their consumption brings, 
transportation imperatives and economies will change 
and much of the spatial inefficiency the carbon fuel era 
has brought will need to be reviewed.  

So, in planning for the future of the River Corridor 
throughout the District as an economic generator 
we do need to develop clear views and policies that 
direct uses to those sites that have optimum locational 
sustainability, since, once put to the wrong purpose, 
those opportunities can be lost for decades. 

For instance, at the places along the river where weirs 
already impound water flow and create the head that 
water turbines need, if sufficient space and access are 
not built into the regeneration plans for this to happen 
– it will not happen.  There will be other activities 
essential to the most sustainable patterns of life which 
have to be located near a river, such as the servicing 
that boat activity needs, the restaurants and waterside 
leisure opportunities that a fully integrated riverscape 
deserves, opportunities for people to enjoy riverside 
sports, such as rowing, the riverside opportunities to 
create the tangible links with established features of the 
CITY�S฀CHARACTER�฀SUCH฀AS฀6ICTORIA฀0ARK฀AND฀'REEN฀0ARK�฀฀

All have land use implications which need to be built 
into the regeneration Masterplan.  

Furthermore, if the River Corridor is to be seen to be 
the Regeneration driver of the District’s economy, both 
in Bath and Keynsham, riverside space needs to be 
reserved for new streams of economic activity to be 
built up gradually and to thrive by being part of the 
regeneration success.   There is a present danger, not 
least through the present residential bias of the Core 
Strategy, that River Corridor sites will be seen as easy 
pickings for residential development only, rather than 
an opportunity to allow high value new employment 
economies to establish themselves, according to their 
own pace over a period of years.  

Other aspects of riverside land use need to be thought 
through in order to capitalise best on the regeneration 
opportunities that can do most to boost the quality and 
character of this new riverside focus.   

For instance, Bath needs a waste collection and 
transfer station within the City.  The present one at 
.ORTH฀7ESTERN฀2IVERSIDE฀AND฀SOUTH฀OF฀2OYAL฀6ICTORIA฀
Park falls within the Western Riverside planning 
approval, but remains in the ownership of the Council.  
This and adjacent sites are crucial to improving the 
character and quality linkages that can be made, 
BRINGING฀THE฀RIVER฀WITHIN฀THE฀AMBIT฀OF฀2OYAL฀6ICTORIA฀
Park and the Royal Crescent; and it needs to be asked 
whether their potential in this regard has been made 
enough of in the present Western Riverside Planning 
0ERMISSION�฀฀5RGENT฀TOO฀IS฀THE฀NEED฀TO฀IDENTIFY฀A฀FUTURE฀

10. SPATIAL SUSTAINABILITY AND RENEWABLE ENERGY

location for a replacement refuse transfer station, 
one still on the river where river transportation and 
connections to Keynsham and Avonmouth are realistic 
prospects.  Around that, in a rapidly changing world 
which sees recycling as the primary source of new 
materials, specialist businesses will develop.  Bath 
and Keynsham have the opportunity to capture this 
business.  

For instance, within Keynsham there are already two 
established waste reclamation businesses on riverside 
sites and there is the opportunity to strengthen those 
businesses through R & D, fresh knowledge and 
more sophisticated primary and secondary activity, 
nurturing the formation of many specialist jobs in which 
the enterprise of small companies is likely to be of 
paramount importance.  

The Council has identified a site for final stage 
rendering of waste and the District’s largest Sewage 
Treatment plants all collect sewage streams to this 
vicinity.  This unusual spatial coincidence of such waste 
activity needs to be recognised.

Somerdale creates the opportunity to fix such a centre 
of expertise within Keynsham, giving it one of the 
ingredients of new employment identity in which the 
river itself provides the link and connector, embracing 
Bath, Keynsham, Bristol and the Avonmouth Port 
in a single concept from which regional, national, 
international expertise could grow, fed by work in the 
5NIVERSITIES�

Another aspect of this concept of spatial or locational 
sustainability could be tested in the proposals for 
the larger stadium for Bath Rugby.  The Planning 
Application for that will have to balance the undoubted 
economic benefits to the City of the Rugby Club with 
the detriment that aspects of bringing large numbers of 
people, flood lighting, noise etc will also bring.   That 
mitigation demands to consider closely the role of 
the river in the transportation of spectators and the 
waterhead available at Pulteney Weir in powering 
floodlighting.  

We believe the River Corridor Regeneration Model 
needs to be based on a study that identifies such 
coincidences of Spatial Sustainability and economic 
OPPORTUNITY฀AND฀LOCKS฀THEM฀INTO฀THE฀&UTURE฀5SES฀0LAN�฀฀
We are concerned that the point at which this can make 
an immediate contribution is quickly approaching in the 
planning policy stages that will follow rapidly upon the 
Core Strategy. 

Page 104



87

RENEWABLE ENERGY OPTIONS ON B&NES RIVER AVON 

Introduction 

Group Member Ian Gilchrist was asked by the group’s Chair to investigate what is known concerning renewable 
energy opportunities involving the river and its corridor. These opportunities to include “thermal storage, turbine, 
growth of biomass etc “. At this stage of preparation my report covers only ‘Turbines’ (section 1) and ‘Biomass’ 
(section 2). 

1. ‘Turbine’ opportunities i.e. hydroelectric (HE) plant. 
Results here draw entirely from two sources: 

1. The Transition Bath (TB) report by Simon Taylor, dated July 2008. 

2. The study by CamCo for B&NES Council on (all) renewable energy options in the B&NES area, dated November 
2010. 

The Transition Bath study 

This looked at potential sites and tried to assess their technical potential, putting aside any practical 
considerations. The results put plainly are: 

Location Potential Output

Warleigh Weir 100kW

Bathampton Weir 67kW

Pulteney Weir 131kW

Twerton Weir 73kW

The total of 371kW would be sufficient to power the typical energy needs of 250 dwellings assuming an average 
consumption of 1.5kW each. Of these, the site at Bathampton Weir is considered to present the fewest practical 

difficulties. The construction of an HE scheme was being pursued by Transition Bath, offshoot, Bath Community 
Energy Ltd, but this has recently been shelved due to difficulties with the landowner.  It is not known whether or 
when these discussions will restart.  

The CamCo study 

In a report totalling 90 pages, the total devoted to 
HE potential in B&NES occupies about 6 pages. This 
section is derived from the Environment Agency’s study 
(2010) on HE potential across all England and Wales 
rivers. 
It considers many more sites that the Transition Bath 
study, not just on the River Avon, but examination 
of the map suggests that it does not differ from the 
TB study in terms of potential on the River Avon. It is 
not possible to identify from this report the estimated 
potential output from the River Avon sites. 

The CamCo study can be found on the Council’s 
website at 
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/SiteCollectionDocuments/
Environment%20and%2 0Planning/Renewable%20
Energy%20and%20Planning%20Research%20-%20
November%202010.pdf 

Conclusion on HE 

On present evidence, the experts who have looked 
at the potential for HE schemes on the River Avon in 
the B&NES area seem reasonably agreed on what is 
available. The site (Bathampton Weir) which offers the 
best scope for practical exploitation is already being 
actively pursued. 

2. Biomass 

This contribution is somewhat speculative but has 
passed a quick scrutiny from Pete Capener, a local 
renewable energy consultant. 

It is noted that the river has various flood ‘plains’ 
along its route to help alleviate floods. These might be 
planted with bio-mass (e.g. short-cycle coppice such 
as willow), and then harvested for firewood (transport 
along river?) or used direct for electricity/CHP. 
According to Prof David Mackay, the theoretical energy 
yield of such crops is 0.5 w/m2, so 1 sq km (10^6 m2) 
might yield about 0.5MW, which is not negligible. I also 
know that for efficient use then any electricity/CHP 
generation would need to be done as close to source 
as possible, with customers as close to generation as 
possible. 

The reference to Prof David Mackay is his book, 
‘Renewable Energy without the Hot Air’. The figure I 
have used can be found in Chapter 6, in the section on 
Solar Biomass. 
It is noted that grants are available for planting of 
such biomass (see www.naturalengland.org.uk). The 
economics of such a scheme would not become 
apparent until the Government has revealed the details 
of its Renewable Heat Incentive program which should 
be launched in July 2011. 
Any such schemes would depend 100% on the current 
land-owners. 

Objections would need to be overcome from those that 
consider such land areas should be used for growing 
food. This debate is explored in the Zero Carbon Britain 
report from the Centre for Alternative Technology. 

Page 105



8811. CREATING GROWTH POINTS FOR CHANGE
EN

Page 106



89

11. CREATING GROWTH POINTS FOR CHANGE

Economies are, by definition, multi-stranded.  It 
is the interaction of those strands which might be 
manufacturing, education, tourism, professional 
services, cultural and social activity, healthcare etc that 
create a healthy economy throughout a region.  But the 
significance of such strands varies over time and now, 
for Bath and North East Somerset Council, the removal 
of MOD jobs, the contraction of the Public Sector and 
the importance of building a strong role for the District 
within the new priorities of the West of England Local 
Enterprise Partnership are real considerations.  

The need to regenerate the River Avon Corridor can 
be and needs to be a major driver of new economic 
activity in itself, otherwise it is a missed opportunity.  
It is a chance to identify Bath and Keynsham as new 
centres of expertise, cultural and social identity and a 
chance to recognise the beauty and significance of the 
river valley that links them.  One of the main parts of 
the brief given by the Council to the River Group is to 
identify how and where new economic activity and new 
jobs can be created both in the short and medium and 
longer term.  

To achieve this it is necessary to explore some of the 
strands of existing economic activity and emergent 
activity and show what the significance of the River 
Corridor opportunity and challenge is to each of them.  
The history of our urban settlements is the history of 
the rising, falling and blending of waves of economic 
vigour and activity.  History shows that one thing leads 
to another as economic activity mutates and develops 
according to the opportunities and synergies that lie 
before it.   

We have the opportunity in a regeneration project 
like this to influence those forces, and need to do so 
in clarifying the key ingredients of a River Corridor 
Regeneration Plan Model.  Without this, given the high 
property values and the popularity of Bath there  is a 
real danger that ‘property led’, rather than ‘economy 
led’ development takes place largely predicated on 
housing that would not deliver the revitalised economy 
the Region and City needs, but instead consolidate(s) 
the City as a dormitory of Bristol.  The areas of land up 
for potential redevelopment along the River Corridor 
are relatively small and a few poorly placed uses or a 
surrender to commercial opportunism would not deliver 
the well integrated growth in economic, environmental, 
social and cultural values that regeneration in a World 
Heritage City needs. 

The strands of new economic activity that can re-
invigorate the District do not start overnight; in fact 
many of them are already in place, but still below 
the radar, not recognised in the fabric of the built 
environment or in evidence of where they can be 
most influential in perpetuating their own success and 
that of our urban settlements.  So it is helpful to the 

process to identify some of those existing or emergent 
strands of economic activity and consider how they can 
interact and show their presence within a River Corridor 
regeneration programme.  

For those studying the historical evolution of towns it is 
very evident how growth and development of particular 
economic strands grew around particular places 
and particular people.  In Keynsham the influence of 
a number of Quaker families produced local long-
standing industries, around soapmaking at Broadmead 
and Chocolate at Somerdale, which defined the identity 
of the place for many decades.  In Bath the 18th 
century revival of the Baths, the social entrepreneurism 
of Beau Nash, the canny opportunism of Ralph 
Allen in opening up the stone trade and the skills of 
Stothert and Pitt have had major influence - all began 
somewhere around the insight of particular people.  

We know where we have existing strengths; a World 
Heritage City, a tourism offer, a research led university 
IN฀THE฀TOP฀TEN฀IN฀THE฀5NITED฀+INGDOM�฀SOME฀VERY฀
strong companies in the fields of built environment, 
design software and publishing, strengths in education 
and healthcare.  How can the River Corridor plan be 
developed to support these economic strands and 
assist others and those new firms that can grow around 
secondary activity?  What are the dangers to the 
District if this aspect of the Regeneration Model is not 
given sufficient consideration in the allocation of land 
use?  

We believe it is important to identify how, in spatial 
and locational terms, the growth points for economic 
change and development already exist and need to 
be spotlighted and supported.  Also to identify those 
areas of the corridor that particularly lend themselves 
for reasons of location and assets to the establishment 
of new strands of economic life.  Without this these 
economic challenges will not take place or have the 
favourable supportive conditions they need to nurture 
and develop the necessary new economic activity, 
which is constantly under competitive pressure from 
elsewhere.  

Somerdale has the chance to bring new significance to 
the river and enhance its value in doing so. 

Page 107



9012. DRIVERS OF ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT
SM

Page 108



91

Within Bath, many sites and buildings have uses 
focussed substantially around the City’s role as a visitor 
venue, heritage sites, public parks, museums, cafes, 
restaurants and hotels.  As the River Corridor within 
the City is regenerated it can add new dimensions 
to that visitor economy, new attractions that build 
on the cultural capital that the City already enjoys, 
but add something new.  It can be new heritage 
attractions, galleries, festival venues, public open 
spaces, education, social or accommodation offers 
and we need to identify where those offers can be 
most distinctive and valuable.  This is where opening 
up the river to established but neglected aspects of 
the city’s existing cultural capital is so important, such 
AS฀LINKAGES฀WITH฀2OYAL฀6ICTORIA฀0ARK�฀.ORFOLK฀#RESCENT�฀
Green Park etc and the re-connection with parts of the 
City and its history (especially its industrial history) long 
isolated from the regular tourist trail.   

Looking back it is extraordinary to see just how much 
wholly new social and cultural identity has been 
achieved within the Bristol Docks or London’s South 
Bank within the last four decades, that simply did not 
exist at the start.  In Bristol, the Arnolfini, @ Bristol, The 
SS Great Britain complex, the Dockside Museum and a 
host of refreshment venues.   

12. DRIVERS OF ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

On the South Bank, Tate Modern, The Globe, new 
museums and a string of cultural venues now of 
international importance.  Is there any reason why, in 
its own special way, Bath’s River Corridor regeneration 
should be any less significant, conceiving and delivering 
those venues and activities that can grow naturally out 
of its existing strengths, tapping into aspects of historic 
life that have so far gone unrecognised, creating the 
alternative cultural scene so far lacking?   

In this context, Keynsham has an opportunity to 
stake out a position for itself as a distinctive outpost 
of Bath and Bristol’s visitor economy.  Somerdale 
and the attractive riverside between it and the Avon 
6ALLEY฀#OUNTRY฀0ARK฀UPSTREAM�฀COULD฀ALL฀BE฀USED฀TO฀PUT฀
Keynsham on the map for the first time as a place with 
a visitor economy.  It has environmental assets and the 
history to do so amidst stunning riverside and valley 
SCENERY฀AND�฀WITHIN฀!VON฀6ALLEY฀0ARK�฀THE฀ENTERPRISE฀
and experience in doing this and making it work.  There 
is also, along this stretch of the river much established 
expertise in boat building and boating management.  

Cultural and Social Identity; Expanding the Visitor Offer

ENPage 109



92

EN

EN

The Sports Economy

Bath has already established itself well as a centre 
of sporting excellence, evident in the support for 
Bath Rugby and the strength of sports training and 
management within฀THE฀5NIVERSITY�S฀OFFER�฀฀4HESE฀
are real achievements that already strongly define 
aspects of the City’s culture and around which the 
further deepening and broadening of economic life 
can be expected and should be planned for.  The River 
Corridor regeneration throughout the District provides 
the opportunity to create new facilities for sports at 
both a popular and competitive level, in cycling and 
running trails for instance, but most immediately and 
tangibly in opening up the central river for water based 
activity, team rowing, sculling, and canoeing.   

Within the District, there are already two well 
established and historically significant rowing clubs, 
The Minerva, based beside the Boathouse Public 
(OUSE฀AT฀.EWBRIDGE฀AND฀THE฀"RISTOL฀5NIVERSITY฀#LUB฀
based at Saltford .  Both have aspirations to expand 
their facilities – The Minerva has an exceptional 3 km. 
of excellent river between Newbridge and Saltford 
WHICH฀IS฀USED฀BY฀"ATH฀5NIVERSITY�S฀ROWING฀CLUB�฀
but Minerva would very much welcome having  a 
presence within the City Centre too.   This would then 
immediately show water based exercise and sport to be 
a far more visible and available activity.  It would serve 
their objectives of making the sport available to people 
of all kinds and all ages, (being one of the few sports 
that have competitive classes for octogenarians).   It 
would at a stroke give the river the visible activity it so 
much needs.   

Around that sense of activity, new commercial 
opportunities, such as cafes and restaurants open up 
and new character is built.   The facilities for opening 
up boating activity on the river are: 

s฀LAND฀TO฀OPERATE฀FROM�฀

s฀A฀PONTOON฀TO฀STORE฀BOATS฀

s฀MINIMUM฀ESSENTIAL฀LAND฀BASED฀FACILITIES฀FOR฀CHANGING�฀
   W.C’s etc, boat storage.  

These could be provided on some of the existing 
Council-owned public open space, such as Green 
Park or on the SWRDA-owned land that lies within the 
Newark Works Site.  Both such locations would be 
highly visible and transformational in their regenerative 
effects.  Such city central facilities would be attractive 
to the City’s many schools and might in time stimulate a 
much stronger competitive rowing base for the City, as 
A฀FURTHER฀DIMENSION฀OF฀ITS฀5NIVERSITY฀SPORTING฀PROWESS�฀฀฀
Is it any accident that Oxford and Cambridge created 
the National Sporting event of The Boat Race? 

Bath Boating Station has provided boats for hire for 
over 100 years, and remains popular although a partly 
hidden asset of the City.  There are opportunities to 
open up boating for hire elsewhere, as part of the 
rediscovery of environmental quality and attractiveness 
of the rivers rural stretches, essential to helping people 
re-value the river corridor all are so keen to regenerate. 

Page 110



93

University Led Economic Renewal 

Within the economic enterprise model that lies 
behind the establishment of Local Enterprise 
Partnerships by the Coalition Government, the role 
OF฀THE฀5NIVERSITIES฀IS฀PARAMOUNT�฀฀4HE฀MODEL฀RELIES฀
ON฀5NIVERSITIES฀TO฀RESEARCH฀AND฀INNOVATE�฀ROLL฀OUT฀NEW฀
business opportunities and provide the graduates 
to service them to be players in the global economy.  
"ATH�S฀5NIVERSITY฀AT฀#LAVERTON฀$OWN฀HAS฀RISEN฀TO฀A฀
POSITION฀WITHIN฀THE฀4OP฀��฀IN฀THE฀5+฀WITHIN฀��฀YEARS฀
and is directly represented on the Board of the West 
of England Local Enterprise Partnership (the only 
REGIONAL฀UNIVERSITY฀TO฀BE฀SO	�฀฀"ATH฀3PA฀5NIVERSITY฀HAS฀
an established reputation in training in education, a 
position it can use to service and support many strands 
of the District’s new economy which revolve around the 
transfer and handling of knowledge.  

"ATH�S฀5NIVERSITY฀HAS฀LONG฀SOUGHT฀TO฀ESTABLISH฀A฀
stronger presence within the City and its Enterprise 
Centre in Carpenter House (opposite Churchill Bridge) 
has proved remarkably successful in a short space 
of time in supporting roll out companies.  This is 
undoubtedly an important and now well established 
growth point for change and the Regeneration Plan 
the centre’s need for expansion space need to be 
recognised within its immediate context and beyond. 

Its existing presence needs to be celebrated and made 
more visible (as we described in our Delivery Plan), but 
there are synergies between what it does and some 
of the businesses in the well established, but equally 
uncelebrated office quarter along Lower Bristol Road, 
such as the pioneering work of international engineers 
Buro Happold.  Handled well, these synergies and 
strengths can be used to build a regeneration that is 
very much more than the sum of its parts.  

The sort of companies that are being nurtured and 
launched at the Innovation Centre often need tenure 
models and facilities that the conventional investment 
led commercial property world does not provide and 

which the more enterprising workspace model of 
Bristol’s Paintworks does admirably.  Not all the space 
needs of such businesses will be conventional offices, 
some will need R&D space that does not lend itself to 
multi-storey buildings, for which some spatial provision 
may need to be made in the City’s newer business park 
areas such as along the riverside at Newbridge.  The 
POINT฀IS฀THAT฀IF฀THE฀5NIVERSITY฀IS฀TO฀BE฀SEEN฀AS฀BEING฀A฀
long-term primary driver of our future economy, the 
workspace and facilities needs that will most ideally 
suit that development over two or three decades need 
to be recognised and safeguarded simply because 
we all want and need it to be successful.  We need 
to remember, if Bath aspires to have the World 
STATUS฀OF฀THE฀5NIVERSITIES฀OF฀/XFORD฀AND฀#AMBRIDGE�฀
the quality of the environments in which study and 
innovation are done are really important, demanding 
qualities of riverscape, landscape, public open space, 
connectability, cultural and social life that have to be 
brought to these areas.  

The new employment expectations of the Somerdale 
site also create opportunities of their own – potentially 
ATTRACTIVE฀TO฀A฀PRESENCE฀FROM฀THE฀5NIVERSITIES�฀RELIEVING฀
them of some of their present pressures of space (in 
areas tightly constrained by Greenbelt designation), 
perhaps, too, opening up areas of study in new 
knowledge and applied skill.  

/UR฀RELATIONSHIP฀WITH฀THE฀5NIVERSITIES฀IS฀A฀TWO
WAY฀
phenomenon; we are as entitled to tell them the 
knowledge sets we believe we as a society and our 
own regional economy need, as they are to tell us what 
facilities and support they need to prosper.  But we 
CANNOT฀ASSUME฀THAT฀THE฀5NIVERSITIES฀AND฀%DUCATORS฀
will become workspace managers, that is a role for the 
Council as policy makers in collaboration with business 
and the development investment industry.  

Page 111



94

Creativity and Consultancy 

It is well known and well researched that Bath and 
District have a multitude of businesses in the creative 
and design sector, many very small in size, lacking 
adequate premises or the opportunity to agglomerate 
their services to create the wider identity for Bath as 
the Centre of Creatives the City needs to capitalise on 
its heritage and cultural life.  The Creative Sector, like 
all others, is locationally competitive and those sectors 
of the population that meet the premises and tenure 
needs of a creative workforce will inevitably thrive to 
the disadvantage of those that do not. 
 
The skills the Creatives bring – in design, graphics, 
publishing and media etc are increasingly essential 
to all businesses.  But Bath has found it difficult to 
meet these needs in spatial terms and because the 
economics of workspace development have not 
historically worked in the City and the cheap space that 
might be available invariably gets lost to housing or 
higher value uses.  

The Western River Corridor in Bath does create 
lower land value opportunities, but even here the 
merits of this kind of flexible workspace need to be 
trumpeted within the Regeneration  Model so that the 
opportunities provided are not lost as values rise.  But, 
equally important, is the need to bring identity and 
character to allow such creative focussed workspace 
and venues to thrive and be seen as of alternative 
character involving conversion more than new build, 
having the spark of creative ingenuity that such 
schemes can bring.   

How valuable it would be to ally this need with the 
opportunity of helping previously undervalued parts of 
the City to come to life once more.  Such opportunities 
clearly exist in the riverside sites which connect 
Twerton to the River and could do so at Western Island 
or, closer to the City as part of the regeneration of the 
present Sainsbury’s site.  

This also offers tantalising possibilities for Keynsham 
and Somerdale where the closer proximity to Bristol 
would enable such businesses to balance out their 
accessibility to both Bristol and the Bath markets and 
where, within the existing Somerdale buildings, great 
space is waiting to be transformed and brought new 
character without land value considerations necessarily 
getting so much in the way.  The evidence of schemes 
like Bristol’s Paintworks is that where Creatives are 
helped by clustering together, the virtues of proximity 
mean that the businesses thrive and the low start up 
rents such businesses need, grow, as such businesses 
favour flexibility, versatility, creative companionship and 
proximity to support services and markets more highly.  

Over the last few decades Bath has steadily been 
building a reputation for design creativity too in the built 
environment, including its major engineering employer, 
Buro Happold and an unusual number of architects, 
built environment consultancies and design firms, 
some of which have an international reputation and 
clientele.  Where this occurs the tendency is for those 

skills to consolidate and influence the output of higher 
and further education establishments whilst developing 
exploratory and experimental dimensions to the work 
which take them into new realms of economic life.  

In the end, the actual accommodation and tenure 
models that best service the growth and development 
of these companies and the housing offers their 
workforce need, all merit consideration in ensuring the 
patterns of land use and deliverability models employed 
within the corridor regeneration are those that service 
such economic growth.  

EN

Page 112



95

Healthy Urban Living

Bath has always had significance as a place of healing, 
of good health and pleasure.  From the discovery of the 
medicinal waters by King Bladud, the extensive Roman, 
the society diversions of the 18th century the great 
urban hotels of the Edwardian era and the international 
tourists of today, these themes have continued.  So 
there are many ways in which a city of Bath’s status 
and its region can further develop this aspect of its 
identity and its economy if it chooses to do so;  

s฀)T฀STARTS฀AS฀AN฀ILLUSTRATION฀OF฀THE฀BUILT฀ENVIRONMENT฀
unusually in harmony with its natural setting.

s฀)T฀IS฀VISITED฀BY฀MILLIONS฀OF฀PEOPLE฀COMING฀TO฀REFRESH฀
and renew themselves on holiday, open to new ideas, 
new experiences; in arts and culture and in food. 

s฀7ITH฀A฀STRONG฀REPUTATION฀IN฀INTERNATIONAL฀SPORT�฀IT฀CAN฀
build an offer to visitors and residents around fitness, 
physical health and wholeness.

An improved river walking and cycling route, the two 
tunnels project, the K & A canal, new boating and 
rowing opportunities on the river, new dimensions to 
the water spa, offers can all be built with these in mind. 

The city can use its reputation as a place of relaxation, 
healing and wholeness and harmony to show how 
urban living can achieve a new sense of balance with 
the natural world of its hinterland and its role in the 
supply of food resources in accountable ways.  A 
compact city whose boundaries with its landscape 
setting are visible, if such a balance of supply and 
demand can be demonstrated in the quality of local 
food in the markets and restaurants it sends powerful 
messages to many visitors. 

Bath and its hinterland have attracted many new 
residents in their retirement years.  The cultural and 
social life of the region is particularly strong on this 
account.  But a good spread of demographic is 
maintained by a high student population too.  With the 
population demographic changing to attract an older 
bias, there is scope to develop aspects of the region’s 
economy account around offering healthy lifestyles, 
social and cultural and educational life for older people 
for whom the mobility of the compact city and its 
geographic convenience are already strong attractions.  

EN

Page 113



96

Servicing the Settlements 

In exploring how the regeneration needs and 
opportunities along the river might best unfold it is 
easy to forget that along the corridor there are already 
centres of historical settlement, many of which once 
had a stronger economic relationship with the river than 
they do now.   

Bathford once had its own rowing club and in the 
early 20th century at Bathwick, around the Boating 
Station, had a very strong swimming Lido facility.  
Twerton’s riverfront once featured mills on a massive 
scale.  The riverside regeneration here could do much 
to make more sense of the linkages beneath the 
railway viaduct and make Twerton village feel it has a 
meaningful relationship with its river once more.  At 
Keynsham on the Broadmead Peninsula, the massive 
buildings of the Polysuphine Works would once have 
been a major centre of economic life.  Downstream, 

Keynsham’s magnificent weir and island all feel 
strangely disconnected from a town that greatly needs 
to capitalise on such assets.  

So, the more economic activity can be brought to the 
river, the more appropriate and well considered re-
use, and re-development occurs along the riverbanks, 
the more effective is the connectability and diverse 
transportation modes, the more each of the established 
settlements along the river can celebrate that 
relationship and thrive on the particular identity and 
economic activity a riverside location brings.   In some 
cases there is the opportunity to effectively extend the 
DISTRICT฀CENTRES฀OF฀SUCH฀5RBAN฀6ILLAGES฀RIGHT฀DOWN฀TO฀
the river itself, so they no longer turn their backs on 
the river and see its life and activities as an essential 
ingredient in what they are.  

OP JW

Page 114



97

A River Based Waste Management Model 

Over the last decade the aggregation and treatment of 
domestic, industrial and commercial waste has become 
a major issue for society and a significant economic 
activity in itself.  The rapid development of separated 
recycling streams for the collection of domestic waste 
and the sophistication of recycling options at municipal 
waste sites all demonstrate how the business models 
needed to handle and recycle materials produced 
by a consumers society have come into place.  It is 
becoming increasingly clear that as some mineral 
resources become in global short supply and subject to 
increasing competitive pressures, we will increasingly 
have to see re-use, recycling, re-manufacture as the 
primary source of base materials and develop the skills 
and the economy that can service this need.   Every 
settlement and region will need to embrace this ability, 
this economy and these businesses and we believe 
the West of England LEP is particularly well placed to 
do this with the economic regeneration of Keynsham 
having a particular role to play midway between Bath 
and Bristol, with direct access to the river as a conduit 
between the two and extending beyond Bristol to 
relevant facilities and the global port at Avonmouth.   

Within this concept waste streams collected at Bath 
would travel the river to Keynsham where already two 
recycling businesses have their premises, The Severn 
Waste Recycling Company and Mead at Broadmead 
Lane.  The Council itself has reserved land at 
Broadmead Lane for a future waste rendering site and 
the sewage treatment plant beside this land represents 
the final collection point for sewage treatment from 
Bath for the sludge pumping operation and final 
discharge at Avonmouth.  

This coincidence of facilities and commercial 
operations is very significant and we suggest, handled 
in a planned way, could be turned into an economic 
strength for the District, making new models and 

setting new standards for the treatment of waste and 
the multitude of new economic activity in research 
and consultancy which will increasingly grow from it.   
Waste recycling requires a host of specialist firms with 
particular expertise in handling the individual materials 
that come out the material of waste stream and 
providing consultancy advice and experience on waste 
minimisation and management.  This includes: 

s฀#ONSULTANCY฀FOR฀WASTE฀MINIMISATION฀AND฀DESIGNING฀
products systems, buildings and infrastructure for 
maximum recyclability. 

s฀)DENTIFYING฀AND฀TRACKING฀FUTURE฀WASTE฀STREAMS�฀

s฀#OMMERCIAL฀OPERATIONS฀TO฀COLLECT�฀SORT฀AND฀DIRECT฀
waste materials for re-use and re-rendering.

s฀!RCHITECTURAL฀AND฀CONSUMER฀GOODS฀RECYCLING�฀
specialists operations and brokerages in rendering and 
returning materials to manufacturing streams. 

s฀&INAL฀RENDERING฀OPERATIONS฀TO฀RETURN฀MATERIALS฀TO฀
organic recycling. 

It is apparent how much more sophisticated knowledge 
and practice in these areas have become in recent 
years and the coincidences already in place at 
Keynsham could make this one of the themes of the 
new business employment that the Somerdale reuse 
plan demands.  There are also possibilities to develop 
and mature business clusters around these skills in 
the former soap works buildings at Broadmead.   In 
time, sewage waste collected here could be part of 
this, whether for energy creation or organic reuse.  Its 
possibilities are expanded on in the paper included 
at Appendix (i) by Group member James Hurley and 
others as one of our study subgroups.

Page 115



98

EN

Page 116



99

The Rural River Economy

A key goal of the District’s river regeneration is 
achieving tangible economically significant activity 
on the river.  By definition, activity on the river cannot 
happen only in the settlements of Bath, Saltford 
and Keynsham.  The significance of the river is as 
a catchment and as a conduit and geographically, 
a defining feature of our environment.  Practically, 
and in economic terms there are future relationships 
between the built settlements and their upstream and 
downstream catchments that cannot be ignored.  We 
have highlighted how achieving the optimum utilisation 
of city centre sites in Bath and other prospective 
development sites around Keynsham may depend 
on adopting more absorbent landscape approaches 
to land management upstream of these areas.  Such 
an approach would bring new streams of economic 
activity of its own which, handled well, will produce a 
stronger rural and agricultural economy than we have 
now.  

New boating activity will contribute to perception 
change and take Bath and its river hinterland to another 
level in its visitor offer, and create new transportation 
based streams of economic life which all need to flow 
between country and town and will need many layers 
of economic activity;  boat building, servicing, river 
management and infrastructure that require a range 
of supporting facilities, some of which can only be 
provided on lower value rural sites.   

The quality of the rural landscapes, both upstream 
and downstream of Bath are significant assets for 
visitors and residents and it is evident how in the last 
two decades the restoration of the Kennet and Avon 
Canal, the opening of the Bath/Bristol cycleway and 
now the opening of the Two Tunnels cycleway are all 
evidence of how such assets have begun to contribute 
to our quality of life and the economy.  Through 
narrowboating, cycling, accommodation and all the 
facilities visitors and day users need – and added 
benefits to our quality of life and health.

There is more of this to come and we should embrace 
it as a way of celebrating the quality of landscapes 
that at the moment few have access to.  Existing, well 
ESTABLISHED฀ENTERPRISES฀SUCH฀AS฀THE฀!VON฀6ALLEY฀#OUNTRY฀
Park and the Limpley Stoke Marina have shown how 
these assets can be put to good and effective use, in 
ways that educate, provide leisure experiences and 
that enhance bio- diversity and connect people with the 
world around them.  

The Future Economy of Keynsham

Throughout this report we have highlighted the needs 
and opportunities Keynsham presents to grow in 
strength around the enhanced social, cultural and 
economic identity strengthening its relationship with 
the river can bring.  We are concerned that present 
regeneration plans concentrate so much on the town 
centre and whilst they feature Somerdale strongly as 
a land use opportunity, what is currently missing is 
the economic, social and cultural identity needed to 
achieve transformational change. .  Keynsham sits 
mid-way between Bath and Bristol and we believe 
the ability of businesses to serve both markets from 
a Keynsham base is a strong asset coupled with the 
amenities a compact town centre, good schools, good 
transportation links and a good housing offer. 

We believe it will come to be seen that there are 
synergies of interest between the regeneration needs 
of Bath and those of Keynsham, in terms of what each 
is best able to do; so important do we believe it is to 
focus on the particular role Keynsham can play within 
the District’s economy in the coming years that, at our 
!PPENDIX฀I�฀WE฀HAVE฀INCLUDED฀A฀COMPREHENSIVE฀6ISION฀
Statement for Keynsham’s riverside sites linking the 
!VON฀6ALLEY฀#OUNTRY฀0ARK฀RIGHT฀THROUGH฀TO฀3OMERDALE�฀
reflecting a number of the themes within this section 
of this report that has been developed  by one of our 
specialist sub-groups.  

This presents a vision of how a re-enerised river 
economy might look through several linked strands of 
activity need and opportunity.

OP OP

Page 117



10013. WHAT A NEW RIVER FOCUSED ECONOMY CAN DO FOR US
JD

Page 118



101

In this report we have set out to illustrate just how 
different and active a strong river focused economy 
could be; where what happens on the river and along 
its banks are as important in our perceptions of the 
District, as what happens within the heart of Bath or in 
Keynsham now.   

By definition the economies are multi-stranded 
and involve complex networks of millions of daily 
interactions, individual considerations of value and cost 
around the ingredients that new economic life might 
be built from.  We can take the necessary steps to 
ensure that each of those essential layers, the sort of 
things that in an historic town or city are built up over 
centuries are carefully laid down and stitched back into 
the living fabric of the city, town and country.   

It is a big task, but if we can take ourselves back to 
what has been achieved in half a century of London’s 
South Bank or Bristol’s Harbourside, we know what 
can be achieved.  When we stop to consider, we 
have the many advantages of an established tourist 
economy and a District with many other established 
economic strengths, and if we look at this challenge 
with an historian’s eye, we can see how each wave of 
investment and developmental change has influenced 
and created places that we now value, their visual 
richness and the integration of a manmade with natural 
geography, the diverse cultural and social life that has 
been spawned.  

Embracing the new river centred phase of the District’s 
life, requires the same steady and far-sighted building 
up of each of these strands of value, social, cultural, 
economic and environmental, keeping the balance, 
creating new points of character, identity and purpose 
so that, maybe, three decades hence, residents or 
visitors alike will look back and wonder how things 
could ever have been different. 

13. WHAT A NEW RIVER FOCUSED ECONOMY CAN DO FOR US

Page 119



102

ENGAGEMENT

 - The Residents of the District

 - Local Politicans

 - Local Governance & Environmental Management 

 - Special Interest Groups

 - Statuary Consultees & Regulatory Bodies

 - The Landowners

 - The Regional & Local Business Community

 - Building a New Economy

PERCEPTION CHANGING

THE REGENERATION MODEL

SETTING STRATEGY GOALS

THE WATERWAY 

MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE

14. A PROGRAMME FOR DELIVERY
|G

Page 120



103

Taking the first steps towards regeneration delivery 
goals is never easy.  It involves aligning the interest of 
views of a multitude of agencies, each of which begin 
with their own agendas and responsibilities.   It involves 
engaging with many drivers of change potential, but 
initial conflicts of interest having to be aired and clear 
common goals formulated.   

But because regenerating the river has been a such 
a difficult challenge to grasp, it needs, at the outset, 
a series of simple actions that help all concerned see 
that change is possible and that positive change is 
accumulative, i.e. that one thing will naturally lead to 
another and that momentum can be built around not 
only the vision that lies in front, but what to do to get 
there.   

So, our programme for delivery focuses first on the 
perception changes, the easy wins, those things that 
the agencies involved, and principally the Council, can 
initiate without raising significant issues of policy, things 
that are sensible and timely to do at minimum cost and 
show where primary infrastructure costs could fall to 
private rather than public sector.

There are 22 such items on our list.

Next we highlight the importance of engaging with 
a wide range of interested parties whose existing 
perceptions of the river and its potential needs to be 
challenged and developed alongside their working out 
of the responsibilities or room for influence and action.  
Through these layers of necessary engagement, we 
believe the River Regeneration objective can become 
their objective too.  

Next, we list several future actions, relevant leads, 
fundamental strategic goals and policy objectives that 
need to be explored, subjected to public consultation 
and tested, around which many areas of policy 
involving many of the Council’s departments need 
integration with other agencies.

14. A PROGRAMME FOR DELIVERY

Lastly, we identify how each of these stages – 
engagement, perception changing and policy 
formulation needs to be reflected in a comprehensive 
Regeneration Model that describes what needs to be 
achieved – in 2 years, 5 years, 10 years, 15 years – how 
it will happen, how necessary expenditure might be 
funded and what the consequential benefits will be.   

This will need to be a fully consulted and adopted 

Regeneration Strategy to carry sufficient weight in 
Executive and Planning teams, but it is a tool less about 

specific land use, more about achieving strategic goals, 
connections, economic relationships; creating the fertile 

ground in which the right things can and will happen.

 
This first Report of the River Corridor Group sets the 
scene for the kind of long term project a New Economy 
River Corridor Regeneration could be and begins to 
indicate how it can both be planned for and unfold 
through incentivisation.

But neither of those things will happen without the 
project first being understood, recognised and valued 
by a host of relevant interests whose engagement, 
enthusiasm and critical contributions will all be 
necessary to secure the best of outcomes in the longer 
term.

Page 121



104

STAGE A - ENGAGEMENT

Although the decline and redundancy of the urban 
aspects of much of the River Corridor have been 
evident for over three decades and their need 
and opportunity flagged up in the current Core 
Strategy planning framework round, this Report is 
the first document that attempts to illustrate how 
comprehensive and significant a River lead economic, 
environmental, social and cultural renaissance could 
be.  Each of the Groups relevant to that task going 
forward needs to be engaged with these ideas over a 
period of months so that the scope and ambitions can 
be developed as a true Regeneration Delivery Model 
that is realistic and credible at all necessary levels.  
These groups include; 

s฀4HE฀RESIDENTS฀OF฀THE฀$ISTRICT

s฀,OCAL฀POLITICIANS

s฀,OCAL฀GOVERNANCES

s฀3TATUTORY฀#ONSULTEES฀AND฀2EGULATORY฀"ODIES

s฀3PECIAL฀)NTEREST฀'ROUPS฀OF฀MANY฀KINDS

s฀4HE฀-AJOR฀,ANDOWNERS

s฀4HE฀REGIONAL฀AND฀LOCAL฀BUSINESS฀COMMUNITY฀

The focus of the New Economy who can see how the 
Regeneration Opportunity can be made viable through 
their ambitions.

The Residents of the District
The Report is a conceptual model, in effect a 
Regeneration Model for how ‘new life value’ can be 
created along the district’s river.  But it is one that 
needs to be explained and tested through sharing 
and discussion with the district’s population, among 
whom, concern about the river, particularly within Bath 
has been evident for a long time.  The difficulties in 
progressing change, particularly in Bath, inevitably 
breed scepticism at what can be achieved, how and at 
what cost. In writing this report we have been at pains 
to show how progressive incremental change can, and 
in fact here, needs to happen.  

We believe there is a psychology to how change is 
managed which first requires historical understanding, 
then recognition of how change can occur through 
changes in perception and value.  We believe all along 
the river, but in Bath and Keynsham in particular, part of 
the present problem is that the areas actual industrial 
and river economy history is not widely understood 
and appreciated and in fact not embraced strongly 
enough within the role Bath plays on the national stage 
AS฀A฀7ORLD฀(ERITAGE฀#ITY�฀฀5NTIL฀THAT฀INDUSTRIAL฀ERA฀OF฀
history is recognised, trumpetted and celebrated, we 
cannot move on.  This has certainly been the lesson of 
heritage-led regeneration planning elsewhere in recent 
decades. 

So, we believe the first task needs to be to create a 
public exhibition, ideally one lasting for up to a month 
or even a summer season; ideally located at a venue 
recognising the river and regeneration focussed. The 

exhibition will focus on the evolutionary history of our 
river, its industries past, its transportation infrastructure 
and how this impinged on social and cultural life of 
the district’s population.    The transformational role 
for such an exhibition needs to be recognised by 
giving it a strong cultural and arts dimension as well, in 
which artistic activity, large scale historic images and 
associated musical and literal events can all play their 
part making the event itself part of our folk culture and 
not something only of interest to historians.  It needs to 
be well publicised, supported by speaker and art based 
events throughout the City. 

Associated with and following this we believe there 
could, and should be other events aimed at engaging 
other dimensions of the public audience, such as 
through organisations like BPT and Community Groups, 
making the history relevant to individual communities, 
out of which particular champions for the bigger project 
ahead can emerge.  This is a project that needs to be 
able to engage with residents at all sorts of levels and 
that can only happen by making them feel they have a 
stake in the way the project will unfold.  

Local Politicians 
B&NES has recently undergone a change in political 
leadership, but the issues the District has to address 
in the coming years remain the same.  The way those 
issues are addrssed inevitably have to be reviewed 
against the economic challenges and changes of 
today, such as reduced government expediture, our 
place within the Local Enterprise Partnership and the 
neighbourhood planning agenda.  All of this is giving 
local politicians a different set of tools, constraints and 
opportunities to work within.  Of particular importance 
WITHIN฀THE฀$ISTRICT฀IS฀TO฀GENERATE฀THE฀6ISION฀THAT฀IS฀ABLE฀
to show the interdependence of both the urban centres 
OF฀"ATH�฀+EYNSHAM฀AND฀THE฀3OMER฀6ALLEY฀TOWNS฀AND฀
the rural areas.  This is something that the river project 
can make a significant contribution to.  To this end 
we have sought particularly to show how incremental 
change can take place that benefits as many people 
as possible and in as many communities as possible, 
in ways that are realistic, not over-dependant on 
government subsidy or district budgets, able to engage 
individuals and emergent business very effectively.  
There is so much in the river project that can give all the 
District’s residents things to celebrate and be positive 
about.  

Real regeneration happens when the forces for 
change are engaged and spurred on consciously and 
subconsciously by common goals.  

Page 122



105

Green Infrastructure Group

Local Governance and Environmental Management
Within a Local Authority district such as B&NES, 
change management is administered through 
departmental structures such as Planning, Economic 
Development, Tourism, Education etc. in response both 
to political direction and statutory responsibilities and 
duties.  If the Group’s advice does win political support 
and encouragement, as we believe it will, it is necessary 
for the development and execution plan to engage 
with the operational side of the Council’s work at many 
levels.  Each department will have to work through 
its ambitions and turn them into tangible, operational 
policies led by the executive machine the Council’s 
political leadership, Chief Executive and department 
heads.  The Council has various co-ordinating bodies 
to whom the proposals will need to be presented, such 
as the Gateway Group, the Green Infrastructure Group 
AND฀THROUGH฀THE฀OVERALL฀ADVISORY฀GUIDANCE฀OF฀THE฀5RBAN฀
Regeneration Panel.  Part of the role of the River Group, 
which is independent and advisory to the Council is 
to be able to report to the political leadership on how 
achieving these objectives is fairing over time through 
the bi-annual reports we are charged with producing.  

Statutory Consultees and Regulartory Bodies
Although the Group advise the Council, the changes 
in status and value we are outlining for the River 
will inevitably engage the statutory and regulatory 
responsibilities of many statutory consultees and 
organisations with real executive responsibilities which 
need to be acknowledged and understood.  These 
include organisations such as the Environment Agency, 
British Waterways, Natural England, English Heritage, 
Wessex Water and many more.  For these bodies to 
BE฀ABLE฀TO฀ENGAGE฀WITH฀THE฀6ISION฀PRESENTED฀HERE�฀
MANY฀ASPECTS฀OF฀THE฀6ISION฀WILL฀NEED฀TO฀BE฀SUBJECT฀
to formal consultation, in which the views of these 
bodies will be paramount before any regeneration 
model can be suitably politically endorsed as a clearly 
defined strategy and one to which these bodies can 
be expected and then required to apply effort towards 
delivery.   

Many of these bodies will require specialist and in-
depth work to be done to help them assess the true 
impact of these proposals against their statutory 
obligations, particularly where matters as important as 
flood risk, water quality, environmental management are 
concerned.  The Council will need to use their position 
to create the environment in which pre-consultation and 
consultation discussions can take place, placing these 
opportunities and challenges within the wider national 
and international regulatory frameworks within which 
these bodies operate.  Existing interfaces such as the 
Council’s Green Infrastructure Group already create the 
meeting point for some of these discussions to begin.  

Special Interest Groups 
Within the District there exist many special interest 
groups whose objectives are already aligned to some 
of those inherent in the message of the Group’s Report.  
These include bodies like the Bath Preservation Trust, 
and the World Heritage Site Consultation Committee 
charged with guardianship of heritage and its future 
prospects of management.  There are others such as 
the Bath Renewables Group and Transition Bath whose 
focus is on contributing to the emergence of patterns of 
economic life and living that are impact accountable in 
environmental terms.  Part of our role in the Group is to 
engage individually with such organisations, create as 
much synergy of understanding and purpose as we can 
so that the River Project is genuinely something that is 
able to respond to these interests and concerns and 
use the energy, goodwill and talents of those involved 
to bring it about. Accessing these interests is probably 
best done through the personal involvements focussed 
around an exhibition and events to allow engagement 
and an exchange of views.  

The Landowners
The ideas within the Group’s Report will, if taken up, 
lead in time to developmental and land use change on 
sites along the River Corridor, affecting the interests 
and opportunities for Landowners.  The Council own 
a number of critical sites, such as the Avon Street Car 
Park and Newark Works on the Lower Bristol Road 
whose future uses can be aligned to the ambitions 
of the River Project; other sites already in the hands 
of private and corporate developers with commercial 
investment or housing projects in progress or in mind.   
Others are sites in transition where past uses have 
come to an end and a new future is awaited.   In many 
of these, the present context of the sites is too low in 
status and certainty to allow reinvestment decisions to 
be made without a stronger clarity and endorsement 
of the future direction of the River Corridor through 
the picture a Regeneration Model and elements of 
Masterplanning would create.  Such exercises will be 
necessary to create confidence in the way forward and 
also to set in place the structure of planning briefs, and 
planning obligations that will allow some of the more 
important infrastructure provisions such as improved 
walkways and improved linkages to be legitimate 
demands of developers and landowners in planning 
terms.  

All of this has to wait the development of a 
Regeneration Model and adopted planning strategy; 
our task at the moment is to demonstrate how 
synergies of interest can be created among landowners 
consistant with the ambitions and ideas of the report 
that will create the wider value framework that lie at the 
heart of our message.  Important to this message is 
that it is not only those sites directly fronting the river 

Page 123



106

that will be affected by the scenarios we have outlined; 
if we can work towards the enhanced river environment, 
enhanced through social, cultural, economic and 
environmental improvement, it will affect and open up 
new regeneration prospects well beyond those sites 
that have river frontage. 

In its western reaches, the river borders South 
Gloucestershire Council for several miles so 
engagement is needed here too. 

It is for this reason that it is important that what 
is ultimately achieved along the river is not only 
continuous development but that the quality of 
pedestrian/cycleways, the generosity of access 
between road and riverside levels, the presence of 
open space and trees are all factored in, so that these 
are things that contribute to the identity and character 
and value of areas well beyond the river too.  For these 
ambitions to have weight, rapid acceptance of the 
principles through the over-arching planning process 
is needed and a strong message from the Council that 
all riverside proposals and planning applications will 
be assessed for the contribution their designs and 
uses would make the wider regeneration ambitions.  At 
the same time, we believe the Group and the support 
for its ideas with the Council and the advisory bodies 
can be used to steer the pattern of regeneration and 
redevelopment, including the agglomeration of site 
interests in the direction it is most likely to deliver the 
ambitions.  

The Regional and Local Business Community
Withn the B&NES area the Regional and Local Business 
Community is not identified as strongly as an influential 
body as in other aeras such as Bristol.  The emergence 
of the West of England Local Enterprise Partnership 
DOES฀GIVE฀"ATH�฀+EYNSHAM฀AND฀THE฀3OMER฀6ALLEY฀TOWNS฀
the opportunity to have a clearer and a stronger voice 
within a wider business region, but to have this voice 
they need to know what they have to say together 
and how their skills and interests fit within that larger 
picture.  

We have outlined how the River Corridor regeneration 
can create a growth and business development 
opportunity across several strands of economic life.  
Our task here is to engage with local business and 
show how the future of the riverside can be one of the 
bridges between the skills, knowledge and interests 
of local business and the wider regional business 
identity and the LEP.  We can do this by engaging 
with local business through established organisations, 
having a business to business event within the River 
Project Exhibition, keeping the river’s challenges and 
opportuntities in the spotlight in the regular seminars 
and events that take place.  

The positive message of the River Project can be 
used as a promotional sponsorship opportunities for 
particular businesses and as the strategy takes effect 
the strength of the riverside site opportunity can be 
used to draw new employment to the District.   The 
corridor is an employment growth area, but much of 
that employment will need to be serviced from the 
settlements beyond Bath or have direct economic 
relationships with them.  It is only if  the quality of the 
environment that can be created is high that the river 
corridor can be used as one of the lead economic 
regeneration dimensions of this challenge. 

Building a new economy

We need to focus our efforts particularly on the 
engagement with those areas of ecnomic life that are 
emergent or on the rise for which we need a particular 
shop front within the opportunities the river corridor 
regeneration offers.  This is the economic activity 
that is already trying to grow, as part of the new wave 
of economic life that periodically passes through all 
settlements as their skills and spatial opportunities 
coincide.  So we need to engage with each of the 
employment growth sectors, explore how their interests 
can be aligned with the opportunities of the River 
Regeneration Model. 
 

Once this report has been fully circulated and digested 
by all the parties concerned, we believe it is desirable 
to set a timetable for these actions and develop them 
into a more fully expressed River Corridor economy 
regeneration plan.   

Page 124



107

STAGE B - PERCEPTION CHANGING

• Remove the barriers of hedging that currently 

prevent major assets of Bath’s heritage being 
visually and positively associated with the river at 
Green Park and Norfolk Crescent.  Here the backdrop 
of the terraces and the Crescent are potentially visible 
over long stretches of the river, both sit in  land already 
owned by the Council.   In the case of Green Park, 
there is the opportunity to divert the present riverside 
walkway/cycleway through the flat section of the 
park, creating a wide recreational bank and the kind 
of riverside space that is lacking on the entire length 
of the urban river.   If necessary a line of fencing can 
be replaced some way back from this into the park 
but it would send a much stronger message without.   
At Norfolk Crescent the change of level between the 
lawn and the river is more problematic, but a riverside 
path that extended at the western end partly along 
the cycleway would allow Norfolk Crescent to be seen 
to be the western gateway of the city centre for half a 
mile. 

• Use the Council’s existing assets including Green 

Park and Norfolk Crescent lawns and stimulate 
other landowners to create the riverside venues that 
Bath currently lacks for sitting, watching, eating, 
relaxing, socialising that would bring the river back 
into the daily consciousness of people using the 

city.   One of the easiest ways of providing such uses 
is as moored vessels located in prominent places 
associated with long vistas of the river such as west of 
Churchill Bridge.  Bath currently has no such venues at 
all, now.   

s฀,AND฀BASED฀LOCATIONS฀WHERE฀SUCH฀FACILITIES฀WOULD฀BE฀
highly visible and be likely to attract a market include:

s฀4HE฀ARCHES�฀SOUTH฀OF฀THE฀NEW฀BUS฀STATION�฀AN฀IDEAL฀
spot for a highly visible contemporary restaurant 
enjoying an attractive terrace to the river;

s฀4HE฀GREEN฀SPACE฀BETWEEN฀'REEN฀0ARK฀2OAD฀AND฀THE฀
river south of Avon Street.

s฀!฀MOORED฀RIVER฀RESTAURANT฀AT฀.ORTH฀1UAY฀CELEBRATING฀
Bath’s on time River Trade.
s฀.ORFOLK฀#RESCENT฀,AWN�

s฀!SSOCIATED฀WITH฀6ICTORIA฀"RIDGE�฀A฀VENUE฀REMARKABLY฀
CLOSE฀TO฀6ICTORIA฀0ARK฀AND฀4HE฀2OYAL฀#RESCENT�

s฀!฀ROADSIDE�RIVERSIDE฀VENUE฀IN฀4WERTON฀THAT฀WOULD฀
create a tangible riverside dimension to Twerton once 
more.  

s฀!฀HIGH฀PROlLE�฀HIGH฀QUALITY฀VENUE฀IN฀+EYNSHAM฀WOULD฀
open up the river frontage to more popular use.

• Celebrate the Southern Gateway into Bath at 

Churchill Bridge, this, after Pulteney Bridge is the 
second most significant point at which the city and 
the river combine, given significance by the visible 
presence of the railway and its bridges, characterised 
by the long vista down the river to the west and 
the powerful riverside warehouses.   The southern 
gateway is presently only valued as a piece of highway 
engineering.  An Arts competition could produce 
banners or sculpture along its parapets as part of a 
‘celebrate our river’ campaign.   These would also 
serve to bring a spotlight to the Innovation Centre, 
THE฀5NIVERSITY�S฀MAIN฀PRESENCE฀WITHIN฀THE฀#ITY�฀BUT฀
looking far from innovative with its six inch lettering 
on one of the City’s blandest buildings.   Here the 
use of projection art on the facade would be utterly 
transformational in perceptions of the City, highlighting 
this area as a gateway, celebrating the links with the 
river and making the Innovation Centre actually look 
innovative for the first time.   Such projection art 
displays are extremely economical to provide, typical of 
the outputs of an arts competition, and for which Arts 
funding may be available.   

• Invest in identifying and branding Bath’s most 

concentrated workspace quarter, the buildings 
either side of the Lower Bristol Road, immediately 
west of Churchill Bridge to demonstrate Bath 
actually does have a workspace quarter.   This could 
be achieved with permanent signage across the Lower 
Bristol Road, or projection art onto the tallest buildings.

• Celebrate the Dundas Aqueduct as the upstream 

gateway to the District’s river, one of the points 
where a link can be made between the waterways in 
marketing terms.   

• Open up and develop the story of the City’s river 

based heritage, linking together all those aspects of 
history that still have physical evidence, filling in the 
gaps in the social cultural and economic history.

• Similarly celebrate the link between the Kennet 
and Avon Canal and the river at Thimble Mill.  This 
needs to support finding a more permanent solution, 
and in a highly visible location from the Lower Bristol 
Road, projection art might well have a role to play.  

• Celebrate Cleveland Bridge as one of the rivers 

great bridges in the tourist literature for the World 
Heritage City to get more visitors on the river. 

Page 125



108

• Produce tourist literature that identifies the City’s 

heritage in the context of a full river trail; pointing 
out how close to the river major assets and heritage 
interest are and the significance of aspects of the river 
heritage that have been lost.  This story may in time 
justify permanent interpretative signage.  It is important 
to note that opening up awareness and providing 
interpretation are an essential step in regeneration 
work, helping people to create the value, cultural and 
social understanding, from which further investment 
can be proposed and justified

• Purposefully hold a season long exhibition, 

perhaps in a temporary venue such as Newark 
Works Foundry, to explain how the river came 
to be the way it is and to formally commence the 
Regeneration Strategy process.

Within the regeneration sphere there is clear evidence 
that bringing forward aspects of underappreciated 
and undervalued history is an essential step on 
the undervalued path to re-evaluation of areas.  By 
recording the history it becomes easier to move on and 
by presenting the history well it becomes possible to 
see aspects of social and cultural value from the past 
that inspire and engage people to invest more in the 
future.  In a well-considered regeneration plan this will 
be a central feature.  

• Create signage along the river and from nearby 

routes that supports this story and links the river 
route back into major assets, drawing the visitors 
away from the usual tourist hotspots, which open the 
case for investment elsewhere.   Critical connectors 
INCLUDE฀2OYAL฀6ICTORIA฀0ARK�฀,OCKSBROOK฀#EMETERY�฀THE฀
town park in Keynsham, significance of the riverside at 
Twerton, the role of the Western Eyot etc.

• Progress an annual Bath/Bristol rowing match as 
an early priority.  This means identifying a temporary 
location on the river from which boats could be 
launched and a temporary pontoon erected for the 
purpose.  This needs to be in a highly visible position 
and where temporary car parking can be made 
available, such as opposite Avon Street or associated 
with the Weston Island.

• Highlight the significance of the River Corridor 

Regeneration by making the necessary connections 
with the Rugby Club project and doing the same 

with other significant planning applications within 

the City.  At the Rugby Club the regeneration of 
electricity for floodlighting from the Avon weir head 
and creating a water-based ferry service transporting 
match goers from Newbridge Park and Ride are 
considerations.

• Prepare an alternative private sector led river 

transportation system, if the funding for the BRT does 
not materialise quickly, 

s฀5NDERTAKE฀A฀STUDY฀ON฀THE฀OPPORTUNITY฀THAT฀3OMERDALE฀
and Keynsham presents to stimulate a focus of skill, 
knowledge and practice in waste management, then 
manage the Council’s asset facilities in the area 
accordingly. 

• Establish an understanding with the University, 

the Innovation Centre and the West of England 
LEP on the kinds of floorspace and tenure models 
and optimum locations that business growing out of 
5NIVERSITY฀FOUNDED฀COMPANIES฀AND฀SKILLSETS฀WILL฀NEED฀
AND฀ENGAGE฀WITH฀THE฀5NIVERSITIES฀ON฀THE฀SKILL฀SETS฀THE฀
emergent economy will need in years to come.

• Engage with the Council on how their assets can 

best be used to deliver the goals of the regeneration 
economy so that the longer term benefits of doing so 
are built into the future regeneration plan.

• Engage with established community groups and 

councillors involved in settlements close to the 

river to explore how their identity and strengths can be 
supported by river focused projects.

• Liaise with the Environment Agency, Inland 

Waterways Association and British Waterways to 
establish where and how city moorings can be provided 
as a matter of urgency, notably along Green Park Road 
OPPOSITE฀2OYAL฀6ICTORIA฀0ARK�

• Explore future options for Keynsham’s river 

dimension with land owners around establishing a 
common interest agenda.

• Draw out a study on how the Western Island could 

be used to create a Western River Gateway to the 
City, what implications this might have for future land 
use, landscape treatments etc along Lower Bristol 
Road.  Out of this study produce suggestions for 
reducing the land take of the bus depot would emerge.

• Establish permanent river landing points along the 

river downstream of Pulteney Weir that would serve 
pleasure boat operators in offering a pickup/drop off 
service equivalent to that operated by the City’s open 
top bus companies.  

Page 126



109

STAGE C - THE REGENERATION MODEL

4HE฀6ISION฀THE฀2EPORT฀HAS฀PUT฀FORWARD฀SHOWS฀HOW฀
over 20 or 30 years wholly new value sets, economic, 
environmental, social, cultural can be applied and 
generated to make an asset out of the Bath Avon once 
MORE�฀฀"UT฀CREATING฀THIS฀6ISION฀REQUIRES฀MANY฀LAYERS฀OF฀
engagement, intervention, monitoring and, in today’s 
world, the opening up of opportunties at all sorts of 
scales and levels for engagement by local communities, 
special interest groups, education and business.   
These ambitions cannot, and will not be achieved by 
the allocation of land use only as a planning control 
mechanism.  Rather than a land use plan, they require a 
Regeneration Model.  

A Regeneration Model, described more particularly as 
a spatio-temporal economic model is a way of tying in 
all the different kind of engagements, processes, the 
pacing of change that needs to take place to get from 
A to Z.  It recognises that at the start, it is impossible, in 
fact unhelpful to try to tie down the form of everything 
that would happen.  

What it does instead is to identify those elements of 
land use change that are essential to create the right 
framework and set the right quality stream that enables 
other values to be achieved. 

It identifies where key infrastructure change needs 
to happen and how this might be achieved, such 
as improved walkways, cycle paths, crossings and 
linkages.  

It then identifies  how and where centres for growth in 
activity and economic opportunity can best start to be 
encouraged and how these can be influenced to make 
them most fertile.  

It describes how processes that are then set up can 
be managed, nurtured and steered so that the overall 
objectives of the project are not lost and each change 
can be tested and judged for its contribution to the 
success of the models overall long-term ambitions.  

But producing such a model requires widespread 
consultation with all of the interested parties outlined 
above, so that each body can then align its own 
ambitions, contributions and obligations to its goals.  

Page 127



110

In the previous sections we have highlighted several 
of the actions that the Council or others could take to 
stimulate the gradual process of changing perceptions 
about the river that all need to go through.  Bath 
residents, and all those who promote the City to 
visitors, need to see that we could come to value the 
river dimensions of the World Heritage City in new ways 
so political and funding support can be achieved for 
the changes needed.  Private sector commercial and 
investment interests need help to view the riverside 
sites in new ways seeing them as part of the genuine 
expansion of the economic social and cultural life of the 
city.  

Such change is needed too in Keynsham so that the 
remarkable assets the town has along the river can 
become appreciated and valued.  Such change of  
perception is needed also in the rural areas so that the 
attributes the landscapes bring are seen as part and 
parcel of the context of the major settlements.  All these 
perception changing steps are accumulative, small 
at first, but each builds on the other so that, year by 
year, more becomes evident, then bigger, longer term 
decisions about positive change become possible to 
make.

But the re-evaluation of the River Corridor, ie. the 
ascribing of new social, cultural economic and 
environmental values to it, needs policy support 
to make sure the objectives of the Economic 
Regeneration Strategy are suitably researched, widely 
understood, recognised by all the critical agencies 
and most particularly reflected in the work of the 
various branches of the Council, Planning, Economic 
Development, Property and others (Environment 
Agency, British Waterways).  It is through the making 
of policy that strategic objectives for the corridor can 
be set out, land protected for appropriate needs and 
uses and the framework put in place that can guide 
Riverside planning applications in the right way and 
secure developmental funding including via Planning 
Obligations.  

New Policies will also be needed to secure public 
funding for significant infrastructure interventions.  

In this section of the Report we list all of the areas 
in which we believe the River Corridor economy 
regeneration needs specific policy support.  Each of 
these aspects merits detailed study so the policy is 
rightly directed and the necessary consultations with 
stakeholders and strategically important consultees 
take place.  In practice in the formulation of a river 
economy focus to a set of policies needed to  progress 
the project beyond the Core Strategy, many of 
these policy objectives overlap and to best support 
each other could be combined within a single SPD 
document.  

1. Produce a strategy for creating strong river 

focussed gateways at the key points along the 

River Corridor that highlight quality, value and 

accessibility of the river and its patterns of use.  

Such gateways are already in place or would be 

significant in the following locations;-

s Dundas Aqueduct 

s฀4HE฀"YBROOK�!VON฀CONmUENCE฀AT฀"ATHFORD

s฀"ATHAMPTON฀"RIDGE

s฀#LEVELAND฀"RIDGE฀

s฀0ULTENEY฀"RIDGE

s฀#HURCHILL฀"RIDGE�'REAT฀7ESTERN฀2AILWAY฀CROSSING

s฀7ESTON฀)SLAND�4WERTON฀7EIR

s฀4HE฀%ASTERN฀AND฀7ESTERN฀APPROACHES฀TO฀+EYNSHAM฀

s฀(ANHAM฀'ORGE

These are all points where recognising the existence 
and significance of the river and giving particular 
attention to the quality of the riverscape setting and 
patterns of use are important. Some of these locations 
are already highly valued and in good condition and 
need little positive enhancement, but recognising their 
importance and significance to the overall story of the 
river’s environmental, social cultural and economic 
value will, over time make them more valued still.  
There are others, where their qualitative contributions 
to our perceptions of the river have much scope for 
enhancement.  

For instance, the City of Bath has a very poor western 
approach dominated by semi-derelict buildings which 
close down views of the valley and the Lansdown 
slopes and largely hide the river from view.  The 
removal of some of the very marginal development sites 
between Lower Bristol Road and the river opposite 
Brassmill Trading Estate and would serve the following 
objectives:

s฀)T฀WOULD฀REMOVE฀BLIGHT฀AND฀INCREASE฀PRIDE

s฀)T฀WOULD฀ALLOW฀7ESTON฀)SLAND฀TO฀BE฀SEEN฀AS฀THE฀
Western Gateway feature to the City and justify, in time, 
new patterns of landscape led use and functional value 
in relation to various systems of River transportation.

s฀)T฀WOULD฀RELEASE฀LAND฀THAT฀COULD฀BE฀USED฀TO฀CREATE฀
balancing flood storage to better utilise sites closer to 
the City.

s฀)T฀WOULD฀OPEN฀UP฀A฀LONG฀VISTA฀ALONG฀THE฀RIVER฀TOWARDS฀
the heritage of the Lansdown Slopes and allow the 
Western Approach to have a higher quality of green 
landscape and enhanced biodiversity.

STAGE D- SETTING STRATEGIC GOALS THROUGH POLICY

Page 128



111

2. Undertake research and develop policy 

support for recognising where reintegrating 

the river into urban design functionality and 

perceptive awareness of the District needs new 

linkages to be made to established cultural 

assets.  We believe there are many situations where 
raising the perceived value of the river requires both 
physical and visual connections to be made and the 
virtues of these connections need to be safeguarded 
sufficiently by policy so that, as sites are developed, 
they reflect these links in urban design.  Some of these 
linkages are already anticipated in the Council’s Public 
Realm Strategy.  Typical examples include:-

s฀%STABLISHING฀TANGIBLE฀HIERARCHIES฀OF฀IMPORTANCE฀NORTH฀
OF฀6ICTORIA฀2OAD฀"RIDGE฀�TO฀2OYAL฀6ICTORIA฀0ARK฀AND฀4HE฀
Royal Crescent) and Midland Road Bridge.

s฀2ECOGNISING฀THAT฀OVER฀MANY฀DECADES฀,OCKSBROOK฀
Cemetery is likely to revert to parkland use offering a 
significant open space and connectability for the whole 
of the Lower Weston area.   A linkage to the river is 
desirable via the small park that already exists here.

s฀)N฀+EYNSHAM�฀FORGE฀A฀MUCH฀MORE฀SIGNIlCANT฀
connection between the town park and the river 
frontage.

s฀/PEN฀UP฀A฀CYCLE฀LINKAGE฀BETWEEN฀+EYNSHAM฀AND฀THE฀
Bristol/Bath cycleway along the riverside.

3. Researching and creating policy support for 

identifying and highlighting those aspects of the 

heritage of the River Corridor that can be used to 

bring character and identity to the regeneration 

whether through standing structures, such as the 
bridges and weirs and former mill sites, or through 
street and site names creating new and physical 
linkages back from the river onto adjoining areas where 
such linkages serve a regeneration purpose.

4. Connectivity; researching and preparing policy 

support for protecting land necessary to ensure 

new linkages through, along and across the 

River Corridor are made where these will benefit 

the regeneration objectives.   Many of these links 
have already been anticipated within the Public Realm 
Strategy, such as the optimal location of additional 
bridges.  There are cases where footpath links exist 
BETWEEN฀5PPER฀"RISTOL฀2OAD฀AND฀,OWER฀"RISTOL฀2OAD฀
and the river that have exceptionally low status and 
other cases, such as through Locksbrook Cemetery 
where elements of potentially high Public Realm value 
could be used to gather and collect pedestrian and 
cycle traffic and link it with the river in very effective 
ways.  

5. Riverside Venues 

Research consideration of developmental 

parameters to identify  a number of locations 

along the River Corridor in the District where the 

creation of riverside venues would both serve 

and stimulate the regeneration objective; bringing 
new life and activity to the riverside and stimulating 
perception change or as a development partner in 
future development of riverside sites.  It is by creating 
such venues and making the river relevant again in 
people’s lives that perception changing occurs and 
confidence about investment is built.  Bristol’s very 
successful Paintworks new workspace project was 
predicated entirely on the creation on the Bocabar 
and an Event Space in an area in the city that lacked 
any commercial identity.  Such venues can be located 
where aspects of heritage, new river sport or other 
commercial activity is desired and could be either land 
based or river based.  The opening up of such facilities 
has been very significant in building the character and 
the economic value of the Kennet and Avon Canal: 

s฀!T฀#LEVELAND฀"RIDGE฀TO฀ENABLE฀THIS฀REMARKABLE฀
structure to be better appreciated.

s฀.ORTH฀OF฀0ULTENEY฀"RIDGE฀TO฀ENABLE฀ONE฀OF฀THE฀MORE฀
characterful parts of the river to be better appreciated.

s฀!T฀4HIMBLE฀-ILL฀WHERE฀THE฀FORMER฀MILL฀STRUCTURE�฀�NOW฀
a secondary meeting suite for the adjacent hotel) 
needs to become a venue in its own right with open-air 
seating to celebrate the junction of the canal and the 
river and enjoying a large basin that should be being 
used as a marina. 

s฀!T฀#HURCHILL฀"RIDGE�฀EITHER฀TO฀THE฀EAST฀SIDE฀IN฀THE฀
railway arches or to the north west opposite Avon 
Street, a restaurant/bar venue here would be highly 
visible and open up the riverside experience to many.  
This could be a floating venue.

s฀!SSOCIATED฀WITH฀POTENTIAL฀REDEVELOPMENT฀OF฀THE฀
Sainsbury’s supermarket at Green Park.

s฀0OSSIBLY฀ASSOCIATED฀WITH฀6ICTORIA฀"RIDGE฀AS฀A฀WAY฀OF฀
stimulating and celebrating the strong links between 
THE฀RIVER฀HERE฀AND฀THE฀HIGH฀STATUS฀USES฀OF฀2OYAL฀6ICTORIA฀
Park/The Royal Crescent.

s฀,OWER฀7ESTON�,OCKSBROOK�฀AS฀A฀WAY฀OF฀GIVING฀THESE฀
established residential Districts a riverside social and 
cultural identity once more, one celebrating a new 
identity for Weston Island.

s฀!T฀4WERTON฀ASSOCIATED฀WITH฀ONE฀OF฀THE฀CUTS฀BENEATH฀
the railway as a way of giving Twerton a riverside face 
once more and bringing life and activity to a dead 
section of the Lower Bristol Road.  

s฀!T฀.EWBRIDGE฀THE฀"OAT฀(OUSE฀PUBLIC฀HOUSE฀HAS฀SO฀
far failed to achieve the desired identification with 
the quality of the river downstream, but might do so Page 129



112

through a development of the nearby Minerva Boating 
Station, pulling in a wider clientele.  This is the City’s 
Western Gateway to River users.

s฀"ETWEEN฀.EWBRIDGE฀AND฀3ALTFORD�฀HIGHLIGHT฀THE฀QUALITY฀
of the riverscape and its enhancing significance as Bath 
based boating activity increases.

s฀!T฀+EYNSHAM฀A฀WAY฀OF฀lRMLY฀SENDING฀MESSAGES฀THAT฀
Keynsham has a very strong Riverside dimension to 
its identity.  Current refreshment venues along the river 
undervalue the riverside location; it is possible that 
Somerdale might go in part to uses that draw visitors 
here.  

s2ESEARCH฀AND฀PREPARE฀POLICIES฀FOR฀IDENTIFYING฀AND฀
protecting those areas where river-based sporting 
activity can be particularly successful, such as a high 
profile, visible centre for rowing, sculling, canoeing 
etc.   Particularly good locations for this would be on 
the stretch of the river west of Churchill Bridge usually 
associated with land already in the Council’s ownership 
of Green Park or Norfolk Crescent.

6. Cultural Icons 

The importance of undertaking research and 

preparing policies for recognising the role 

of new cultural icons within a River Corridor 

regeneration, is very evident in the successful 
implementation of the regenerations of Bristol Docks 
and London’s South Bank.  Bath is of course very much 
smaller, but as an established visitor centre punches 
very much above its weight.  If we wish the riverside 
economy regeneration to be good it is essential to 
expand the cultural life of the city into new areas 
offering facilities the City currently does not have, but 
within the context of the World Heritage City which 
it competes with, ought to.  This may include new 
galleries, new museums, new music venues, possibly 
places specified to present alternative faces to the 
City.   Such venues are self-evidently often a stimulus 
to regeneration and value creation in themselves and 
could be placed with care accordingly to, for instance;

s฀0ROVIDE฀A฀GATEWAY฀INTO฀"ATH�S฀SOUTH฀WESTERN฀
employment quarter via the foundry building in Newark 
Works.  

s฀%STABLISH฀THE฀SIGNIlCANCE฀OF฀THE฀RIVERSIDE฀SITES฀
between Western Riverside 
AND฀2OYAL฀6ICTORIA฀0ARK�฀฀
         
s฀"RING฀CULTURAL฀IDENTITY฀AND฀VALUE฀TO฀4WERTON฀AND฀THE฀
Weston Island.

s฀0UT฀+EYNSHAM฀ON฀THE฀MAP฀AT฀3OMERDALE�

The Somerdale site with its iconic presence, large 
internal spaces, riverside dimension and convenient 
placing between Bristol and Bath could open up a 
cultural dimension, that would draw audiences from 
Bristol and from Bath around the visual arts or music, 
very strongly ‘alternative’  tariff.  

7. Under the banner of Spatial Sustainability, 

develop policies to protect those land areas 

along the River Corridor where water turbines 

can be located to ensure that the opportunity to 

do this is not lost by inappropriate alternative 

development.  Consider where land should be 
reserved for uses which contribute to a low carbon 
economy for the District so the opportunity to locate 
such functions in the optimum places is not lost. 

For instance, there is merit in re-locating the present 
WASTE฀TRANSFER฀STATION฀ON฀5PPER฀"RISTOL฀2OAD�฀BUT฀THE฀
economic analysis suggests that this should still be 
on a riverside site to make the most of the synergies 
with Keynsham and Bristol.  This suggests the need 
to allocate such a site on the western approaches.  
Similarly identify where the river meanders lend 
themselves to the introduction of new turbines. 

8. Commit to a bio-diversity study and strategy 

that will aim to demonstrate where along the 

River Corridor, both in the urban and the rural 

areas, bio-diversity enhancement objectives can 

best be achieved by recognising linkages to existing 
open space and water courses etc.  This study can 
then be used to help identify where soft and landscape 
led treatments and the breaking down of existing sheet 
pile banks will be of greatest value so that bio-diversity 
enhancement can be set appropriately alongside 
many other objectives, such as flood management. 
This means a ‘joined up’ approach to ecological 
enhancement can be taken so that changes such as 
the incorporation of flood storage zone on developed 
sites are approached consistently.  

9. Develop a strategy for how heritage along the 

corridor sites will be identified and interpreted 

through signage, information and new linkages. 

10. Develop a strategy for how improved 

pedestrian and cycle use along the corridor are 

maximised and conflicts resolved.  In some cases 
the pathway is wide enough for segregated cycling and 
pedestrian use.  In others widening might need to be 
achieved by allocating additional land on developed 
sites.  How pedestrian and cycleways are related to 
schemes of new flood storage needs consideration 
under such principles.  In some cases the widening of 
pathways might not be possible and protocols need 
to be established to give appropriate priority between 

Page 130



113

conflicting uses. In this strategy the prioritisation and 
continuity of the pedestrian/cycle route in relation to 
other crossings needs careful consideration as this is 
one of the significant benefits of the riverside route at 
the moment.  

11. Within the strategy, goals need to be 

identified for improving accessibility from bridges 

and linked points to make it less likely that 

cyclists will need to dismount and optimising 

the accessibility for the disabled.  A clear strategy 
in this regard will enable the minimum standards to 
be made clear for future development and securing 
planning obligation contributions.  

A strategy for enhancing pedestrian and cyclist’s 
access to the river within Keynsham and to make 
connections to the Bristol/Bath cycleway need to be 
explored.  

12. Develop a strategy for creating moorings and 

landings along the river to enable boat users to 

access areas west of Pulteney Weir and  to make 
it possible for pleasure boats and water taxis to do the 
same.  The regenerative benefits of improved traffic on 
the river are significant and this is a project that merits 
public funding.

13. Establish a River Management Group, 

recognised by representation from the Council, 

the Environment Agency and British Waterways 

and charged with maximising the operational and value 
set management of the river against agreed objectives.  

14. Supporting the strands of economic activity 

on which the future of the District will rely 

through research.

5NDERTAKE฀RESEARCH฀TO฀BETTER฀UNDERSTAND฀THE฀FUTURE฀฀
economic life that will create the wealth of the District 
and develop an understanding of the supporting 
strategy for the land use requirements of each of 
those strands, and their spatial synergies so that the 
opportunity to deliver is maximised.

By way of illustration;

s฀!S฀WELL฀AS฀RESTAURANTS฀ETC฀ALONG฀THE฀2IVER฀#ORRIDOR฀

are there locations where new hotels would open new 

areas of understanding of the river.  Currently Bath 
has no significant riverside hotels and those that do 
exist alongside the canal fail to utilise their locational 
advantages.  Such sites might include venues between 
Cleveland Bridge and Pulteney Bridge, south of North 
Parade, Avon Street/Newark Works, Green Park, north 
of Western Riverside. 

If much of Bath’s future economic health is expected to 
be generated by the research and roll out companies 
STARTED฀AT฀"ATH�S฀5NIVERSITY฀WHAT฀WORKSPACE฀NEEDS฀AND฀

models of tenure will such companies most need and 
where is this best located?  Are there other aspects of 
those economies such as temporary accommodation 
offers and areas of educational support and business 
advice that need to be factored into this study?   Are 
there aspects of the city’s cultural and social life that 
need to be tuned to those needs?  

15. High Value Employment

If it is believed that Bath’s heritage and it’s 

cultural and educational life can attract new 

employers not previously represented in the City 

are there clear signs that existing employers are 

needing new high quality office space?  Where 
is this best located and to what extent can the river 
regeneration contribute to the quality and success 
of such space?  Are there aspects of critical mass or 
spatial synergies that need to be reflected in the pacing 
and bringing forward of such development?  Are there 
particular roles that the development opportunities 
at Keynsham can play in this regard, capitalising on 
Keynsham’s position where it  can service markets and 
contacts in the two cities? 

16. Sports Related Economy

Bath already has a high profile in sporting 

activity and a ‘head start’ in funding further such 

activities.  A rebuilt Bath Rugby stand would be a 
significant contributor to a re-focussing on the identity, 
character and economic focus on the river; 

Making the river active and alive again can be done 
most readily and easily through rowing canoeing and 
related water-based activities, but these sports have 
functional requirements that mean they can occur 
only at some venues.  Rowing needs a minimum of 
2km of river, a landing boat storage facility and to be 
effective it needs to occur in a highly visible location.  
Identifying the optimum locations for such facilities and 
whether they can be part of existing public open space, 
(thereby not incurring land value costs) is an important 
consideration at this stage of the regeneration plan.

17. Servicing the Settlements

The social and cultural identity of settlements along 
the River Corridor, such as Bathford/ Batheaston, 
Widcombe/Lyncombe, Lower Weston and Twerton, 
Saltford and Keynsham all have potential interfaces 
with the river which in some cases have been much 
stronger in the past than they are now.  As the river 
comes more to life there is the opportunity to reconnect 
the settlements with the river to expand their District 
centres and social economies onto the river.  How that 
can best be done merits detailed study so that the 
opportunities are not lost by inappropriate or premature 
development. 

Page 131



114

18. Building the Waste Management Economy 

We have identified how the growing role of the waste 
management economy fits well with existing synergies 
of activity and land use along the river, with particular 
relevance to Keynsham.  For this strand of future 
economic life to deliver the most, it is essential that its 
spatial requirements in Bath, Keynsham and elsewhere 
are adequately recognised and protected, particularly 
as they are so closely integrated with some of the 
municipal requirements of the Council.  

19. Growing the Rural River Related Economy 

We believe that several forces are at play which will 
make the rural, agricultural economy more versatile 
in future years as the necessary enhanced flood 
management and achieving ‘impact accountability’ 
of towns and cities forces them to develop clearer 
economic and environmental relationships with their 
hinterlands.  We believe a study of the future of the 
rural economy around the District’s towns would help 
identify the best way forward for flood management 
and identify those new strands of rural based economic 
and agricultural activity more clearly.  

20. Keynsham

We believe the present plans for enhancing Keynsham 
focussed on the High Street, do not go far enough in 
showing the town how it can have the enhanced social, 
cultural and economic identity it needs to overcome 
the recent job losses and to capitalise on its position 
looking to both Bath and Bristol.  We believe further 
study will illustrate how the identity of the town will be 
enhanced through some of the river focussed initiatives 
in this report, such as illustrated at Appendix (i) and that 
in due course examination these should be recognised 
in policy support.  

It has been prepared by;

 -James Hurley – a materials resource expert, 

representing Low Carbon South West.

 - David Laming – now a Councillor, with experience in 
building and operating canal and other boats on inland 
waterways. 

 - Nikki Wood – an environmental consultant and water 

systems ecologist. 

The sub-group set themselves the task of visualising 
how a more active rive would generate new economic 
activity of many kinds and how that might manifest 
itself in a real land and water based project.   Essential 
to this visualisation of the future was to address the 
values of low carbon lifestyles, bio-diversity and the 
realities of boating as a way of life and of work.   The 
study shows how all these drivers of change can be 
embraced and integrated and deliver outputs that serve 
many other goals already declared in the strategic 
ambition of the District. 

The key elements of the proposal are:

- Key infrastructure support for a water based waste 
transport and handling system. 

- A Materials and Waste Consolidation Centre.

- A linked New Skills Research Establishment.

- A new Marina creating flood storage capacity relevant 

to the optimum utilisation of other redevelopment sites. 

- A water park with waterside leisure and social venues. 

- A Heritage and Nature Trail.

- Habitat diversification for wildlife and landscape 

enhancement.  

Page 132



115

River Management.

The Group has identified a weakness which is that 
whilst the river obviously represents the spine for 
the River Corridor it is an unfortunate fact that its 
management is devolved to various parties who have 
separate interests and responsibilities. The principle 
players, apart from the riparian owners, are the 
Environment Agency (The river and along with flood risk 
implications) and British Waterways (Navigation from 
Widcombe to Hanham Lock)

The Local Authorities, through which the River Corridor 
runs, are B&NES and South Gloucestershire.  Both, 
apart from also being significant riparian owners also 
have an interest in ensuring that the river itself is 
brought up to the required standard and maintained 
in that condition. This is essential since for the River 
Corridor to work commercially and environmentally an 
attractive and vibrant river is an absolute must.

Some of the issues requiring to be dealt with so as to 
achieve the above are as follows:

s฀%NCOURAGING฀ALL฀FORMS฀OF฀BOATS฀TO฀USE฀THE฀RIVER�฀
Boats both moving and moored bring a waterway to 
life. Some relatively inexpensive infrastructure will be 
required to allow this aspiration to be met.

s฀3O฀AS฀TO฀ENCOURAGE฀THE฀SAFE฀USE฀OF฀THE฀RIVER฀
satisfactory water quality becomes an important 
prerequisite.

s฀!฀REGIME฀NEEDS฀TO฀BE฀PUT฀IN฀PLACE฀TO฀REMOVE฀DEBRIS฀
and detritus. 

s฀3AFETY฀FOR฀BOTH฀THOSE฀ON฀THE฀RIVER฀AND฀THOSE฀ENJOYING฀
the river from the bank 

s฀!฀REGIME฀OF฀VEGETATION฀CLEARANCE�PLANTING�
management needs to be instigated.

s฀$REDGING฀AND฀BANK฀REPAIRS฀WILL฀BE฀REQUIRED฀BOTH฀
initially and in the future.

s฀-AINTAINING฀AND฀POSSIBLY฀IMPROVING฀THE฀RIVERS฀NATURAL฀
ecology.

When the river was a real part of the region’s economy 
keeping its operational practicality in good shape would 
have been essential.  Now, despite being a navigation 
with regular boating activity several things considered 
important to waterway management, either do not 
happen or fall between stools.  A lack of dredging 
reduces capacity in floods, fallen trees raise hazards 
and lead to destabilisation of banks.  Currently split 
responsibilities between landowner, British Waterways 
and Environment Agency complicate this issue and 
need resolving.  

STAGE E- THE WATERWAY MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE   

As we add values to the river again, environmental, 
social, economic, cultural, there become many more 
reasons, and more necessity to have comprehensive 
management.  There needs will cut in at several levels 
and of several kinds and need an agency or joint 
working arrangement between agencies that can 
address them.  

Early in the development of the Regeneration model, 
the demand for management needs to be identified so 
a suitable vehicle for this can be devised to become 
operational instep with the demands that will be made 
on it.  

This is the necessary task of a Management Sub-
Group involving those with most experience of 
waterway restoration, operation and the handling of 
boats.  The Sub-group can advise on the scale of 
regular maintenance required, how conflicts of use and 
interest can best be addressed, lend consultation with 
existing stakeholders and statutory agencies, clarify the 
optimum structures for future management needs or 
cross agency working and advise the Council on what 
funding mechanism need to be employed and whether 
infrastructure devices should be part of this.  

Particular issues for urgent consideration include;

- Provision of suitable landings to meet the practical 
needs of boat handlers and crew.

- Interpretation of the river’s heritage for the benefit of 
boat crew – including more information in boat guides.

- Embracing the river between the Avon/K&A Canal 
intercept and Pulteney Weir within the Navigation to 
reduce management fragmentation. 

- Clarify remaining uncertainties on responsibilities for 
management upstream of Pulteney Weir to Bathampton 
Weir.

- Address comprehensively the hazards to life along 
the unprotected and sheet piled section of the river.  
Here inserts for ladders, advice and lack of rescue 
equipment, lack of surveillance and activity have all 
contributed to an alarming number of fatalities in recent 
years.  Railings will be only a small part of the answer.  
Stepped banks and landscaped slopes are needed 
to remove users from danger.  Such solutions take 
land from adjacent sites and so need urgent Special 
Recognition as legitimate demands in the Development 
Control process. 

- Reducing cases for conflict between pedestrians and 
cyclists. 

-  Strategy for addressing litter and graffiti.

- Attention to provision of launching slipways and 
accessibility to boats for the disabled.  

Page 133



116

A further matter which would fall within the remit of 
the Sub Group would be what we will term Section 
106 Improvements to the River Bank funded by future 
riverside development as may be identified by the main 
River Corridor Group.

So as to address the (“weakness”) mentioned above it 
is proposed to form a specialist “River Management” 
Sub Group which would:

1. Create a forum for informing those Authorities and 
Parties who have specific responsibilities for the river of 
our Main Groups aspirations for the river and

2. To explore how best those aspirations can best be 
implemented.

The suggested composition of the proposed Sub Group 
would be:

s฀!฀REPRESENTATIVE฀FROM฀"RITISH฀7ATERWAYS฀LOCAL฀UNIT฀AT฀
Devizes who have navigational responsibility for the 
river from Widcombe to Hanham

s฀3UCH฀REPRESENTATION฀FROM฀THE฀%NVIRONMENT฀!GENCY฀
as is deemed necessary to address the 7 “bullet point 
issues” as set out above.

s฀&ROM฀OUR฀2IVER฀#ORRIDOR฀'ROUP฀.IKKI฀7OOD฀TO฀
handle the “Ecosystem” implications,  Dave Laming 
and John Webb to deal with the river generally 
including navigation, leisure opportunities and the river 
management generally.

s฀3UCH฀REPRESENTATION฀AS฀IS฀DEEMED฀NECESSARY฀FROM฀THE฀
significant Riparian Owners including the two principle 
Local Authorities.

One “skill” that we may need and is currently missing 
is that of a hydrologist. It may be that the Environment 
Agency can field one as part of their input.

5NFORTUNATELY�฀AND฀IT฀IS฀SUSPECTED฀UNINTENTIONALLY�฀THE฀
various publications dealing with the future of Bath, 
and these include but are not necessarily confined to 
the Bath Public Realm Consultation, the World Heritage 
Site Management Plan, The Western Riverside Planning 
Guidance Document and the Core Strategy all tend to 
stop at the river bank or adjacent to it and ignore the 
river which flows between these boundaries. Our Group 
and in particular the River Management Sub Group 
can hopefully for the benefit of our City remedy this 
omission for the benefit of our city.

Page 134



1171111777777715. CONCLUSION
Page 135



118

In this report the members of the Bath Avon River 
Group have sought to describe how the River Avon as 
it passes through the District came to be the way it is 
and how significant it could come to be over the next 
three decades if the challenge and the opportunity it 
represents are seized and recognised.  

We have tried to highlight what the hurdles are, but 
identify the stages and elements of the processes 
needed to make the vision a reality.   

The next stages in this process involve engaging 
with many constituencies of potential users, the 
commitment by the Council and others to deepen and 
substantiate the challenges and opportunities, and test 
them and a willingness to explore in more detail how 
significant the River Corridor can be to our economic, 
social, cultural and environmental lives.

We believe the combined processes need to be 
recognised in a Regeneration Model, something more 
significant, more about process, goals and stages 
than a regeneration plan, but a model that needs to 
backed up with policy support across many areas of 
the Council’s influence and through engagement with 
many statutory and other consultees whose views and 
policies will be crucial.  

So, taking this decision forward needs an act of 
will; it is a task in its own right, one essential to the 
future health and vitality of Bath, Keynsham and the 
LANDSCAPE฀THAT฀2IVER฀6ALLEY฀AND฀ITS฀TRIBUTARIES฀REPRESENT�

Achieving these outcomes is far from automatic; 
although at the moment demand for development land 
for housing and commercial activity is flat, physical 
development opportunities are limited and, as we 
have seen already in recent years it would be all too 
easy in Bath for conventional development to occupy 
the riverside sites without the City achieving any of 
the benefits of social and cultural identity or the real 
economic and environmental gains that this vision 
describes.  

Similarly for Keynsham, the town either seizes its 
chance to use its river to create a new face for the town 
to the world outside and to itself, or it does not.
We hope this report will be helpful to all who read it 
to open up discussion about how significant river-led 
regeneration could be.

Edward Nash, Chair

15. CONCLUSION

Page 136



119

APPENDICES

(i) Identity for Keynsham

(ii) Summary of Consultations

(iii) The River Map

(iv) Illustration Credits 

Page 137



120

(I) IDENTITY FOR KEYNSHAM

Page 138



 

P:\2010 Jobs\10097 Bath River Corridor Advisory Board\Documentation\Incoming 

Correspondence\10097 James Hurley\10097_Identity for Keynsham_James Hurley_March 2011.doc 

Appendix (i)  

 

Identity for Keynsham 
Avon Valley Park - Regeneration & Economic Plan 

 
 
 

Summary 

The proposed Avon Valley Park builds on B&NES four-point plan for Keynsham which is included in 

their Core Strategy, Infrastructure Delivery Programme and Economic Regeneration Development 

Plan. The Avon Valley Park offers an additional, new economy that will pull together the Avon Valley, 

Broadmead and Somerdale ideas using the River Avon as a conduit. It includes the creation of jobs, 

improved waste management, regeneration of heritage buildings for offices and tourism, ferry boats 

for commuting and visitors, connectivity with existing highways and railway, further diversification of 

the rural economy, an ecological educational facility, flood compensation through a marina and 

hydropower array, a new model of home ownership (leased houseboats) and a University affiliated 

research establishment for Materials Resource Efficiency & Sustainability that provides business spin-

outs to feed the materials & waste consolidation centre and micro heat grid. 

 

In this way, Avon Valley Park provides a complimentary case study to the B&NES Core Strategy, 

Infrastructure Regeneration Programme and their evolving Economic Regeneration Delivery Plans. It 

also demonstrates the capacity of the River Corridor Group to consolidate the interconnectivity of their 

ideas with local interests and possible projects that benefit a local community and plays a role in 

spatial economic activities with definite social and cultural elements in a climate changing world. The 

adoption of Avon Valley park would demonstrate that B&NES is interested in more than the Core 

Strategy and their proposed investment in the High Street is truly a catalyst for growth elsewhere. 

Avon Valley Park has been conceived following discussions, meetings and wanderings in the vicinity 

of Broadmead Peninsula, Avon Valley, Keynsham Riverside and Somerdale. It constitutes: 

· Transport of waste and goods via the River Avon Corridor 

· Strategic location for a state-of-the-art materials and waste consolidation centre 

· Up-stream flood compensation to offset residual flood risk at Keynsham, Somerdale, Bristol 

· Development of a marina and water park that will enhance local ecology, provide residential 

and visitor moorings, incorporate hydropower and generate a honeypot for tourism/leisure 

· Regeneration of Keynsham’s lost heritage at the Bartelt Soap Factory circa 1881 

· Keynsham and Avon Valley Heritage & Nature Trail by ferry, bicycle and foot 

· Somerdale as a state-of-the-art research establishment for materials resource efficiency 

· Sustainability spin-out businesses affiliated with the University of Bath and sponsored by a 

major high-net-worth individual/organisation 

 

Page 139



 

P:\2010 Jobs\10097 Bath River Corridor Advisory Board\Documentation\Incoming 

Correspondence\10097 James Hurley\10097_Identity for Keynsham_James Hurley_March 2011.doc 

With increasing interest in using the river to transport waste, the need to create a sustainable local 

economy for Keynsham and an urgent demand for affordable homes that are accessible to first time 

buyers and fed by alternative energy sources, Avon Valley Park can provide B&NES, landowners and 

other ‘interested parties’ the regeneration of the Avon Valley including Keynsham and Somerdale with 

new economic ventures and diversification of existing businesses. Its success would provide 

significant support to the local economy, create skilled and semi-skilled jobs, provide facilities for 

residential, pleasure, visitor and holiday water craft, enhance the diversity of local ecology, stimulate 

improvements to existing businesses and infrastructure, provide facilities and services for waste by 

river barge, develop new and innovative ideas and technologies for materials and waste and attract 

funding for a micro heat grid fed with waste and sewage sludge. 

Avon Valley Park will include a functioning canal route from the river into a meander of moorings, 

hydropower array and marina, residential houseboats fit for Code for Sustainable Homes Level 4 and 

built locally, residential and visitor moorings, a water park, ecological enhancement and facilities for 

evening, weekend and leisure economies. Our investigations show that the canal route, marina and 

water park are feasible, but has the added value of providing strategic flood compensation that acts 

as residual capacity to protect down-stream developments and businesses. More importantly, Avon 

Valley Park is best placed for this type of major development along the Avon Corridor, as it already 

has full backing of the landowners, will generate least controversy when compared with other 

locations up-stream and along the Avon Corridor and is crucially linked with the spatial economic 

needs of Keynsham, Somerdale and Riverside as well as peripheral towns, villages and hamlets. 

Avon Valley Park could transform the Avon Valley and Broadmead Peninsula, support the 

urgent development needs of Keynsham, Somerdale and Riverside whilst creating valuable 

jobs, investment and houseboats. Whilst the quantifiable value for money is not yet known, 

Avon Valley Park should be characterised as a transformational physical infrastructure project 

for Keynsham, B&NES and the West of England (WoE). It promises a suite of outcomes that 

are aligned with current thinking, supports B&NES Major Projects, responds to the Local 

Growth White Paper, is strategically placed for the Two Cities Project, will attract attention of 

the Regional Growth Fund, is aligned with the West of England Local Enterprise Partnership, 

will help deliver B&NES targets for diverting waste from landfill, and most of all will be difficult 

to match elsewhere in the area. 

In summary, Avon Valley Park would: 

· Play a vital role in the transport of waste and materials along the Avon Corridor 

· Provide employment-led development for Keynsham and Somerdale 

· Bring significant benefits to existing businesses on the Broadmead Peninsula, including a 
waste and materials consolidation centre, river wharf, waste barges and boat businesses 

· Provide a flood compensation marina to absorb up-stream water catchment and manage 
down-stream flood risk, especially at Broadmead, Keynsham, Somerdale and Bristol 

· Create jobs – 128 temporary construction jobs, 8 FTE jobs working in a canal-side pub and/or 
restaurant, 8 FTE jobs from direct visitor spend, 22 FTE jobs from direct water park spend, 4 
FTE jobs to provide lifting-out and maintenance services to water craft, 8 FTE jobs to work the 
barges, 5 FTE jobs to support the management and safety of the marina and water park, 2 
FTE and 4 PT jobs for the ferries, unknown jobs for the Somerdale research facility 

· Provide access to first-step mortgages for residential houseboats designed and built locally 
(existing business at Broadnead) to meet Code for Sustainable Homes Level 4 

· Encourage investment in a local heat grid including heat exchange, anaerobic digester and 
alternative energy strategy to help capture and share the surplus heat/energy from and for 
existing and planned businesses associated with the Broadmead Peninsula redevelopment 

· Introduce a 250 berth marina for residential, pleasure, visitor and holiday watercraft 

· Include a water park and access to the river for sailing, rowing, kayaks and non-engine craft 

Page 140



 

P:\2010 Jobs\10097 Bath River Corridor Advisory Board\Documentation\Incoming 

Correspondence\10097 James Hurley\10097_Identity for Keynsham_James Hurley_March 2011.doc 

· Include a number of interconnected ponds and waterways to provide ecological corridors, 
wildlife habitat for protected species and enhance/protect existing wildlife that are managed 
by a Warden and Park Rangers and operate as an educational facility 

· Incorporate allotment and storage zones for moorings that provide soft screens between 
houseboats, improve local food security and provide ecological corridors 

· Provide property uplift to adjacent developments (e.g. Somerdale), existing businesses and 
residential properties, but at a level unlikely to cover construction costs by itself 

· Provide ferry, walking and cycling routes linked to existing routes, highway and railway 
services that join the canal towpath in either direction to Bristol and Bath 

· Provide a central route for utilities serving new and existing businesses including potential for 
utilising surface water drainage flows for the marina and water park 

· Edge of town (Keynsham) ambience water space and heritage and educational facilities trail 

· Significant tourist attraction accessible by ferry, road, train, bicycle or walking 

· Present no significant conflicts with existing planning, tourism, housing or economic policies 

· Cost just over £178m
1
 to construct, although the net value is yet to be calculated 

 

More specifically, Avon Valley Park provides the following key benefits to support the sustainable 

economic growth of Keynsham: 

Principles Key Benefits for the Keynsham Sustainable Community Strategy 

Economic A catalyst for regeneration in Keynsham. 
The marina, water park, canal corridor, heritage trail and educational facilities 
will provide a strong tourism brand for the area. 
It may encourage more national retailers and leisure operators to establish a 
presence in and on the edge of Keynsham. 
Enhanced local property tax revenue and property prices in Keynsham, 
Somerdale and beyond. 
Create 128 temporary and 47 FTE jobs in marina, sport, tourism and support 
services; an unknown number in Somerdale and spin-out businesses. 
Play a key role in the development of Keynsham and Somerdale. 
Provide Keynsham with ambience water space. 

Environmental  The creation of a network of ecological corridors. 
Increased biodiversity, more sites for protected species and enhance existing 
habitats on site and along the River Avon. 
Pontoon allotments for residential food security and ecological enhancement. 
Provide flood compensation and hydropower management systems. 
Additional local ecological features, water facilities and leisure zones 

Social Provide an accessible and inclusive urban space. 
Raise Keynsham’s profile as a tourism destination 
 Enhance the distinctiveness of Keynsham. 
Give Keynsham an investment location edge over similar urban centres. 
Help to attract and retain high skill, high wage workers. Increase cultural vitality 
and civic pride. 
Support a greater variety of leisure activities. Provide additional traffic free 
walking and cycling routes. Increased local leisure facilities. 

Quality of Life Encouragement of higher housing densities. 
Up to 130 residential narrowboats in the marina. 

                                                      

1
 This is an initial assessment based on other canal and marina based projects. However, an initial cost plan is 

needed to substantiate this figure which is beyond the scope of this initial feasibility study. 

Page 141



 

P:\2010 Jobs\10097 Bath River Corridor Advisory Board\Documentation\Incoming 

Correspondence\10097 James Hurley\10097_Identity for Keynsham_James Hurley_March 2011.doc 

First time buyers of Code for Sustainable Homes Level 4 houseboats. 
Improved physical and psychological links to Keynsham and Somerdale. 
Option for an edge of site development of new houses/apartments. 
Opportunities for live-work residential narrowboats. 

Page 142



 

P:\2010 Jobs\10097 Bath River Corridor Advisory Board\Documentation\Incoming 

Correspondence\10097 James Hurley\10097_Identity for Keynsham_James Hurley_March 2011.doc 

Introduction 

Overview 

Keynsham has been identified as a key, strategic location for redevelopment and the creation of 

sustainable employment that is less dependent on the Public Sector. As such it is likely that the town 

will increase in population from 15,553 to around 17,000 by 2021. The Keynsham Town Centre 

Vision, adopted by B&NES includes proposals for redevelopment of areas in Keynsham Town Centre 

and edge of town redevelopments that include Riverside and Somerdale. The Vision for Keynsham 

must look to the previous consultation where the people of Keynsham said that they want:
2
 

· To enhance the town through physical development  

· Improve the economy and provide better jobs  

· Make Keynsham ready for the future  

· Help Keynsham to capitalise on its location  

· Help Keynsham remain proud and independent 

 

As well as Improving the Shopping Experience and Improving the Park, the Council’s Priorities 

for Action also include: 

Creating New Jobs: The Town Hall, Riverside and Somerdale have the opportunity to be major 

employment destinations that can anchor each end of the High Street, attracting higher quality office 

occupiers and increasing the footfall on the High Street.
3
 

To help support the sustainability needs of local people and strategic direction of B&NES, the Avon 

Valley Park case study has been prepared by members of the River Corridor Group to examine the 

feasibility of Avon Valley Park and the role it would play in waste, tourism, homes, alternative energy 

and jobs. Not only does the location lend itself to the benefit of Somerdale, the transport of waste 

along the River Avon and an alternative tourist honeypot, it would also provide B&NES with a 

University affiliated research and development facility for treatment, reuse, reconditioning, remodelling 

and remanufacturing of domestic, commercial, industrial, construction and demolition waste in 

addition to existing recycling, energy recovery and disposal activities complemented by a micro heat 

grid. We have also considered the added value of flood compensation upstream of Broadmead, 

Keynsham, Somerdale and Bristol in the form of a marina, water park and ecological educational 

facility that would further diversify Avon Valley Farm and Avon Valley Adventure & Wildlife Park which 

already receives 95,000 visitors and 126 school visits in an average year. In essence, Avon Valley 

Park would add great value to the people of Keynsham, B&NES and the West of England. 

An initial assessment of costs and benefits has been carried out, but this will need to be fully 

accounted for in accordance with HM Treasury guidance for Green Book Appraisals. The Green Book 

emphasises the need to take account of the wider social costs and benefits of development proposals 

and the need to ensure the proper use of public resources. Hence, this is not a comprehensive report; 

rather it is a first step for the River Corridor Group in identifying strategic locations along the Avon 

Corridor and to advise B&NES and in this case the people of Keynsham what is feasible and should 

be given due consideration in planning and Major Projects. Similarly, to provide the landowners and 

interested parties a concept design for their further consideration and possibly a phased master plan 

and planning application to the Planning Department that is in tune with their strategic thinking. 

                                                      

2
 Bath & North East Somerset Council website 

3
 Bath & North East Somerset Council website 

Page 143



 

P:\2010 Jobs\10097 Bath River Corridor Advisory Board\Documentation\Incoming 

Correspondence\10097 James Hurley\10097_Identity for Keynsham_James Hurley_March 2011.doc 

Description of the Site 

Avon Valley Park is north and east north east of Keynsham, includes Somerdale, is situated between 

Bath and Bristol and is close to river, rail and highway transport routes. It is bounded by River Avon to 

the north and includes farmland, flood plain and established, low-value businesses by the river. The 

site is over 290 acres and mostly privately owned, but includes a sewage treatment works (Wessex 

water) and disused landfill (B&NES) that has planning proposals for a materials recycling facility. The 

river and riverbanks are managed by British Waterways and the Environment Agency. The following 

diagrams provide an overview of the whole site and a more detailed plan for Avon Valley Marina. 

 

 

Page 144



 

P:\2010 Jobs\10097 Bath River Corridor Advisory Board\Documentation\Incoming 

Correspondence\10097 James Hurley\10097_Identity for Keynsham_James Hurley_March 2011.doc 

Assessment of Options 

In accordance with the Green Book method of assessment, the costs and benefits of the preferred 

option should be measured against those of the “Reference Case” (Do Nothing) and the “Do Little” 

Options. For the purposes of this study the options are: 

Option A – ‘Reference Case’. No water park constructed. Land uses continue as they are, no 

development of the infrastructure, no heat grid, flood plain react as previous with resultant flooding of 

part of the site and existing business zone. Residential developments beyond the town centre are to 

proceed as planned. Option A has been guided by the existing Core Strategy and Economic 

Regeneration Development Plans. It followed lengthy discussion with the landowners and interested 

parties about where else along the river this size of facility could occur, with no local competition other 

than The Hams (downstream of Broadmead, Keynsham and Somerdale) and Broadmead (too close 

to sewage works, recycling facilities, waste transfer station -i.e. nuisance- and in the fastest/deepest 

floodplain zone). Because of the absence of a masterplan for this site, it has been assumed that land 

released for development at Somerdale will be at least equal to that released under Option C and will 

support the same number of residential units. 

Option B – ‘Do Little’ Provide a large water feature to act as a flood compensation system of ponds 

and water ecological corridors, linked to the River Avon but there is no marina, water park nor any of 

the associated businesses. Allow development of the Materials Recovery Facility on the disused 

landfill site. There would be no waste barges, no residential moorings and limited ecological 

enhancement. There would be little to offer local people or tourists. As in Option A, the absence of a 

masterplan means that we have to assume that land released for development at Somerdale will be 

at least equal to that released under Option C and will support the same number of residential units. 

Option C – ‘Preferred Option’. Provide a navigable canal route between River Avon and Avon Valley 

Marina. Include a hydropower array, 250 berth marina, interconnected water park, integrated flood 

compensation system, leisure facilities, ecological enhancement, new jobs and stimulus for the 

commercial development of businesses to capitalise on waste and materials resource efficiency. 

Include provision for a pub and/or restaurant, riverside facilities and waterborne leisure activities 

associated with a heritage and nature trail. Include a micro heat grid and provision for 130 residential 

houseboats as well as moorings for pleasure, visitor and holiday craft. Include or relocate commercial 

businesses to land adjacent to sewage works and recycling facility (land use change needed) with 

associated infrastructure and benefits. Integrate a University affiliated research facility at Somerdale. 

We considered the impact that the three options would have on the costs and benefits of the area and 

the exclusion of other sites. We also questioned if we were happy about the location of the marina, its 

benefits to Broadmead, Somerdale and Keynsham, how public opinion would react during any public 

consultation and what mitigation would be required for the Environmental Statement? We agreed that 

a full appraisal of these issues was beyond our scope at this time, but the River Corridor Group would 

support B&NES with comparison with other sites and consultation with interested parties. 

  

Page 145



 

P:\2010 Jobs\10097 Bath River Corridor Advisory Board\Documentation\Incoming 

Correspondence\10097 James Hurley\10097_Identity for Keynsham_James Hurley_March 2011.doc 

Key Considerations 

With little direct experience of marina and water park developments and associated businesses 

especially with an element of waste transport, treatment and micro heat grids, we decided to look at 

some other developments from feasibility to operation. This included a number of marinas in Brittany, 

France which are successfully operating and in many cases with limited commercial / residential 

support during development. We also made use of the background papers of Economic Minister 

Andrew Davies’ (Welsh Assembly Government) fact finding missions to Brittany to consider their 

marina developments. Some of the conclusions from Brittany were mentioned in the Wales Coastal 

Strategy which we have adopted as our key considerations; these will need further development 

during any multiple site options assessment and public consultation: 

· Any marina strategy is a long term strategy 

· Marinas and other watersports can be developed in tandem 

· There are definite benefits to rural hinterlands from marina developments 

· Marina and watersports should be linked to other tourism opportunities such as heritage /golf 

· There needs to be local support from the outset 

· The incorporation of visiting berths are important 

· Events play an important part of establishing profile and reputation 

· Getting children onto water for fun and experience as early as possible is important 

· Innovative building methods and materials can be used in marina construction 

· Facilities for boat waste disposal and drainage systems are important as are proper shower 
and toilets required by EU regulations with increasingly higher standards 

· Dual use of space – winter boat storage areas used as food markets in the summer 
 

  

  

Page 146



 

P:\2010 Jobs\10097 Bath River Corridor Advisory Board\Documentation\Incoming 

Correspondence\10097 James Hurley\10097_Identity for Keynsham_James Hurley_March 2011.doc 

Avon Valley Park 

Avon Valley 

The proposed development is shown earlier in the Description of the site. This is based on Option C 

of our initial Assessment of Options, although it will be later modified to take account of:  

· Emerging proposals from prospective developers 

· Site Investigations 

· Engineering technical requirements 

· River flow modelling 

· Habitat Survey results 

· Location of any utilities, services, drains, abstraction points 

· Location of existing residential moorings 

· Structure and positioning of canal route to allow for turning circles up- and down-stream 

· The control of surplus material from excavation and maximising reuse within the design 
 

 

Waste Transport 

The transport of waste is currently conducted along the road using numerous types of vehicles. There 

always will be a need for various types of trucks and the use of the roads, but where there is 

commercial opportunity to transport by river or train these transportation networks should be used. A 

lengthy debate was undertaken by the members of the River Corridor Group about how best to 

transport waste, where this should occur, where to best place facilities, what types of waste would be 

transported and to which facilities (existing and new) certain types of waste should go. Our aim was to 

identify one or a small number of locations along the Avon River Corridor for receiving and separating 

waste and one location for a major facility that would receive pre-treated waste (separated) so that 

maximum value could be recovered from the waste streams. Ultimately, some waste will end up going 

to landfill or better still an incinerator, but our role was to formulate a river borne involvement. 

The transport routes for waste will always include roads and railway but there is a growing need and 

increasing desire to use the inland and coastal water networks or canals, rivers and sea. The Two 

Cities Project (Bath-Bristol) was conceived that both Bristol and Bath would need their own riverside 

collection and separation facilities. However, there was also a need to establish where best to locate 

the materials and waste consolidation centre on a large enough site, with close proximity to the river, 

road and railway networks and where it could play a contributory role to the wider development plans 

of B&NES. We decided that the reception and separation facilities would be the River Corridor in Bath 

and the materials and waste consolidation centre and associated businesses at Broadmead 

Peninsula within Avon Valley Park. Both locations are adjacent to the river with good access to other 

transport routes. More detail of locations along the river is included in the Transport chapter. 

Materials & Waste Consolidation Centre 

A state-of-the-art materials and waste consolidation centre would act as a central location along the 

river to receive, treat, reuse, recondition, remodel, remanufacture, recycle and recover energy from all 

non-hazardous waste streams from a large geographical area. As a central hub, it will act as a key 

strategic point along the river that will help serve a large number of towns, villages and hamlets within 

the economic boundaries of B&NES and the Two Cities Project. A sustainability strategy for the 

regeneration of the existing, low-tech waste facility and skip hire companies would need to be 

undertaken to ascertain the right mix of the Sustainable Industries Park (SIP) that incorporates the 

existing buildings, structures and infrastructure at Broadmead in readiness for the new build 

programme, operational phase and eventual legacy period over the short-, medium- and long-term. 

Page 147



 

P:\2010 Jobs\10097 Bath River Corridor Advisory Board\Documentation\Incoming 

Correspondence\10097 James Hurley\10097_Identity for Keynsham_James Hurley_March 2011.doc 

This would include preparing a facility that will not only serve the Two Cities Project, but which is vital 

infrastructure for the overall regeneration of Keynsham, Somerdale and Avon Valley Park. 

The materials and waste consolidation centre and associated barge, boat maintenance and waste 

processing skills will need to make best use of the demolition, site clearance, bulk earthworks, 

remediation, enabling works, infrastructure, new build, energy management and operational utilisation 

of materials and resources. It would need to consolidate these activities into a cohesive series of 

separate plans and processes in line with environmental regulatory requirements and sustainability 

expectations of B&NES. The sustainability strategy would be a component part of the overall 

development framework for the SIP. The following are core considerations for materials resource 

efficiency in the sustainability strategy: 

· Record the source, types and volumes of waste markets and availability 

· Identify the opportunities to reduce, reuse, recycle and recovery of materials 

· Incorporate waste efficiency through design, construction and lean operations 

· Establish storage, handling and transportation of materials and waste by river and land 

· Employ suitable controls for hazardous, non-hazardous and inert wastes 

· Identify procedures for valuable materials including waste electrical and electronic equipment 

· Advise on preferred approach to material segregation, site layout and remedial activities 

· Secure contractor and supplier buy-in through contractual clauses, pre-lets and preliminaries 

· Monitor waste duty of care, licences, exemptions and permits 

· Provide pollution abatement equipment to mitigate contamination risks 
 

A key facet of the SIP will be considerations for materials resource efficiency and the utilisation of 

available materials and products back into the economy. There will need to be a good level of 

understanding of the types, volumes and frequency of wastes from all waste streams and their 

transport route which should primarily be by river. This would need to be facilitated up-stream and 

down-stream of the facility and be supplied by amphibious barges that would navigate the small 

number of locks via lock slipways; yet to be designed and conceived, but are functional needs of 

commercial movement of waste along the river. James Dyson’s amphibious vehicle designs may be 

of significant value here, in fact they could be built at Avon Valley Park. 

Together these will maximise the resource efficiency opportunities for significant amounts of 

materials, key demolition products and key waste products that are to be processed through a 

consolidation centre and soil washing plant for engineering use during the works or as feedstock for 

the mixture of commercial, industrial and research and development facilities. The consolidation 

centre will be an operational facility to complement other businesses that play a vital role in 

reclaiming, reconditioning, remodelling, remanufacturing, recycling and recovery of energy from the 

separated waste streams. Some of these will be high-tech businesses with skilled and semi-skilled 

roles aligned with apprenticeships and both Further and Higher Education graduates. 

This novel and integrated approach to the efficient use of resources on a high-profile project will 

demonstrate how a sustainability strategy can be delivered on the ground, in-line with the programme 

of works and embedded into the design for materials resource efficiency across the lifetime of the SIP. 

These objectives could be achieved by implementing a structured methodology for collecting and 

analysing data to pinpoint the source, type, quantity, quality, condition and fixture of the key waste 

products and identify which of those should be set-aside up-stream or down-stream for delivery to 

Avon Valley Park or recycled down-stream at Avonmouth (i.e. Two Cities Project). 

Somerdale Research Establishment 

The redevelopment of Somerdale is sufficiently covered in the Core Strategy and Economic 

Regeneration Development Plans. However, due consideration should be given to a proportion of the 

site set-aside for a state-of-the-art research establishment for materials resource efficiency and 

Page 148



 

P:\2010 Jobs\10097 Bath River Corridor Advisory Board\Documentation\Incoming 

Correspondence\10097 James Hurley\10097_Identity for Keynsham_James Hurley_March 2011.doc 

Sustainability spin-out businesses affiliated with the University of Bath and sponsored by a major 

high-net-worth individual/organisation. The site should also play a role in river transport, ferry journeys 

and the Avon Valley Heritage & Nature Trail. This will include a link to the heritage of Keynsham over 

and above Somerdale, which has played a dominant part in the town and can play a much needed 

educational and business spin-out role to activities proposed across the whole of the Avon Valley 

Park. 

Somerdale Research Establishment would concentrate on the development of spatial economic 

businesses that interconnected their technical and high-skill minds to the semi-skilled works of 

materials resource efficiency and flood mitigation strategies that integrated spin-out businesses to 

train the world. Climate Change is real and educational facilities need to demonstrate how they apply 

minds to the physical solutions. Avon Valley Park would be central to the Somerdale Research 

Establishment ethos and educational syllabus. Conversely, the materials and waste consolidation 

centre and associated businesses that transport waste by river would act as proving grounds to test 

their ideas and develop spin-outs that actually delivered new economies. Water would play a vital and 

functional role that weaved all the materials, waste, flood, tourism, transport, homes, jobs and 

economies into a functional way that we use the rivers and its resources. Somerdale Research 

establishment would be the foundation stone for climate change living. 

 

Avon Valley Marina 

The proposed marina (see diagram in the Description of the site) is based on a conservative business 

model. The canal route links Avon Valley Marina with the River Avon. It provides an access and 

egress route so it would need to be sufficiently wide enough to facilitate ease of use and include a 

holding zone on the River Avon side to reduce waiting craft on the main river. Facilities and services 

would be provided to offer waterside development opportunities including a major pub and/or 

restaurant, gift shop/s, viewing platform and pedestrian / cycling routes. The canal route will also 

include sluices to supply replacement and flood waters into the water park occupying the flood plain. 

A 250-berth marina is proposed providing residential, pleasure, visitor and holiday moorings which are 

either permanent or short-term. The marina will include an office, marina Master house, showers, WC 

facilities, launderette, a convenience store, fuel and gas store, boating facilities, mains water, power 

points to all moorings, permanent grey water and black water tanks incorporated into the pontoons, 

pontoon allotment and storage screens, picnic areas, designated bar-b-q zones, emergency assembly 

point, access for emergency services, fire-fighting points, rescue life rings and fuel spill equipment. 

The marina will be accessed on land by two new transport routes; one south of the marina for 

permanent residents and staff and one at a tangent to Broadmead Lane, which is primarily for visitors, 

coaches and water craft using the water park for various non-engine activities. A dedicated car, trailer 

and coach park is adjacent to the marina, which is suitably screened for noise, vibration and dust. 

This will minimise impact on the marina and ensure the peaceful pleasure of residents and visitors. 

The water within the network of marina, water park and ecological corridors would naturally regulate 

itself with the River Avon mostly by gravity and the water would still reach the River Avon as it does 

now, merely by a different route. This whole assembly of water diverted from the river to feed the 

marina and water park and together to act as a balancing tank for up-stream flood waters to reduce 

risk of down-stream flooding will require suitable water modelling and contingency engineering to 

ensure through-flow and avoid stagnation zones. It will also identify efficient means to capture, store 

and gradually release flood waters that additionally complement hydropower arrays. It has been 

assessed that the marina could provide additional revenue support for the overall maintenance of the 

canal route, water park and associated flood compensation measures and hydropower arrays. This is 

because a portion of the moorings income generated by the marina could be returned to B&NES 

council by renting the marina to an operator, For example at Braunston Marina, British Waterways 

granted a 75 year lease to the operators in return for a 20% share of moorings income. 

Page 149



 

P:\2010 Jobs\10097 Bath River Corridor Advisory Board\Documentation\Incoming 

Correspondence\10097 James Hurley\10097_Identity for Keynsham_James Hurley_March 2011.doc 

Given the strong local demand for moorings especially residential moorings, it is believed that a 

similar mechanism could be put in place at Avon Valley Park. Given that the costs of constructing the 

marina are included in the Option C estimate, B&NES could pass these on to a marina developer 

(e.g. Crest Nicholson Marinas) or alternatively obtain a share of final revenues in excess of the 20% 

secured as at Braunston. Initial talks with British Waterways, Avon Valley Moorings, Bristol Harbour, 

Phoenix Marine and Saltford Marina have suggested that there is congestion and excess demand for 

berths in nearby marinas. This is supported by the fact that many have waiting lists for secure high 

quality moorings. Introducing 250 berths at Avon Valley Park would increase the number of berths 

within 4 hours cruising of Bath and Bristol by 18%. This will need to include premium facilities: 

Proposed marina Facilities  

Electricity / water / gas supply  Wet /dry dock facilities  

Toilets  Boat / engineer repairs  

Showers  Chandlery  

Refuse disposal and recycling Car parking  

Pressure wash and blacking  Slipway  

Telephones  Laundrette  

Diesel, petrol, propane, solid fuel Trailer storage  

Mobile and fixed pump out  Nearby pub or restaurant  

 

Most of these facilities are likely to be available at Avon Valley Marina, with the inclusion of a 

boatshop and crane if research indicates demand for the facility. Alternatively, allowance could be 

made in the design so that a mobile crane can be brought onto the site or a permanent crane can be 

installed at a later date. Other commercial opportunities associated with the marina could include boat 

sales, hire boat operations, a narrowboat holiday company and narrowboat servicing club. 

It is believed that gravity will play a large part in delivering and moving water through the water park 

and associated balancing ponds, boating lake and water corridors. However, there may be some 

need of pumping so modelling will be required to indicate the delivery capacities of the pumps to 

complement the gravity systems and to ensure a healthy demand. The modelling will need to take into 

account any peak periods of demand when the balance is low and the location and capacity of the 

pumps to maintain variable but healthy water balance across the site. However, it is expected that for 

most of the year the duration of pumping will be a small proportion of the day; the canal route, sluices 

and gravity feeds to the balancing ponds should be designed to allow for variation in levels which will 

in turn allow flexibility in the time of day that pumping is carried out. It may well be possible to use off-

peak electricity overnight, solar panels or energy exchanged from the heat grid. 

All existing water courses, including the River Avon, would continue to follow their present routes 

apart from the abstraction of water balance from the River Avon and into the canal route, onto the 

marina and wherever required fed through the sluices and into the water park which eventually 

returns the net balance back into the River Avon alongside the existing businesses (7). This allows 

the present river system to remain intact and avoids the need to manage large variations in water 

flows. Essentially, the water level of the canal route and marina is the same as the River Avon itself. It 

is only during flood events that the water park which occupies the existing flood plain receives flood 

water as it always has, but controls the capture, storage and soft release of the flood water to reduce 

flood risk down-stream. In effect, the Avon Valley will be a truly Sustainable Drainage System (SUDS) 

that provides significant benefits to the sustainable community of Keynsham. 

Water Park 

The proposed water park has three primary functions: One is to act as a flood compensation system 

for down-stream developments through the capture, storage and controlled dispersal of up-stream 

Page 150



 

P:\2010 Jobs\10097 Bath River Corridor Advisory Board\Documentation\Incoming 

Correspondence\10097 James Hurley\10097_Identity for Keynsham_James Hurley_March 2011.doc 

flood waters through a series of balancing ponds and water corridors. The second function is to 

provide a boaters lake for non-engine craft including, sailing dinghies, rowing boats, wind surfing 

boards, canoes, kayaks and similar type craft. Areas of the boating lake will include picnic tables, bar-

b-q facilities, fishing pontoons, children and school ecology teaching zones and pedestrian /bicycle 

routes. The third function is to provide peaceful nature walks within and alongside a series of 

ecological corridors that will include sensitive areas set-aside for specialist flora and fauna. This will 

ensure that habitats and species diversity is optimised and conserved by a full time Warden. 

Studies will need to be completed to ascertain the flow rates in and out of the canal route, marina and 

water park to ensure that the water balance across the network of waterways can be balanced with 

the river and capture, store and softly release the water balance in tune with the river rates, 

hydropower arrays and mooring draft. A British Waterways demand model and a provisional water 

balance model will be required in order to ascertain the volume of water required to sustain the canal 

route, marina complex and the network of lake, balancing ponds and water corridors to the exit 

sluices currently planned adjacent to the existing business zone (7). Initial discussions with a high 

level representative at British Waterways have been undertaken and he has given his endorsement of 

an integrated development that makes best use of the river. 

The approach of intercepting feeds from the River Avon then discharging from the canal route into the 

marina and water park have been initially explored by members of the River Corridor Group. Further 

evaluation of the water balance model will need to be ascertained in order to facilitate a preferred 

water balance solution. This would redirect and/or pump flows from the River Avon into the canal 

route and then onto the marina, with excess flow being directed through sluices into and through the 

water park. This approach has the following key benefits: 

· The quality of the inflow is variable, but can be filtered prior to entering the water park using 
screens and sediment traps in the balancing ponds 

· Extracting water from the River Avon and not drain-off from the fields and roads should ensure 
that the water feeding the canal route and marina is of best available quality 

· The operation and seasonal variation in the River Avon water levels especially during flood 
events can be partially balanced, stored and softly released back into the river up-stream of 
the major residential redevelopment and associated flood plains at Somerdale 

· Existing water courses in which flows are known to vary considerably can be left unaltered 

· Water levels in the canal route can be more readily managed or easily diverted into the 
screens and sediment traps of the balancing tanks if needed 

· By designing the canal route and marina to operate separately from the water park, balancing 
ponds and water corridors, flood risk assessment and management is simplified 

 

There will be consent issues to address with the transfer of water to the new canal route, marina and 

water park. A generous allowance for seepage and evaporation will need to be included within the 

modelling demand at this stage, whereas actual losses are likely to be much less. 

Waterside Pub and/or Restaurant 

The inclusion of the waterside pub /restaurant was based on an existing scheme run in partnership 

between British Waterways and Scottish and Newcastle Pub Enterprises. Under that scheme, prime 

waterside locations are released to the partnership by British Waterways, whereby Scottish and 

Newcastle Breweries develop the sites into profitable businesses. The rationale for the partnership is 

that visitor numbers, recreation and leisure opportunities will increase while the British Waterways 

achieves a 50/50 share of profits which can be reinvested into the care and maintenance of canals. 

For Avon Valley Park, a transfer of suitable development land could provide the necessary conditions 

for a pub/restaurant partnership. Based on standard business practices, any pub/restaurant is likely to 

be run on a business franchise basis. Here business support could be provided by a brewery with 

land supplied by a third party (e.g. British Waterways, B&NES or developer of the site). The franchise 

Page 151



 

P:\2010 Jobs\10097 Bath River Corridor Advisory Board\Documentation\Incoming 

Correspondence\10097 James Hurley\10097_Identity for Keynsham_James Hurley_March 2011.doc 

package would be based on a non-repairing lease, with minimal start-up costs for prospective 

tenants. In exchange for providing the premises, business support and related services, the pub 

partnership would charge a fixed turnover fee. This turnover fee is likely to be in the region of 12%, 

but will vary with location and circumstances.
4
 

Previous turnover estimates have been gathered by Michells & Butlers (1,880+ facilities) and 

Whitbread benchmark, a weekly turnover of approximately £15,000 for a waterside location at Avon 

Valley equates to an annual turnover of £780,000, with 12% being returned to the pub-partnership in 

the form of rents (£93,000). Based on this assumption, British Waterways or a similar organisation 

could expect to receive revenue of approximately £47,000 per annum as a contribution toward canal 

maintenance. However, the development of such a scheme would entail the provision of development 

land at a suitable waterfront location. Currently, British Waterways owns no rights to the land but this 

could become a Section 106 allocation to British Waterways or B&NES. 

Heritage & Nature Trail 

The regeneration of Keynsham’s lost heritage at the Bartelt Soap Factory circa 1881 is covered in the 

Heritage & History chapter of the report, so there is little more to mention here. However, it would play 

a vital role in defining and capitalising on the tourist and educational economies that would visit the 

site for heritage or nature experiences. 

The Keynsham and Avon Valley Heritage & Nature Trail will be accessible by ferry, bicycle and 

walking. It would include significant signs and meanings in the landscape, businesses and riparian 

zones that would tell a story of what was and is now. The introduction of marinas, residential 

moorings, water ecology, historic buildings, sustainability research facility, hydropower arrays, 

warden-led education and fun zones for children would explain how we are combating climate change 

that integrates the waterworld rather than turning our backs on it. Rivers and floods are a natural 

occurrence, but if we use them to our advantage and build economies around them we can best serve 

the development of ideas, businesses and living in the flood zone rather than shutting it off behind 

concrete walls. We need to live with the ecology and landscape. 

Ecology and Landscape 

The preferred option of the feasibility study is also the preferred option for ecological enhancement. 

Although the canal route, marina and water park will have some adverse environmental impact on the 

existing flood plain, the ecological enhancement of the development will significantly increase 

biodiversity, improve existing habitats and generally be sensitive to existing ecological corridors, 

hedgerows and trees. The only woodland in the study area is small areas of wet woodland around the 

River Avon and some isolated trees on land. 

The area is dominated by arable land used largely for low-value crop farming, however a large section 

of riverside functions as the Avon Valley Adventure & Wildlife Park. The fields are large with wide 

margins of uncultivated land and bordered by generally species-poor hedgerows. The soils in 

successful crop growing areas and floodplain are likely to have good drainage and be of medium to 

high fertility. Initial trial pits in some areas have been undertaken by the landowners to locate the 

water table in the proposed area for the meandering moorings and hydropower arrays, but formal site 

investigations have not yet been commissioned. The existing route to the Broadmead site will be 

upgraded and lifted above the flood level with incorporated sluices for water balancing, whereas the 

Avon Valley Marina and Water Park site already has a network of access roads that will need some 

improvements. However, two new vehicle access routes will be created to align with existing 

                                                      

4
 Source: www.channel4.com  & www.thepublican.com  

Page 152



 

P:\2010 Jobs\10097 Bath River Corridor Advisory Board\Documentation\Incoming 

Correspondence\10097 James Hurley\10097_Identity for Keynsham_James Hurley_March 2011.doc 

hedgerows, tree-lined stream and small number of brooks. There will also be some minor dissecting 

of existing hedgerows, but the existing biodiversity value of these corridors as a whole is limited. 

There is very little standing water within the proposed developments, although during floods the low 

lying areas receive flood waters that override the riverbank. It is this natural phenomena that the Avon 

Valley Marina and Water Park will enhance, capture, store, use and transfer as and when required. 

The River Avon sweeps around the site as a natural meander, and a small number of ponds are 

within the site. There are a few tiny spring-fed streams and brooks running into the River Avon. 

General ecological mitigation and enhancement proposals have been considered by the River 

Corridor Group, including sympathetic and soft engineering using native species of local provenance, 

creating artificial places of shelter for otters and water voles, enhancing existing and creating new 

areas of importance for wildlife. Ecological measures will be informed by further assessment and 

detailed design during the formal Environmental Impact Assessment processes. 

A more detailed study of the area should be completed for the preferred option route. This should be 

augmented by a site walk-over and preliminary exploratory survey to build on the trial pits discussed 

earlier. The assessment can then be used to identify a fuller scope of survey work required as the 

design develops, construction methods are selected and the location of structures fixed. Further work 

is recommended to confirm foundation design for the road, bridges, buildings and water bourne 

facilities. The surveys will also need to show instability in existing slopes along the canal route, within 

the marina and for some of the other areas that will be subject to excavation activities. Detailed 

design will need to consider temporary and permanent impacts on slope stability throughout the 

scheme and identify how excavated materials will be processed and reused on-site in the design. 

Funding 

Potential Funding Sources for Avon Valley 

Central Government Money from B&NES, Regional Growth Fund and/or the West of 
England Local Enterprise Partnership could provide a kick-start 
to funding 

Local Authority B&NES has interests on the site and could contribute to funding 
through capital and revenue budgets for Major Projects, land 
swaps and staff times 

Countryside Agency  Resources are largely accessed through a strategic approach 
with this agency 

Heritage Lottery Fund 
and English Heritage  

A key source of funding for canal restoration schemes in the 
past 

Private Sector The private sector could potentially have a large role in 
generating sources through land swaps, 106 agreements and 
sharing the cost for elements such as the marina 

Major Investor For example, James Dyson who may be interested in the 
facility, the manufacture of amphibious vehicles and high-tech 
education facility associated with University of Bath 

 

Page 153



121

(II) SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS

In the preparation of this report, Bath Avon River Economy Group has been 
informed by baseline data commissioned or issued by Bath and North East 
Somerset Council and other bodies with significant roles in the management of 
waterway including:

We have met and corresponded with:-
 - Michael Lee and Mark Stephens from British 
   Waterways

฀
฀2ON฀(UMPHREYS�฀$IRECTOR฀OF฀"ATH฀6ENTURES�฀5NIVERSITY฀OF฀"ATH

฀
฀0ROFESSOR฀#HRIS฀"AINES฀n฀5RBAN฀2EGENERATION฀0ANEL

 - Sainsburys plc

 - Jane Turner, Minerva Rowing Club

 - Cllr Terry Gazzard, Conservative Political Grouping Cabinet Member 

 - Paul Crossley and Cherry Beath, Liberal Democrat  Political Group

 - Nick Blofeld – Chief Executive of Bath Rugby

 - Attempted to consult with Environment Agency but unsuccessfully

฀
฀"ATH฀!VON฀2IVER฀5SERS฀!SSOCIATION

฀
฀*OHN฀$OUGLAS�฀!VON฀6ALLEY฀7ILDLIFE฀�฀#OUNTRY฀0ARK฀

 - John Wilkinson – BANES Economic Development Team 

 - Stephen Mead - Allmead Recycling

 - Caroline Kay - Bath Preservation Trust

Page 154



122

(III) THE RIVER MAP

D
u

n
d

a
s

W
h

a
rf

T
h

e
 b

e
g

in
n

in
g

 o
f 

th
e
 

B
&

N
E

S
 R

iv
e
r 

A
v
o

n
 j

o
u

rn
e
y

C
le

v
e

la
n

d
 B

a
th

s
R

e
s
to

ra
ti

o
n

 P
ro

je
c
t 

w
it

h
 R

iv
e
r 

F
e
rr

y
/T

a
x
i 

d
ro

p
 o

ff
 p

o
n

to
o

n

P
u

lt
e

n
e

y
W

e
ir

, 
C

o
lo

n
n

a
d

e
s

 

a
n

d
 R

u
g

b
y
 G

ro
u

n
d

R
e
s
to

re
d

 C
o

lo
n

n
a
d

e
s
, 

R
u

g
b

y
 

G
ro

u
n

d
 c

o
lo

n
n

a
d

e
s
, 

fl
o

a
ti

n
g

 

re
s
ta

u
ra

n
ts

, 
m

o
o

ri
n

g
s
 a

lo
n

g
 

P
a
ra

d
e
 G

a
rd

e
n

s
 W

h
a
rf

, 
R

iv
e
r 

F
e
rr

y
/T

a
x

i 
te

rm
in

u
s

C
h

u
rc

h
il
l 
R

o
a
d

 B
ri

d
g

e
R

iv
e
r 

F
e
rr

y
/T

a
x
i 

p
o

n
to

o
n

, 
S

h
o

p
s
 &

 

C
a
fe

s
 i

n
 t

h
e
 r

a
il
w

a
y
 v

a
u

lt
s
, 

fi
n

is
h

in
g

 

li
n

e
 f

o
r 

In
te

r 
V

a
rs

it
y
 B

o
a
t 

R
a
c
e
, 

F
la

g
 

P
o

le
s
 a

n
d

 e
n

h
a
n

c
in

g
 f

e
a
tu

re
s
 f

o
r 

th
e
 

b
ri

d
g

e
 a

n
d

 t
h

e
 I

n
n

o
v
a
ti

o
n

 C
e
n

tr
e
, 

W
a
te

r 
F

o
u

n
ta

in
 f

e
a
tu

re
s
 

H
a

n
h

a
m

L
o

c
k

T
h

e
 e

n
d

 o
f 

th
e
 B

&
N

E
S

 
R

iv
e
r 

A
v
o

n
 j

o
u

rn
e
y

S
o

m
e

rd
a

le
N

e
w

 h
o

u
s
in

g
, 

b
u

s
in

e
s
s
 u

n
it

s
 f

o
r 

h
ig

h
-s

k
il
le

d
, 

k
n

o
w

le
d

g
e
 a

n
d

 

c
re

a
ti

v
e
 b

a
s
e
d

 s
ta

rt
-u

p
s
 w

it
h

 a
 

c
e
n

tr
e
 o

f 
e
x
c
e
ll

e
n

c
e
 f

o
r 

m
a
te

ri
a
ls

 

re
s
o

u
rc

e
 e

ff
ic

ie
n

c
y
 t

h
a
t 

is
 

c
o

n
n

e
c
te

d
 t

o
 t

h
e
 H

ig
h

 S
tr

e
e
t,

 

R
iv

e
rs

id
e
 a

n
d

 B
ro

a
d

m
e
a
d

 
re

g
e
n

e
ra

ti
o

n
 p

o
d

s

B
ro

a
d

m
e

a
d

 &
 A

v
o

n
 V

a
ll

e
y

M
a
te

ri
a
ls

 w
a
s
te

 m
a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t 
fa

c
il
it

y
 f

o
r 

w
a
s
te

 f
ro

m
 b

a
rg

e
s
, 

m
a
n

u
fa

c
tu

ri
n

g
 o

f 

b
a
rg

e
s
, 

m
ic

ro
 h

e
a
t 

g
ri

d
 a

n
d

 a
n

a
e
ro

b
ic

 

d
ig

e
s
te

r,
 f

lo
o

d
 c

o
m

p
e
n

s
a
ti

o
n

 t
a
n

k
, 

m
a
ri

n
a
 a

n
d

 w
a
te

r 
e
c
o

lo
g

y
 p

a
rk

K
e

y
n

s
h

a
m

 C
y
c

le
p

a
th

C
re

a
te

 a
 c

y
c
le

 a
n

d
 p

e
d

e
s
tr

ia
n

 

a
c
c
e
s

s
 r

o
u

te
 f

ro
m

 t
h

e
 s

o
u

th
 

ri
v
e
rs

id
e
 o

f 
th

e
 B

a
th

/B
ri

s
to

l 
C

y
c
le

 

T
ra

c
k
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 A

v
o

n
 V

a
ll
e
y
 

C
o

u
n

tr
y
 P

a
rk

 i
n

to
 K

e
y
n

s
h

a
m

W
e

s
to

n
 I

s
la

n
d

P
a
rk

 &
 S

a
il
 f

a
c
il
it

y
 f

o
r 

R
iv

e
r 

F
e
rr

y
/T

a
x

i 

in
to

 t
h

e
 C

it
y
 c

e
n

tr
e
, 

c
le

a
ri

n
g

 t
h

e
 c

a
n

a
l 

c
u

t 

to
 t

h
e
 l

o
c
k
 a

n
d

 p
ro

v
id

in
g

 s
e
rv

ic
e
d

 b
o

a
t 

m
o

o
ri

n
g

s
, 

re
s
e
a
rc

h
 i

n
n

o
v
a
ti

v
e
 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
o

p
p

o
rt

u
n

it
ie

s
 f

o
r 

th
e
 I

s
la

n
d

, 

S
ta

rt
 o

f 
th

e
 I
n

te
r 

V
a
rs

it
y
 B

o
a
t 

R
a
c
e

L
o

w
e

r 
B

ri
s

to
l 

R
o

a
d

L
o

a
d

in
g

 f
a
c
il
it

y
 w

h
a
rf

 f
o

r 

w
a
s
te

 t
ra

n
s
fe

r 
b

y
 r

iv
e
r

L
a
m

b
ri

d
g

e
T

ra
in

in
g

 G
ro

u
n

d
P

a
rk

 &
 S

a
il
 T

e
rm

in
u

s
 f

o
r 

ri
v
e
r 

fe
rr

ie
s
/t

a
x
is

 i
n

to
 B

a
th

 C
it

y
 C

e
n

tr
e

B
&
N
E
S

 R
iv
e
r 
C
o
rr
id
o
r 
R
o
a
d
M
a
p
2
0
1
1

!2
0
1
6

C
re
a
ti
n
g

 a
 r
iv
e
r 
o
f 
id
e
a
s 
w
h
e
re

 w
e

 l
iv
e
, 
w
o
rk

 a
n
d

 p
la
y

T
o

 B
ri

s
to

l 
&

 

A
v
o

n
m

o
u

th

T
w

o
 C

it
ie

s
 P

ro
je

c
t

Im
p

ro
v
in

g
 a

c
c
e
s

s
 t

o
 a

n
d

 

c
o

n
d

it
io

n
 o

f 
th

e
 t

o
w

p
a
th

, 
c
y
c
le

-

w
a
y
 a

n
d

 p
e
d

e
s
tr

ia
n

 r
o

u
te

s

JH

Page 155



123

(IV) ILLUSTRATION CREDITS

EN - Edward Nash

JD - Jeremy Douch

JW - John Webb

OP - Oliver Parks

SM - Sara Melvin

JH - James Hurley

G - 'OOGLE฀0RO฀,ICENSE฀.UMBER฀�*#0-�6:0%#!.$3�	

All other unmarked imagery taken from search engines.

Page 156



Page 157



Page 158

This page is intentionally left blank



A
p

p
e

n
d

ix
 2

 -
 R

iv
e

r 
C

o
rr

id
o

r 
R

e
p

o
rt

 s
e

le
c

te
d

 R
e

c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a

ti
o

n
s

1

P
e
rc

e
p

ti
o

n
 C

h
a
n

g
e
s

R
e
p

o
rt

 

p
a
g

e
 

re
fe

re
n

c
e

1
.1

R
e
m

o
v
e
 t

h
e
 b

a
rr

ie
rs

 o
f 

h
e
d

g
in

g
 t

h
a
t 

c
u

rr
e
n

tl
y
 p

re
v
e
n

t 
m

a
jo

r 
a
s
s
e
ts

 o
f 

B
a
th

's
 h

e
ri

ta
g

e
 b

e
in

g
 v

is
u

a
ll
y
 a

n
d

 p
o

s
it

iv
e
ly

 a
s
s
o

c
ia

te
d

 w
it

h
 

th
e
 r

iv
e
r 

a
t 

G
re

e
n

 P
a
rk

 a
n

d
 N

o
rf

o
lk

 C
re

s
c
e
n

t.

1
0
7

1
.2

U
s
e
 t

h
e
 C

o
u

n
c
il
’s

 e
x
is

ti
n

g
 a

s
s
e
ts

 i
n

c
lu

d
in

g
 G

re
e
n

 P
a
rk

 a
n

d
 N

o
rf

o
lk

 C
re

s
c
e
n

t 
la

w
n

s
 a

n
d

 s
ti

m
u

la
te

 o
th

e
r 

la
n

d
o

w
n

e
rs

 t
o

 c
re

a
te

 t
h

e
 

ri
v
e
rs

id
e
 v

e
n

u
e
s
 t

h
a
t 

B
a
th

 c
u

rr
e
n

tl
y
 l
a
c
k
s
 f

o
r 

s
it

ti
n

g
, 
w

a
tc

h
in

g
, 
e
a
ti

n
g

, 
re

la
x
in

g
, 
s
o

c
ia

li
s
in

g
 t

h
a
t 

w
o

u
ld

 b
ri

n
g

 t
h

e
 r

iv
e
r 

b
a
c
k
 i
n

to
 t

h
e
 

d
a
il
y
 c

o
n

s
c
io

u
s
n

e
s
s
 o

f 
p

e
o

p
le

 u
s
in

g
 t

h
e
 c

it
y
.

1
0
7

1
.3

C
e
le

b
ra

te
 t

h
e
 l
in

k
 b

e
tw

e
e
n

 t
h

e
 K

e
n

n
e
t 

a
n

d
 A

v
o

n
 C

a
n

a
l 
a
n

d
 t

h
e
 R

iv
e
r 

a
t 

T
h

im
b

le
 M

il
l.

1
0
7

1
.4

P
ro

d
u

c
e
 t

o
u

ri
s
t 

li
te

ra
tu

re
 t

h
a
t 

id
e
n

ti
fi

e
s
 t

h
e
 C

it
y
's

 h
e
ri

ta
g

e
 i
n

 t
h

e
 c

o
n

te
x
t 

o
f 

a
 f

u
ll
 r

iv
e
r 

tr
a
il
; 

p
o

in
ti

n
g

 o
u

t 
h

o
w

 c
lo

s
e
 t

o
 t

h
e
 r

iv
e
r 

m
a
jo

r 

a
s
s
e
ts

 a
n

d
 h

e
ri

ta
g

e
 i
n

te
re

s
t 

a
re

 a
n

d
 t

h
e
 s

ig
n

if
ic

a
n

c
e
 o

f 
a
s
p

e
c
ts

 o
f 

th
e
 r

iv
e
r 

h
e
ri

ta
g

e
 t

h
a
t 

h
a
v

e
 b

e
e
n

 l
o

s
t.

 

1
0
8

1
.5

H
ig

h
li
g

h
t 

th
e
 s

ig
n

if
ic

a
n

c
e
 o

f 
th

e
 R

iv
e
r 

C
o

rr
id

o
r 

R
e
g

e
n

e
ra

ti
o

n
 b

y
 m

a
k
in

g
 t

h
e
 n

e
c
e
s
s
a
ry

 c
o

n
n

e
c
ti

o
n

s
 w

it
h

 t
h

e
 R

u
g

b
y
 C

lu
b

 p
ro

je
c
t 

a
n

d
 

d
o

in
g

 t
h

e
 s

a
m

e
 w

it
h

 o
th

e
r 

s
ig

n
if

ic
a
n

t 
p

la
n

n
in

g
 a

p
p

li
c
a
ti

o
n

s
 w

it
h

in
 t

h
e
 c

it
y
.

1
0
8

1
.6

If
 t

h
e
 f

u
n

d
in

g
 f

o
r 

th
e
 B

u
s
 R

a
p

id
 T

ra
n

s
it

 d
o

e
s
 n

o
t 

m
a
te

ri
a
li
s
e
 q

u
ic

k
ly

, 
p

re
p

a
re

 a
n

 a
lt

e
rn

a
ti

v
e
 p

ri
v
a
te

 s
e
c
to

r 
le

d
 r

iv
e
r 

tr
a
n

s
p

o
rt

a
ti

o
n

 

a
lt

e
rn

a
ti

v
e
.

1
0
8

1
.7

E
s
ta

b
li
s
h

 a
n

 u
n

d
e
rs

ta
n

d
in

g
 w

it
h

 t
h

e
 U

n
iv

e
rs

it
y
, 
th

e
 I
n

n
o

v
a
ti

o
n

 C
e
n

tr
e
 a

n
d

 t
h

e
 W

e
s
t 

o
f 

E
n

g
la

n
d

 L
E

P
 o

n
 t

h
e
 k

in
d

s
 o

f 
fl

o
o

rs
p

a
c
e
 a

n
d

 

te
n

u
re

 m
o

d
e
ls

 a
n

d
 o

p
ti

m
u

m
 l
o

c
a
ti

o
n

s
 t

h
a
t 

b
u

s
in

e
s
s
 g

ro
w

in
g

 o
u

t 
o

f 
U

n
iv

e
rs

it
y
 f

o
u

n
d

e
d

 c
o

m
p

a
n

ie
s
 a

n
d

 s
k
il
l 
s
e
ts

 w
il
l 
n

e
e
d

 a
n

d
 g

a
u

g
e
 

w
it

h
 t

h
e
 U

n
iv

e
rs

it
ie

s
 o

n
 t

h
e
 s

k
il
l 
s
e
ts

 t
h

e
 r

e
c
e
n

t 
e
c
o

n
o

m
y
 w

il
l 
n

e
e
d

 i
n

 y
e
a
rs

 t
o

 c
o

m
e
.

1
0
8

1
.8

L
ia

is
e
 w

it
h

 t
h

e
 E

n
v
ir

o
n

m
e
n

t 
A

g
e
n

c
y
, 
In

la
n

d
 W

a
te

rw
a
y
s
 A

s
s
o

c
ia

ti
o

n
 a

n
d

 B
ri

ti
s
h

 W
a
te

rw
a
y
s
 t

o
 e

s
ta

b
li
s
h

 w
h

e
re

 a
n

d
 h

o
w

 c
it

y
 m

o
o

ri
n

g
s
 

c
a
n

 b
e
 p

ro
v
id

e
d

 a
s
 a

 m
a
tt

e
r 

o
f 

u
rg

e
n

c
y
, 
n

o
ta

b
ly

 a
lo

n
g

 G
re

e
n

 P
a
rk

 R
o

a
d

 o
p

p
o

s
it

e
 R

o
y
a
l 
V

ic
to

ri
a
 P

a
rk

.

1
0
8

1
.9

E
x
p

lo
re

 f
u

tu
re

 o
p

ti
o

n
s
 f

o
r 

K
e
y
n

s
h

a
m

's
 r

iv
e
r 

d
im

e
n

s
io

n
 w

it
h

 l
a
n

d
 o

w
n

e
rs

 a
ro

u
n

d
 e

s
ta

b
li
s
h

in
g

 a
 c

o
m

m
o

n
 i
n

te
re

s
t 

o
f 

a
g

e
n

d
a
.

1
0
8

P
a
g
e
 1

Page 159



2
.0

R
e
g

e
n

e
ra

ti
o

n
 M

o
d

e
l

2
.1

A
 R

e
g

e
n

e
ra

ti
o

n
 M

o
d

e
l 
th

a
t 

u
n

d
e
rs

ta
n

d
s
 t

h
e
 p

a
s
t 

c
h

a
ra

c
te

r 
a
n

d
 r

o
le

 o
f 

th
e
 r

iv
e
r,

 u
n

d
e
rs

ta
n

d
in

g
 t

h
e
 d

ri
v

e
rs

 f
o

r 
c
h

a
n

g
e
 a

n
d

 t
h

e
 

u
n

d
e
rs

ta
n

d
in

g
 o

f 
p

o
s
it

iv
e
 e

n
v

ir
o

n
m

e
n

ta
l,
 s

o
c
ia

l,
 c

u
lt

u
ra

l 
a
n

d
 e

c
o

n
o

m
ic

 v
a
lu

e
s
 o

f 
th

e
 r

iv
e
r.

1
5

3
.0

S
e
tt

in
g

 S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 G
o

a
ls

 t
h

ro
u

g
h

 P
o

li
c
y

3
.1

P
ro

d
u

c
e
 a

 s
tr

a
te

g
y
 f

o
r 

c
re

a
ti

n
g

 s
tr

o
n

g
 r

iv
e
r 

fo
c
u

s
s
e
d

 g
a
te

w
a
y
s
 a

t 
th

e
 k

e
y
 p

o
in

ts
 a

lo
n

g
 t

h
e
 R

iv
e
r 

C
o

rr
id

o
r 

th
a
t 

h
ig

h
li
g

h
t.

 q
u

a
li
ty

, 
v
a
lu

e
 

a
n

d
 a

c
c
e
s
s
ib

il
it

y
 o

f 
th

e
 r

iv
e
r 

a
n

d
 i
ts

 p
a
tt

e
rn

s
 o

f 
u

s
e
. 
S

u
c
h

 g
a
te

w
a
y
s
 a

re
 D

u
n

d
a
s
 A

q
u

e
d

u
c
t,

 B
a
th

a
m

p
to

n
 B

ri
d

g
e
, 
C

le
v
e
la

n
d

 B
ri

d
g

e
, 

W
e
s
to

n
 I
s
la

n
d

 a
n

d
 H

a
n

h
a
m

 G
o

rg
e
.

1
1
0

3
.2

U
n

d
e
rt

a
k
e
 r

e
s
e
a
rc

h
 a

n
d

 d
e
v
e
lo

p
 p

o
li
c
y
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
 f

o
r 

re
c
o

g
n

is
in

g
 w

h
e
re

 r
e
in

te
g

ra
ti

n
g

 t
h

e
 r

iv
e
r 

in
to

 u
rb

a
n

 d
e
s
ig

n
 f

u
n

c
ti

o
n

a
li
ty

 a
n

d
 

p
e
rc

e
p

ti
v
e
 a

w
a
re

n
e
s
s
 o

f 
th

e
 D

is
tr

ic
t 

n
e
e
d

s
 n

e
w

 l
in

k
a
g

e
s
 t

o
 b

e
 m

a
d

e
 t

o
 e

s
ta

b
li
s
h

e
d

 c
u

lt
u

ra
l 
a
s
s
e
ts

.

R
e
s
e
a
rc

h
in

g
 a

n
d

 c
re

a
ti

n
g

 p
o

li
c
y
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
 f

o
r 

id
e
n

ti
fy

in
g

 a
n

d
 h

ig
h

li
g

h
ti

n
g

 t
h

o
s
e
 a

s
p

e
c
ts

 o
f 

th
e
 h

e
ri

ta
g

e
 o

f 
th

e
 R

iv
e
r 

C
o

rr
id

o
r 

th
a
t 

c
a
n

 

b
e
 u

s
e
d

 t
o

 b
ri

n
g

 c
h

a
ra

c
te

r 
a
n

d
 i
d

e
n

ti
ty

 t
o

 t
h

e
 r

e
g

e
n

e
ra

ti
o

n
.

D
e
v
e
lo

p
 a

 s
tr

a
te

g
y
 f

o
r 

h
o

w
 h

e
ri

ta
g

e
 a

lo
n

g
 t

h
e
 c

o
rr

id
o

r 
s
it

e
s
 w

il
l 
b

e
 i
d

e
n

ti
fi

e
d

 a
n

d
 i
n

te
rp

re
te

d
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 s

ig
n

a
g

e
, 
in

fo
rm

a
ti

o
n

 a
n

d
 n

e
w

 

li
n

k
a
g

e
s
.

1
1
1

3
.3

R
iv

e
rs

id
e
 V

e
n

u
e
s
 -

 R
e
s
e
a
rc

h
 c

o
n

s
id

e
ra

ti
o

n
 o

f 
d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

ta
l 
p

a
ra

m
e
te

rs
 t

o
 i
d

e
n

ti
fy

 a
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

lo
c
a
ti

o
n

s
 a

lo
n

g
 t

h
e
 R

iv
e
r 

C
o

rr
id

o
r 

in
 

th
e
 D

is
tr

ic
t 

w
h

e
re

 t
h

e
 c

re
a
ti

o
n

 o
f 

ri
v
e
rs

id
e
 v

e
n

u
e
s
 w

o
u

ld
 b

o
th

 s
e
rv

e
 a

n
d

 s
ti

m
u

la
te

 t
h

e
 r

e
g

e
n

e
ra

ti
o

n
 o

b
je

c
ti

v
e

1
1
1

3
.4

C
u

lt
u

ra
l 
Ic

o
n

s
 -

 T
h

e
 i
m

p
o

rt
a
n

c
e
 o

f 
u

n
d

e
rt

a
k
in

g
 r

e
s
e
a
rc

h
 a

n
d

 p
re

p
a
ri

n
g

 p
o

li
c
ie

s
 f

o
r 

re
c
o

g
n

is
in

g
 t

h
e
 r

o
le

 o
f 

n
e
w

 c
u

lt
u

ra
l 
ic

o
n

s
 w

it
h

in
 a

 

R
iv

e
r 

C
o

rr
id

o
r 

R
e
g

e
n

e
ra

ti
o

n

1
1
2

3
.5

U
n

d
e
r 

th
e
 b

a
n

n
e
r 

o
f 

S
p

a
ti

a
l 
S

u
s
ta

in
a
b

il
it

y
, 
d

e
v
e
lo

p
 p

o
li
c
ie

s
 t

o
 p

ro
te

c
t 

th
o

s
e
 l
a
n

d
 a

re
a
s
 a

lo
n

g
 t

h
e
 R

iv
e
r 

C
o

rr
id

o
r 

w
h

e
re

 w
a
te

r 
tu

rb
in

e
s
 

c
a
n

 b
e
 l
o

c
a
te

d
 t

o
 e

n
s
u

re
 t

h
a
t 

th
e
 o

p
p

o
rt

u
n

it
y
 t

o
 d

o
 t

h
is

 i
s
 n

o
t 

lo
s
t 

b
y
 i
n

a
p

p
ro

p
ri

a
te

 a
lt

e
rn

a
ti

v
e
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t

1
1
2

3
.6

C
o

m
m

it
 t

o
 a

 b
io

-d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 s

tu
d

y
 a

n
d

 s
tr

a
te

g
y
 t

h
a
t 

w
il
l 
a
im

 t
o

 d
e
m

o
n

s
tr

a
te

 w
h

e
re

 a
lo

n
g

 t
h

e
 R

iv
e
r 

C
o

rr
id

o
r,

 b
o

th
 i
n

 t
h

e
 u

rb
a
n

 a
n

d
 t

h
e
 

ru
ra

l 
a
re

a
s
, 
b

io
-d

iv
e
rs

it
y
 e

n
h

a
n

c
e
m

e
n

t 
o

b
je

c
ti

v
e
s
 c

a
n

 b
e
s
t 

b
e
 a

c
h

ie
v
e
d

.

1
1
2

3
.7

D
e
v
e
lo

p
 a

 s
tr

a
te

g
y
 f

o
r 

h
o

w
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
d

 p
e
d

e
s
tr

ia
n

 a
n

d
 c

y
c
le

 u
s
e
 a

lo
n

g
 t

h
e
 c

o
rr

id
o

r 
a
re

 m
a
x
im

is
e
d

 a
n

d
 c

o
n

fl
ic

ts
 r

e
s
o

lv
e
d

.

W
it

h
in

 t
h

e
 s

tr
a
te

g
y
, 
g

o
a
ls

 n
e
e
d

 t
o

 b
e
 i
d

e
n

ti
fi

e
d

 f
o

r 
im

p
ro

v
in

g
 a

c
c
e
s
s
ib

il
it

y
 f

ro
m

 b
ri

d
g

e
s
 a

n
d

 l
in

k
e
d

 p
o

in
ts

 t
o

 m
a
k
e
 i
t 

le
s
s
 l
ik

e
ly

 t
h

a
t 

c
y
c
li
s
ts

 w
il
l 
n

e
e
d

 t
o

 d
is

m
o

u
n

t 
a
n

d
 o

p
ti

m
is

in
g

 t
h

e
 a

c
c
e
s
s
ib

il
it

y
 f

o
r 

th
e
 d

is
a
b

le
d

. 

C
o

n
n

e
c
ti

v
it

y
; 

re
s
e
a
rc

h
in

g
 a

n
d

 p
re

p
a
ri

n
g

 p
o

li
c
y
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
 f

o
r 

p
ro

te
c
ti

n
g

 l
a
n

d
 n

e
c
e
s
s
a
ry

 t
o

 e
n

s
u

re
 n

e
w

 l
in

k
a
g

e
s
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
, 
a
lo

n
g

 a
n

d
 

a
c
ro

s
s
 t

h
e
 R

iv
e
r 

C
o

rr
id

o
r 

a
re

 m
a
d

e
 w

h
e
re

 t
h

e
s
e
 w

il
l 
b

e
n

e
fi

t 
th

e
 r

e
g

e
n

e
ra

ti
o

n
 o

b
je

c
ti

v
e
s
.

1
1
2
-1

1
3

3
.8

E
s
ta

b
li
s
h

 a
 R

iv
e
r 

M
a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t 
G

ro
u

p
, 
re

c
o

g
n

is
e
d

 b
y
 r

e
p

re
s
e
n

ta
ti

o
n

 f
ro

m
 t

h
e
 C

o
u

n
c
il
, 
th

e
 E

n
v
ir

o
n

m
e
n

t 
A

g
e
n

c
y
 a

n
d

 B
ri

ti
s
h

 

W
a
te

rw
a
y
s
.

1
1
3

P
a
g
e
 2

Page 160



3
.9

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
 a

 s
tr

a
te

g
y
 f

o
r 

c
re

a
ti

n
g

 m
o

o
ri

n
g

s
 a

n
d

 l
a
n

d
in

g
s
 a

lo
n

g
 t

h
e
 r

iv
e
r 

to
 e

n
a
b

le
 b

o
a
t 

u
s
e
rs

 t
o

 a
c
c
e
s
s
 a

re
a
s
 w

e
s
t 

o
f 

P
u

lt
e
n

e
y
 W

e
ir

 t
o

 

m
a
k
e
 i
t 

p
o

s
s
ib

le
 f

o
r 

p
le

a
s
u

re
 b

o
a
ts

 a
n

d
 w

a
te

r 
ta

x
is

 t
o

 d
o

 t
h

e
 s

a
m

e
.

1
1
3

3
.1

0
S

u
p

p
o

rt
in

g
 t

h
e
 s

tr
a
n

d
s
 o

f 
e
c
o

n
o

m
ic

 a
c
ti

v
it

y
 o

n
 w

h
ic

h
 t

h
e
 f

u
tu

re
 o

f 
th

e
 D

is
tr

ic
t 

w
il
l 
re

ly
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 r

e
s
e
a
rc

h
.

1
1
3

P
a
g
e
 3

Page 161



Page 162

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

 

Note to ECD/PDS Panel  

In late 2010 the Council, acting through the Cabinet member for Economic Development at 

the time, Councillor Terry Gazzard and the Strategic Director, Development & Major Projects 

John Betty invited several people with relevant skills and experience interested in the future 

role of the River Avon to advise the Council on how its potential as a force for regeneration 

might be achieved.   

The Group consisted of people with related professional disciplines, such as ecology, 

sustainability, regeneration, transportation, or decades of experience in managing or using 

waterways, together with Council Member representation from the two main political parties.   

Edward Nash, founder of Bath based regeneration and design consultancy, Nash 

Partnership was asked to chair the Group with Michael Davis (who has had considerable 

experience with the Kennet and Avon Canal Trust) as Deputy Chair. 

The Group met at monthly intervals throughout early 2011 and consulted with many 

established interests along the River before producing their first report which has been 

widely circulated within the Council, its Members and senior officers.  

The report is extensive and runs to circa 160 pages.   It sets out to illustrate the present 

varieties of character and appreciation of the 30km. of the River Avon through the Bath & NE 

Somerset Council district and explain how, in historical terms, it has come to be so under 

valued as it passes through most of Bath and close to Keynsham, in environmental, social, 

cultural and economic terms.   

The report then explains how, building on the evidence of areas like Bristol’s Harbourside 

and Central London’s southbank wholly new qualities of social, cultural, economic and 

environmental value can be created over time to turn the asset a river ought to be, into 

something that significantly defines the identity of the places it passes through.   

The report explains how such ‘value growth’ is incremental; how, growing beyond a clear 

conceptual framework, small changes can combine to alter perceptions, stimulate 

community and individual action and gradually make it possible for investment to be justified 

by individuals, small and large business and the public sector as the value; social, cultural, 

economic and environmental of an enhanced, active river can be realised.   

Page 163



 

 

So the report identifies – where change is most needed, and how, relatively small 

improvements in water-based activity, in access, in amenity, can change perceptions of 

value.  It identifies how and where new activity, social, cultural, economic, environmental can 

be stimulated to best cumulative effect and how re-establishing a river focus can be 

significant to the future identity of several existing communities along its route. 

The report concludes by listing nine areas of economic activity, many already in evidence in 

the economic profile of the District that, can be synergised via a river economy regeneration 

project, each strengthened by taking support and building stability from each other to give 

the District the enhanced economic identity it needs, within the West of England LEP.  

The Group have been invited to discuss with the Council how this programme for action 

should best be progressed.   Models for waterway regeneration are many and it can be seen 

from some, such as the Thames Rivers’ Trust or the Kennet and Avon Canal Trust, that 

there are virtues in progressing such projects via such an independent, charitable, not for 

profit vehicle.  As a Membership organisation this can draw in volunteers and expertise and 

act as a body to focus established interest, the Council, Environment Agency, British 

Waterways etc, together around particular project missions.   

Whether this is best achieved by a Trust, or a Community Enterprise body, or some other 

such body, has yet to be concluded.  We do see much value in reconnecting several of the 

urban communities along the River Avon with it in meaningful social, cultural, environmental 

and economic ways as a large part of the project’s value.  

The bringing of the report formally to this ECD/PDS Panel is a major step in putting the value 

regeneration of our District’s main river forward as an important item on Council’s forward 

agenda, wholly consistent with, and necessary to the delivery of the Vision for the District 

and the major projects put in hand in recent years.  

For us, re-vitalising this river promises so much – not just new developemnt, but a new 

energy, the chance to set goals for making an abandoned length of the river beautiful and 

environmentally sound again, extending the attractions of our World Heritage City well 

beyond the few hundred metres of our river that currently merits that descritpion.   

 

Edward Nash  

 

Page 164



Appendix 4 – Terms of Reference (as agreed at initiation in 2010) 
 
10097 The River Corridor Group, Bath 
TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 
The Group has been facilitated by Terry Gazzard, Exec Member and John Betty, Strategic 
Director Development and Major Projects. It includes Councillors, consultants and business 
leaders with particular skills relevant to the use of waterways, the economic opportunities 
rivers and their banks create and the technical issues involved.  It aims to advise the Council 
over a period of years on changing the present situation of the Bath Avon river corridor within 
the Council’s area from making no or even a negative contribution to the economy, to one 
with a wide ranging, positive, sustainable and regenerative contribution. 
 
The Group is independent of the Council and Advisory. Its members have been selected by 
invitation to offer an appropriate range of skills and experience. 
 
The Group will issue an annual report and a midyear interim report during each year and 
liaise with the Council through the Strategic Director, Development & Major Projects.  
Access to relevant data, senior Council Officers and Councillors and consultees will be 
facilitated through the same.  
 
The involvement of the Group members is on a voluntary basis, but the Council will facilitate 
these endeavours in every way possible through setting up meetings and information 
distribution facilities, preparing minutes, circulating agendas etc. 
 
The fixture of the River corridor is affected by many areas of the Council’s operations and 
responsibilities and those of other bodies such as the Environment Agency, British 
Waterways etc. In setting up the Group the intention is that the Group’s advice should inform 
the policies and actions of the Council in the interest of ensuring that the economic 
transformation goals of the brief are maximised. 
 
The Group have been instructed to focus on the potential of the river to create new economic 
activity and wealth compatible with elements of cultural and environmental value.  
 
The Group should note the commissioned work already underway for the council in devising 
flood management strategies and work to inform rather than direct the development control 
policy in the area. 
 
The work of the Group is to be focussed on opportunities that can bear fruit in the short term, 
especially in stimulating new economic activity and employment around river transportations’, 
waste management and treatment and leisure opportunities on the water and the banks. 
Opportunities with medium and long term dimensions will be identified. 
 
The Group will meet at intervals of 4 to 8 weeks and be managed under the Chairmanship of 
an elected chair, supported by a Deputy. 
 
The Group will be asked to comment on emerging proposals likely to affect the Regenerative 
mission of the brief as a consultee.  
 
As advice and economic opportunities come forward, the council expect to advice on special 
studies that might need to be commissioned and where options are taken up to use their 
position and experience to bid for funding where appropriate. 

Page 165



Page 166

This page is intentionally left blank



Printed on recycled paper 1

 

Bath & North East Somerset Council 
 

MEETING: 
Economic and Community Development Policy Development and Scrutiny 
Panel 

MEETING 
DATE: 

24 May 2012 

TITLE: 
Community Safety Plan: Police performance update and Business 
Improvement District (BID) - Night Time Economy  

WARD: ALL 

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM  

 
1 THE ISSUE 

1.1 In 2011 Bath’s Business Improvement District (BID) was launched by Future Bath 
Plus to strengthen the management of the city centre.  The scheme works in 
partnership with the Council and Police to deliver a high quality Bath night time 
economy that is safe and enjoyable for all.  

1.2 This report invites the Panel to hear about how the BID consolidates work already 
underway with the Taxi and Street Marshals, Police, CCTV and radio links.   

1.3 The Police will also provide a 2011/2012 performance update to highlight the 
progress made over the last twelve months in particular;  improved victim 
satisfaction, reduction in crime and results on the work with prolific offenders. 

1.4 The Panel will be invited to an open question and answer session at the end of 
the presentation.  

2 RECOMMENDATION 

2.1 The Panel is asked to agree that it receives and comments on a presentation 
setting out the progress made of the BID and Police performance over the last 
twelve months and, identify areas of support where the Panel can influence.    

3 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

3.1 There are no financial implications directly arising from this report.  

 
4 THE REPORT 

4.1 Projects in the BID are managed by Future Bath Plus and funded by 620 Bath 
Businesses along with voluntary and in-kind contributions. The Panel will hear 
how some of these projects support and impact upon the night time economy.  

4.1 The Panel will receive a presentation on the police performance 2011/2012 that 
will provide a local overview of overall service satisfaction and,  reduction in 
serious acquisitive crime.  

Agenda Item 10

Page 167



Printed on recycled paper 2

4.2 The BID arrangements and the role of Night Watch scheme will be explained - a 
new scheme building customer trust and confidence in having a safe night out in 
Bath.  

4.3 There will be an opportunity also to consider  

• How these work closely with the Police, Businesses, Council and the 
Community Safety Team, to deliver visible solutions that make those who visit 
and live in Bath feel safe  

• How the Police will continue to support the night time economy 

• How the BID will support local priorities and work with businesses in both the 
daytime and evening economy to reduce the number of thefts and anti-social 
behaviour issues. 

 

5 RISK MANAGEMENT 

5.1 The presentation relates to the work of Avon & Somerset Police and Future Bath 
Plus BID and are subject to their risk assessment processes. 

6 EQUALITIES 

6.1 . Promoting equality and opportunity for all groups and individuals across the 
equality strands and promoting community cohesion is integral to this work 

7 CONSULTATION 

7.1 Divisional Director, Policy and Partnerships; Democratic Services 

8 ISSUES TO CONSIDER IN REACHING THE DECISION 

8.1 Community Safety, Section 17 and 115 Crime and Disorder Act 1998; Other Legal 
Considerations 

9 ADVICE SOUGHT 

9.1 The Council's Monitoring Officer (Council Solicitor) and Section 151 Officer 
(Divisional Director - Finance) have had the opportunity to input to this report and 
have cleared it for publication 

Contact person  Sue Dicks, Community Safety Manager - 01225 477415 

Sue_dicks@bathnes.gov.uk 

Background 
papers 

Link to BID Annual Review - 
http://www.bathbid.co.uk/dbimgs/BID%20Annual%20Review.pdf  

Please contact the report author if you need to access this report in an 
alternative format 

 

Page 168



Printed on recycled paper 1

 

Bath & North East Somerset Council 
 

MEETING: Economic and Community Development Policy Development &  Scrutiny 

MEETING 
DATE: 

24th May 2012 

TITLE: Bath & North East Somerset’s Tourism Performance 

WARD: ALL 

AN OPEN ITEM  

 

List of attachments to this report: 

None 

 
 

1 THE ISSUE 

Concerns have been raised across the tourism industry regarding the impact of the 
2012 London Olympics and the consequent distribution from London of visitors.   

 

2 RECOMMENDATION 

The Panel is asked to: 

2.1 Note the direction of travel and make any recommendations for future actions. 

3 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

3.1 There are no financial implications beyond the present business planning 
constraints unless the reccomendations from the committee carry such 
consequences. 

 

4 CORPORATE OBJECTIVES 

• Creating neighbourhoods where people are proud to live 
The Council offers free access to all the Heritage Buildings to those who are resident 
in Bath and North East Somerset. This is specifically related to ensuring an 
understanding of the history and heritage of the area as well as to educate. 

• Building a stronger economy 
Bath and North East Somerset Council has 10,000 people employed in tourism 
related industries & 8,000 in retail. In addition the Council earns significant income 
from the Property holdings, Roman Bath and Heritage estate alongside the parking 
income that is generated by Tourism. 

 

Agenda Item 11

Page 169



Printed on recycled paper 2

5 THE REPORT 

5.1 The 2012 tourism season is characterised by: 

• Ongoing global economic uncertainty. 

• Volitility in the international travel market  

• Uncertainty in the domestic travel market 

• Continuation of the staycation effect.  

• Impact of 2012 London Olympics. 

• Effect upon retail of the domestic economy. 

• Cost of domestic travel. 

• Oportunities in the BRIC countries  

5.2 As a consequence we have maintained a close watching brief over the various sectors 
using a range of indicators gathered together through T Stats. 

• Roman Baths are running 2.4% above budget and 1.4% above last years target – which 
was a 20 year record performance. 

• The Thermae Development Company reports being on target in spite of some 
varitations month to month. 

• Footfall is around 6% above last years figures. 

• The more modern car parks are 20% above last years figures, the aging stock figures 
are now available on a monthly basis and will be reported at the panel meeting. 

• The performance of retail ‘essentials’ is reported to be strong in the first quarter whilst 
the fashion sector is suffering from weak demand. The performance of the restaurant 
sector is mixed. Character catering & larger chains reporting strong performance whilst 
independants suggest weaker performance. 

• Night time economy reports strong performance over the week end periods  

• There is churn in the retail property market however there appears to be a focus on 
reducing overheads & pressure on reducing lease periods. Given the right 
location/layout there is still strong demand for the correct product however the less 
obvious locations are struggling for tennants. Given that indicator BaNES Property 
Services have only 5.4% retail voids (increase of 1% over 2011) against a national 
average of 14.5%.  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 170



Printed on recycled paper 3

Projections 

The ressessionary factors in the economy results in booking being made late however the 
present results from Bath Tourism Plus advanced sales are mixed and to an extent 
counter intuitive: 

Period                                                       Bookings       Bed Nights     Value 

April / May 2012                                                                                      8% 

June 2012                                                 33%               40%                (1.6%) 

      July 2012                                                  13%                (9.3%)            (19%) 

August 2012                                             36%                11%                0.2% 

Performance over 2011 base by %  (  ) indicates a negative figure. 

More work is required to understand whether these figures reflect the performance of 
‘direct sales’ and other ‘agency sales’ (lastminute.com etc). 

Bath’s area response 

• The Government has allocated £200K per annum for the next three years in order 
to promote regional and sub national marketing. Additional funds have been made 
available for international marketing. 

• Bath Tourism Plus, the Business Improvement District and Heritage Services have 
each allocated additional resources to match the Governments fundng. 

• Promotion of a retail, tourism and event programme in order to encourage repeat 
visits &  broaden the appeal of the area.   

• Position Bath as a focal point for the sub region – Jubilee Celebration, X Media 
Lab, X – Games, Popular Music Programme, Olympic Torch / Paralympic Flame 
Events, Party in the City & International Festivals, Sky Ride, Bike Bath etc. We are 
also examining a walking festival and an event notionally titled ‘Quinitessially Bath’ 
– concerned with Health & Well Being. A complete programme of all the events is 
available on - https://sites.google.com/site/bnesevents 

• Embrace an increasing number of TV and major films as promotion for Bath. 

 

6 RISK MANAGEMENT 

• Risk’s are continually assessed and reacted to. These are the headline 
risks: 

• Ongoing global uncertainty. 

• Visitor volumes v propensity to spend. 

• Impact of inflation v standstill household income levels. 

• Other risks are included in the Departmental Risk register and are 
concerned with the exposure to under performance of Bath’s attractions. 

 

 
Page 171



Printed on recycled paper 4

7 EQUALITIES 

7.1 There are no equalities impacts. 

8 CONSULTATION 

8.1 Staff; Other B&NES Services; Stakeholders/Partners; Other Public Sector Bodies; 
Commercial Sector Partners.  

9 ISSUES TO CONSIDER IN REACHING THE DECISION 

Customer Focus; Sustainability;  

10 ADVICE SOUGHT 

10.1 This is for information only 

Contact person  David Lawrence, Divisional Director Tourism Leisure and 
Culture. – 01225 395385. 

Background 
papers 

No additional papers 

Please contact the report author if you need to access this report in an 
alternative format 

 
 

Page 172



 

Printed on recycled paper 1

 

Bath & North East Somerset Council 
 

MEETING: 
Economic and Community Development Policy Development and Scrutiny 
Panel 

MEETING 
DATE: 

24th May 2012 

TITLE: Future business support 

WARD: ALL 

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM  

 

List of attachments to this report: 

 

 
1 THE ISSUE 

1.1 In November 2011, the regional Business Link programmes, operated by the 
Regional Development Agencies closed 

1.2 Business Link was a free business advice and support service, available on line 
and through local advisors, to all businesses. In Bath and North East Somerset 
this was delivered by Business West through a contract worth approximately £6 
million a year across the West of England 

1.3 The offer included free one day start up awareness courses, 3 day start up 
workshops and 121 advice sessions as well as links into other programmes, such 
as support for High Growth potential companies 

1.4 The regional Business Link service has been replaced by a national Business Link 
website. There is no Government funding currently available for free local 
business start-up support in Bath and North East Somerset 

1.5 This report invites the panel to hear options for how support may be provided to 
people wanting to start in business in Bath and North East Somerset in the future 

2 RECOMMENDATION 

The panel is asked to agree that: 

2.1 It receives and comments on a presentation setting out options for providing 
appropriate support to businesses in Bath and North East Somerset, in particular 
start ups 

Agenda Item 12

Page 173



 

Printed on recycled paper 2

3 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

3.1 The Economic, Enterprise and Business Development Service Delivery Plan 
contains a small budget allocation to provide a limited business support start up 
service. There are no additional financial implications from this report. 

3.2 A recommendation from the Panel to pursue any particular option in addition to 
the Service Delivery Plan does not cause a financial commitment for the Council 
to include the objectives within a Service Delivery Plan. Any decision to pursue an 
additional option will be taken by Cabinet and will follow the appropriate 
democratic procedure. Any potential new financial commitments will have to be 
met from savings elsewhere. 

4 THE REPORT 

4.1 The closure of the regional Business Link programmes means that there is no 
Government funded business start up support available in Bath and North East 
Somerset. 

4.2 The panel will receive a presentation which sets out how businesses could be 
supported to start and grow, including through: 

(1) Promoting access to existing national and sub-regional programmes locally  

(2) A limited start up service funded by Bath and North East Somerset Council 

(3) Local business mentors and free professional business services sessions 

(4) Accessible Co-Working space 

(5) Support for sector networks  

5 RISK MANAGEMENT 

5.1 A risk assessment related to the issue and recommendations will be undertaken, 
in compliance with the Council's decision making risk management guidance. 

6 EQUALITIES 

6.1 Any business support offer will be promoted across all equality groups and 
specific targeting will be undertaken, where necessary, to ensure those groups 
and areas with particularly low business start-up rates are able to access 
appropriate support 

7 CONSULTATION 

7.1 Cabinet Member; Strategic Director for Place; Section 151 Finance Officer; 
Monitoring Officer 

8 ISSUES TO CONSIDER IN REACHING THE DECISION 

8.1 Sustainability; Human Resources; Property; Impact on Staff;  

9 ADVICE SOUGHT 

Page 174



 

Printed on recycled paper 3

9.1 The Council's Monitoring Officer (Divisional Director – Legal and Democratic 
Services) and Section 151 Officer (Divisional Director - Finance) have had the 
opportunity to input to this report and have cleared it for publication. 

 

Contact person  John Wilkinson (01225) 396593 

Background 
papers 

 

Please contact the report author if you need to access this report in an 
alternative format 

 
 

Page 175



Page 176

This page is intentionally left blank



 

Printed on recycled paper 1

 

Bath & North East Somerset Council 
 

MEETING: 
 
Economic & Community Development Policy and Scrutiny Panel 

MEETING 
DATE: 

24th May 2012 

TITLE: 
Update on the Scrutiny Inquiry Day: The benefit of Joint working to retain 
Graduates in Bath & North East Somerset 

WARD: ALL 

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM  

List of attachments to this report: 

Briefing report & Recommendations table for discussion 

1. Briefing Report of findings and outcomes from the SID 

2. Recommendations Response table 

3. Paul Swinney Presentation ‘The impact of universities on city economies’  

4. Jim Plunkett-Cole Briefing report on graduate Retention in Bath & North East 
Somerset 

 
 

1. THE ISSUE 

1.1 At its meeting on the 18th November 2011 the Policy Development & Scrutiny 
Panel agreed to undertake a Scrutiny Inquiry Day into the benefits of joint working 
to retain graduates in Bath & North East Somerset. The aim of this investigation 
was to identify what local businesses and organisations are doing now to retain 
graduates and what plans they have for the future. This would then help the Council 
identify how we can best work together to support these efforts, through a greater 
understanding of what more still needs to be done and through discussions with key 
stakeholders about how this is achievable, thus ensuring that Bath & North East 
Somerset is attractive to graduates and graduate employers. 

 
1.2 The Economic & Community Development Policy and Scrutiny Panel held the 

single inquiry dayon the 18th April 2012. It was a successful event which bought 
together a wide selection of key stakeholders. The inquiry day focused on 
identifying the current picture and discussing practical and achievable ways that the 
economy of Bath & North East Somerset can be improved through the retention of 
graduates.  
 

1.3 The findings and outcomes are detailed within the attached briefing report along 
with the jointly agreed recommendations/ action plans which weredeveloped on the 
day.  
 

 

Agenda Item 13

Page 177



 

Printed on recycled paper 2

  
 

2 RECOMMENDATION 

The Economic and Community Policy Development & Scrutiny Panel is asked to:- 

2.1 Consider and make any further comments to the Scrutiny Day Inquiry findings  

2.2 Consider thejoint recommendations table, and make any further comments before 
they are submitted to the relevant Cabinet Members and Partners. 

 

3 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

3.1 The enquiry day was conducted within the resources available to the Economic & 
Community Development Panel. 

 
4 THE REPORT 

4.1 The attached briefing report details all of the key findings and outcomes from the 
Scrutiny Inquiry Day which took place on the 18th April 2012. This provides a 
summary of the presentations & workshop sessions. 

 Full copies of the key presenters presentation slides and briefing report have been 
included as supporting background evidence and reasoning for the development 
of the recommendations agreed on the day 

 The recommendations table details a list of proposals to be considered by both 
Cabinet membersdecisions. 

 

5 RISK MANAGEMENT 

5.1 A risk assessment related to the issue and recommendations has been 
undertaken, in compliance with the Council's decision making risk management 
guidance. 

6 EQUALITIES 

6.1 Equalities issues were considered by the Panel as part of their work in formulating 
the scope of this proposed investigation. 

7 CONSULTATION 

7.1 Policy Development & Scrutiny Panel;Cabinet Member; Other B&NES Services; 
Stakeholders/Partners; Section 151 Finance Officer; Monitoring Officer 

7.2 Consultation has happened with relevant Service Officers. More detailed 
consultation will take place with partner organisations and local businesses in 
taking this investigation forward. 

8 ISSUES TO CONSIDER IN REACHING THE DECISION 

Page 178



 

Printed on recycled paper 3

8.1 Customer Focus; Sustainability; Young People; 

9 ADVICE SOUGHT 

9.1 The Council's Monitoring Officer (Divisional Director – Legal and Democratic 
Services) and Section 151 Officer (Divisional Director - Finance) have had the 
opportunity to input to this report and have cleared it for publication. 

Contact person  Donna Vercoe – Policy Development & Scrutiny 01225 396053 

Lauren Rushen – Policy Development & Scrutiny 01225 396410 

Background 
papers 

None 

Please contact the report author if you need to access this report in an 
alternative format 

 

Page 179



Page 180

This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

Economic & Community Development & Scrutiny Panel, 24th May 2012 

Report back on Scrutiny Inquiry Day held 18th April 2012 into The Benefit of 

joint working to retain graduates in Bath & North East Somerset 

 

 

1.0 Background 

At its meeting on the 18th November 2011 the Policy Development & Scrutiny 

Panel agreed to undertake a Scrutiny Inquiry Day into the benefits of joint 

working to retain graduates in Bath & North East Somerset. The aim of this 

investigation would be to identify what local businesses and organisations are 

doing now to retain graduates and what plans do they have for the future. This 

would then help the Council identify how we can best work together to support 

these efforts, through a greater understanding of what more still needs to be 

done and through discussions with key stakeholders about how this is 

achievable, thus ensuring that Bath & North East Somerset is attractive to 

graduates and graduate employers. 

 

A wide selection of people were invited to attend the event and on the day we 

had a total of 32 people that came to listen to the presentations and feed into the 

workshop sessions. This included; The Bath Chamber of Commerce, Small 

Business Focus, Buro Happold, Media Clash/Creative Bath, Bath Spa University, 

the University of Bath, the City of Bath College, Norton Radstock Colleges, 

graduate start-up businesses, a student,Councillors and Council departments. 

 

We received a mixture of presentations throughout the day which raised many 

questions and set the discussions for the workshop sessions. 

 

• Paul Swinney (Centre for Cities1):talked about the value of the relationship 

between universities and city economies, primarily on a national level 

with additional information about the B&NES area.  

 

• Jim Plunkett-Cole (Smart Growth Analytics): was commissioned by the 

Council to undertake some detailed statistical investigation and analysis 

on the issue of graduate retention in B&NES.  

 

• Dave Kelly and Adam Pope (Storm): shared their experiences of setting up 

their business in the area and of employing / attracting graduates.  

 

There was also an opportunity for statements to be gathered from the floor, 

which provided every possible opportunity for everyone’s views and thoughts to 

be shared with the rest of the group. Prof Christina Slade the Vice Chancellor of 

Bath Spa University used this opportunity to raise her thoughts about what areas 

need to be considered for the future, which included her concerns about how we 

can attract more global students to the area and improve the current systems in 

place to enable this. 

                                                 
1Centre for Cities is an independent policy research unit who had previously published the 
“Starter for Ten: Five Facts and Questions on the Relationship between Universities and City 
Economies” (2011) http://www.centreforcities.org/starterforten.html 

Page 181



2 

 

Prof Slade also felt that by improving the knowledge of our students of what’s 

available locally,would help to meet the Councils Core Strategy and Economic 

Development Strategy of making provisions for an additional 9000 jobs by 2026. 

 

Workshops were then held to scope the strengths, opportunities, weaknesses 

and threats that are faced by key stakeholders in retaining graduates in the area 

and to establish what we collectively require to retain graduates to help identify 

recommendations for further investigation and some possible solutions to 

issues. 

 

2.0 Recommendations 

 

2.1 Recommendation: 

The SID highlighted the benefits to the local economy arising from the presence 

and activity of Universities, in particular recognising the economic advantage 

arising from students as consumers. Research revealed that the biggest factor in 

retaining and attracting graduates is the availability of good jobs. The SID 

therefore urges Cabinet to endorse and continue to implement the Economic 

Strategy 

 

2.2 Recommendation:  

Business representatives gave evidence that events such as X Media Lab and 

business networks such as Creative Bath were hugely beneficial to not only 

promoting business growth per se but in addition in demonstrating to graduates 

the benefits of staying in B&NES and developing their own businesses and 

business networks. As such the Council should seek to continue sponsoring and 

developing such networks and events. Promotion of the involvement of local 

businesses in scheduling and organising events and festivals to raise the profile 

of Bath and North East Somerset should be stepped up. 

 

2.3 Recommendation: 

Implementing the Bath and North East Somerset Economic Strategy (as 

recommended at 1 above) means expanding and attracting those businesses that 

demand high skilled workers (particularly graduates).  

 

At a more detailed level more needs to be done to match future employer 

requirements with potential employee qualifications. 

 

This ‘intelligent labour market planning’ has commenced within the Council and 

it is recommended that ownership of this and driving the links between 

employers and HE/FE should be promoted via the B&NES Learning and Skills 

Partnership. 

 

2.4 Recommendation: 

With a clear focus on growing business, either through inward investment or 

indigenous expansion, B&NES Council should develop a more robust inward 

investment campaign which includes local business and education institutions 

 

Page 182



3 

 

Specifically more needs to be done to promote the fact that current residents and 

workers are more highly skilled than labour markets elsewhere in the UK. The 

inward investment strategy needs to specifically to make more of this 

comparative advantage. 

This must include marketing beyond the West of England boundaries in 

conjunction with the Universities.   

 

2.5Recommendation: 

Research presented at the Panel indicated the value of flexible cheap space to 

provide the infrastructure for graduates (and others) in order to allow them to 

develop their business ideas without the need for a lot of upfront investment.  

 

It is recommended therefore that Cabinet support the co-working hub in Bath 

and a recommendation also made that this hub could also incorporate 

information to raise awareness of start-up support e.g. mentoring/networking 

opportunities. 

 

2.6Recommendation:  

The development of a hub is a good start. Businesses that gave evidence to the 

Panel mentioned the requirement then to have ‘move on’ space that allowed 

them to expand as their business grew without having to move out of the 

District.  

 

It is recommended therefore that the Enterprise Area makes provision for this in 

Local Plans and that it is delivered as an early phase of the areas development 

with further liaison with business about the nature of the space and when it will 

be required. 

 

2.7Recommendation:  

Students undertaking placements, work experience, internships or mentoring 

with local businesses was seen by both the Universities’ and business as a good 

way to assist with helping retain graduates in B&NES.  

 

Actions to support this were recommended as follows: 

- Promote awareness of such opportunities between business,  the 

Universities and colleges 

- Make the process simpler for students through a central hub of 

information on placements, internships, mentoring. 

- Develop a more systematic method of matching opportunities with 

students rather than relying on personal contacts. For example a web 

based ‘dating’ site developed by business, the Council, University and 

colleges 

Encourage the Universities and Colleges to work with businesses to offer ‘job 

tasters’ that give students insights into businesses that they may not have known 

existed. 

 

2.8 Recommendation:  

Page 183



4 

 

Local businesses with requirements for graduates should collaborate to promote 

a ‘mini milk round’ to the University of Bath and Bath Spa University. This would 

require some coordination by the Council and businesses. 

 

2.9 Recommendation: 

Fledgling businesses can often struggle with finance, both in raising it, knowing 

where to raise it and how. This is especially true for students graduating with 

good ideas and products but lack business knowledge. 

 

Establishing a banking/finance forum locally could help with this and further 

considering the launch of a local business specific bank developed through local 

investment. 

 

3.0 Findings 

 

3.1 Presentation findings and discussions: 

 

Paul Swinney (Centre for Cities):  

 

The Centre for Cities has conducted research on the different types of 

business/income generated by a range of University cities over the period of 

2004-2008(see appendix 3 for a copy of the presentation). The presentation 

initially outlined the income generated from businesses across twenty 

universities. The city with the biggest level of income generated through 

University business was Oxford at just over £90 million, with the biggest 

percentage of their income coming from contract research, compared to 

Coventry with an income of £20 million. Paul noted that Bath, which was not one 

of the cities originally included in the study, would rank fourteenth out of twenty 

with an estimated income of £22 million per university (£44 million overall).  

 

The Centre for Cities presentation also highlighted that University’s as employers 

also contribute to the economy to varying degrees, with Oxford being the highest 

as staff make up approximately 17% of the total employment population 

compared to Telford at less than 5%.  

 

Spin-outs2 from universities tend to have higher turnovers than the general 

business base. For example, 67% of university spin-outs were turning over more 

than £250,000 per annum compared to a UK business average of 30% 

 

Students attending Universities also add value to the local economy, it was 

estimated that Bath’s student population makes up around 12% of the total 

population and generates approximately £180 million spend in the local 

economy. The equivalent figures in Oxford represented around 8-9% of the total 

spend in the local economy. Paul also noted that people have historically 

                                                 
2
 University spin-outs are firms set up to capitalise on innovations begun in the university: either the 

founders started off working for the university, or the core technology originated in university research. 

It is assumed here that all spin-outs operate in the same city as the university they are associated with. 

This is an estimate of spin-out turnover based on university-level statistics. 

Page 184



5 

 

followed opportunities and stated that although an area, like Bath, may have a 

strong economy, planning policy can be seen as off putting.  

 

Overall, the presentation concluded that the biggest economic benefit of 

“universities is through the attraction of students as consumers through their 

levels of employment in a city economy. The direct impact of universities on 

businesses in their host cities is currently low, but their impact goes far beyond 

the business base of their host city.” (Paul Swinney, Centre for Cities, 2012). 

Cities, like Bath, with a higher qualified population tended to have higher levels 

of economic growth over time. 

 

Jim Plunkett-Cole (Smart Growth Analysis Ltd): 

 

Jim Plunkett-Cole was commissioned to undertake some research specifically 

looking at the Bath and North East Somerset area and graduate retention, based 

on 2009/2010 data available from the Higher Education Statistics Agency 

(HESA) which all universities are required to submit information too. A briefing 

report and a presentation were shared on the day (see appendix 4 for a copy of 

the briefing).  

 

The briefing stated the following (Jim Plunkett-Cole, Smart Growth Analysis, 

2012:2):  

 

Table 1: % of graduates from B&NES, London and the England Core City 

universities working or studying in the same area (6 months after 

graduation) 

PUA studied in 

% of all Working 

Graduates from 

HEIs in PUA 

% of all Further 

Study Graduates 

from HEIs in PUA 

% of All 

Graduates 

Working or in 

Further Study 

Bath 13.8 52.4 24.0 

Birmingham 39.4 51.8 42.3 

Bristol 20.2 50.0 26.3 

Leeds 44.8 61.9 48.8 

Liverpool 41.5 55.1 44.4 

London 65.4 62.6 64.8 

Manchester 50.3 59.3 52.3 

Newcastle 47.0 63.8 50.3 

Nottingham 28.0 46.8 32.4 

Sheffield 38.0 60.1 42.5 
Source: HESA Destination of Leavers survey 2009/10. Copyright Higher Education Statistics 

Agency Limited, 2010. HESA cannot accept responsibility for any inferences or conclusions 

derived from the data by third parties. 

 

The above table shows that 24.0% of graduates from Bath’s two universities, 

who were working or studying, were doing so in Bath & North East Somerset. 

13.8% of working graduates were retained in the area as were 52.4% of those 

who continued to study. Overall the graduate retention rate (2009/10) was the 

lowest of all the comparator area, and with the exception of Bristol.  

Page 185



6 

 

 

Jim reported that the main way of raising Bath’s graduate retention rate will be 

to focus on the demand-side for graduates. The Councils Core Strategy and 

Economic Development Strategy make provision for the additional 9,000 or so 

jobs in B&NES in 2026 along with Bath Western Riverside and the City of Ideas 

concept. These could all make a contribution by concentrating on the creation of 

higher added value jobs and taking advantage of the higher skilled workforce 

available. 

 

Due to the discovery of the low ratio of jobs to graduates, the local economy is 

currently in a good position to expand without the need to attract large numbers 

of qualified graduates from outside the region or for the universities to expand. 

Furthermore the relatively low competition for graduate employees could 

represent a way of attracting business working in these sectors to the area, 

which in turn could also improve the retention rate in the area.  

 

Overall the research indicated that any intervention should only take place 

where there is evidence of market failure and as there is no evidence of market 

failure in Bath & North East Somerset in terms of the functioning of the market 

for graduates. Jim reported that the main areas of graduate market failure lie in 

such area as inward investment and start-up.  

 

Dave Kelly and Adam Pope (Storm Consultancy): 

 

Dave Kelly and Adam Pope are two University of Bath graduates who started 

their company, Storm, whilst in their final year of study at University and have 

now developed into a successful company. They gave a presentation to the group 

about their experiences of setting up a business in the area including what 

difficulties they encountered and what they would like to see happen in the 

future. They had started their business in Midsomer but were now located in 

Bath. They had recruited aintern student from Bath Spa University who they 

decided to take on permanently and over the past three years had seen their 

staffing levels grow from two to nine people. 

 

For them, they felt that the key requirements for a successful start-up business 

would be a growth industry, combination of creativity and science, low running 

costs, people, a thriving community and support for entrepreneurs. Both Bath 

and Midsomer offered some of these but they pointed out that Temple Quay in 

Bristol was able to offer all of these and whilst they were not looking to move, on 

paper Bristol offered start-up businesses a more complete package than Bath 

and North East Somerset. They felt that if Bath and North East Somerset wanted 

to move forward, they needed to offer reduced costs for growth industries e.g. 

rate relief, grants, loans; support for local community groups like Bath Digital 

Festival and a support infrastructure for entrepreneurs e.g. through the 

universities, mentoring and networking.  

 

3.2 The workshops exercises generated many issues and ideas some of which 

have been incorporated into the final recommendations:  

 

Page 186



7 

 

Below is a brief summary of some of the discussions and possible solutions. 

 

Workshop One: SWOT (Strengths/Weaknesses/Opportunities/Threats) Analysis  

 

This workshop was designed to explore what work is being done now or planned 

for the future to retain graduates in the area and to identify what the key issues 

are that are threatening graduate retention. 

 

It was generally agreed that Bath and North East Somerset is a pleasant place to 

live and work and it was felt that on the whole graduates would like to stay in the 

area after they have finished their studies. The City of Bath has two popular and 

complimentary universities and many of the graduates in our area are highly 

skilled resulting in Bath being one of the most highly qualified populations in the 

country. 

 

As a result of the above, some of the opportunities that were highlighted 

included: 

 

• Raising the graduate network, regionally and globally, through the 

support of the Councils Planning department to help improve business 

start-up and innovation. 

• It was also felt that there was an opportunity for the area to improve how 

it sells itself to people outside of the area through large employers/ 

universities in the area and better links between Higher & Further 

Education establishments.  

• It was also felt that there is some existing opportunity through the ‘City 

of Ideas’, ‘Creative Hub’, enterprise area, Innovation Centre. 

 

The weakness raised by the groups included: 

• The marketing of skills in the area and how we promote B&NES for 

investment.  

• Planning was also seen as a threat to future development.  

• The cost of living and working versus the lack of higher paid jobs was also 

considered an issue and many felt had resulted in some graduates moving 

out of the area.  

• There were some negative connotations to the ‘heritage image’ of Bath 

and it was felt to have a detrimental effect on people’s perception of the 

area and wanting to start a business in the area. 

• It was also agreed that there is current a lack of joined up thinking on 

graduate retention, and many welcomed the opportunities that the 

discussions raised at the Scrutiny Inquiry day.   

 

The main threats identified included: 

 

• The supply and cost of housing in the area 

• The lack of strong links between ‘town and gown’ 

• The competition that exists with the Bristol Enterprise Zone, London and 

the South East and its attraction to local graduates/ business.  

Page 187



8 

 

• The general uncertainty within the economy today particularly within the 

university/ public sector/ industry coupled by the effect of an ageing 

population.  

 

Workshop Two: 

 

The second workshop exercise sought to examine what sort of graduates would 

the group like to retain in the area and what value they would add.  

 

It was generally agreed that the type of graduates that we would like to retain in 

the area include: the entrepreneurial, all rounded and broader skilled graduates, 

particularly those specialising in Information Technology, creative industries, 

public sector including health and education, professional business and 

green/carbon neutral enterprises. It was felt that we should be targeting the 25-

35 age groups who are more likely to stay in the area in the long term and trying 

to attract more global graduates to stay in the area. 

 

The added value of retaining these graduates would result in a trickling down 

effect to supporting our secondary economy, creating higher earners, increase 

business growth, and general added value to the wider economy. 

 

It would also further increase and boost our highly educated and skilled 

population. The increase in these types of graduates within our local economy 

would have the added benefit of introducing new thinking and cultural offers to 

the city.Therefore resulting in increased productivity, increased growth of 

businesses and helps to attract inward investment. 

 

Workshop Three:This workshop summarised the outcomes from the previous 

discussions and gave the whole group the chance to decide what they collectively 

would like to achieve from the day, the basis of which formed the 

recommendations outlined in section 2.0.  

 

4.0 Conclusion: 

The above briefing report and recommendations table will be submitted to the 

Full Economic and Community Development Panel and will then be submitted to 

the relevant Cabinet members for discussion and response to the individual 

recommendations, at their meeting on the 13th June 2012. The relevant Cabinet 

Members will then have 6 weeks to consider and respond to these 

Recommendation’s . The individual decision and rationale will then be presented 

back to the Economic and Community Development Panel at its meeting on the 

12th July 2012. 

 
 

Page 188



Economic and Community Development Panel: Cabinet Response Table                                                                                                                                   

1 
 

 

Review Title: The  benefit of joint working to retain graduates in Bath & North East Somerset ( Scrutiny 
Inquiry Day) 

Policy Development & Scrutiny Panel: Economic & Community Development Panel 

Panel Chair & Vice Chair: Cllr. Robin Moss & Cllr Ben Stevens 

Policy Development & Scrutiny Project Officer(s): Donna Vercoe & Lauren Rushen 

Supporting Service Officer(s): Jeremy Smalley & John Wilkinson 

 
Process for Tracking PD&S Recommendations - Guidance note for Cabinet Members 
The enclosed table lists all the recommendations arising from the above Policy Development & Scrutiny Review. Individual 
recommendations are referred to the relevant named Cabinet Members (or whole Cabinet in the case of a whole Cabinet referral) 
as listed in the ‘Cabinet Member’ column of the table. In order to provide the PD&S Panel with a Cabinet response on each 
recommendation, the named Cabinet member (or whole Cabinet) is asked to complete the last 3 columns of the table as follows: 
 
Decision Response  
The Cabinet has the following options: 

• Accept the Panel’s recommendation 

• Reject the Panel’s recommendation 

• Defer a decision on the recommendation because a response cannot be given at this time. This could be because the 
recommendation needs to be considered in light of a future Cabinet decision, imminent legislation, relevant strategy 
development or budget considerations, etc.  

 
Implementation Date   

• For ‘Accept’ decision responses, give the date that the recommendation will be implemented.  

• For ‘Defer’ decision responses, give the date that the recommendation will be reconsidered. 

• For ‘Reject’ decisions this is not applicable so write n/a 
 
Rationale 
Use this space to explain the rationale for your decision response and implementation date. For accepted recommendations, please 
give details of how they will be implemented. 

P
age 189



Economic and Community Development Panel: Cabinet Response Table                                                                                                                                   

2 
 

 
Recommendations from SID Benefit of joint working to retain graduates in Bath & north East Somerset   
 
Recommendation Cabinet 

Member 
Decision 
Response 

Implementation 
Date 

Rationale 

Recommendation 1:  
The SID highlighted the benefits to the local 
economy arising from the Universities. In 
particular recognising the economic advantage 
arising from students as consumers. Research 
revealed that the biggest factor in retaining 
and attracting graduates is the availability of 
good jobs. The SID therefore seeks Cabinet to 
endorse and continue to implement the 
Economic Strategy 
 
 

 
Cabinet 
 
Cllr 
Cherry 
Beath 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Recommendation 2:  
Business representatives gave evidence that 
events such as X Media Lab and business 
networks such as Creative Bath were hugely 
beneficial to not only promoting business 
growth per se but in addition in demonstrating 
to graduates the benefits of staying in B&NES 
and developing their own businesses and 
business networks. As such the Council 
should seek to continue sponsoring and 
developing such networks and events. 
Promotion of the involvement of local 
businesses in scheduling and organising 
events and festivals to raise the profile of Bath 
and North East Somerset should be stepped 
up. 

 
 
 
Cllr Cherry 
Beath 

 
 

  
 

 
 

P
age 190



Economic and Community Development Panel: Cabinet Response Table                                                                                                                                   

3 
 

Recommendation Cabinet 
Member 

Decision 
Response 

Implementation 
Date 

Rationale 

Recommendation 3:  
Implementing the Bath and North East 
Somerset Economic Strategy (as 
recommended at 1 above) means expanding 
and attracting those businesses that demand 
high skilled workers (particularly graduates).  
 
At a more detailed level more needs to be 
done to match future employer requirements 
with potential employee qualifications. 
 
This ‘intelligent labour market planning’ has 
commenced within the Council and it is 
recommended that ownership of this and 
driving the links between employers and 
HE/FE should be promoted via the B&NES 
Learning and Skills Partnership. 
 
 
 

Cllr Cherry 
Beath and 
Cllr 
Nathan 
Hartley 

   

Recommendation 4:  
With a clear focus on growing business, either 
through inward investment or indigenous 
expansion, B&NES Council should develop a 
more robust inward investment campaign 
which includes local business and education 
institutions 
 
Specifically more needs to be done to promote 
the fact that current residents and workers are 
more highly skilled than labour markets 
elsewhere in the UK. The inward investment 

Cllr Cherry 
Beath and 
Cllr 
Nathan 
Hartley 

    

P
age 191



Economic and Community Development Panel: Cabinet Response Table                                                                                                                                   

4 
 

Recommendation Cabinet 
Member 

Decision 
Response 

Implementation 
Date 

Rationale 

strategy needs to make more of this 
comparative advantage. 
This must include marketing beyond the West 
of England boundaries in conjunction with the 
Universities.   

Recommendation 5: 
Research presented at the Panel indicated the 
value of flexible cheap space to provide 
flexible low cost space to graduates (and 
others) in order to allow them to develop their 
business ideas without the need for a lot of 
upfront investment.  
 
It is recommended therefore that Cabinet 
support the co-working hub in Bath and a 
recommendation that this hub could also 
incorporate information to raise awareness of 
start-up support e.g. mentoring/networking 
opportunities. 

Cllr Cherry 
Beath and 
Cllr David 
Bellotti 

   

Recommendation 6:  
The development of a hub is a good start. 
Businesses that gave evidence to the Panel 
mentioned the requirement to have ‘move on’ 
space that allowed them to expand as their 
business grew without having to move out of 
the District.  
 
It is recommended therefore that the 
Enterprise Area makes provision for this in 
Local Plans and that it is delivered as an early 
phase of the areas development with further 
liaison with business about the nature of the 

Cllr Cherry 
Beath, Cllr 
Bellotti 
and Cllr 
Tim Ball 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   

P
age 192



Economic and Community Development Panel: Cabinet Response Table                                                                                                                                   

5 
 

Recommendation Cabinet 
Member 

Decision 
Response 

Implementation 
Date 

Rationale 

space and when it will be required.  

Recommendation 7:  

Students undertaking placements, work 
experience, internships or mentoring with local 
businesses was seen by both the Universities’ and 
business as a good way to assist with helping 
retain graduates in B&NES.  
 
Actions to support this were recommended as 
follows: 

- Promote awareness of such opportunities 
between business,  the Universities and 
colleges 

- Make the process simpler for students 
through a central hub of information on 
placements, internships, mentoring. 

- Develop a more systematic method of 
matching opportunities with students rather 
than relying on personal contacts. For 
example a web based ‘dating’ site 
developed by business, the Council, 
University and colleges 

- Encourage the Universities and Colleges to 
work with businesses to offer ‘job tasters’ 
that give students insights into businesses 
that they may not have known existed. 

Cllr Beath, 
Cllr 
Bellotti, 
Cllr 
Hartley 

   

Recommendation 8:  
Local businesses with requirements for graduates 
should collaborate to promote a ‘mini milk round’ to 
the University of Bath and Bath Spa University. 
This would require some coordination by the 
Council and businesses. 

Cllr Cherry 
Beath 

   

P
age 193



Economic and Community Development Panel: Cabinet Response Table                                                                                                                                   

6 
 

Recommendation Cabinet 
Member 

Decision 
Response 

Implementation 
Date 

Rationale 

Recommendation 9: 

Fledgling businesses can often struggle with 
finance, both in raising it, knowing where to raise it 
and how. This is especially true for students 
graduating with good ideas and products but lack 
business knowledge. 
 
Establishing a banking/finance forum locally could 
help with this and further considering the launch of 
a local business specific bank developed through 
local investment. 

Cllr Cherry 
Beath and 
Cllr David 
Bellotti 
 
 
 
 

   

 

P
age 194



P
age 195



P
age 196



P
age 197



P
age 198



P
age 199



P
age 200



P
age 201



P
age 202



P
age 203



P
age 204



P
age 205



P
age 206



P
age 207



P
age 208

T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This briefing report was prepared by Jim Plunkett-Cole of Smart Growth Analytics Ltd 
Tel: 07854 143539 email: jpc@smartgrowthanalytics.co.uk  

 

 
Briefing on Graduate Retention 
in Bath & North East Somerset  
 
 
Bath & North East Somerset 
Council 
 
 

April 2012 

Page 209



Briefing on Graduate Retention in Bath and North East Somerset 
 

 

Smart Growth Analytics  1

Introduction 
 
This briefing report largely contains the findings of an initial statistical investigation and 
analysis on the issue of Graduate Retention in Bath & North East Somerset (B&NES).  
The purpose of the briefing is to inform the Council’s Graduate Retention Scrutiny day (to 
be held on Wednesday 18

th
 April 2012).  It does this by establishing the current statistical 

evidence base on graduate retention from official sources of data and intelligence.  It also 
provides an economic case for supporting graduate retention by exploring the likely 
economic benefits of higher concentrations of graduates at the local level. 
 
For the most part, the briefing is based on data from the Higher Education Statistics 
Agency’s (HESA) Destination of Leavers from Higher Education Survey 2009/10 (the 
latest available).  
 
The data in this report refers to what students who graduated in the 2009/10 academic 
year were doing six months after graduation.  The analysis of this dataset is primarily 
concerned with graduates from the two Universities based in Bath & North East Somerset 
(the University of Bath and Bath Spa University).  
 
This briefing covers only those graduates from Bath’s two universities.  However, it 
should be recognised that graduate retention studies also tend to cover two further 
groups of graduates.  Firstly, there are those graduates originally from B&NES but who 
studied elsewhere and, secondly, there are those graduates who are not from B&NES, 
and who did not study in Bath, but who are working in Bath.  It is recommended that 
further research on these two groups, and other intelligence gaps, are addressed should 
some form of retention strategy or action plan be forthcoming as an outcome of the 
Scrutiny Day. 
 
The results of the analysis for Bath are also compared to those from Greater London and 
the 8 ‘Core Cities’ in England. Throughout this report, the geography used for the Core 
Cities is an approximation to their Primary Urban Area (PUA). This is a geography 
created for the State of the Cities report which attempts to show the Cities’ areas of 
economic influence rather than their administrative boundaries. 
 
The author of this briefing would like to thank Nottingham City Council who has 
undertaken an on-going analysis of graduate retention in Greater Nottingham over the 
last few years.  This work has proved essential in informing the development of this study 
briefing. 
 

Graduate Retention from the two Bath Universities  
 
Please note that all of the data presented in this report refers to graduates who 
responded to the HESA Destination of Leavers survey.  It does not, therefore, relate to 
the entire graduating population from each university.  In the case of the two Bath 
universities, the response rate was in excess of 80%, from more than 5,200 leavers.  In 
addition, data on where people are located after graduation is only available for those 
people who are either working or are undertaking further study and so graduate retention 
rates refer to those graduates are working or studying rather than the whole graduating 
population.  However, the reader is advised that the overall graduate retention rate at the 
local level is mainly a result combination of ‘working graduates’ who find employment in 
the area’ and ‘further study graduates’ who remain for further study.  In fact, almost 90% 
of graduate retention comprises these two activities (the rest is explained by 
unemployment and economic inactivity such as caring responsibilities).   
 

Page 210



Briefing on Graduate Retention in Bath and North East Somerset 
 

 

Smart Growth Analytics  2

From a local economic development policy perspective, it should be pointed out that of 
the two main elements of graduate retention, working graduates are likely to have 
considerably greater local direct economic impact than further study graduates. This is 
not to dampen the significant economic contribution and impact of further study graduates 
in B&NES (particularly in the area of business start-up and ‘spin-off’ ventures).  However, 
further study graduates, whilst they are studying, tend not to be directly involved in the 
production of local economic output to the same degree as a working graduate.  This 
report is primarily concerned with graduate retention.  Post-graduate retention and impact 
possibly represents an area for further research and investigation following the outcome 
of the Scrutiny Day into graduate retention. 

The Current Position in Summary 
 

Table 1 shows the current position with respect to graduate in B&NES and its comparator 
areas in 2009/10.  It shows Bath’s position on the overall graduate retention rate as well 
as the two sub-category rates of working graduates and further study graduates.   
 
Please note that by ‘areas’ we are referring to the Primary Urban Areas for the Core 
Cities, Greater London for London, and Bath & North East Somerset for Bath. 
 
 

Table 1: % of graduates from B&NES, London and the England Core City 
universities working or studying in the same area (6 months after graduation) 

PUA studied in 
% of all Working 

Graduates from HEIs 
in PUA 

% of all Further Study 
Graduates from HEIs 

in PUA 

% of All Graduates 
Working or in Further 

Study 

Bath 13.8 52.4 24.0 

Birmingham 39.4 51.8 42.3 

Bristol 20.2 50.0 26.3 

Leeds 44.8 61.9 48.8 

Liverpool 41.5 55.1 44.4 

London 65.4 62.6 64.8 

Manchester 50.3 59.3 52.3 

Newcastle 47.0 63.8 50.3 

Nottingham 28.0 46.8 32.4 

Sheffield 38.0 60.1 42.5 

Source: HESA Destination of Leavers survey 2009/10. Copyright Higher Education Statistics Agency 
Limited, 2010. HESA cannot accept responsibility for any inferences or conclusions derived from the data 
by third parties. 

 
In summary, the Table shows that 24.0% of graduates from Bath’s two universities, who 
were working or studying, were doing so in Bath and North East Somerset. 13.8% of 
working graduates from the universities were retained in the area as were 52.4% of those 
who continued to study. We explore each of the three graduate retention measures in 
more detail below. 

Overall Graduate Retention Position 
 
As an aid to the visual interpretation of the findings, the B&NES overall graduate retention 
position is illustrated in Chart 1 below.  The findings show that B&NES’ overall graduate 
retention rate in 2009/10 was the lowest of all of the comparator areas, and with the 
exception of Bristol, this was by a very considerable margin.  
 

Page 211



Briefing on Graduate Retention in Bath and North East Somerset 
 

 

Smart Growth Analytics  3

Chart 1: % of graduates from B&NES, London and the England Core City 
universities working or studying in the same area  

 
Source: HESA Destination of Leavers survey 2009/10. Copyright Higher Education Statistics Agency 
Limited, 2010. HESA cannot accept responsibility for any inferences or conclusions derived from the data 
by third parties. 

 

Working Graduate Retention 
 
The current position with respect to retention of working graduates is shown in Chart 2 
below. 
 
As can be seen, the B&NES rate of working graduate retention, at just 13.8% of its 
working graduates, is very significantly lower than any of the comparator areas, including 
Bristol.  
 
The Chart also shows the extent of variation in the working graduate retention rate that 
exists between the ten different comparator areas.  For example, in comparison to Bath 
and Bristol, London manages to retain almost two thirds (65.4%) of its working graduates!  
 
 

Page 212



Briefing on Graduate Retention in Bath and North East Somerset 
 

 

Smart Growth Analytics  4

Chart 2: % of working graduates from B&NES, London and the England Core City 
universities who are working in the same area (from which they graduated) 

 
Source: HESA Destination of Leavers survey 2009/10. Copyright Higher Education Statistics Agency 
Limited, 2010. HESA cannot accept responsibility for any inferences or conclusions derived from the data 
by third parties. 

 

‘Further Study’ Graduate Retention 
 
The current position with respect to the retention of graduates who go on into some form 
of further study is shown in Chart 3 below. 
 
On this measure, the B&NES position is far more ‘mid-table’ than the overall graduate 
retention rate or the working graduate rate.. 
 
Chart 3 shows that the variation between further study retention rates between all 
comparator areas is far less pronounced than the overall retention rate and the working 
retention rate.  For example, at the upper extreme, almost 64% of Newcastle’s further 
study graduates stay in the area for this compared to almost 47% for Nottingham, at the 
lower extreme. 
 

Page 213



Briefing on Graduate Retention in Bath and North East Somerset 
 

 

Smart Growth Analytics  5

Chart 3: % of working graduates from B&NES, London and the England Core City 
universities who are studying in the same area (from which they graduated) 

 
Source: HESA Destination of Leavers survey 2009/10. Copyright Higher Education Statistics Agency 
Limited, 2010. HESA cannot accept responsibility for any inferences or conclusions derived from the data 
by third parties. 

Explaining Bath’s low rate of graduate retention  
 
Comparison of the employment retention rate trends and the further study rate trends 
reveals that most of the variation in the overall retention rates comes from the variations 
in the percentage of working graduates who stay in the City where they graduated (as 
opposed to variations in the percentages of graduates who go on into further study).  For 
those who do continue to study, familiarity with the institution and/or the area in which it 
lies seem to be the main factors in deciding where to go.  
 
The above analysis shows very clearly that it is Bath’s low rate of working graduate 
retention that very much explains its low overall rate of graduate retention. Explaining 
Bath’s low overall rate therefore means explaining its low rate of working graduate 
retention. Unlike further study, the factors influencing where people go to work are far 
more varied and complicated, and require an analysis and understanding of the supply of 
graduates from Bath’s two universities, and the demand for graduates from these two 
universities by the local economy / businesses.   
 
Firstly, on the supply-side, the Nottingham Graduate Retention study

1
 has shown that 

most working graduates, regardless of which university they attended, find work in their 
home region. It showed that the two other major workplaces for graduates from English 
Universities are the English region where they studied, and in the specific English regions 
of London or the South East.  
 
The study also showed that, where two of these three factors combine, the effect on the 
location of employment increases. ‘For example, if a student attends a university in their 
home region, they are more likely to find work in the same region. This means that cities 
with a large percentage of students drawn from their own region are likely to retain more 
graduates. Similarly, if a university has a large percentage of students from London and 
the South East, it will probably lose a larger percentage of students back there as it has 
the added draw of being the graduates’ home region as well as the country’s largest jobs 
market.’ 

                                                           
1
 Graduate Retention in Greater Nottingham 2007/08, Nottingham City Council, 2010 

Page 214



Briefing on Graduate Retention in Bath and North East Somerset 
 

 

Smart Growth Analytics  6

 
Whilst there has not been time to explore if these issues hold true with certainty in Bath, 
we advise that it is highly likely that Bath is similar to Bristol and Nottingham in terms of 
the original domicile of their graduates and similarly low retention rates.  If this is the 
case, then Bath’s relatively low retention rate will be partially explained by a low 
percentage of graduates who lived locally before going to university and a relatively high 
percentage of those who lived in London or the South East before moving to Bath to 
study. 

2
 

 
Secondly, and turning to the demand-side, the Nottingham study suggests that it is a lack 
of demand for graduates locally which will explain the lion’s share of Bath’s gap in 
retention with the Core Cities.  In particular, it suggests that the size of the Bath 
universities in relation to the local jobs market is a key reason for the relatively low 
graduate retention rate. This means that the main way of increasing Bath’s retention rate 
will be to expand the local economy (and particularly in those sectors which employ 
higher concentrations of graduates). In short, Bath currently has a huge over supply of 
graduates. 
 
In the next section of this briefing we attempt to provide the economic case for increasing 
the volumes and concentrations of graduates in B&NES.  
 

What are the economic benefits of retaining more graduates in an 
area? 
 
In this section we attempt to answer the fundamental question as to why a City economy, 
such as Bath and North East Somerset, would seek to raise its graduate retention rate.  
In particular, we seek to establish the economic benefits of an increased retention rate, 
and/or within the overall rate, are there particular benefits to a local economy from 
retaining higher proportions of certain types of graduates? 
 
The answer to both of these questions lies very much in the practical application of 
economic theory regarding the factors of production to the real world of business at the 
local level.  In the real business world the three inter-related factors of production in 
economic theory (land, labour and capital) become as follows: 
 

1. Enterprise and entrepreneurship (including such factors as start-up, 
management, investment and innovation) 

2. People & skills 
3. Land and premises and the hard transport and communications 

infrastructure 
 
Graduates are themselves a key element of the second of these factors (People & skills).  
In the most simple of terms, higher graduate volumes locally raises the quality of the local 
workforce, which is generally ‘better’ for employment purposes by local enterprises (in 
both management activities and operations).   
 
Clearly, it is only ‘better’ for local enterprises if they have a need for the higher level skills 
of local graduates!  However, it is generally understood that knowledge and skill give 
competitive advantage over rival firms.  As a result, the knowledge-intensity and skills-
intensity of most industrial sectors and activities increases over time as firms continuously 
innovate to survive and grow and compete in an increasingly global environment.  In turn, 
this means that the proportion of local firms with higher level skills requirements within the 
average local economy is likely to rise over time.  It also means that the proportion of 
higher level jobs within the average UK firm will tend to rise over time.  Firms with a need 
for these higher level skills will be attracted to local areas which possess those higher 
level skills in sufficient quantity. 
 

                                                           
2
 If a retention action plan is developed as a result of the Scrutiny Day, this issue should be fully 
investigated 

Page 215



Briefing on Graduate Retention in Bath and North East Somerset 
 

 

Smart Growth Analytics  7

The advantages of more graduate availability at the local level will be felt most by those 
businesses, and in those business start-up and inward investment sectors, which have 
higher level skills requirements, particularly where these are related to the skills profile of 
local graduates. 

Conclusions and Recommendations 
 

Higher volumes and concentrations of graduates at the local economy have the 
considerable economic benefit of supporting graduate start-ups, inward investment of 
more knowledge-based firms, and the growth and competitiveness (productivity) of 
existing businesses across all sectors, but especially in more knowledge-based sectors.   
 
The main way of raising Bath’s graduate retention rate will be to focus on the demand-
side for graduates.  The Council’s Core Strategy and Economic Development Strategy 
make provision for additional 9,000 or so jobs in B&NES to 2026.  Both these documents 
make specific provision for the creation of higher concentrations of higher added value 
jobs in B&NES to take advantage of its highly skilled and qualified workforce.  The 
development of Bath Western Riverside and the City of Ideas concept will no doubt make 
hugely significant contributions to the creation of graduate jobs in B&NES (and thereby 
raising the retention rate).   
 
If further research reveals the (highly likely) situation that a low ratio of jobs to graduates 
in Bath exists, as with the Nottingham work, then this presents B&NES with a potential 
advantage. ‘It suggests that if the local economy expands, particularly in the Knowledge 
Intensive sectors in which it is hoping to expand, then there is already a good supply of 
potential graduate employees. This means that, in terms of the supply of graduate labour, 
the local economy has room to expand without a need to attract large numbers of 
qualified graduates from outside the region or for the universities to expand.’  

 
The Nottingham work also concluded that the ‘relatively low competition for graduate 
employees could represent a way of attracting businesses working in these sectors to the 
area, which in turn would help improve the retention rate. This will particularly apply in 
those sectors where Nottingham has strength with regard to the number of students 
looking for work but a weakness in the proportion who find work locally. This should be 
done in conjunction with raising awareness in both the business and graduate 
communities as to the availability of skilled workers and appropriate jobs respectively’. A 
similar situation probably exists for Bath. 
 
The final issue highlighted by the Nottingham study is that, in some sectors (such as 
Health and Education), there are strong links between the local universities and local 
employers as work placements form an important part of the students’ training. This 
means that students in subjects such as medicine, nursing and teaching establish links to 
the local labour market before they leave university and this seems to lead to higher 
retention rates in these areas.  This finding suggests that raising the work placement 
element of courses at Bath’s universities may well help improve retention rates. 
 
Should an outcome of the Scrutiny Day be the development of some form of retention 
strategy or action plan, then further study and analysis of the Bath graduate market will 
be required.  This is not least as several important graduate groups relating to that market 
have not been included in this study briefing. Further research is also required to provide 
a greater understanding of the relative retention rates of the Core Cities, and should 
suggest industries in which Bath could potentially try to expand  to take advantage of the 
current over supply of graduates. 
 
Should supportive measures in the Bath graduate market be forthcoming, it should be 
remembered that intervention should only take place where there is clear evidence of 
market failure.  There is no evidence of market failure in Bath & North East Somerset in 
terms of the functioning of the market for graduates.  It is the view of the author of this 
report that the main areas of market failure in the graduate market lie in such areas as 
inward investment and start-up. 

Page 216



Printed on recycled paper 1

 
Bath & North East Somerset Council 

 

MEETING: ECONOMIC AND COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT  
PANEL 

 

 

MEETING 
DATE: 

24th May 2012 

TITLE: WORKPLAN FOR 2012 

WARD: All 

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM  

List of attachments to this report:  

Appendix 1 – Panel Workplan  

 
1 THE ISSUE 

1.1 This report presents the latest workplan for the Panel (Appendix 1). 

1.2 The Panel is required to set out its thoughts/plans for their future workload, in 
order to feed into cross-Panel discussions between Chairs and Vice-chairs - to 
ensure there is no duplication, and to share resources appropriately where 
required.  

2 RECOMMENDATION 

2.1 The Panel is recommended to  

(a) consider the range of items that could be part of their Workplan for 2012/13  

3 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS   

3.1 All workplan items, including issues identified for in-depth reviews and 
investigations, will be managed within the budget and resources available to the 
Panel (including the designated Policy Development and Scrutiny Team and 
Panel budgets, as well as resources provided by Cabinet Members/Directorates).  

 

Agenda Item 14

Page 217



Printed on recycled paper 2

4 THE REPORT 

4.1 The purpose of the workplan is to ensure that the Panel’s work is properly focused 
on its agreed key areas, within the Panel’s remit.  It enables planning over the 
short-to-medium term (ie: 12 – 24 months) so there is appropriate and timely 
involvement of the Panel in:  

a) Holding the executive (Cabinet) to account 

b) Policy review  

c) Policy development 

d) External scrutiny. 
 

4.2 The workplan helps the Panel  

a) prioritise the wide range of possible work activities they could engage in  

b) retain flexibility to respond to changing circumstances, and issues arising, 

c) ensure that Councillors and officers can plan for and access appropriate 
resources needed to carry out the work 

d) engage the public and interested organisations, helping them to find out about 
the Panel’s activities, and encouraging their suggestions and involvement.   
 

4.3 The Panel should take into account all suggestions for work plan items in its 
discussions, and assess these for inclusion into the workplan.  Councillors may 
find it helpful to consider  the following criteria to identify items for inclusion in the 
workplan, or for ruling out items, during their deliberations:- 

(1) public interest/involvement 

(2) time (deadlines and available Panel meeting time) 

(3) resources (Councillor, officer and financial) 

(4) regular items/“must do” requirements (eg: statutory, budget scrutiny, etc)? 

(5) connection to corporate priorities, or vision or values 

(6) has the work already been done/is underway elsewhere?  

(7) does it need to be considered at a formal Panel meeting, or by a different 
approach?    

The key question for the Panel to ask itself is - can we “add value”, or make a 
difference through our involvement?   

Page 218



Printed on recycled paper 3

4.4 There are a wide range of people and sources of potential work plan items that 
Panel members can use.  The Panel can also use several different ways of 
working to deal with the items on the workplan.  Some issues may be sufficiently 
substantial to require a more in-depth form of investigation.   

4.5 Suggestions for more in-depth types of investigations, such as a project/review or 
a scrutiny inquiry day, may benefit from being presented to the Panel in more 
detail.    

4.6 When considering the workplan on a meeting-by-meeting level, Councillors should 
also bear in mind the management of the meetings - the issues to be addressed 
will partially determine the timetabling and format of the meetings, and whether, 
for example, any contributors or additional information is required. 

 
5 RISK MANAGEMENT 

5.1 A risk assessment related to the issue and recommendations has been 
undertaken, in compliance with the Council's decision making risk management 
guidance. 

 
6 EQUALITIES 

6.1 Equalities will be considered during the selection of items for the workplan, and in 
particular, when discussing individual agenda items at future meetings.  

 
7 CONSULTATION 

7.1 The Workplan is reviewed and updated regularly in public at each Panel meeting.  
Any Councillor, or other local organisation or resident, can suggest items for the 
Panel to consider via the Chair (both during Panel meeting debates, or outside of 
Panel meetings). 

 
8 ADVICE SOUGHT 

8.1 The Council's Monitoring Officer (Divisional Director – Legal and Democratic 
Services) and Section 151 Officer (Divisional Director - Finance) have had the 
opportunity to input to this report and have cleared it for publication. 

 

Contact person  Jack Latkovic, Senior Democratic Services Officer. Tel 01225 
394452 

Background 
papers 

None 

Please contact the report author if you need to access this report in an 
alternative format 

 

Page 219



Page 220

This page is intentionally left blank



Last updated 15.05.12. 

 

Economic and Community Development Policy Development & Scrutiny Panel Workplan 
 

Meeting Date Agenda Item Director 
Report 
Author 

Format of Item Requested By Notes 

       

24th May 12       

 
Cabinet Member update – Councillor 
Cherry Beath  

 
 

   

 
River Corridor Group Report  

 
Melanie 
Birwe 

Report and 
presentation 

  

 
Community Safety – BID and Night Time 
Economy  

Andrew 
Cooper/Ge
off Spicer 

   

 
Bath & North East Somerset's Tourism 
Performance 

 
David 

Lawrence 
Presentation   

 
Future Business Support 

JB 
John 

Wilkinson 
Presentation   

 

Graduate Retention Single Inquiry Day 

 

Cllr Ben 
Stevens 

and Donna 
Vercoe 

   

       

12th Jul 12       

 
Community Safety – Helping Vulnerable 
People 

 
tbc 

   

 
Economic impact of small/independent 
businesses 

 
John 

Wilkinson 
   

 
X Media Lab 

 
David 

Lawrence/ 
   

Appendix 1 

P
age 221



Last updated 15.05.12. 

 

Meeting Date Agenda Item Director 
Report 
Author 

Format of Item Requested By Notes 

John 
Wilkinson  

 
Sport and Active Lifestyle Partnership 

 
David 

Lawrence 
Presentation 
with partners 

  

 
World Heritage Site – 25 years on 

 
David 

Lawrence 
Presentation   

       

27th Sep 12 Community Safety - tbc      

 
Progress on rural broadband 

 
John 

Wilkinson 
   

 
Festivals annual report 

 
David 

Lawrence/
Ann Cullis 

Presentation 
and report 

  

       

22nd Nov 12 Community Safety - tbc      

 
Parish Charter (tbc) 

 
GC 

  
Glen’s email on 
12.04.12. 

       

24th Jan 13 Community Safety -      

       

       

14th Mar 13 Community Safety -      

       

       

Future items       

 
Facilities used by the community that are 
owned by non-Council organisations 

 
 

 Cllr Rigby 
This could be 
incorporated in the 

P
age 222



Last updated 15.05.12. 

 

Meeting Date Agenda Item Director 
Report 
Author 

Format of Item Requested By Notes 

joint report between 
Property Services 
and Policy and 
Partnerships as a 
part of the 
Community Right to 
Buy provision within 
Localism Act. 

 

P
age 223



P
age 224

T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	7 MINUTES OF THE MEETING ON 22ND MARCH 2012
	9 RIVER CORRIDOR GROUP REPORT (30 MINUTES)
	Appendix 1 RiverCorridorFirstReport
	Appendix 2 PDS Panel Report  List of selected recommendations
	Appendix 3 - Outline of possible future structure of River group
	Appendix 4 - Terms of Reference (2010)

	10 Community Safety Plan: Police performance update and Business Improvement District (BID) - Night Time Economy (30 minutes)
	11 Bath & North East Somerset's Tourism Performance (25 minutes)
	12 Future Business Support (20 minutes)
	13 Update on the Scrutiny Inquiry Day: The benefit of Joint working to retain Graduates in BANES (10 minutes)
	App 1 Report for Panel300412
	App 2 SID response table 300412
	App 3 Paul Swinney 12-03-04 BNES Event (PSNS)
	App 4 Final Briefing on Graduate Retention

	14 Workplan
	Workplan App 1


